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An investment in our securities is speculative and involves a high degree of risk. Before deciding whether to invest in our
securities, you should consider carefully the risks described below, together with other information in this Annual Report on
Form 10- K and the other information and documents we file with the SEC. The occurrence of any of the following risks could
have a material and adverse effect on our business, reputation, financial condition, results of operations and future growth
prospects, as well as our ability to accomplish our strategic objectives. As a result, the trading price of our Cemmen-common
Steek-stock could decline, and you could lose all or part of your investment. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently
known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our business operations, financial condition, results of
operations and stock price. Risks Related to the Solar Energy Industry The solar energy industry is an emerging market Wthh is
constantly evolving and may not develop to the size or at the rate we expect =

which could eease-—- cause an adverse effect on or-our business take-longer-to-develop-than-we-expeet—The distributed horne
solar energy market is at a relatively early stage of development and is a constantly evolving market. The We-beheve-the-solar
energy industry is still developing and maturing, and as such, we cannot be certain that the market will grow to the size or at the
rate we expect. Any future growth of the solar energy market and the success of our solar service offerings depend on many
factors beyond our control, including recognition and acceptance of the solar service market by consumers, the pricing of
alternative sources of energy, a favorable regulatory environment, the continuation of expected tax benefits and other incentives,
and our ability to provide our solar service offerings cost effectively. If the markets for solar energy do not develop to the size or
at the rate we expect, or demand for distributed home solar energy systems fails to develop sufficiently, our business may be
adversely affected. Many factors may affect the demand for solar energy systems, including the following: * availability,
substance and magnitude of solar support programs including government targets, subsidies, incentives, renewable portfolio
standards and residential net metering rules; ¢ the relative pricing of other conventional and non- renewable energy sources,
such as natural gas, coal, oil and other fossil fuels, wind, utility- scale solar, nuclear, geothermal and biomass; ¢ performance,
reliability and availability of energy generated by solar energy systems compared to conventional and other non- solar
renewable energy sources; * availability and performance of energy storage technology, the ability to implement such
technology for use in conjunction with solar energy systems and the cost competitiveness such technology provides to
customers as compared to costs for those customers reliant on the conventional electrical grid; and ¢ general economic
conditions and the level of interest rates. Solar energy has yet to achieve broad market acceptance and depends in part on
continued support in the form of rebates, tax credits, and other incentives from federal, state and local governments. If this
support diminishes materially, our ability to obtain external financing on acceptable terms, or at all, could be materially
adversely affected. These types of funding limitations could lead to inadequate financing support for the anticipated growth in
our business , to renew financing for the acquisitions that we have completed, or to provide financing for acquisitions that
we identify in the future . We cannot be certain if historical growth rates reflect future opportunities or whether growth
anticipated by us will be realized. Furthermore, growth in home solar energy depends in part on macroeconomic conditions,
retail prices of electricity and customer preferences, each of which can change quickly. Declining macroeconomic conditions,
including in the job markets , commeodity markets, and residential real estate markets, could contribute to instability and
uncertainty among customers and impact their financial wherewithal, credit scores and ultimately, their demand for home
solar energy systems or interest in entering into long- term contracts, even if such contracts would generate immediate and
long- term savings. Furthermore, market prices of retail electricity generated by utilities or other energy sources could decline
for a variety of reasons, as discussed further below. Any such declines in macroeconomic conditions, changes in retail prices of

eleetrrclty or Changes in customer preferences Would adversely 1mpact our business —Global-eeonomic-eonditions-and-amny

partners or supphers may be unwilling or unable to fulﬁll the1r respectrve warranty and other contractual obhgatlons Warranty
claims, product 11ab111ty claims or acmdents against us could adversely affect our business We agree to maintain the solar energy

durlng the length of the term of our Customer
Agreements, Wthh are typrcally 20 years. We are exposed to any liabilities arising from the solar energy systems’ failure to
operate properly and are generally under an obligation to ensure each solar energy system remains in good condition during the
term of the Customer Agreement. We are the beneficiary of the manufacturers’ and system installers’ warranty coverage,
typically of 20 years for equipment warranties and five to ten years for workmanship warranties. In the event that such warranty
providers file for bankruptcy, cease operations or otherwise become unable or unwilling to fulfill their warranty or related
maintenance obligations, we may not be adequately protected by such warranties or maintenance obligations. Even if such
warranty providers fulfill their obligations, the warranty or maintenance obligations may not be sufficient to protect us against
all of our losses. These warranties are subject to liability and other limits. If we seek warranty protection and a warranty



provider is unable or unwilling to perform its warranty obligations, whether as a result of its financial condition, its ability to act
in a timely manner, or otherwise, or if the term of the warranty or maintenance obligation has expired or a liability limit has been
reached, there may be a reduction or loss of protection for the affected assets, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, it is possible that the solar energy systems could cause
injuries or property damage due to product malfunctions, defects or other causes. The solar energy systems or their
components could also be subject to recalls either due to production defects or malfunctions, which could be expensive to
resolve and may divert management’ s attention. In addition, product liability claims, injuries, defects or other problems
experienced by other companies could lead to unfavorable market conditions to the industry as a whole and may have an
adverse effect on our ability to expand our portfolio of customer agreements and related solar energy systems, which
could affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Our failure to accurately predict future liabilities
related to material quality or performance expenses could result in unexpected volatility in our financial condition. Beeause-ef
Due to the long estimated useful life of our solar energy systems, we have been required to make assumptions and apply
judgments regarding a number of factors, 1nclud1ng our antrclpated rate of Warranty clalms and the durability, performance and
rehabrhty of our qolar energy %yqteme - 5w

eustomers-. We made these aqsumptlons based on the hrqtorrc performance of qlmrlar qolar energy systems or on accelerated life
cycle testing. Our assumptions could prove to be materially different from the actual performance of our solar energy systems,
causing us to incur substantial expense to repair or replace defective solar energy systems in the future or to compensate
customers for solar energy systems that do not meet their performance guarantees. Equipment defects, serial defects or
operational deficiencies also would reduce our revenue from Customer Agreements beeause-since the customer payments under
such Customer Agreements are dependent on solar energy system production or would require us to make refunds under
performance guarantees. Any widespread product failures or operating deficiencies may damage our market reputation and
adversely impact our financial results. Developments in technology or improvements in distributed solar energy generation and
related technologies or components may materially adversely affect demand-fer-our efferings-ability to retain customers
Significant developments in technology, such as advances in distributed solar power generation, energy storage solutions such as
batteries, energy storage management systems, the widespread use or adoption of fuel cells for residential or commercial
properties or improvements in other forms of distributed or centralized power production may materially and adversely affect
demand-fer-our e-ffefiﬂgs—ability to retain customers and otherwise affect our business. Future technological advancements
may result in reduced prices to consumers or more efficient solar energy systems than those available today, and we eitherof
ywwhiteh-may-restlt-in-eurrent-eustomer-dissatisfaetion—We-may not be able to adopt these new technologies as quickly as our
competitors or on a cost- effective basis . This could result in current customer dissatisfaction, resulting in customers
switching to competitor service providers who provide these new technologies more quickly or more cost- effectively .
Due to the length of our Customer Agreements, the solar energy system deployed on a customer' s residence may be outdated
prior to the expiration of the term of the related Customer Agreement, reducing the likelihood of renewal of our Customer
Agreement at the end of the applicable term and possibly increasing the occurrence of customers seeking to terminate or cancel
their Customer Agreements or customer defaults. If current customers become dissatisfied with the price they pay for their solar
energy system under our Customer Agreements relative to prices that may be available in the future or if customers become
dissatisfied by the output generated by their solar energy systems relative to future solar energy system production capabilities,
or both, this may lead to customers seeking to terminate or cancel their Customer Agreements or to higher rates of customer
default and have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, recent
technological advancements may impact our business in ways we do not currently anticipate. Any failure by us to adopt or have
access to new or enhanced technologies or processes, or to react to changes in existing technologies, could result in product
obsolescence or the loss of competitiveness of and decreased consumer #ateresttrrretention for our solar energy services, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Our solar energy systems and
energy-storage-systems-depend heavily on suitable solar and meteorological conditions , which may be impacted by the effects
of climate change . Seasonality fluctuations and effects of climate change could adversely affect our results of operations The
energy produced and the revenue and cash receipts generated by a solar energy system depend on suitable solar, atmospheric 5
and weather conditions, all of which are beyond our control . Furthermore, our systems could be damaged by severe
weather or natural catastrophes, such as hurricanes, freezes, hailstorms, tornadoes, fires or earthquakes . Shifts in
weather are difficult to predict and may not be immediately apparent, and the impact of these changes is difficult to quantify
from period to period. Our economic model and projected returns on our solar energy systems require achievement of certain
production results from our systems and, in some cases, we guarantee these results to our consumers. There can be no assurance
we will be successful in implementing effective strategies to counter these shifts in weather. If the solar energy systems
underperform for any reason, our business could suffer. For example, the amount of revenue we recognize in a given period and
the amount of our obligations under the performance guarantees of our Customer Agreements are dependent in part on the
amount of energy generated by solar energy systems under such Customer Agreements. Furthermore, climate change could
exacerbate the frequency and severity of weather events in all areas where we operate. Climate change or other factors could
also cause prevailing weather patterns to materially change in the future, making it harder to predict the average annual amount
of sunlight striking each location where our solar energy systems-and-energy-storage-systems are. Potential negative effects of
climate change include, among others, a temporary decrease in solar availability in certain locations, disruptions in transmission
grids and delays or reductions in new installations. These or other effects could make our solar energy systems less economical



overall or make individual solar energy systems less economical. Any of these effects on meteorological conditions could harm
our business, financial condition ;-and results of operations. We typically bear the risk of loss and the cost of maintenance, repair
and removal on solar energy systems that are owned by our subsidiaries and included in tax equity vehicles We typically bear
the risk of loss and are generally obligated to cover the cost of maintenance, repair ;and removal for any of our solar energy
systems. Under our Customer Agreements, we agree to operate and maintain the solar energy system for a fixed fee calculated
to cover our future expected maintenance costs. If our solar energy systems require an above- average amount of repairs or if
the cost of repairing the solar energy systems is higher than our estimate, we would need to perform such repairs without
additional compensation. If our solar energy systems are damaged as the result of a natural disaster beyond our control, losses
could exceed or be excluded from our insurance policy limits and we could incur unforeseen costs that could harm our business
and financial condition. We may also incur significant costs for taking other actions in preparation for, or in reaction to, such
events. We purchase property insurance with industry standard coverage and limits to kedge-protect against such risk, but such
coverage may not cover our losses. RisksRelatedto-OurBusiness-The value of our solar energy systems at the end of the
associated term of the Customer Agreement may be lower than projected, which may adversely affect our financial
performance, results of Operationis— operation and valuation \Wec are-depreciate the costs of our solar energy systems over
their estimated useful life of 30 years. At the end of the initial term of the Customer Agreement, we may choose to
remove the solar energy systems at no cost to the customer, or customers may choose to purchase their solar energy
systems, ask to remove the system at our cost, or renew their Customer Agreements. Customers may choose not to renew
or purchase for an-any eatly-stage-eompany-reason, including pricing, decreased energy consumption, relocation of
residence, or switching to a competitor product. Furthermore, it is difficult to predict how future environmental
regulations may affect the costs associated with the removal a-history-eftosses-, and-disposal or recycling of our solar
energy systems. If the residual value of the solar energy systems is less than we expect at the end of the Customer
Agreement, we may be required to inetr-signifieantexpenses-accelerate the recognition of all or some of the remaining
unamortized costs. This could materially impair our results of operations. Increases in the cost or reduction in supply of
solar energy system components due to tariffs or trade restrictions imposed by the U. S. government could have and-- an
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of China is a major producer of solar products. Certain
solar cells, modules, laminates and panels from China are subject to various U. S. anti- dumping and countervailing
duty rates, depending on the exporter supplying the product, imposed by the U. S. government as a result of
determinations that the U. S. was materially injured as a result of such imports being sold at less than fair value. If
alternative sources are not available on competitive terms, our servicers may be required to purchase these products
from manufacturers in China. In addition, tariffs on solar cells, modules and inverters in China may put upward
pressure on prices of these products in other jurisdictions, which could reduce our ability to offer competitive pricing to
customers. The anti- dumping and countervailing duties are subject to annual review and may be increased or
decreased. Furthermore, under Section 301 of the Trade Act of 1974, the Office of the United States Trade
Representative has imposed and raised, and may eontinuing-continue tosses-to raise, tariffs on certain imports from
China, including certain solar products, and such additional tariffs on certain Chinese solar products have been imposed
during the first quarter of 2025. Since these tariffs impact the purchase price of solar products, these tariffs raise the cost
associated with purchasing these solar products from China and reduce the competitive pressure on providers of solar
products not subject to these tariffs. The U. S. government also has imposed various trade restrictions on Chinese
entities determined to be acting contrary to U. S. foreign policy and national security interests. Although we maintain
policies and procedures designed to maintain compliance with applicable governmental laws and regulations, these and
other similar trade restrictions that may be imposed against Chinese entities in the future may have the effect of
restricting the global supply of, and raising prices for, certain solar products, which could increase the overall cost of
solar energy system maintenance and reduce our ability to offer competitive pricing in certain markets. e inenrrednet
losses-efapproximately-$-65-cannot predict what additional actions the U . S &-millienand-$93- 9-millien-may adopt with
respect to tariffs or other trade regulations or what actions may be taken by other countries in retaliation for such
measures. The tariffs described above, the adoption and expansion of trade restrictions, the occurrence of a trade war or
the-other years-ended-Deeember31-governmental action related to tariffs . 2623-trade agreements or related policies have
the potential to adversely impact our suppliers’ supply chains and 2622-access to equipment and products . respeetively-as
well as our costs and ability to economically serve certain markets. If additional measures are imposed or other
negotiated outcomes occur, the ability of our suppliers to purchase these products on competitive terms or to access
specialized technologies from other countries could be further limited, which could adversely affect our business,
financial condition, and results of operations . \We believe-face competition from traditional energy companies as well as
solar and other renewable energy companies The solar energy industry is highly competitive and continually evolving as
participants strive to distinguish themselves within their markets and compete with large utilities. We face competition
from established utilities that supply energy to customers by traditional means. Utilities generally have substantially
greater financial, technical, operational, and other resources than we do. As a result, utilities may be able to devote more
resources to the research, development, or promotion of their products or respond more quickly to evolving industry
standards and changes in market conditions than we can. Furthermore, these competitors are able to devote
substantially more resources and funding to regulatory and lobbying efforts. Utilities could also offer other value- added
products or services that could help them compete with us. Regulated utilities also are increasingly seeking approval to «
rate- base ” their own solar energy system businesses. Rate- basing means that utilities would receive guaranteed rates of
return for their solar energy system businesses. Our competitiveness would be significantly harmed if more utilities
receive such permission since we do not receive guaranteed profits for our solar service offerings. We compete with solar



companies with vertically integrated business models, including maintenance services. If the integrated approach of our
competitors is successful, it may limit our ability to acquire solar energy systems. Solar companies with vertically
integrated business models could also offer other value- added products or services that could help them to compete with
us. Larger competitors may also be able to access financing at a lower cost of capital than we are able to obtain. We also
compete with solar companies with business models similar to our own, and we may also face competition from new
entrants into the market. Some of these competitors may have a higher degree of brand name recognition, differing
business or pricing strategies, lower barriers to entry into the solar market, and greater capital resources than we have,
as well as extensive knowledge of our target markets. We have historically provided our solar services to residential
customers and have begun, and intend to continue, to expand to other markets. There is intense competition in the solar
energy sector in the markets in which we operate and the markets in which we intend to operate. As new entrants
continue to enter into these markets, and as we enter into new markets, we may be unable to grow or maintain our
operations and we may be unable to compete with companies that have already established themselves in those markets.
As the solar industry grows and evolves, we will continue to ineur-operatingand-nettosses-through-face existing competitors
as well as new competitors who are not currently in the market (including the-those nearfutare-resulting from the
consolidation of existing competitors) and new technologies . We-Our failure to adapt to changing market conditions, to

eompleted--- compete the-aequisitton-ofLegaey-SpraeePower-successfully with existing or new competitors and diseontinted
and-dispesed-of-to adopt new or enhanced technologies could limit our growth tegaeybusinesses;-and as a result our future

net income...... not result in revenues, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and
results of operations and-fartherinerease-. A material reduction in the retail price of traditional utility generated electricity
or electricity from other sources could harm our tesses-business, financial condition, and results of operations Decreases
in the retail price of electricity from electric utilities or from other energy sources, could harm our ability to offer
competitive pricing and could harm our business . The price of electricity from utilities could decrease as a result of: ¢
the construction of a significant number of new power generation plants, including nuclear, coal, natural gas, or
renewable energy technologies; ° the construction of additional electric transmission and distribution lines; * a reduction
in the price of natural gas or other natural resources; * energy conservation technologies that provide less expensive
energy, including storage; and e utility rate adjustments and customer class cost reallocation. A reduction in utility
electricity prices would make our solar service offerings less attractive. If the retail price of energy available from
utilities were to decrease due to any of these or other reasons, we would be at a competitive disadvantage. As a result, we
may be unable to maintain our customers and our growth would be limited. Risks Related to Our Business Operations
We may not realize the anticipated benefits of past or future investments, strategic transactions, or acquisitions, and
integration of these acquisitions may disrupt our business medetregquiresfurthermarket penetrationto-drivegrowthand a
fatlareto-management We have in the past and may in the future, acquire additienal-solar portfolios, companies, products
or technologies or enter into other strategic transactions. For example, in March 2023, we completed the SEMTH
Acquisition acquiring approximately 22, 500 customer contracts; in August 2023, we completed the Tredegar
Acquisition acquiring 2, 400 home solar pertfelies-assets and contracts; and in November 2024, we completed the NJR
Acquisition acquiring 9, 800 solar energy systems. We may not realize the anticipated benefits of past or future
investments, strategic transactions or acquisitions, and these transactions involve numerous risks that are not within our
control. These risks include the following, among others: ¢ failure to satisfy the required conditions and otherwise
complete a planned acquisition or other strategic transaction on a timely basis or at all; ¢ legal or regulatory
proceedings, if any, relating to a planned acquisition or other strategic transaction and the outcome of such legal
proceedings; ° difficulty in assimilating the operations, systems and personnel of the acquired companys; ¢ difficulty in
effectively integrating the acquired technologies or products with our current products and technologies; ¢ difficulty in
maintaining controls, procedures and policies during the transition and integration; ¢ disruption of our ongoing business
and distraction of our Management and employees from other opportunities and challenges due to integration issues; °
difficulty integrating the acquired company’ s accounting, management information and other administrative systems; ¢
inability to retain key technical and managerial personnel of the acquired business; ¢ inability to retain key customers,
vendors and other business partners of the acquired business; ¢ inability to achieve the financial and strategic goals for
the acquired and combined businesses; ® incurring acquisition- related costs or amortization costs for acquired
intangible assets that would-could impact our results of operations; ¢ significant post- acquisition investments which may
lower the actual benefits realized through the acquisition; * potential failure of the due diligence processes to identify
significant issues with product quality, legal and financial liabilities, among other things; « moderating and anticipating
the impacts of inherent or emerging seasonality in acquired customer agreements; and * potential inability to obtain, or
obtain in a timely manner, approvals from governmental authorities, which could delay or prevent such acquisitions.
Our failure to address these risks, or other problems encountered in connection with our past or future investments,
strategic transactions or acquisitions, could cause us to fail to realize the anticipated benefits of these acquisitions or
investments, cause us to incur anticipated liabilities, and harm our business generally. Future acquisitions could also
result in dilutive issuances of our equity securities, the incurrence of debt, contingent liabilities, amortization expenses,
incremental expenses or the write- off of any related goodwill, any of which could harm our financial condition or results
of operations, and the trading price of our common stock could decline. If we fail to manage our recent and future
growth effectively, we may be unable to execute our business plan, maintain high levels of customer service, or
adequately address competitive challenges We have experienced growth in recent periods, and we intend to continue
such efforts to expand our business. This growth has placed, and any future growth may continue to place, a significant
strain material-adverse-effeet-on our management, operational and financial infrastructure. Our growth requires our



management to devote a significant amount of time and effort to maintain and expand our relationships with customers
and other third parties, acquire new customers and otherwise manage our expansion. In addition, our current and
planned operations, personnel, information technology, and other systems and procedures might be inadequate to
support our future growth and may require us to make additional unanticipated investments in our infrastructure. Our
success and ability to further scale our business will depend, in part, on our ability to manage these changes in a cost-
effective and efficient manner. If we cannot manage our growth, we may be unable to take advantage of market
opportunities, execute our business strategies, or respond to competitive pressures. This could also result in declines in
quality or customer satisfaction, increased costs, difficulties in introducing new solar service offerings, or other
operational difficulties. Any failure to effectlvely manage growth could adversely 1mpact our busmess, opcmunu results ,
financial condition, and reputation busin . #We may be
diffienlt-te-prediet-unsuccessful in 1ntr0duc1ng ot or f&tufe—feveﬂueshaﬂd-&ppfepﬂa-te}yebﬁ&get—executlng on new service

offerings for— or etr-expenses-in penetrating new markets , which could adversely and-we-have-imitedinsight-into-trends
thatmay-emerge-and-affect our business —In-Our success and ability to compete depend on the event-service offerings that

aetaal-results-differfrom-we have developed or may develop in the future. There is a risk that the service offerings that we
have developed or may develop may not meet the demands of our estimates-customers or target markets, do not achieve
market acceptance, or that the marketing of the services may not be as successful as anticipated. If we adjust-fail to
introduce new service offerings that meet the demands of our estimates-in-futare-pertods-customers or target markets or do
not achieve market acceptance, or if we fail to penetrate new markets our busnness epefat-rﬂg—restrl-ts—&ﬂd—ﬁ-ﬁaﬂera-l-peﬁﬁeﬂ
could bc mateﬂa-l-lry—adversely af Lclcd - 3

e*peﬂd-l-tufes— We may require dd huondl nancing to \uppml the dc\ clopmcnl of our busmc\s and im )lcmcnmuon of our
growth strategy , and if financing is not available to us on acceptable terms when needed, our ability to continue to grow

our business could be materially adversely affected \V ¢ expeetto-havesuffietenteapital-for-the-next+2-months-for-our
eperations-and-strategie-tnitiatives—Hewever,-we-may require additional capital investment in the future to fund operations and

support strategic initiatives. There can be no assurance that we will have access to the capital we need on favorable terms when
required or at all. Additional financing may not be available on terms acceptable to us. If we are unable to obtain needed
financing on acceptable terms, we may not be able to implement our business plan, which could have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. If we raise additional funds through the sale of equity,
convertible debt or other equity- linked securities, our shareholders &> ownership will be diluted. We may issue securities that
have rights, preferences and privileges senior to our Cemmen-common Steekstock . We do not directly control certain costs
related to our business, which could put us at a disadvantage relative to companies who have a vertically integrated
business model We do not have direct control over the costs our suppliers charge for the components of solar energy
systems or the costs of maintaining such systems. This may lead us to charge higher prices than our competitors with a
vertically integrated business model, causing us to be unable to maintain or increase market share. Our growth and
performance depend in part on the success of our relationships with third parties, including our servicing partners Our
growth depends in part on developing or expanding our relationships with third parties. Among other things, our
business depends on attracting and retaining new and existing servicing partners. Negotiating relationships with our
servicing partners, investing in due diligence efforts with potential servicing partners, training such servicing partners
and monitoring them for compliance with our standards require significant time and resources and may present greater
risks and challenges than expanding our internal servicing teams. If we arc unsuccessful in establishing or maintaining
highly-dependent-on-theservieesofour ChiefExeeutive-Offteerrelationships with these third parties ., our ability to grow
our business and address our market opportunity could be impaired. Even if we arc unable--- able to establish and
maintain these relationships, we may not be able to execute on our goal of leveraging these relationships to meaningfully
expand our business, brand recognition, and customer base, which could limit our growth potential and our
opportunities to generate significant additional revenue or cash flows. In the event that any of our third- party servicers
fails to perform its servicing duties, or experiences a termination or cancellation event under the applicable servicing
agreement, or we otherwise experience an interruption in that third party servicer’ s performance, we may incur
additional costs associated with obtaining a replacement servicer and seeking recovery of amounts owed to us. In such an
event, there can be no assurance that a replacement servicer could be retairrretained hinrin a timely manner or attraet-at
comparable cost to us, and retatrrany servicing transfer can result in data input errors, misdirected notices, and other
issues. Our operating results and our ability to grow may fluctuate from quarter to quarter and year to year, which
could make our future performance difficult to predict and could cause our operating results for a particular period to
fall below expectations Our quarterly and annual operating results and our ability to grow are difficult to predict and
may fluctuate significantly in the future. We have experienced seasonal and quarterly fluctuations in the past and expect
to experience such fluctuations in the future. In addition to the other risks described in this “ Risk Factors ” section, the
following factors could cause our operating results to fluctuate: ¢ significant fluctuations in customer demand for our
services; ® expiration, reduction, or initiation of any governmental rebates or incentives; ¢ our ability to continue to
expand our operations and the amount and timing of expenditures related to this expansion; * announcements by us or



our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, join ventures or capital- raising activities, or
commitments; * changes in our pricing policies or terms or those of our competitors, including centralized electric
utilities; * actual or anticipated developments in our competitors’ businesses, technology, or the competitive landscape;
and * natural disasters or other weather or meteorological conditions. For these or other reasons, the results of any prior
quarterly or annual periods should not be relied upon as indications of our future performance. The loss or transition of
key members of senior management or key employees, management-or er-our teehnteal-inability to attract and retain
qualified personnel, could adversely affect our business abilty-to-eompete-eotdd-be-harmed—Our success depends, in part, on
our ability to retain our key personnel. We-are-highly-dependent-The loss of any of our key personnel could have an adverse
effect on the-serviees-of-ChristtanFong;-our business. Most recently, we completed a Chief Executive Officer (“ CEQ ”)
transition in April 2024 . Management transitions Mr—Fongis-the-souree-of many— may create uncertainty oftheideas-and
e*eeﬁ&en—dfmng—mvolve a dlverswn of resources and management attentlon, be dlsruptlve to our daily operatlons

of whlch 0t-heﬁeaseﬁ—we—weﬂ-}d-could negatlvely 1mpact our ablllty be-sig : O-1O a
yre-have-no-plans-to maintainr-operate effectively or execute our strategies and result in t-he—ftttufe-a materlal adverse 1mpact
on our business , financial condition, results of operations or cash flows key-mantifeinsuranee-pohietes-withrespeetto-Mr-
Feng-. Our success also depends, in part, on our continuing ability to identify, hire, attract, train, develop and retain other highly
qualified personnel. Experienced and highly skilled employees are in high demand and competition for these employees can be
intense, and our ability to hire, attract and retain them depends on our ability to provide competitive compensation. We may not
be able to attract, assimilate, develop or retain qualified personnel in the future, and our failure to do so could adversely affect
our business, including the execution of our global business strategy. Any failure by Management and our employees to perform
as expected may have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results. Our
performance may be negatively impacted by our recent CEO transition On April 12, 2024, we announced that the
chairman of our board of directors, Christopher Hayes, had been named President and CEO to replace our prior
President and CEO. There are a number of risks associated with a CEO transition, any of which may harm us. If the
new CEO is unsuccessful at leading the management team or is unable to articulate and execute our strategy and vision,
our business may be harmed, and our stock price may decline. If we do not successfully manage our CEO transition, it
could be viewed negatively by our customers, employees or investors and could have an adverse impact on our business,
financial condition, and operating results. With the change in leadership, there is a risk to retention of other members of
senior management, as well as to continuity of business initiatives, plans, and strategies through the transition period
and if we are unable to execute an orderly transition, our business may be adversely affected. Management has limited
experience in operating a public company. If we fail to manage our growth effectively, we may not be able to develop, produce,
make or sell our products or services successfully —Our executive officers have limited experience in the management of a
publicly traded company. Management may not successfully or effectively manage a public company that is subject to
significant regulatory oversight and reporting obligations under federal securities laws. Management’ s limited experience in
dealing with the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public companies could be a significant disadvantage in that it is likely
that an increasing amount of their time may be devoted to these activities, which will result in less time being devoted to the
management and our growth efthe-pest—eombinationeompany-. Any failure to manage our growth effectively could materially
and adversely affect our business, prospects, operating results and financial condition. Additionally, we may not have adequate
personnel with the appropriate level of knowledge, experience and training in the accounting policies, practices or internal
control over financial reporting required of public companies in the U. S. The development and implementation of the standards
and controls necessary for us to achieve the level of accounting standards required of a public company in the U. S. may require
costs greater than expected. Competition for individuals with this experience is intense, and we may not be able to attract,
integrate, train, motivate or retain additional highly qualified personnel. The failure to attract, integrate, train, motivate and
retain these additional employees could seriously harm our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results. Rising
interest rates could raise our cost of capital and may adversely affect our financial condition We have § 646-730 . 7-6 million
of long- term debt outstanding as of December 31, 2623-2024 , which are secured by our solar assets , and the majority of which
is variable rate debt . Increases in interest rates could result in an increase in our interest expense under our variable- rate
borrowings and the costs of refinancing existing indebtedness or obtaining new debt, including debt to finance future
acquisitions . Although we use interest rate swap contracts to mitigate the market risk associated with rising interest rates,
1nclud1ng on our ex1st1ng varlable- rate debt, si gnmcant increases in interest rates or continued hlgher mterest rates may

s&ﬁsfy—paymeﬂt—ebl-rga-ﬁens—and—we—mdy ﬁet—have—s-ufﬁeteﬁt—eash—ﬂew—ffeﬂa—make it more dlfficult for us to ﬁnance our
busmess Our use of hedglng strategles to pay—mltlgate our interest rate risk substantial-debt-and-may-be-foreed-to-take-other

whieh-may not be steeessful-effective and may adversely affect our
net income, comprehenswe income, llquldlty, and book value per common share We use have § 646. 7 million of...... our
financial condition and prospects. Our interest rate s—w&ps» swap eeu-}d—be-contracts to help mltlgate 1ncreased ﬁnancmg costs
due to adversely—- adverse changes in a v
finanetaHnstruments; primariy-interest rate-rates Sﬁ*@s—te—maﬂage—etrﬁe*peswe—teﬁefes{—f&te—ﬂsks—on our syndledted term
loans, which are recognized on the balance sheet at their fair values. Our hedging activity will vary in scope based on, among
other things, our forecast of future interest rates, our acquisition activity, the actual and implied level and volatility of
interest rates, and source and terms of financing used. No hedging strategy can completely insulate us from the interest
rate risk to which we are exposed. Interest rate swaps are-may fail to protect or could adversely affect our results of
operations, book value, and liquidity due to, among other things: ¢ available derivative financial instruments may not




correspond directly with

interest rate swaps-risk from which we seek protection; ¢ the value of the derivative financial instruments is adjusted from
time to time in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“ U. S. GAAP ”) to reflect
changes in fair value and the related adjustments will impact our earnings , shareholders’ equity, and book value; ¢ the
credit quality of the counterparty owing money on the derivative financial instrument may be downgraded to such an
extent that it impairs our ability to sell, assign, or otherwise modify our side of the transaction; and ¢ the counterparty
owing money in the transaction may default on its obligation to pay. Derivative financial instruments can be traded on
an exchange or administered through a clearing house or under bilateral agreements between us and a counterparty.
Our bilateral hedging agreements expose us to increased counterparty risk, and we may be at risk of loss of any
collateral held by a hedging counterparty if the counterparty becomes insolvent or files for bankruptcy. Additionally, if a
counterparty fails to perform under the hedging agreements interestrate-swaps-, our operating liquidity and financial
performance could be materially and adversely affected . We are exposed to the credit risk of our customers and payment
delinquencies on our accounts receivable We have long- term, contractual relationships with our customers, which
require them to make payments throughout the term of their contract. Consequently, we are subject to the credit risk of
our customers and we expect that the risk of customer defaults may increase as we continue to grow our business. Our
future exposure may exceed the amount of reserves that we establish in the future. If we experience increased customer
credit defaults, our business and revenue could be adversely affected. During an economic downturn or during periods
of rising inflation and interest rates, the risk of customer defaults may increase, which could have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition and results of operations . Our employees and independent contractors may engage in
misconduct or other improper activities, including noncompliance with regulations, which could have an adverse effect on our
business and operating results =We are exposed to the risk that our employees and independent contractors may engage in
misconduct or other illegal activity. Misconduct by these parties could include intentional, reckless or negligent conduct or other
activities that violate laws and regulations, including production standards, U. S. federal and state fraud, abuse, data privacy and
security laws, other similar non- U. S. laws or laws that require the true, complete , and accurate reporting of financial
information or data. It is not always possible to identify and deter misconduct by employees and other third parties, and the
precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses
or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to be in compliance
with such laws or regulations. In addition, we are subject to the risk that a person or government could allege such fraud or other
misconduct, even if none occurred. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves
or asserting our rights, those actions could have a significant impact on our business, prospects, financial condition and operating
results, including, without limitation, the imposition of significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages,
monetary fines, disgorgement, integrity oversight and reporting obligations to resolve allegations of non- compliance,
imprisonment, other sanctions, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings and curtailment
of our operations, any of which could adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition , and operating results. Any
security breach, unauthorized access or disclosure, or theft of data, including personal information, we, our third party service
providers, or our suppliers gather, store, transmit or use, or other hacking, cyber- attack, phishing attack, and unauthorized
intrusions into or through our systems or those of our third- party service providers could harm our reputation, subject us
to claims, litigation, and financial harm and have an adverse impact on our business —In the ordinary course of business, we, our
third- party service providers and our suppliers receive, store, transmit ;-and use proprietary, confidential and sensitive data,
including the personal information of customers, such as names, addresses, email addresses, credit information and other
housing and energy use data, as well as the personal information of our employees. Any unauthorized disclosure of such
proprietary, confidential or sensitive data, including personal information, whether through a breach of our systems or those
of our third- party service providers or suppliers by an unauthorized party, including, but not limited to hackers, threat actors,
sophisticated nation- states or nation- state- supported actors, or through the personnel theft, or misuse of information, or
otherwise, could harm our business. In addition, we, our third party service providers and our suppliers may be subject to a
variety of evolving threats, such as computer malware (including as a result of advanced persistent threat intrusions),
ransomware, malicious code (such as viruses or worms), social engineering (including spear phishing and smishing attacks),
telecommunications failures, natural disasters and extreme weather events, general hacking , and other similar threats.
Cybersecurity incidents have become more prevalent and could occur on our systems and those of our third parties in the future.
Our team members who work remotely pose increased risks to our information technology systems and data, beeause-since
many of them utilize less secure network connections outside our premises. Applicable data privacy and security obligations
may require us to notify relevant stakeholders, including affected individuals, customers, regulators and investors, of
security incidents. Such disclosures are costly, and the disclosure or the failure to comply with such requirements could
lead to adverse consequences. Inadvertent disclosure of confidential data or unauthorized access by a third party could result in
future claims or litigation arising from damages suffered by those affected, government enforcement actions (for example,
investigations, fines, penalties, audits ;-and inspections), additional reporting requirements and / or oversight, indemnification
obligations, reputational harm, interruptions in our operations, financial loss ;-and other similar harms. In addition, we could
incur significant costs in complying with the multitude of federal, state, and local laws, and applicable independent security
control frameworks, regarding the unauthorized disclosure of personal information. Although we have not experienced a
material information security breach in the past and have developed systems and processes to prevent or detect security breaches
and protect the confidential information we receive, store, transmit, and use, we cannot assure that such measures will provide
adequate security. Finally, any perceived or actual unauthorized disclosure of such information, unauthorized intrusion, or other




cyberthreat could harm our reputation, substantially impair our ability to attract and retain customers, interrupt our operations 5
and have an adverse impact on our business . We rely on third- party service providers and technologies to operate critical
business systems to process sensitive information in a variety of contexts, including, without limitation, cloud- based
infrastructure, encryption and authentication technology, employee email, and other functions. Our ability to monitor
these third parties’ information security practices is limited, and these third parties may not have adequate information
security measures in place. If our third- party service providers experience a security incident or other interruption, we
could experience adverse consequences. While we may be entitled to damages if our third- party service providers fail to
satisfy their privacy or security- related obligations to us, any award may be insufficient to cover our damages, or we
may be unable to recover such award . Our contracts may not contain limitations of liability, and even where they do, there
can be no assurance that limitations of liability in our contracts are sufficient to protect us from liabilities, damages, or claims

related to our data privacy and security obligations. While we currently maintain cybersecurity insurance, such insurance may
not be sufficient to cover us against claims, and we cannot be certain that cybersecurity insurance will continue to be available to

us on economically reasonable terms, or at all, or that any insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim. Information
technology systems are a critical component of our long- term competitive strategy, and if we fail to timely and
responsibly implement, adopt, and innovate in response to rapidly evolving technological developments, including the
use of artificial intelligence (“ AI ), our ability to compete, financial condition, and operating results could be adversely
impacted Our ability to compete effectively requires our continued investment in technology to ensure we provide
ongoing value to our current and potential customers and operate efficiently. However, there are many new uncertainties
in newly emerging technologies and if we are unable to integrate and introduce new technologies and services effectively,
our ability to compete may be adversely affected and our business could be materially harmed. Whether we compete
effectively may also be impacted by our ability to accurately anticipate and effectively respond to the risks and
opportunities presented by the disruptions and developments of emerging and newly available technologies, including
Al We may not be successful in anticipating or responding to these developments on a timely and cost- effective basis,
and if the rate at which we adopt and the ways in which we apply new technologies lags or differs negatively in
meaningful ways from our competitors, our business could be adversely affected. New and emerging technologies
present a number of risks and incorporating them into our information technology infrastructure and services
respon51bly is 1mportant to malntalnlng and strengthenlng our competltlve posmon in the market Unfavorable publlutv 3

. - o : -
publicity has adversely affected , and may in the future affect our 1ndustry, brand and-, lLDLlldll()l] , and ewr-stock price ,
which may make it difficult for us to attract and retain employees, partners and customers, reduce confidence in our
services, harm investor confidence and the market price of our securities, and invite legislative and regulatory scrutiny,
litigation and government investigations . Negative publicity may result from allegations of fraud, improper business
practices, employee misconduct or any other matters that could give rise to litigation and / or governmental investigations.

Unfavorable publicity relating to us or those affiliated with us has and may in the future adversely affect public perception of the

entire u)mpany Ad\'cr% publlulv dnd 1ls c[[uu on ov cmll publu pmupllons of ()Lll bland or our failure to respond effectively

deeline-We are sub]ect to legal proceedlngs and litigation and have been , and may in the future be, namul as a defendant
in legal proceedings, including certain stockholder class actions, which like many litigation matters, could result in substantial
damages and other related costs and may require management- level attention Beginning on March 8, 2021, two putative class
action complaints were filed in the federal district court for the Southern District of New York against us and certain of our
currcm officers and directors. The cases were consolidated as In re XL Fleet Corp. Securities Litigation, Case No. 1: 21- cv-
02171, a lead plaintiff was appointed in June 2021. On July 20 , and-2021, an amended eenselidated-complaint was filed
alleglng omrJuly26,262+—The-amended-eomplaint-aleges-that certain public statements made by the defendants between
September+8-October 2 , 2020, and March 342, 2021 , violated Sections 10 (b) and 20 (a) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 and Rule 10b- 5 promulgated thereunder. Our-metion-to-dismiss-Following negotiations with a mediator, in September
2023, we and the amended-comptaint-plaintiffs agreed on a settlement in principle in the aggregate amount of $ 19. 5
million (the “ Settlement Amount ”’), and on December 6, 2023, the lead plaintiff and the defendants entered into a
stipulation and agreement of settlement requiring us to pay the Settlement Amount to resolve the class action litigation
and the related legal fees and administration costs. On April 30, 2024, the New York Court approved a final settlement.
The Settlement Amount was denied-on-offset by approximately $ 4. 5 million of related loss recoveries from our directors



and officers liability insurance policy with third parties, which was paid out in February +7,2622-2024 . \We reached-a-paid
the $ 15. 0 million net settlement with-amount to the settlement claims administrator in February 2024 plaintiffs;whiehts
entrrently-pending-approval-by-the-eenrt-. On September 20, 2021, and October 19, 2021, two class action complaints were filed
in the Delaware Court of Chancery against certain of our current offlcem and directors, and the sponsor of our special purpose
acquisition company >s-spenser-efits-SPAC-merger, Pivotal Investment Holdlngi IT LLC. The actions were consolidated, and a
consolidated amended complaint was filed on January 31, 2022, alleging various breaches of fiduciary duty, and aiding and
abetting breaches of fiduciary duty, for purported actions relating to the negotiation and approval of the December 21, 2020,
merger and organization of XL Hybrids, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“ Legacy XL ”) to become XL Fleet, and purportedly
materially misleading statements made in connection with the merger. Adtheugh-On August 19, 2022, defendants moved to
dismiss the second amended complaint, which was granted in part and denled in part on June 9, 2023 The partles then
engaged in dlscovery On November 13, 2024, we filed v G vitho
yre-are-pursting-a stipulation and settlement e-ﬁt-hese—agreement seekmg court approval to settle this mat-ters» matter in full
for $ 4. 75 million. On March 26, 2025, the court approved the stipulation and settlement agreement . In 2021, we
received requests for information, including a subpoena, from the SEC related to, among other things, the XL Fleet business
combination with Legacy XL and the related private investment in public equity financing, our the-Cempany>—s-sales pipeline
and revenue projections, purchase orders, suppliers, California Air Resources Board approvals, fuel economy from our Power
Drive products, customer complaints, and disclosures and other matters in connection with the foregoing. In September 2023,
the SEC simultaneously filed and settled administrative proceedings alleging violations of the federal securities laws.
Specifically, the settlement order requires that we: (i) cease and desist from committing or causing any violations and any future
violations of Sections 17 (a) (2) and 17 (a) (3) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “ Securities Act ) , Sections 13
(a) and 14 (a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “ Exchange Act ) and Rules 12b- 20, 13a- 11, and
14a- 9 thereunder, and (ii) pay, a civil money penalty in the amount of $ 11. 0 million to the SEC, which has been paid. These
legal proceedings and any other similar or related legal proceedings or investigations are subject to inherent uncertainties, and
the actual costs to be incurred relating to these matters will depend upon many unknown factors. The outcome of these legal
proceedings is uncertain, and we could be forced to expend significant resources in the defense of these actions, and we may not
prevail. Monitoring and defending against legal actions is time- consuming for our Management and staff, and may detraets--

detract from our ab111ty to fully focus our 1nternal resources on our bu%lnei% actlvmes —whteh—eet&d—rew-}t—m—de{ays-ef—eﬁr

eem&eet-leﬁ—wrt-h—t-hese—matters— We are al@o generally obhgated to the extent permltted by law to 1ndemn1fy our current and
former directors and officers who are named as defendants in these and similar actions. We are-ret-currently cannot able-te
estimate the possible eest-costs stemming te-us-from these matters, as-these-aetions-are-eurrently-at-an-earty-stage;-and we also
cannot be certain how long it may take to resolve them these-matters-or the possible amount of any potential sanctions,
penalties, or damages that we may incur be-regquiredto-pay-. It is possible that we could, in the future, incur judgments or enter
into settlements of claims for monetary damages. Deetsre-ns—An adver%e outcome te—eu-H-ﬁtefests—ln these aettons-eottd-matters
that result-results in significant sanctions the-pa : and-could have a material
adver%e effect on our cash ﬂow lesultq of operatlonq and, ﬁnanClal p0§1t101’1 —I-ﬂ—add-tt-teﬁ— or t-he—uﬂeer‘rai-ﬁty—ef—t-he—eufreﬂt-}y
efitig rour stock price. We may need to defend ourselves against patent,
copyrlght or trademark mfrmgement clalm% or trade secret misappropriation claims, which may be time- consuming and cause
us to incur substantial costs and could materially adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and
operating results Companies, organizations, or individuals, including our competitors, may own or obtain patents, trademarks
or other proprietary rights that would prevent or limit our ability to make, use, develop or sell our home solar and other products
and services, which could make it more difficult for us to operate our business. We may receive inquiries from patent, copyright
or trademark owners inquiring whether we infringe upon their proprietary rights. We may also be the subject of allegations that
we have misappropriated their trade secrets or other proprietary rights. Companies owning patents or other intellectual property
rights relating to battery packs, electric motors, or electronic power management systems may allege infringement or
misappropriation of such rights. In response to a determination that we have infringed upon or misappropriated a third party’ s
intellectual property rights, we may be required to do one or more of the following: ¢ cease development, sales or use of our
products that incorporate the asserted intellectual property; ¢ pay substantial damages; ¢ obtain a license from the owner of the
asserted intellectual property right, which license may not be available on reasonable terms or at all; or * redesign one or more
aspects of an applicable product or service. A successful claim of infringement or misappropriation against us could materially
adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results. Any litigation or claims, whether valid or

1nvahd could result in qubitantlal cost% and diversion of resources —}Pthe—}R—S—makes-deteiﬂna&eﬁs—ﬂ&aPﬂ&e—fatﬁmaﬁeet—va}ue




eeﬁd-r-t—teﬁ—aﬁd—pfes-peets— R1§k§ Related to Regulatron Our bu%rnei% depend@ in part on the regulatory treatment of thud party
owned solar energy systems Retail sales of electricity by third parties such as us face regulatory challenges in some states and
jurisdictions, including states and jurisdictions we intend to enter where the laws and regulatory policies have not historically
embraced competition to the service provided by the vertically integrated centralized electric utility. Some of the principal
challenges pertain to whether third- party owned solar energy systems qualify for the same levels of rebates or other non- tax
incentives available for customer owned solar energy systems, whether third- party owned solar energy systems are eligible at
all for these incentives and whether third- party owned solar energy systems are eligible for net metering and the associated
significant cost savings. Furthermore, in some states and utility territories third parties are limited in the way they may deliver
solar energy to their customers. These regulatory constraints may, for example, give rise to various property tax issues. Changes
in law and reductions in, eliminations of, or additional requirements for, benefits such as rebates, tax incentives , and favorable
net metering policies decrease the attractiveness of new solar energy systems to distributed home solar power companies and
the attractiveness of solar energy systems to customers, which could reduce our acquisition opportunities. Net metering has
helped to enable the growth of distributed generation solar energy systems in the U. S., and net metering programs have
been subject to legislative and regulatory scrutiny in some states and territories. Net metering and related policies
concerning distributed generation have also received attention from federal legislators and regulations. Such a loss or
reduction in benefits, incentives, and favorable net metering policies could also adversely impact our access to capital and
reduce our willingness to pursue solar energy systems due to higher operating costs or lower revenues. We are not currently
regulated as a utility under applicable laws, but we may be subject to regulation as a utility in the future or become
subject to new federal and state regulations for any additional solar service offerings we may introduce in the future
Most federal, state and municipal laws do not currently regulate us as a utility. As a result, we are not subject to the
various regulatory requirements applicable to U. S. utilities. However, federal, state, local or other applicable regulations
could place significant restrictions on our ability to operate our business and execute our business plan by prohibiting or
otherwise restricting our sale of electricity. If we become subject to the same regulatory authorities as utilities in other
states or if new regulatory bodies are established to oversee our business, our operating costs could materially increase
and we may not be able to execute on our business plans. Compliance with occupational safety and health and
environmental requirements can be costly and noncompliance with such requirements may result in potentially significant
monetary penalties, operational delays and adverse publicity —=The ongoing operations and maintenance of solar energy systems:
and-energy-sterage-systems requires individuals hired by us or third- party contractors, potentially including our employees, to
work at heights with complicated and potentially dangerous electrical systems. There is substantial risk of serious injury or death
if proper safety procedures are not followed. ©ar-Certain of our operations are subject to regulation under Oeeupational-Safety
and-Health-Admintstration~OSHA 2)-and Wage and Hour Division, DOT regulations , the U. S. Environmental
Protection Agency Departmentof Fransportation(DOTregulations-and equivalent state and local laws that protect and
regulate employee health and safety and the environment . Changes to these ©SHA-erBOF-requirements, or stricter
interpretation or enforcement of existing laws or regulations, could result in increased costs. If we fail to comply with applicable
OSHA-er-DOT-occupational safety and health and environmental regulations severifno-wotk—related-sertous-injury-or
death-eeenrs-, we may be subject to civil or criminal enforcement and be required to pay substantial penalties, incur significant
capital expenditures, or suspend or limit operations. Beestse-Since individuals hired by us or on our behalf to perform ongoing
operations and maintenance of our solar energy systems-and-energy-storage-systems, including third- party contractors, are
compensated on a per project basis, they are incentivized to work more quickly than servicers compensated on an hourly basis.
While we have not experienced a high level of injuries to date, this incentive structure may result in higher injury rates than
others in the industry and could accordingly expose us to increased liability. Individuals hired by or on behalf of us may have
workplace accidents and receive citations from OSHA regulators for alleged safety violations, resulting in fines. Any such
accidents, citations, violations, injuries or failure to comply with industry best practices may subject us to adverse publicity,
damage our reputation and competitive position and adversely affect our business. A failure to comply with laws and regulations
relating to interactions by us with current or prospective customers , including consumer protection laws, could result in
negative publicity, claims, investigations , and litigation and adversely affect our business —=Our business substantially focuses
on Customer Agreements and transactions with residential customers. We offer leases, loans and other products and services to
consumers by contractors in our networks, who utilize sales people employed by or engaged as third- party service providers of
such contractors. We must comply with numerous federal, state and local laws and regulations that govern matters relating to
interactions with residential consumers, including those pertaining to consumer protection, marketing and sales, privacy and
data @ecurrty, consumer financial and credit transactions, mortgages and refinancings, home improvement contracts, warranties ,
and various means of customer solicitation. These laws and regulations are eynramte-and-subject to change and to potentially
differing interpretations and-. Additionally, various federal, state and local legislative and regulatory bodies may initiate
investigations , which can lead to enforcement actions , expand current laws or regulations, or enact new laws and regulations
regarding these matters. Changes in these laws or regulations or their interpretation could dramatically affect how we do
business, acquire customers, manage and use information collected from and about current and prospective customers and the
costs associated therewith. We-strive-As a result, we are subject to a constantly evolving consumer protection environment
that is difficult to predict and may affect our business. While we have developed policies and procedures designed to
assist in compliance with these laws and regulations, no assurance is given that our compliance policies and procedures
will be effective. Failure to comply with al-these laws and with regulatory requirements applicable {aws-to our business
could subject us to, among other things, damages, class action lawsuits, enforcement actions, civil and criminal liability,



settlements, changes in business practices, increased compliance costs, and reputational damage that may harm our
business, results of operations, and financial condition. Electric utility policies and regulations refating-, including those
affecting electric rates, may present regulatory and economic barriers to interaetions-the purchase and use of solar
energy systems that may significantly reduce demand for electricity from our solar energy systems and adversely impact
our ability to acquire new solar service agreements Federal, state, and local government statutes and regulations
concerning electricity heavily influence the market for our solar service offerings and are constantly evolving. These
statutes, regulations, and administrative rulings relate to, among other things, electricity pricing, net metering, consumer
protection, incentives, taxation, competition with utilities eustomers—It-is-possibte-, however-and the interconnection of
homeowner- owned and third party- owned solar energy systems to the electrical grid. These statutes and regulations are
constantly evolving. In the U. S. , governmental authorities and state public service commissions that determine utility
rates, rate structures, and the terms and conditions of electric service continuously modify these requirements-regulations
and policies. These regulations and policies could result in a significant reduction in the potential demand for electricity
from our solar energy systems and could adversely impact our ability to acquire new solar service agreements. In
addition, many utilities, their trade associations, and fossil fuel interests in the country, which have significantly greater
economic, technical, operational and political resources than us, are currently challenging solar- related policies, which
may be-interpreted-and-apphied-have the effect of reducing the competitiveness of residential solar energy. Any adverse
changes in solar- related policies could have a negative impact manner-ineonsistent-from-one- on jurisdietion-to-another-and
may-eonthet-with-etherrales-erour praetiees-business, financial condition, and results of operations . We are subject to U. S.
and foreign anti- corruption and anti- money laundering laws and regulations. We could face criminal liability and other serious
consequences for violations, which could harm our business We are subject to the U. S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977,
as amended, the U. S. domestic bribery statute contained in 18 U. S. C. § 201, the U. S. Travel Act, the USA PATRIOT Act and
possibly other anti- bribery and anti- money laundering laws in countries in which we conduct or will conduct activities. Anti-
corruption laws are interpreted broadly and prohibit companies and their employees, agents, contractors, and other collaborators
from authorizing, promising, offering or providing, directly or indirectly, improper payments or anything else of value to
recipients in the public or private sector. Wc can be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of our employees, agents,
contractors, and other collaborators, even if we do not explicitly authorize or have actual knowledge of such activities. Any
violations of the laws and regulations dcsulbui above may result in substantial civil and criminal fines and penalties,
imprisonment, the loss of export or import privileges, debarment, tax reassessments, breach of contract and fraud litigation,
reputational harm, and other consequences . We are, and may become, subject to stringent and evolving laws, regulations,
rules, contractual obligations, industry standards, policies, and other obligations related to data privacy and security.
Many of these laws and regulations are subject to change and uncertain interpretation and could result in claims,
increased costs of operations, or otherwise harm our business Personal privacy and data security have become
significant issues and the subject of rapidly evolving regulation and expectations. Federal, state, and local government
bodies or agencies have in the past adopted, and may in the future adopt more laws and regulations affecting data
privacy. Interpretations and enforcement of these laws continue to evolve. Changes to interpretations or enforcement
strategies could create a range of new compliance obligations, which could cause us to incur additional costs. If
interpretations or enforcement of these laws deviate significantly in the future, those costs could become even more
severe. Any inability to adequately address privacy and security concerns, even if unfounded, or comply with applicable
privacy and data protection laws, regulations and policies, could result in additional cost and liability to us, damage our
reputation, inhibit acquisitions, and adversely affect our business. Furthermore, the costs of compliance with, and other
burdens imposed by, the laws, regulations, and policies that are applicable to our business may limit the use and
adoption of, and reduce the overall demand for, our services. If we are not able to adjust to changing laws, regulations,
and standards related to privacy or security, our business may be harmed. Moreover, as noted above, we are also subject
to the possibility of security breaches, some of which may result in a violation of these laws . We have received subpoenas
from states attorneys general requesting information about our business. These investigations could result in substantiaHegal
fees;fines, penalties or damages and may divert Management’ s time and attention from our business We have received
subpoenas from the-certain state attorneys general requesting information about our business. These investigations could
result in fines, penalties, or damages and may divert Management’ s time and attention from our business. Specifically,
we have received subpoenas from the attorneys general offices for the states of Connecticut, New Jersey, New York, and
Texas related-regarding, among other things, certain sales, marketing, billing, and operations practices. We are timely
responding to -ﬁ-}ed-eﬁs-tefneikeemp}&'rrﬁs—these subpoenas, and otherwise are cooperating with the states in connection with
these investigations, cach of which have involved regtiested-requests for a substantial samber-volume of documents te-be
produeed-by-the-Company-. While we are-responding-te-cannot now predict the outcome of these matters subpeenas—with-the

assistanee-ofeounsel- it is possible that these investigations may ILSI.ll[ ina [mu pcndlly » OF II]JLIHLII()I] which may 1mpact

advefsel-y—a-ffeet—oul ability to operate in these states.

ILSI.ll[ our future net income or loss will decnd upon the 1mplunullal10n of our strategy to expand our new solar power
business.We expect the rate at which we will incur future losses will be impacted by the followmgéepeﬂd-eﬁ—a—ﬁtﬂﬁber—e-f
faetors;ineluding-:+ Costs which may be incurred in connection with the implementation of our business strategy;e Costs related
to our general and administrative functions to support our public company obligations;and ¢ Acquisition and integration of other
solar energy portfolios or businesses. We-Because we will incur portions of the costs and expenses from these efforts before we
receive the expected incremental revenues with respect thereto, as-saeh-our losses in future periods are expected to be
significant.In addition ,we expeetdosses-may find that these efforts are more expensive than we currently anticipate or



that these efforts may not result in revenues,which would [n addition, respending-te-we may find that these requests-efforts
are more expensive than we currently anticipate or that these efforts may not result in revenues, which would have a
material adverse effect on our results of operations and further increase our losses. We have generated significant net
operating loss carryforwards (or “ NOLSs ) as a result of the losses that we have historically incurred which, for
produetion-U. S. federal income tax purposes, can be used to offset future taxable income subject to certain limitations
under the Internal Revenue Code and related regulations of the U. S. Treasury. Our ability to use our NOLs will depend
on the amount of taxable income generated in future periods. In addition, the use of NOLs and other carryforwards to
offset taxable income is subject to various limitations if we undergo an “ ownership change ” as defined in Section 382 of
the Internal Revenue Code. [ As of December 31, 2024, we have recorded a full valuation allowance against our NOLs
and we can offer no assurance when, or if, we may result-in-be able to use our NOLSs to offset taxable income. | Servicing
our existing debt requires a significant amount of cash to satisfy payment obligations. We may not have sufficient cash
flow to service our debt, and we may be forced to take the-other diversiorr-actions to satisfy our obligations under our
indebtedness, which may not be successful We have $ 730. 6 million of long- term debt outstanding as of December 31,
2024, as discussed in more detail in the section titled “ Management’ s attention-Discussion and eause-Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations ” and our consolidated financial statements, both included in this Annual Report
on Form 10- K. Our ability to make scheduled principal payments, to pay interest on or to refinance our indebtedness
depends on our future performance, which is subject to economic, financial, competitive and the-other Company-factors
beyond our control.We may not have sufficient cash flow in the future saffietent-to service our debt and-make-neeessary
eapital-expenditares-to-operate-otr-businiess-. As a result H-wve-are-unable-to-generate-sueheash-flow-, we may be required to
adopt one or more alternatives,such as selling assets,restructuring debt,or obtaining additional equity capital on terms that may
be onerous or highly dilutive.Our ability to timely repay or otherwise refinance our indebtedness will depend on the capital
markets and our financial condition at such time.We may not be able to engage in any of these activities or engage in these
activities on desirable terms,which could result in a default on our debt obligations and negatively impact our financial
condition and prospects. Furthermore,we expect to incur fegat-expenses-additional debt in the future, and increases in our
existing debt obligations would further heighten the debt related risk discussed above. In addition, we may not be able to
enter into new debt instruments on acceptable terms or at all. If we were unable to satisfy the terms under existing or
new instruments, or obtain waivers or forbearance from our lenders, or if we were unable to obtain refinancing or new
financings for our working capital, equipment and other needs on acceptable terms if and when needed, our business
would be adversely affected . Risks Related to Ownership of Our Securities We have no current plans to declare a dividend in
the foreseeable future We have no current plans to declare any cash dividends to holders of our Eemmen-common Steek-stock
in the fo1eseedble future. (onsequentlv inv estou mdy need to 1elV on sales of their shares dfteI pllce appreuatlon which may

v ; y .Wearea* smaller
reporting company ~ and will be able to av 411 omsel\ es of reduced dlsdosme 1equnements applicable to smaller 1ep01tmg
companies, which could make our common stock less attractive to investors We are a “ smaller reporting company, ” as defined
in the Seeurities-Exchange Act 8f4934- and we currently take, and in the future, intend to continue to take , advantage of
certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not *“ smaller
reporting companies, ” including reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and
proxy statements. We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive because we may rely on these
exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our
common stock and our stock price may be more volatile. We may take advantage of these reporting exemptions until we are no



longer a “ smaller reporting company. ” We will remain a “ smaller reporting company * until (a) the aggregate market value of
our outstanding common stock held by non- affiliates as of the last business day of our most recently completed second fiscal
quarter is $ 75 million or more and we reported annual net revenues as of our most recently completed fiscal year is $ 100
million or more, or (b) the aggregate market value of our outstanding common stock held by non- affiliates as of the last
business day of our most recently completed second fiscal quarter is $ 700 million or more, regardless of annual revenue. If our
stock price declines, our €emmen-common Steekstock may be subject to delisting from the New York Stock Exchange If the
average closing price of our €emmen-common Steekstock is less than $ 1. 00 per share for 30 consecutive trading days, we
may receive a letter from the staff of the NYSE stating that our Cemmen-common Steelestock will be delisted unless we are
able to regain compliance with the NYSE listing criteria requiring that we maintain an average closing price for our Common
common Steekestock of at least $ 1. 00 per share. The average closing price of our Cemmen-common Steekstock was below $
1. 00 per share for 30 consecutive trading days in 2022 and 2023, to which we received notices of non- compliance from the
NYSE on October 20, 2022 and March 28, 2023. On October 6, 2023, following stockholder approval, we filed the Amended
Certificate of Incorporation to effect the Reverse Stock Split. Although, subsequent to the Reverse Stock Split, we were able to
regain compliance because the average closing price for our Eemmen-common Steekstock was subsequently at least $ 1. 00
per share for 30 consecutive trading days, we cannot guarantee that our stock price will continue to trade above $ 1. 00 per share
or otherwise meet the NYSE listing requirements and therefore our €ommen-common Steekstock may in the future be subject
to delisting. The continuing effect of the Reverse Stock Split on the market price of our Cemmen-common Steel-stock cannot
be predicted with any certainty, and the history of similar reverse stock splits for companies in like circumstances is varied. If
our €emmen-common Steelestock is delisted, this would, among other things, substantially impair our ability to raise
additional funds and could result in a loss of institutional investor interest and fewer development opportunities for us. The price
of our Cemmen-common Steelestock has been and may continue to be volatile The price of our Commen-common Stoek
stock has fluctuated, and may continue to fluctuate , due to a variety of factors, including: * actual or anticipated fluctuations
in our quarterly and annual results and those of other public companies in our industry; ¢ our failure to meet market expectations
for our performance; * mergers and strategic alliances in the industry in which we operate; * market prices and conditions in the
industry in which we operate; * changes in laws or government regulations applicable to our business; ¢ substantial sales of our
Coemmen-common Steelestock ; © issuance of new or updated research reports from securities analysts or failure of securities
analysts to maintain coverage of us ; * announcement or expectation of additional equity or debt financing efforts ; » the
public’ s reaction to our press releases, other public announcements and filings with the SEC; » actual or perceived data
privacy or security incidents ; * potential or actual military conflicts or acts of terrorism; * announcements concerning us or our
competitors; ¢ the general state of the securities markets; ¢ threatened or actual lawsuits, investigations, or other legal
proceedings; and-» any significant change in our management; * short- selling activity related to our Cemmen-common Stoek
stock ;  general economic conditions including instability in financial markets and bank failures, and slow or negative
growth of our markets; and ¢ the other factors described in these “ Risk Factors ” . These market and industry factors may
materially reduce the market price of our Commen-common Steekestock , regardless of our operating performance. In addition,
we believe there has been and may continue to be substantial trading in derivatives of our Cemmerr-common Steelstock ,
including short selling activity or related similar activities, which are beyond our control, and which may be beyond the full
control of the SEC and Financial Institutions Regulatory Authority or “ FINRA ”. While the SEC and FINRA rules prohibit
some forms of short selling and other activities that may result in stock price manipulation, such activity may nonetheless occur
without detection or enforcement. There can be no assurance that should there be any illegal manipulation in the trading of our
stock, it will be detected, prosecuted or successfully eradicated. Significant short selling market manipulation could cause our
Cemmen-common Steelestock trading price to decline, to become more volatile, or both. We may issue additional shares of
Geﬁm&en—common -S’éeekstock e-1=, preferred stock , or other equlty securltles 1nclud1ng under our equlty incentive plan -

tt : it eurities Wrthout %tockholder approval, which swH-would drlute exrstrng
9tockholde1§ Hterests— mterest and may depress the market price of our Commen-common StoekAs-of Deeember314;2023;

we-have-options;restrieted-stock We may untts(RSUs)-and-warrants-outstanding-te-issuc a substantial number up-te-an

aggregate-of additional +-825;+8+-shares of eur-Common-common Steekstock —We-also-have-the-ability-to-issue-up-to324-,
preferred 467,-468-shares-of Common-Stoekstock , or other equity securities, including under our 2020 Equity Incentive

Plan (the “ 2020 Plan ") , without stockholder approval. As of December 31, 2024, we had options, restricted stock units (“
RSUs ”), and warrants outstanding that would require us to issue up to an aggregate of 3, 251, 368 shares of our
common stock. We also have the ability to issue up to 324, 696, 266 shares of common stock under the 2020 Plan .
Pursuant to the 2020 Plan, the number of shares available for issuance automatically increases annually on the first day of each
fiscal year during the period beginning with the fiscal year immediately following the fiscal year during which the 2020 Plan is
first approved by the-our stockholders, and ending on the second day of fiscal year 2030, in an amount equal to the lesser of: (a)

5 % of the number of outstanding shares of €Commen-common Steekstock on such date; and (b) an amount determined by the
plan administrator. We—may—Any such -rssue-lssuance of addmonal 9ha1e% of Geﬁameﬁ—common -Sfeekstock preferred stock
or other equity securities efeq S €




s1gn1f1cantly dilute the equity 1nterests of our existing stockholders >prog e virership-iterestin eerease;
may subordinate the rights of holders of common stock if equity securities are 1ssued w1th rlghts senior to those afforded
our common stock; * may adversely affect the amount of cash available per share, including for payment of dividends (if any)
in the future ;may-deerease-; * could cause the relative voting strength of each previously outstanding share of Cemmen
common Steekstock may-to be diminished; and- could cause a change in control if a substantial number of shares of our
common stock are issued, which may affect, among other things, our ability to use our net operating loss carry forwards,
if any, and could result in the resignation or removal of our present officers and directors; and *» may adversely affect the
market price effor our shares-of-Commen-common Steelestock may-deeline-. Our Certificate of Incorporation contains anti-
takeover provisions that could adversely affect the rights of our stockholders Our Certificate of Incorporation contains
provisions to limit the ability of others to acquire control of our or cause us to engage in change- of- control transactions,
including, among other things: ¢ provisions that authorize our Board of Directors, without action by our stockholders, to issue
additional shares of Cemmenr-common Steelestock and preferred stock with preferential rights determined by our Board of
Directors; ¢ provisions that permit only a majority of our Board of Directors to call stockholder meetings and therefore do not
permit stockholders to call stockholder meetings; ¢ provisions that impose advance notice requirements, minimum shareholding
periods and ownership thresholds, and other requirements and limitations on the ability of stockholders to propose matters for
consideration at stockholder meetings; ¢ provisions limiting stockholders’ ability to act by written consent; and ¢ a staggered
board whereby our directors are divided into three classes, with each class subject to retirement and re- election once every three
years on a rotating basis. These provisions could have the effect of depriving our stockholders of an opportunity to sell their
Cemmen-common Steelestock at a premium over prevailing market prices by discouraging third parties from seeking to obtain
control of our company in a tender offer or similar transaction. With our staggered Board of Directors, at least two annual or
special meetings of stockholders will generally be required in order to effect a change in a majority of our directors. Our
staggered Board of Directors can discourage proxy contests for the election of our directors and purchases of substantial blocks
of our shares by making it more difficult for a potential acquirer to gain control of our Board of Directors in a relatively short
period of time. Our Certificate of Incorporation provides, subject to limited exceptions, that the Court of Chancery of the State of
Delaware will be the sole and exclusive forum for certain stockholder litigation matters, which could limit our stockholders’
ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers, employees or stockholders Our
Certificate of Incorporation provides, to the fullest extent permitted by law, that derivative actions brought in our name, actions
against directors, officers and employees for breach of fiduciary duty and other similar actions may be brought only in the Court
of Chancery in the State of Delaware and, if brought outside of Delaware, the stockholder bringing the suit will be deemed to
have consented to service of process on such stockholder’ s counsel except any action (A) as to which the Court of Chancery in
the State of Delaware determines that there is an indispensable party not subject to the jurisdiction of the Court of Chancery (and
the indispensable party does not consent to the personal jurisdiction of the Court of Chancery within ten days following such
determination), (B) which is vested in the exclusive jurisdiction of a court or forum other than the Court of Chancery, (C) for
which the Court of Chancery does not have subject matter jurisdiction, or (D) any action arising under the Securities Act, as to
which the Court of Chancery and the federal district court for the District of Delaware shall have concurrent jurisdiction. Any
person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock shall be deemed to have notice of
and consented to the forum provisions in the Certificate of Incorporation. This choice of forum provision may limit a
stockholder’ s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that we find favorable for disputes with our or any of our directors,
officers, other employees, or stockholders, which may discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims. We cannot be certain that
a court will decide that this provision is either applicable or enforceable, and if a court were to find the choice of forum
provision contained in our Certificate of Incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, our may incur additional
costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could harm our business, operating results, and financial
condition. Our Certificate of Incorporation provides that the exclusive forum provision will be applicable to the fullest extent
permitted by applicable law. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive federal
jurisdiction over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations
thereunder. As a result, the exclusive forum provision will not apply to suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by
the Exchange Act or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. We are subject to risks
associated with proxy contests and other actions of activist stockholders Publicly traded companies have increasingly
become subject to campaigns by activist investors advocating corporate actions such as governance changes, financial
restructurings, increased borrowings, special dividends, stock repurchases or even sales of assets or entire companies to
third parties or the activists themselves. We received a notice dated April 17, 2024 from Clayton Capital Appreciation
Fund, L. P. and its affiliates, Clayton Partners LL.C, the JSCC Family Trust, and Jason Stankowski (collectively, *
Clayton ”), which owned approximately 2. 1 % of our outstanding shares at the time of submission, purporting to
nominate a slate of two candidates for election as directors at our 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. On June 21,
2024, we entered into a Cooperation Agreement with Clayton (the “ Cooperation Agreement ”’) pursuant to which,
among other things, we agreed to increase the size of our Board from six to seven directors and to take all necessary
actions to appoint Clara Nagy McBane to our Board to fill the directorship resulting from the increase in the size of our
Board and Clayton agreed to certain customary standstill provisions that will remain in effect until the date that is the
earlier of (i) the date Clayton receives notice that we will not nominate Ms. McBane for re- election to our Board at the
2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, (ii) immediately following the closing of the polls on the election of directors at the
2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, (iii) August 31, 2025 if the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders has not been held



by that date, and (iv) in the event that any party materially breaches the Cooperation Agreement, the date that is 30
calendar days following written notice of such breach from the non- breaching party, if such breach (if capable of being
cured) has not been cured by such date, or, if impossible to cure within 30 calendar days, such party has not taken
substantive action to correct by such date. A proxy contest or related activities on the part of activist stockholders could
adversely affect our business for a number of reasons, including, without limitation, the following: ¢ responding to proxy
contests and other actions by activist stockholders can be costly and time- consuming, disrupting our operations and
diverting the attention of our Board of Directors, management and our employees; * perceived uncertainties as to our
future direction may result in the loss of potential business opportunities and may make it more difficult to attract and
retain qualified personnel, business partners, customers and others important to our success, any of which could
negatively affect our business and our results of operations and financial condition; * actions by activist stockholders
may be exploited by our competitors, cause concern to our current or potential customers and make it more difficult to
attract and retain qualified personnel;  if nominees advanced by activist stockholders are elected or appointed to our
Board of Directors with a specific agenda, it may adversely affect our ability to effectively and timely implement our
strategic plans or to realize long- term value from our assets, and this could in turn have an adverse effect on our
business and on our results of operations and financial condition; and * proxy contests may cause our stock price to
experience periods of volatility. [tem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments None. Item 1C. Cybersecurity —RiskManagement;
Strategy-and-Governanee-Cybersecurity Strategy, Policy and Procedures We recognize the importance of assessing, identifying,
and managing material risks associated with cybersecurity threats, as such term is defined within Item 106 (a) of Regulation S-
K. These risks include, among other things, operational risks, intellectual property theft, fraud, extortion, harm to employees or
customers and violation of data privacy or security laws. We utilize information technology (“ IT ) that enables our teams to
access both operational and financial performance data in real time, while at the same time, helping to identifying--- identify
and preventing---- prevent cybersecurity threats and risks. Risk Management and Strategy RiskManagement-Our cybersecurity
risk management program is integrated into our overall enterprise risk management (“ ERM ) framework, and shares common
methodologies, reporting channels, and governance processes that apply across the ERM framework to other areas, including
legal, compliance, strategic, operational, and financial risk. We assess and identify cybersecurity risk to the organization by: ¢
Employing a cybersecurity policy that sets forth a protocol for assessing, testing, identifying and preventing security risks; ¢
Conducting assessments of risk likelihood and magnitude from unauthorized access, use, disclosure, disruption, modification or
destruction of I'T systems and the related information processes, steree- storage , or transmitted-transmission ; * Training
personnel on security risks and how to identify and prevent such risks; ¢ Performing risk analysis and security assessments that
document the results of the assessment for use and review; ¢ Overseeing and identifying any risk from cyber threats associated
with any third- party service provider —3 * Ensuring security controls are assessed for effectiveness, are-implemented correctly 5
and operating as intended; and ¢ Continuously scanning for vulnerabilities and remedying a-vulnerabilities in accordance with
the associated risk. Cybersecurity is among the risks identified for Board- level oversight, with the Audit Committee of our
Board of Directors responsible for overseeing our policies, practices, and assessments with respect to cybersecurity. Our Audit
Committee and Board of Directors receive regular updates throughout the year on cybersecurity from our Finance, Risk and
Sustainability (the “ FRS *”) Committee, which is tasked with risk management, data protection, and monitoring compliance with
our cybersecurity policy and also responsible for assessing and managing material risks from cybersecurity threats . The
FRS Committee is comprised of our Chief Financial Officer, Chief Legal Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Senior Vice
President of I'T, and VP of Corporate Development. Our cybersecurity risk management and strategy processes are led by
our Senior Vice President of IT and our Chief Legal Officer, who collectively have extensive prior work experience and
expertise over multiple decades developing and managing information security and cybersecurity strategy and programs
and managing operational risk and incident response strategies. Each member of our Board of Directors and Audit
Committee also memberseparately-receives an-annuat-a quarterly report on cybersecurity matters and related risk exposures,
and when the report is eevered-discussed during an Audit Committee meeting, the chair of the Audit Committee reports on #s
related matters to our Board of Directors. Our Audit Committee also receives regular updates on our cybersecurity posture
throughout the year, as appropriate. Menttering-In accordance with our cybersecurity policy, we have established a eentinaous
monitoring strategy and program which includes: ¢ Defined security metrics to be monitored; ¢ Performance of security control
assessments on an ongoing basis; ¢« Engaging third party security consultants to, among other things, conduct a-periodic review
reviews of our cybersecurity program , which is overseen by the FRS Committee , for identifying any cybersecurity threats;
Addressing results of both internal and third- party cybersecurity anatysis-analyses and reporting security status to the
executive team; * Monitoring information systems to detect attacks and indicators of potential attacks; and ¢ Identification of
unauthorized use of information system resources. Data Protection We have also implemented procedures set forth in our
cybersecurity policy that secure sensitive data preteeted-by-us-in our possession , which include: ¢ Establishing policies
governing data security; * Monitoring data access throughout the organization; * Providing annual security training and
awareness; * Protecting sensitive data through encryption techniques; and * Designing and implementing systems to include
backup and recoverability principles, such as periodic data backups and safeguards in the case of a disaster. Incident
Management Plan Our cybersecurity policy includes an incident management plan (“ IMP ), which consists of the following
processes: * The development, documentation, review and testing of security procedures and incident management procedures,
which are eontinuallyregularly re- assessed, updated and tested; « The FRS Committee reviews any identified matters by
assessment, verification and classification of incidents to determine affected stakeholders and appropriate parties for contact; ©
The FRS Committee notifies the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee to-validate-that-the-response-ts-being-addressed
appropriately—; « The FRS Committee consults with outside experts, if determined that the incident rises to a significant level;
The FRS Committee initiates containment by making tactical changes to the computing environment to mitigate active threats



based on currently known information; * The FRS Committee establishes the root cause of incidents, identification and evidence
collection from all affected machines and logs sources, threat intelligence and other information sources; ¢ I'T personnel recovers
and restores normal business functionality, which includes the reversal of any damage caused by the incident and responding as
needed; and * The FRS Committee reviews the closure of each incident and conducts a *“ lessons learned ™ analysis to improve
prevention and ensure the IMP and cybersecurity plans are more efficient and effective. We have faced and continue to face
several-cybersecurity risks in connection with just-the eendueting---- conduct of our business. Although we do not believe such
risks have netmaterially affected us, including our business strategy, results of operations or financial condition, to date, we
have, from time to time, experienced threats to and breaches of our data and systems, including malware and computer virus
attacks. Notwithstanding the extensive approach we take to cybersecurity, we may not be successful in preventing or mitigating
a cybersecurity incident that could have a material adverse effect on us. While we maintain cybersecurity insurance, the costs
related to cybersecurity threats or disruptions may not be fully insured. For more information about the cybersecurity risks we
face, see the risk factor entitled “ Any security breach, unauthorized access or disclosure, or theft of data, including personal
information, we, our third party service providers, or our suppliers gather, store, transmit or use, could harm our reputation,
subject us to claims, litigation, and financial harm and have an adverse impact on our business ~ within Item 1A. Risk Factors.
Item 2. Properties Our corporate headquarters is located in leased office space in Denver, Colorado. Our Chief Executive
Officer and several key members of the leadership team are located in Denver. We also lease office space in Houston, Texas,
where our accounting and finance, human resources, customer operations, asset operations and business development, and
information technology functions are located. Item 3. Legal Proceedings See Note +5-16 . Commitments and Contingencies in
Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data for a description of our material pending legal proceedings. [tem
4. Mine Safety Disclosures Not Applicable . Information About Our Executive Officers The executive officers of the
Company as of the date of this filing are as follows: NameAgePrincipal Occupation During the Past Five
YearsChristopher Hayes (1) 5S1Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company since April 2024, and a director of
the Company since December 2020. From January 2023 to April 2024, Mr. Hayes served as the Chair of the Board of the
Company. From August 2019 until December 2020, Mr. Hayes served as a member of the Board of the Company’ s
predecessor, XL Hybrids Inc. From August 2016 to January 2017, Mr. Hayes served as the Senior Vice President of
Edison Energy, LL.C, an indirect subsidiary of Edison International, a publicly traded energy and power markets
company, following Edison’ s acquisition of Altenex, a renewable energy procurement company co- founded by Mr.
Hayes in 2011. Most recently, Mr. Hayes served as managing partner and director of Alturus, a sustainable
infrastructure investment company he co- founded in 2018. The Board believes that Mr. Hayes’ knowledge of our
business as its CEO allows him to provide important insights to the Board on the Company, its business, and its potential
strategic priorities. Sarah Weber Wells47Chief Financial Officer and Head of Sustainability of the Company since May
2023. Prior thereto, Senior Vice President, Finance and Accounting of the Company since February 2022; prior thereto
Chief Financial Officer of Spruce Holding Company 1 LL.C, Spruce Holding Company 2 LL.C and Spruce Holding
Company 3 LLC, which were acquired by the Company on September 9, 2022 (collectively, “ Spruce Power ). Prior to
joining Spruce Power, Finance Manager of Cornerstone Building Brands, a building products manufacturer, from
November 2013 to November 2018. Jonathan M. Norling5S6Chief Legal Officer of the Company since February 2023;
prior thereto General Counsel of Spruce Power from January 2019 to February 2023, Deputy General Counsel of
Spruce Power from January 2018 to January 2019, and Interim General Counsel of Spruce Power from July 2017 to
January 2018. 1. Christopher Hayes, who served as Chair of the Board in fiscal year 2023 became President and Chief
Executive Officer as of April 12, 2024, replacing Christian Fong who served as Chief Executive Officer from February 1,
2023 until April 12, 2024 . Item 5. Market for Registrant” s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases
of Equity Securities Market Information Our €emmen-common Steelestock is currently listed on the NYSE under the symbol
“ SPRU. ” Holders As of AptH-3-March 24 | 2624-2025 , there were approximately 5449 holders of record of our Cemmen
common Steelestock . This figure does not include shareholders whose certificates are held in the name of their broker- dealers
or other nominees. Dividends We have not paid any cash dividends on our €Cemmen-common Steekstock to date. We may
retain future earnings, if any, for future operations, expansion and debt repayment and have no current plans to pay cash
dividends for the foreseeable future. Any decision to declare and pay dividends in the future will be made at the discretion of
our Board of Directors and will depend on, among other things, our results of operations, financial condition, cash requirements,
contractual restrictions, and other factors that our Board of Directors may deem relevant. In addition, our ability to pay dividends
may be limited by covenants of any existing and future outstanding indebtedness we or our subsidiaries incur. We do not
anticipate declaring any cash dividends to holders of our Cemmenr-common Steelestock in the foreseeable future. Securities
Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans See Item 12 of Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10- K
regarding information about securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans. Recent Sales of
Unregistered Securities We had no sales of unregistered equity securities during the period covered by this Annual Report on
Form 10- K that were not previously reported in a Current Report on Form 8- K or Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q. In May
2023, our Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program for the repurchase of up to $ 50. 0 million of our outstanding
common stock through May 15, 2025 (the *“ Repurchase Program ). The Repurchase Program authorizes the Company to
effect repurchases through open market transactions, privately negotiated transactions, Rule 10b5- 1 trading plans and /
or Rule 10b- 18 trading plans, and other means. We are not obligated to repurchase any specific number of shares or dollar
amount and may discontinue the Repurchase Program at any time . The timing, number, and purchase price of share
repurchases, if any, will be determined by the Company’ s management in its discretion and will depend on a number of
factors, including the market price of the shares, general market and economic conditions, and other alternatives
available to the Company . The following table provides information with respect to shares of our Coemmen-common Stoek



stock we repurchased under the Repurchase Program during the three months ended December 31, 2623-2024 : PeriodTotal
Numberof Shares PurchasedAverage Price Paidper ShareTotal Numberof Shares Purchased asPart of PubliclyAnnounced Plan
Plans erPregramApproximate-orPrograms (1) Approximate Dollar Valueof Shares that May Yet Be PurchasedUnder the Plan
Plans or Pregram-Programs (in' 000s) October 1- October 31, 2623-2024 — § — — § 44, 881694 November 1- November 30,
20232024 — § — — $ 44, 881+694 December 1- December 31, 202369-2024291 , 993-558 $ 4-2 . 356991 291 , 993-558 $ 44
43 , 694-69-847 291 , 963-69-558 291 , 963-558 (1) The Repurchase Program was approved by our Board of Directors in
May 2023 and authorizes the repurchase of up to $ 50. 0 million of our outstanding common stock through May 185, 2025.
The IRA introduced a 1 % excise tax on all stock repurchases effective January 2023. In relation to the Repurchase Program,
this excise tax had no material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows as of and for the year-years
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. Future share repurchases under our Repurchase Program are subject to the business
judgment of our Board of Directors or Management, taking into consideration our historical and projected results of operations,
financial condition, cash flows, capital requirements, covenant compliance, current economic environment and other factors
considered relevant. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , we had approximately § 44-43 . 7-8 million available under the
Repurchase Program. Refer to Item 7, “ Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations ” within this Annual Report on Form 10- K for additional information on our share repurchases. Item 6. [ Reserved ]
[tem 7. Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations The following discussion and
analysis provides information which our Management believes is relevant to an assessment and understanding of our financial
condition and results of operations. This discussion and analysis should be read together with our results of operations and
financial condition and the audited consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report
on Form 10- K. In addition to historical financial information, this discussion and analysis contains forward- looking statements
based upon current expectations that involve risks, uncertainties, and assumptions. Refer to the section entitled “ Cautionary
Note Regarding Forward- Looking Statements. > Actual results and timing of selected events may differ materially from those
anticipated in these forward- looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth under *“ Risk Factors ™ or
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10- K. Certain figures, such as interest rates and other percentages, included in this
section have been rounded for ease of presentation. Percentage figures included in this section have not in all cases been
calculated on the basis of such rounded figures but on the basis of such amounts prior to rounding. For this reason, percentage
amounts in this section may vary slightly from those obtained by performing the same calculations using the figures in our
consolidated financial statements or in the associated text. Certain other amounts that appear in this section may similarly not
sum due to rounding. Company Overview We are a leading owner and operator of distributed solar energy assets across the U.
S., offering subscription- based services to approximately #5-85 , 000 home solar assets and customer contracts, making
renewable energy more accessible to everyone. We offer asset management servtees-and operating and maintenance services ,
for-home-solarenergy-systems-tnourportfolio-and are contracted to service approximately 5-60 , 000 systems owned by ether
eeﬁapames—thlrd parties, as well as to our Portfolio, through our Spruce Pro servicing platform . Refer to Item 1, *
Business ” within this Annual Report for additional information on our corporate history and background. Resffuef&mrg—Aeﬁeﬂs
Subsequent to the acquisition of Legacy Spruce Power, we eommeneed-the-performed an evaluation of personnel and

processes of various corporate functions between-SpraeePower-anddegaeyXEFteet-to optimize our future corporate structure

and implemented certain restructuring actions. As a result of exiting the Drivetrain business and the restructuring actions, we

recognized severance —rﬂ—t-he—&ggfegafe—res{fueﬁ\ﬂﬂg—&ﬂd-fe}afed-charges of dpplox1mately $ 2—1—0 67 mllllon durlng the year

Vest-i-&g—ef—eq&'rtryhaw&rds—are mcluded n sellmg gener"ll and admlnlstratlve expenses Wlthm our consolldated statements of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2023. There were no severance costs associated with restructuring charges
during the year ended December 31, 2024. Operating Highlights For the ycars ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 , our
revenues totaled $ 82. 1 million and $ 79. 9 million, respectively, while our net loss attributable to stockholders was $ 70.
5 million and $ 65. 8 million, respectively. Our 2024 financial performance was significantly impacted by fluctuations in
the value of our hedging portfolio, impairment of our goodwill, variations in our operations and maintenance costs, and
legal settlements during fiscal year 2024 and, due to the completion of the NJR Acquisition in November 2024, our fiscal
year 2024 financial performance does not reflect the full incremental impact of this acquisition on our financial results.
See the section titled “ Results of Operations ” in this Annual Report on Form 10- K for more information on our
operating results for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. We focus on three core pillars in our operations: ®
Ensure and-- an industry leading customer experience. For the year ended December 31, 2622-2024 , our customer
satisfaction score improved to 83 % compared to 74 % for the year ended December 31, 2023.  Deliver operational
excellence in our clean energy portfolio for customers and communities. Combined portfolio generation was
approximately 515 thousand MWh of power for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to 417 thousand MWh of
power for the year ended December 31, 2023. « Execute on our growth and capital strategies. As of December 31, 2024,
we owned cash flows from approximately 85, 000 home solar assets and customer contracts across 18 U. S. states with an
average remaining contract life of approximately 11 years compared to approximately 75, 000 home solar assets and
customer contracts with an average remaining contract life of approximately 12 years as of December 31, 2023. Certain
information above constitutes key operating metrics that we use to evaluate our operations, measure our performance
and identify trends in our business. Some of our key operating metrics are estimates that are based on our management’



s beliefs and assumptions and on information currently available to management. Although we believe we have a
reasonable basis for each of these estimates, we caution that these estimates are based on a combination of assumptions
that may prove to be inaccurate over time, and any inaccuracies could be material to our actual results when compared
to our calculations. See the section titled “ Risk Factors ” in this Annual Report on Form 10- K for more information.
Furthermore, other companies may calculate these operating metrics differently than we do now or in the future, which
would reduce their usefulness as a comparative measure . Recent Developments Capital Investments, Acquisitions and
Divestitures In January 2023, we completed the sale of our legacy operations, including the Drivetrain and XL Grid businesses,
each for an immaterial amount. Both businesses are presented as discontinued operations within our consolidated financial
statements. In March 2023, we completed the acquisition of all the issued and outstanding interests of SEMTH to acquire the
rights of the SEMTH Master Lease. Total consideration for the SEMTH Acquisition included approximately $ 23. 0 million of
cash, net of cash received, and the assumption of $ 125. 0 million of outstanding senior indebtedness (the “ SP4 Facility ) held
by SEMTH at the close of the acquisition. In August 2023, we completed the Tredegar Acquisition acquiring 2, 400 home solar
assets and contracts for approximately $ 20. 9 million. The Tredegar Acquisition was eeneurrenthy-funded by termloan
proceeds from the concurrent issuance of the SP2 Facility Amendment (defined below). In November 2024, we completed
the NJR Acquisition acquiring 9, 800 solar energy systems for approximately $ 132. 5 million, pursuant to an asset
purchase agreement (the “ APA ). The NJR Acquisition was funded by proceeds from the concurrent issuance of the
SPS Facility (defined below) and $ 22. 7 million of our cash. Under the APA, we may be obligated to acquire
approximately 200 additional solar energy systems, subject to those systems having achieved operational milestones.
Assuming those milestones are achieved, the aggregate purchase consideration payable with respect to these additional
solar energy systems would be approximately $ 5. 0 million pursuant to the APA. Subsequently, in 2025, the Company
has acquired 83 of these additional solar energy systems, in the aggregate, for approximately $ 1. S million in cash. We
are unable to anticipate the ultimate outcome of these additional solar energy systems that we may be obligated to
acqulre In August 7073 we entered into a seeond amendment to our existing non- recourse credit agreement with SVB

v rls-a-diviston 3 s Bank& 3 7(the “ SP2 Facility Amendment ), resulting in
incremental term loans of approximately $ 21. 4 million, of w thh proceeds were primarily used to fund the Tredegar
Acquisition. In addition, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement to hedge the floating rate of the incremental SP2
Facility term loans, which included a notional amount of $ +9-17. 6 million, a fixed rate of 4. 24 %, and a maturity date of
January 31, 2032. SET Facility and SP4 Facility In June 2024, we entered into a non- recourse credit agreement with
Barings GPSF LLC (the “ SET Facility ), which provided a fixed interest term loan of $ 130 . 0 million . We used the
proceeds from the SET Facility to fully repay the outstanding balance on the SP4 Facility of $ 125. 0 million. In
connection with the repayment of the SP4 Facility, we settled the related interest rate swap contracts. In November 2024,
we entered into a non- recourse credit agreement with Banco Santander, S. A., New York (the “ SP5 Facility ), which
provided a term loan of approximately $ 109. 8 million, of which proceeds were used to partially fund the NJR
Acquisition described above. In addition, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement to hedge the floating rate of
the SP5 Facility, which included a notional amount of $ 87. 9 million , a fixed rate of 4-3 . 24-98 % , and a maturity date of
Jampary3+May 17 , 2032-2033 . Common Share Repurchase Program In May 2023, our Board of Directors approved the
Repurchase Program for the repurchase of up to § 50. 0 million of our outstanding common stock through May 15, 2025. The
Repurchase Program authorizes the Company to effect repurchases through open market transactions, privately
negotiated transactions, Rule 10b5- 1 trading plans and / or Rule 10b- 18 trading plans, and other means. We are not
obligated to repurchase any specific number of shares or dollar amount and may discontinue the Repurchase Program at
any time. The timing, number and purchase price of share repurchases, if any, will be determined by the Company’ s
management in its discretion and will depend on a number of factors, including the market price of shares, general
market and economic conditions, and other alternatives available to the Company. During the year-years ended December
31,2024 and 2023, we repurchased 0. 3 million and 0. & million shares , respectively, of common stock under the Repurchase
Program, for a total purchase price of $ 0. 9 million and $ 5. 4 million , respectively . inclusive of transaction costs. On
October 6, 2023, we effected the Reverse Stock Split with respect to our issued and outstanding shares of common stock.
Excluding the par value and the number of authorized shares of our common stock, all share, per share amounts, and the values
of our common stock outstanding and related effect on additional paid in capital included in this Form 10- K have been
retrospectively presented as if the Reverse Stock Split had been effective from the beginning of the earliest period presented. No
fractional shares of our €emmen-common Steelkstock were issued in connection with the Reverse Stock Split. In late October
2023, certain stockholders entitled to fractional shares of our €emmen-common Steekstock , upon the Reverse Stock Split,
received aggregate cash payments of approximately $ 0. 01 million in lieu of receiving fractional shares. Reportable Segments
Segment reporting is based on the management approach, following the method Management organizes our reportable segments
for which separate financial information is made available to and evaluated regularly by our chlef operating decision maker (*
CODM ) in allocating resources and in assessing performance. Our CODM is our Chief Executive Officer. Our CODM does
not ev aluate opemtmﬂ segments using segment asset eihl-tabﬂ-rty—mfonnatlon —I-n—Beeeﬂaber%@Q%—W&éeﬁﬂﬁ-rﬁed-beﬂa—e&f

aﬂd—d-ispa’éeh— as well as to thlrd- party owners . Key chtors Aﬁeetmg Operating Results We are a leading owner and



operator of distributed solar energy assets across the U. S., offering subscription- based setations-services to hemeewners—---
owners forrooftop-of home solar assets energy-storage; EV-ehargers-and customer contracts other-energy—related-produets-.
Additionally, we provide servicing functions for our assets and customers, as well as for other institutional owners of home
solar energy systems. Our operating results and ability to grow our business over time could be impacted by certain factors and
trends that affect our industry, as well as elements of our strategy, including the following factors, as well as the risk factors and
other factors set forth under *“ Risk Factors ” or elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10- K: Development of Distributed
Energy Assets Our future growth depends significantly on our ability to acquire operating home solar energy systems  in- bulk
” from other companies. Industry data suggests there is a substantial existing base of operating home solar energy systems,
providing us the opportunity to pursue acquisitions. Over the long- term, our continued ability to pursue acquisitions will be
dependent on development of distributed energy assets, namely home solar energy systems, by third parties. This development
may be impacted by numerous factors that influence homeowner demand for home solar energy systems including but not
limited to macroeconomic dynamics, utility rates, climate change impacts and government policy and incentives. Availability of
Financing Our ability to raise capital from third parties at reasonable terms is a critical element in supporting ownership of our
existing home solar energy assets as well as enabling our future growth. We have historically utilized non- recourse, project-
level debt as a primary source of capital for acquisitions. Our ability to raise debt either as means to refinance existing
indebtedness or for future acquisitions may be impacted by general macroeconomic conditions, the health of debt capital
markets, the interest rate environment and general concerns over its industry or specific concerns over our business. Comparison
of the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-The results of operations related to our Drivetrain and XL Grid
businesses, which were determlned to be discontinued operations in the fourth quarter of 2022, are presented as net loss from

dlscontlnued operations in our consohdated statements of opelatlons A&Hesa%&bh&eeﬁ%mt&ﬁg«apef&ﬁeﬂal—fes&&s—feﬂeet—bhe

-Sepfembeie9—2-92—2—lnf0rmat10n Wlth respeet to the Consolldated statements of operatlons for the years ended December 31

2024 and 2023 and2022-arc presented below: Years Ended December 31, 20232022-20242023 $ Change % Change (in
thousands, except per share amounts) Revenues $ 82,107 $ 79, 859 § 23-2 | 248 3 $94-$-56,-665244-9, Operating expenses:
Cost of reventies37—- revenues- solar energy systems depreciation23 , 377 23, 823 (446) (2) % Cost of revenues- operations
and maintenancel6, 597 13- 13 9-, 94927990 2 , §64286-607 19 % Sclling, general and administrative expenses>6
expensesS8 , 889 56 , 122 73-2 | 767 5 H8-(1+6:-99623)-% Litigation settlements, net27—- net7, 384 27 , 465 —27-(20 , 465
+66-081) (73) % Gain on asset disposal ( 2, 504) (4, 724) 2 586034, +44-220 (47 ) H4-% Impairment of goodwill28, 757 —
28, 757 100 % Total operating expensestH6-expenses132 , 500 116 , 676 15, 82-824 14 487341894+ Loss from
operations ( 50, 393) (36, 817) (59-13 , 293-576 ) 37 22476389 Other (income) expense: Interest income ( 22, 758) ( 19,
534) (13, 339224 ) 17 A8;395514359-% Interest expense, netd+net40 , 232 41 , 936 H-(1 , 49—1—39%35%68—704) 4) % Other
freeme)cxpense, aet3-net2 , 211 3, 268 (+6-1 , 676-057 ) 19,944 426-32 ) % Net loss from continuing operations ( 70, 078)
(62,487) (527 ,679-591 ) 12 % Net income ( loss 9-868-) +9-from discontinued operations25 (4, 123) 4, 148 (101) % Net
los%freﬂa—diseeﬂ&&&ed-epef&ﬁeﬂs-(4-70 123-053 ) (46, H2)35;-989(96) % Netdoss-(00, 610) (923 , 79+-443 ) 5 26:18H28)
% Less: Net income (loss) attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests and noncontrolling nterests-interests436 (779) 1,
+40-215 ( 156 H5-H9H-68-) % Net loss attributable to stockholders $ (70, 489) $ (65, 831) $ (934 ,931-658 ) 7 $28,10036)
% Revenues increased by $ $6-2 . #2 million, or 2443 %, to $ #9-82 . 9-1 million in 2623-2024 as compared to 2622-2023 . The
increase was primarily due to increased PPA revenues of $ 2.4 mllllon due to a full year e%PPA—md—ShHeve&tws—frem

v S 2023 Revenues related
to our Dnvetraln and XL G11d operatlons are 1ncluded n net los% from dlscontlnued operatlons Cost of Revenues — Solar
Energy Systems Depreciation Cost of revenues - solar energy systems depreciation decreased by $ 0. 4 million, or 2 %, to
$ 23. 4 million in 2024 as compared to 2023. The decrease in cost of revenue- solar energy systems depreciation was
primarily due to the finalization of purchase price accounting in 2023, offset by incremental depreciation related to the
NJR Acquisition in 2024. Cost of Revenues — Operations and Maintenance Cost of revenues- operations and
maintenance increased by $ 272 . 9-6 mllllon or 19 2—89—1—% to $ -3—7—16 -8—6 million in %92—3—2024 as comp"lred to %922—2023
The increase in cost of revenue - h es se A
e*peﬂse—aﬂd-eeﬁ&lﬂ—epefaﬁeﬂ—operatlons and maintenance was prlmarlly due to 1ncreased operatlons and mamtenance
costs inelading-meter-upgrade-spend-related to third party services . Cost of revenues - operations and maintenance related
to our Drivetrain and XL Grid operations are included in net loss from discontinued operations. Selling, General and
Administrative Selling, general and administrative expenses deereased-increased by $ +72 . 8-8 million, or 5§ 23-2-%, to $ 56-58
.49 million in 2623-2024 . The deerease-increase was primarily due to increased compensation the-reduetion-ofbonus
expense-expenses -in 2024 relating to higher headcount and one- time severance eharges-costs of $ 1. 9 million recognized
upon separation of our former President and etherrestruetaring-expenses-inrChief Executive Officer from us effective
April 12, 2623-2024 aseompared-to2022-, partially offset by decreases in professional service costs . Sclling, general and
administrative expenses related to our Drivetrain and XL Grid businesses are included in net loss from discontinued operations.
Litigation Settlements, Net Litigation settlements, net ef-decreased by $ 2720 . 5-1 million iretrred-, or 73 %, to $ 7. 4 million
1 2623-2024 . The decrease relates-related to costs incurred for-in 2023 associated with scttlements en-of the SEC inquiry,
shareholder lawsuits, and a-breach-efeontraettawsuit-other Legacy XL legal matters, partially offset by additional
settlement costs , net of related insurance recoveries from third parties, for-whieh-we-are-eutrently purstingsettlements

associated with various settled and ongoing legal proceedings in 2024 . Sce Note +5-16 . Commitments and Contingencies in




Part I, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data for a description of our material pending legal proceedings.
Impairment of Goodwill Impairment of goodwill increased by $ 28. 8 million, or 100 %, to $ 28. 8 million in 2024 due to
the full impairment of our goodwill during the third quarter of 2024 resulting from a continuous decline in our stock
price and market capitalization. [nterest Income Interest income of $ 22. 8 million in 2024 relates to $ 16. 8 million of
interest income from the SEMTH Master Lease and $ 6. 0 million of interest earned on investments in U. S. Treasury
securities. In comparison, interest income of $ 19. 5 million for 2023 relates to $ 11. 5 million of interest income from the
SEMTH Master Lease exeentedinMareh2623-and $ 8. 0 million of interest earned on investments in U. S. Treasury securities.
The SEMTH assets were acquired in March 2023, and as such, earned interest income for a full year in 2024. Interest
Expense, Net Interest expense, net of $ 40. 2 million for 2024 primarily relates to (i) $ 52. 2 million of interest expense
related to the principal amounts of our outstanding non- recourse debt and (ii) $ 6. 0 million related to the amortization
of debt discount and deferred financing costs, both partially offset by $ 18. 0 million of net realized gains from

settlements of our interest rate swaps. In comparison, interest ineome-of-$3-—-3-miltion-for 2022-primarity-related-to-interest
earned-on-U—S—TFreasury-seeurities—Interest Expense; Netdnterest-expense, net of § 41. 9 million for 2023 primarily relates

related to (i) $ 49. 6 million of interest expense related to the principal amounts of our debt instruments and (ii) § 5. 9 million
related to the amortization of debt discount and deferred financing costs, both partially offset by $ 13. 7 million of net realized

gains hom settlements ﬂ%e—eh&nge—m—fmﬁa}ue—ot our interest rate sw aps -I-n—eefﬁp&ﬂseﬂ,—rnterest—expeﬂse,—net—e%%%

pllnClpdl amounts of our outstdndnm non- recourse debt mcreased n %92—3—2024 as compdled to %92—2—2023 prlmarlly due to
new debt assuﬂ&ed-eeneﬁrreﬁﬂy—wrth-entered 1nt0 as part of the -S-E-M—T—H—NJR Aeqmsmon in Mareh—November 2—92—3—2024 a-nd

Financial Statements and Supplementary Ddtd for anthel mfmmatlon on our debt. Interest expense, net is also 1mpacted by
the fluctuations in the settlements of our interest rate swaps, which we use to convert variable rates on our non- recourse
debt into fixed recourse obligations and are subject to interest- rate risk. See Note 9. Interest Rate Swaps in Part I1, Item
8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data for further information on our interest rate swaps. Other dneomey
Expense, Net Other expense, net of $ 2. 2 million for 2024 consists of $ 2. 7 million of unrealized losses from the change in
fair value of interest rate swaps, partially offset by $ 0. 5 million of other income, net, while other expense, net of § 3. 3
million for 2023 primarily eensists-consisted of $ 4. 8 million of unrealized losses from the change in fair value of interest rate
swaps, partially offset by $ 1. 3 million of other income, net and $ 0. 2 million of change in fair value of warrant liabilities .
Liquidity and Capital Resources As of December 31 , 2024 while-other-inieome-, we had working capital of $ 76. 9 million,
including cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash of $ 109. 1 million. We had nect losses attributable to stockholders
of $ +6-70 . 75 million and $ 65. 8 million for the years ended December 31, 2622-2024 and 2023, respectively primartly
eonsisted-of $5- 6-milllen-Our principal sources of unrealized-gains-liquidity include cash and cash equivalents and cash
flows from operations the-echangein-fair-value-ofinterestrate-swaps;$-5- +-millien-We receive cash from certain of ehange-in
fair-valne-of-warranttabtities-our wholly- owned subsidiaries specifically related to the portfolio servicing fees provided
for under the relevant servicing agreements between us and $-4—5-million-gain-the subsidiaries, as well as reimbursement
for any expenses we pay on behalf of the-those extingaishment-ef-debt-subsidiaries, which are allowed under certain

agreements re ated to t-he—those subs1d1ar1es Wrn&—dewn—e-ﬁﬂ&e—New—M&rketiPa*Gredﬁ—ebhg&ﬁen— Net—]:ess—frem

: § apita ees mcludmv the
e\ecutlon of our busmess strateoy We may be required to utlllze our cash to support certain current and plan-future
operations of our wholly owned subsidiaries . We remain focused on carefully managing costs, including capital expenditures,
maintaining a strong balance sheet , and ensuring adequate liquidity. Our primary cash needs are debt serviee-servicing ,
acquisition of solar energy portfolios, operating expenses, and working capital and-eapttal-expenditares-to support the growth in
our business. Working capital is impacted by the timing and extent of our business needs. As-See below discussions under “
Cash Flows Summary ” for the impact of our operations and M & A transactlons on our Beeeﬁaber—}lﬁ’le%—we—had

werkmg—e&pttal—e%—B—l.—éﬁﬂ-heﬂ,—me}admg—cas h balances durlng

of Decembel 31 %92—3—2024 our debt balanee was % 618-705 . 83 million, net of b 2721 . 6—9 mllllon of unamortized fdn \% alue
adjustment and $6-3 . 3 million of unamortized deferred financing costs , all of which is non- recourse project- level debt .

Our debt consists of four senior debt facilities and a-twe subordinate faeﬂttwhfac111tles of which the-oan-agreementsreguire

aarterty prineipal-payments-and-the carliest maturity date is April 2026. For additional information on our debt, refer to Note &.
Non- Recourse Debt included within the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements. Based on our current

liquidity, we believe ne-additional-eapital-that our current cash and cash equivalents, together with the future cash
generated from our operations, will be needed-sufficient to exeeunte-satisfy the cash requirements of our current operations
for business-planover-the next 12 months. We continually evaluate our cash needs to raise additional funds or seek alternative
sources to invest in growth opportunities and other purposes. We expect that we will continue to be dependent on financing
from outside parties to complete future acquisitions, and we may invest our own €ash-cash Flows-Sammary-in such future



acquisitions. If financing is not available to us on acceptable terms if and when needed, we may not be able to achieve
further growth or complete identified acquisition opportunities. Presented below is a summary of our operating, investing
and financing cash flows: Years Ended December 31, (Amounts in thousands) 28232022Net-20242023Net cash provided by
(used in) Continuing operating activities $ ( 41, 686) $ (31, 714 ¥$-4F7+F) Discontinued operating activities ( 125) ( 1, 947 ¥
5;772-) Continuing investing activities ( 101, 412) (17, 060 H36;:296-) Discontinued investing aetivities325—-- activities —
325 +290-Continuing financing aetivities-activities79 , 349 (16, 807 H349;-688-) Discontinued financing aetivittes-activities81
— (-99)—Net Chdnoe in cash dnd cash equwalents and restrlcted cash b ( 63, 793) $ ( 67,203 )—$—61—1—1—682—) Cash Flows Used in

epef&t—mg—cash 1nﬂows -rnel-u&ed» 1nclude Cdsh hom the sale Hee Hreatt . Fethe o ost
deh’v‘eﬁ'—offufnkey—solar eneréy areinectat s X

m&nﬂfaeﬁlﬂng—pfeeess—opemtmﬂ expenses, operatlng lease payments and 1nte1est payments on our outstdndlné debt The
related cash flows for In-the-fourth-quarterof 2022 -we-diseontined-our-Drivetrain and XL Grid businesses ;-ef-whieh-the
related-eash-flews-are reflected as discontinued operating activities for the years presented. The net cash used in continuing
operating activities in 2024 was $ 41. 7 million and consists of our corporate costs and certain other costs that were not
allocated to our discontinued operations. Cash used in continuing operations increased in 2024 compared to 2023 by $
10. 0 million primarily due to increases in operations and maintenance costs and compensation expenses in 2024 relating
to higher headcount and one- tlme severance costs dlscussed above. The net cash used in contmulng operatmg act1v1t1es

prlmanly &ue—te—consmted of normal operatmg expenses, deereased stock- based compensation expenses —and change in fair
value of derivative instruments, offset primarily by increases in depreciation expense, accrued expenses and other current

114b111t1es and 1nterest 1ncome reldted to the SEMTH Master Ledse —The-net-eash-usedin-eontinting operatingactivittes 12622

lowerpurehases-ofinventory-. Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities The net cash used in contmulnﬂ investing activities in
2024 was $ 101. 4 million, which primarily relates to $ 132. 8 million of net cash paid for the NJR Acquisition in 2024,
partially offset by $ 25. 6 million of proceeds from our investments under the SEMTH Master Lease, and $ 6. 1 million of
proceeds from the sale of certain solar energy systems. The net cash used in continuing investing activities in 2023 was $
17. 1 million, which primarily retates-related to £)-$ 43. 1 million of aggregate eash net cash paid for acquisitions during 2023,
consisting of $ 23. 0 million for the SEMTH Acquisition and $ 20. 1 million, net for the Tredegar Acquisition, partially offset
by (-n)—i& 20 2 m11110n of proueeds hom our investments under the SEMTH Master Ledse A dnd (-rﬂ)—ib 6.3 m11110n of proueeds

pfeeeeds—ffeﬂa—ﬂ&e—sa%e—e-ﬁse-}a%eﬂergy—sysfefﬂs—cclsh Flows Pr0V1ded by ( Used 1n) Flnancmo Acmmes The net cash

provided by continuing financing activities in 2024 was $ 79. 3 million, which primarily relates to $ 155. 9 million for the
repayment of non- recourse long- term debt, including the full repayment of $ 125. 0 million for the SP4 Facility, and $ 3.
4 million of payments for related deferred financing costs, both offset by $ 239. 8 million of proceeds from the issuance of
non- recourse long- term debt under the SET and SPS Facilities in 2024. The net cash used in continuing financing
activities in 2023 was $ 16. 8 million, which primarily relates-related to (9-$ 32. 8 million for the repayment of long- term debt
and €18 5. 4 million of shares repurchased under our Repurchase Program, beth-partially offset by i#)-$ 21. 4 million of
proceeds fronl the issuance of 1ong— te1m debt under the SP7 chﬂlty Amendment to fund the Tredegdl Acqumtlon —’Phe—net—

Critical ACCOUntlHé Pollcles and Estimates OLII consohddted flmncml statements are prepared in aecmdance Wlth U S GAAP.
Preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Our most critical
accounting policies and estimates are those most important to the portrayal of its financial condition and results of operations
and which require us to make its most difficult and subjectlve Judunents often asa result of the need to make estnnates
regarding matters that are inherently uncertain —W v WA at-a g

fadgments-. Although Management believes that its estimates and dssumptlons are reasonable, they are based on information
available when they are made and, therefore, may differ from estimates made under different assumptions or conditions. We
have identified the following as the most critical accounting policies and judgments. Our significant accounting policies are
discussed in Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, included in accompanying audited consolidated financial
statements, and should be reviewed in connection with the following discussion of accounting policies that require difficult,




subjective and complex judgments. All acquisitions, regardless of whether a business combination or asset acquisition, are
evaluated to determine whether ernet-the acquired entity is a variable interest entity (“ VIE ), including an evaluation of
whether there is sufficient equity at risk. Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting.
The purchase price of a business combination is measured at the estimated fair value of the assets acquired, equity instruments
issued and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date. Any noncontrolling interests acquired are also initially measured at fair
value. Costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition are expensed as incurred to selling, general and administrative
expense. Goodwill is recognized if the aggregate fair value of the total purchase consideration and the noncontrolling interests is
in excess of the aggregate fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Asset acquisitions are measured based on the
cost to us, including transaction costs. Asset acquisition costs, or the consideration transferred, are assumed to be equal to the
fair value of the net assets acquired. If the consideration transferred is cash, measurement is based on the amount of cash paid to
the seller, as well as transaction costs incurred. Consideration given in the form of non- monetary assets, liabilities incurred or
equity instruments issued is measured based on either the cost to us or the fair value of the assets or net assets acquired,
whichever is more clearly evident. The cost of an asset acquisition is allocated to the assets acquired based on their estimated
fair values. Goodwill is not recognized in an asset acquisition. We Fhe-Cempany-concluded that the SEMTH does-, Tredegar
and NJR Acquisitions do not individually meect the definition of a business or variable interest entity. The fair values of the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed are based on a complex series of judgments about future events and uncertainties and rely
heavily on estimates and assumptions. Significant estimates include, but are not limited to, discount rates and forecasted cash
flows. These estimates are inherently uncertain and unpredictable. Revenue Recognition Our Fhe-Company—srevenue is
derived from our home solar energy pertfotio-Portfolio and servicing platform , which primarily generates revenue through
the sale to homeowners of power generated by eur-the home solar energy systems pursuant to long- term agreements . ythe

; v ant-Pursuant to teng—term-agreements-Accounting Standards Codification (“
ASC ”) 606 defined below a-nd—we have elected the sate-ofsolarrenewable- right to invoice ” practical expedient, and
revenues for the performance obligations related to cnergy eredits-to-third-parties-generation and servicing revenue are
recognized as services are rendered based upon the underlying contractual arrangements . Previously, we also derived
revenue from the Drivetrain operations which generated revenue from the sales of hybrid electric powertrain systems, and the
XL Grid operations which generated revenues through turnkey energy efficiency, renewable technology and other energy
solutions. As of and for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-, the Drivetrain business and XL Grid business
are reported as discontinued operations. Energy generation Customers purchase eleetrietty-solar energy from us under PPAs or
SLAs , both defined above . Revenue is recognized from contracts with customers as performance obligations are satisfied at a
transaction price reflecting an amount of consideration based upon an estimated rate of return which is expressed as the solar
rate per kilowatt hour or a flat rate per month as defined in the customer contracts. * PRAs—- PPA revenues - Under ASC 606,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers (* ASC 606 ) issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board , PPA revenue
is recognized when generated based upon the amount of electricity delivered as determined by remote monitoring equipment at
solar rates specified under the PPAs. * SEAs-- SLA revenues - We have SLAs, which do not meet the definition of a lease under
ASC 842, Leases, and are accounted for as contracts with customers under ASC 606. Revenue is recognized on a straight- line
basis over the contract term as the obligation to provide continuous access to the solar energy system is satisfied. The amount of
revenue recognized may not equal customer cash payments beeause-due to the performance obligation being has-beensatisfied
ahead of cash receipt or evenly as continuous access to the solar energy system has been provided. The differences between
revenue recognition and cash payments received are reflected in deferred rent aeeountsreeetvable;-other-assets er-deferred
reventie-on the consolidated balance sheets. Certain SLAs contain provisions to provide customers a performance
guarantee that each solar energy system will achieve certain specified minimum solar energy production output. If the
solar energy system does not produce the guaranteed production amount , we are obligated to pay a performance
guarantee calculated as apprepriate-the product of (a) the shortfall production amount and (b) guaranteed rate per kWh
as defined in the SLA . Solar renewable energy credit revenues We enter into contracts with third parties to sell SRECs
generated by the solar energy systems for fixed prices. Certain contracts that meet the definition of a derivative may be
exempted as normal purchase or normal sales transactions (“ NPNS ). NPNS are contracts that provide for the purchase or sale
of something other than a financial instrument or derivative instrument that will be delivered in quantities expected to be used or
sold over a reasonable period in the normal course of business. Certain SREC contracts meet these requirements and are
designated as NPNS contracts. Such SRECs are exempted from the derivative accounting and reporting requirements, and we
recognize revenues in accordance with ASC 606. We recognize revenue for SRECs based on pricing predetermined within the
respective contracts at a point in time when the SRECs are transferred. As SRECs can be sold separate from the actual
electricity generated by the renewable- based generation source, we account for the SRECs it generates from its solar energy
systems as governmental incentives with-ne-eestsineurred-to-obtainthemand do not consider those SRECs output of the
underlying solar energy systems . We classify these SRECs as inventory held until sold and delivered to third parties. As
we did not incur costs to obtain these governmental incentives, the inventory carrying value for the SRECs was $ 0 as of
December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 . Investment related to SEMTH master lease agreement and interest income We
account for our investment related to the SEMTH master lease agreement in accordance with Accounting Standards
Codification (“ ASC ) 325- 40, Investments — Other — Beneficial Interests in Securitized Financial Assets. We recognize
accretable yield as interest income over the life of the related beneficial interest using the effective yield method, which is
reflected within interest income in our consolidated statements of operations. On a recurring basis, we evaluate changes in the
cash flows expected to be collected from the cash flows previously projected, and when favorable or adverse changes are
deemed other than temporary, we prospectively update our expected cash flows accordingly. Impairment of long- lived assets

We review long- lived assets, such as ineludingselarenergysystems;property and equipment, and intangible assets with




definite lives, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset group’ s carrying amount may
not be recoverable. We group assets and liabilities at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent
of the cash flows of other assets and liabilities and evaluate the asset group against the sum of the undiscounted future cash
flows. If the undiscounted cash flows do not indicate the carrying amount of the asset group is recoverable, an impairment
charge is measured as the amount by Wthh the Carrylng amount of the asset group exceed% 1t§ fair value. -I-ﬂ—t-he—fee&t-h—quaﬁefe—f

eh&fge—charges durlng the ye&r—years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair
market value of net tangible and identifiable intangible assets of acquired businesses. Goodwill is not amortized but instead is
annually tested for impairment, or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of goodwill may
be impaired. We perform our annual goodwill impairment assessment at-om October 1 of each fiscal year, or more frequently if
events or circumstances arise which indicate that goodwill may be impaired. An assessment can be performed by first
completing a qualitative assessment on our single reporting unit. We can also bypass the qualitative assessment in any period
and proceed directly to the quantitative impairment test ;-and then resume the qualitative assessment in any subsequent period.
Qualitative indicators that may trigger the need for annual or interim quantitative impairment testing include, among other
things, deterioration in macroeconomic conditions, declining financial performance, deterioration in the operational
environment, or an expectation of selling or disposing of a portion of the reporting unit. Additionally, a significant change in
business climate, a loss of a significant customer, increased competition, a sustained decrease in share price, or a decrease in
estimated fair value below book value may trigger the need for interim impairment testing of goodwill. If we believe that, as a
result of our qualitative assessment, it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying
amount, the quantitative impairment test is required. The quantitative test involves comparing the fair value of the reporting unit
with its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an impairment
loss is recorded as a reduction to goodwill with a corresponding charge to earnings in the period the goodwill is determined to
be impaired. The income tax effect associated with an impairment of tax- deductible goodwill is also considered in the
measurement of the goodwill impairment. Any goodwill impairment is limited to the total amount of goodwill. We evaluate the
fair value of our reporting unit using the market and income approach. Under the market approach, we use multiples of
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“ EBITDA *) or revenues of the-comparable guideline public
companies by selecting a population of public companies with similar operations and attributes. Using this guideline public
company data, a range of multiples of enterprise value to EBITDA or revenue is calculated. The income approach of computing
fair value is based on the present value of the expected future economic benefits generated by the asset or business, such as cash
flows or profits which will then be compared to its book value. fa-During the first-quarter ef-ended September 30, 2622-2024 |
we believed-there-were-performed an assessment based on certain indicators that the carrying amount of #s-eur goodwill
may be impaired due to a continuous decline in our stock price and market capitalization and performed a quantitative test
using a market approach resulting in an impairment of goodwill during the period. We also performed a quantitative
test using the income approach, as discussed above, which also resulted in such impairment . As a result, we perfermed-an
assessmeﬂt—recorded a goodw1ll 1mpa1rment charge of $ 28 8 mllllon, whlch fully 1mpa1red our goodwﬂl fer—rmp&rfmeﬁt—

tax assets We account for income taxes uqlng the asset and liability method —under Wthh deferred tax llab111t18§ and assets are
recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between financial statement carrying amounts and
the tax basis of assets and liabilities and net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred income taxes are provided for
the temporary differences arising between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for income tax purposes, and net operating loss carry- forwards and credits. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect of
changes in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities efehanges-intax—rates-is recognized in the consolidated statements of
operations in the period in which the enactment rate changes. The ultimate recovery of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the
amount and timing of future taxable income and other factors such as the taxing jurisdiction in which the asset is to be recovered
. Deferred tax assets are reduced through the establishment of a valuation allowance if, based on available evidence, it is
more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized . A high degree of judgment is required to determine if,
and the extent to which, valuation allowances should be recorded against deferred tax assets. We have provided valuation
allowances as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-aggregating $ 100. 0 million and $ 74. 9 mitltenand-$-69—-4-million,
respectively, against such assets based on our assessment of past operating results, estimates of future taxable income and the
feasibility of tax planning strategies. Although we believe that our approach to estimates and judgments as described herein is
reasonable, actual results could differ and we may be exposed to increases or decreases in income taxes that could be material.
Redeemable noncontrolling interests and noncontrolling interests Noncontrolling interests represent third- party interests in the
net assets of certain consolidated subsidiaries. We consolidate any VIE of which we are the primary beneficiary. We formed or



acquired VIEs which are partially funded by tax equity investors in order to facilitate the funding and monetization of certain
attributes associated with solar energy systems. The typical condition for a controlling financial interest ownership is holding a
majority of the voting interests of an entity; however, a controlling financial interest may also exist in entities, such as VIEs,
through arrangements that do not involve controlling voting interests. A variable interest holder is required to consolidate a VIE
if that party has the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the VIE' s economic performance and
the obligation to absorb losses of the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE or the right to receive benefits from the
VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE. We do not consolidate a VIE in which we have a majority ownership
interest when we are not considered the primary beneficiary. We evaluate our relationships with the VIEs on an ongoing basis to
determine if we are the primary beneficiary. ©ur-As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, our investments in Volta Solar Owner 11,
LLC and ORE F4 HoldCo, LLC as-efDeeember3+-2023(collectively, the “ Funds ) were each determined to be a VHEs— VIE
upon investment. As-efDuring the year ended December 31, 2622-2023 , we had investments in the Funds and Level Solar
Fund IV LLC (collectively, the “ Prior Funds ), which were individually determined to be VIEs upon investment. ¥e
subseqtiently-During 2023, we purchased 100 % of the membership interests in Level Solar Fund IV LLC during2623-and it
ceased being a VIE upon purchase. We considered the provisions within the contractual arrangements that grant us power to
manage and make decisions that affect the operation of the VIEs, including determining the solar energy systems contributed to
the VIEs, and the operation and maintenance of the solar energy systems. We consider the rights granted to the other investors
under the contractual arrangements to be more protective in nature rather than substantive participating rights. As such, we were
determined to be the primary beneficiary, and the assets, liabilities and activities of the Funds and Prior Funds (before any
ceased being a VIE) were consolidated by us. The distribution rights and priorities for the Funds and Prior Funds (before any
ceased being a VIE) as set forth in their respective operating agreements differ from the underlying percentage ownership
interests of the members. As a result, we allocate income or loss to the noncontrolling interest holders of the Funds and Prior
Funds (before any ceased being a VIE) utilizing the hypothetical liquidation of book value (“ HLBV ”’) method, in which
income or loss is allocated based on the change in each member' s claim on the net assets at the end of each reporting period,
adjusted for any distributions or contributions made during such periods. The HLBV method is commonly applied to
investments where cash distribution percentages vary at different points in time and are not directly linked to an equity member'
s ownership percentage. The HLBV method is a balance sheet- focused approach. Under this method, a calculation is prepared
at each reporting date to determine the amount that each member would receive if the entity were to liquidate all of its assets and
distribute the resulting proceeds to its creditors and members based on the contractually defined liquidation priorities. The
difference between the calculated liquidation distribution amounts at the beginning and the end of the reporting period, after
adjusting for capital contributions and distributions, is used to derive each member' s share of the income or loss for the period.
Factors used in the HLBV calculation include U. S. GAAP income (loss), taxable income (loss), capital contributions, ITCs,
distributions and the stipulated targeted investor return specified in the subsidiaries' operating agreements. Changes in these
factors could have a significant impact on the amounts that investors would receive upon a hypothetical liquidation. The use of
the HLBV method to allocate income (loss) to the noncontrolling interest holders may create volatility in the consolidated
statements of operations as the application of HLBV can drive changes in net income or loss attributable to noncontrolling
interests from period to period. We classify certain noncontrolling interests with redemption features that are not solely within
our control outside of permanent equity in the consolidated balance sheets. Redeemable noncontrolling interests are reported
using the greater of the carrying value at each reporting date as determined by the HLBV method or the estimated redemption
value at the end of each reporting period. Estimating the redemption value of the redeemable noncontrolling interests requires
the use of significant assumptions and estimates, such as projected future cash flows. Subsequent to the purchase of 100 % of
the membership interests in Level Solar Fund IV in 2023, we had no redeemable noncontrolling Interestinterest Rate
Swaps-as of December 31, 2023. We utilize interest rate swaps to manage interest rate risk on existing and planned future debt
issuances. These swaps are not designated as cash flow hedges or fair value hedges. The fair value of the interest rate swaps are
calculated by discounting the future net cash flows to the present value based on the terms and conditions of the agreements and
the forward interest rate curves. As these inputs are based on observable data and valuations of similar instruments, the interest
rate derivatives are primarily categorized as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. The fair value of interest rate swaps are recorded
on the consolidated balance sheets. Realized gains and losses on interest rate swaps are recognized in interest expense, net on
the consolidated statements of operations. Unrealized gains and losses on interest rate swaps are reflected in the consolidated
statements of operations and as a non- cash reconciling item in operating activities on the consolidated statements of cash flows.
New and Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements Refer to Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to the
consolidated financial statements, included below in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. Item 7A.
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b- 2 of
the Exchange Act and are not required to provide the information under this item. Our consolidated financial statements are
presented beginning on page F- 1 following this caption. Index to Consolidated Financial Statements Page No. Reperts— Report
of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms-— Firm for Deloitte & Touche LLP (PCAOB ID No. 34 yand-MareamEER
REAOBIDNo—688-) - 2Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2623-2023F and-20622F- 6Censotidated
4Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2623-2023F and2022F-- §Consolidated
6Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders” Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2623-2023F and
2022F-- 9Censohdated-7Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023-2023F and
2622F-- HNNetes-8Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementsF- 11 REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRM To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of Spruce Power Holding Corporation Opinion on the
Financial Statements We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet-sheets of Spruce Power Holding
Corporation (the" Company") as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in



stockholders' equity, and cash flows , for each of the two year-years in the period cnded December 31, 2623-2024 , and the
related notes (collectively referred to as the" financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and
its cash flows for each of the two year-years in the period ended December 31, %92—3—2024 in Conformlty with accounting
prlnc1p1e§ generally accepted in the United States of Amenca - a : 7

s’f&tenaeﬁts—ta-keﬂ—as—a—whe}e— Ba§l§ f01 Oplnlon The%e hnanelal itatements are the reqponilblhty of the Company S
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company' s financial statements based on our audit-audits . We
are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U. S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audit-audits in
accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company
is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our
andit-audits , we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express
no such opinion. Our audit-audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit-audits also
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit-audits prevides— provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion. Critical Audit Matters— Matter The critical audit matters— matter communicated below are-is a matters— matter
arising from the current- period audit of the financial statements that #ere-was communicated or required to be communicated
to the audit committee and that (1) relate-relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2)
involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not
alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit
matters— matter below, providing a separate epintens— opinion on the critical audit matters— matter or on the accounts or
disclosures to which they-it fe}afe-relates Revenue -S-E-M—'H-I—A:equisﬁ-teﬁ Refer to N ote 42 to the F 1nanc1al Statements
Crmcal Audlt Matte1 Deqcrlptlon Aareh i

-Reveﬂtte—Refer—te—Nete%te—fhe—Fmaﬁeial—Sf&tefﬁeﬁfs-The Company s revenue is prlmarlly derived from the qale of %olar
energy to residential homeowners pursuant to long- term agreements, the rental of solar equipment to residential homeowners
pursuant to long- term agreements, and the sale of solar renewable energy credits to third —parties. The Company recognizes
revenue in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. We identified revenue as a critical audit matter
as it required an increased extent of effort, including the need to involve senior members of the engagement team. How the
Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit Our audit procedures to evaluate revenue included the following, among
others: « We obtained perfermed-detat-testingproeeduresto-evalaate-the Company’ s eonelaston-assessment regarding the
application of ASC 606 for contracts related to energy generation, both the sale of solar energy and the rental of solar
equipment, and solar renewable energy credits . © We evaluated the Company’ s assessment of the application of ASC 606
for contracts related to energy generation, both the sale of solar energy and the rental of solar equipment, and solar
renewable energy credits. ° For certain types of revenue, we obtained management representations regarding the
conclusion of when control transfers under ASC 606 . © We obtained the Company” s assessment of whether there have been
significant changes in facts or circumstances that require a reassessment of the accounting treatment under ASC 606. - We
evaluated the Company’ s assessment of any significant changes in facts or circumstances, including the Company’ s policy
related to the collectability of consideration , under ASC 606 . - We tested the mathematical accuracy Company™s
identifteatiorrof the impact eeﬁtrae’fs-t-hat—wefe—eeﬁehiéed—to ne-tonger-be-eollectable-revenue of any significant changes under



beﬁrg—ee-l-}ee’fab-}e—uﬂder—kseéeé— W e perfouned det&rl—tes{-mg—plocedures 1nclud1ng test of detalls and substantlve

analytical procedures, to test revenue recorded for energy generation, both the sale of solar energy and the rental of solar
eqmpment and solar 1enewable enelgv Credlts /'s / Deloitte & Touche LLP Houston, TX Apﬂ-l—S—March 31 %9%4—2025 We

Me}vﬂ-}e—NﬁLP&AreB—é&g—F-é—As of Degember 31, (In thousands except share dnd per shdle amounts)

20232022 AssetsCurrent—-- 20242023 AssetsCurrent assctsCash and cash equivalents § 72,802 $ 141, 354 $226,324+
Restricted eash3+cash36 , 346 31 , 587 +9-823-Accounts receivable, net of allowance of § 0. 8 million and $ 1. 7 million and-$
+22-mitherras of Degember 31,2024 and 2023 and-2022-, respeetively9-respectivelyl5 , 010 9 , 188 8;336-Interest rate swap
assets, earrentH-current6 , 258 11 , 333 +6;483-Prepaid expenses and other current assets9-assets6 , 014 9 , 879 5;31+6-Current
assefs—e-ﬁdiseeﬂt—rﬂ-&ed-epefaﬁeﬂs—l-@%%’q—Total current assets263-assets136 , 430 203 , 341 2—7-4—95-6—111\ estment related to
SEMTH master lease agreementt43— agreement136 , 942 143 | 095 —Property and equipment, ret484-net589, 014 484 , 406
396,168 Interest rate swap assets, non- etwrrentté-currentl8 , 414 16 ., 550 22,-069-Intangible assets, ret+o-net8, 957 10 , 196
—Deferred rent assets2-assets3 , 717 2 , 454 1-626-Right- of- use assets, netS-netd , 750 5 , 933 2,-802-Goodwill28—-
Goodwill — 28 , 757 %48—()t 1cr assets257-assets255 383-257 Long- term assets of discontinued eperations32—- operations
— 32 Total assets $ 898,479 $ 895, 021 $-826;,-552-Liabilities, redeemable-noncontrolling interests and stockholders’
equityCurrent liabilitiesAccounts payable $ 987 $ 1, 120 $2,984-Non- recourse debt, earrent27-current28 , 310 27 , 914 25;
3H4-Accrued expenses and other current fabiities46-liabilities28 , 125 40 , 634 245-569-Deferred revenue, eurrent878-currentl
39, 194 878 Lcase liability, eurrentt-current892 1 , 166 834-Current liabilities of discontinued eperations-operations61 — 9;
097-Total current habthties7Hliabilities59 , 569 71 , 712 59-697-Non- recourse debt, non- ewrrent590-current677, 021 590 ,
866 4H44+-Deferred revenue, non- eurrenti-current2 , 790 1 , 858 452-[ ease liability, non- eurrentS-current4 , 848 5, 731 2;
426-Warrant habtitiest7- liabilities 256— 17 Unfavorable solar renewable energy agreements, neté-net4 , 134 6, 108 —
[nterest rate swap liabilities, non- earrent843-current385 —843 Other long- term liabilities3, 540 3, 047 +6-Long- term
liabilities of discontinued eperationst70-operations40 294-170 Total -l-t&bi-l-rﬁesé-SG-llabllltles752 327 680 , 352 5374576

Commitments and contingencies (Note +5-16 ) Redeemﬁb*e—neﬂeefﬁfeng—rr&efes’fs—Sé—Stoukholdeu equity: Common stock,




$ 0. 0001 par value; 350, 000, 000 shares authorized at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2622-; 19, 693-403 , 486-262 and 18,
202-311 , 536-054 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2023-2024 | respectively, and 19, 093, 186 and 18, 846-292 ,
963-536 issued and outstanding at December 31, 26222-2023, respectively2 2 Additional paid- in eapital475-capital478 , 366
475 | 654 493;289-Accumulated deficit ( 328, 377) (257, 888 3HH93;342-) Treasury stock at cost, 1, 092, 208 shares and 800,
650 shares-and-6-at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022- respectively ( 6, 277) (5, 424) —Noncontrolling interests2, 438 2,
325 8;942-Total stockholders’ eguaity244—- equity146 , 152 214 , 669 288;-89+Total liabilities, redeemabte-noncontrolling
interests and stockholders’ equity $ 898, 479 $ 895, 021 $-826;,-552-See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. F- 75
Years Ended December 31, (In thousands, except per share and share amounts) 26232022Reventtes—--- 20242023Revenues $
82,107 $ 79, 859 $23;:494-Operating expenses: Cost of reventes37—- revenues- solar energy systems depreciation23 , 377
23, 823 Cost of revenues- operations and maintenancel6, S97 13— 13 9-, 949-990 Sclling, general and administrative
expensesS6-expensesS8 , 889 56 , 122 73;H-S-Litigation settlements, net27— net7, 384 27 , 465 —Gain on asset disposal ( 2,
504) (4, 724) £586)y-Impairment of goodwill28, 757 — Total operating expensestH-6-expenses132 , 500 116 , 676 82,48FLoss
from operations ( 50, 393) (36, 817 359;293-) Other (income) expense: Interest income ( 22, 758) ( 19, 534 H339-) Interest
expense, ﬁe’e4-l—net40 232 41,936 H—%%Gme&e*fmgmshme&t—e-ﬁdebt—%%ﬂ—(hange in fair value of warrant
liabilities obligs 6 h seHers-of-W REEEY 535-17) (239 ) Change in fair value of
Wr&n&hab%hﬁe&@%%—é%@h&ﬂge—&rfmﬁa&t&eﬁmtelest rate sw&ps4—swaps2 753 4, 816 5;-554)-Other income, net (
525) (1, 309 H42-) Net loss from continuing operations ( 70, 078) (62, 487) £52-679)-Net income ( loss ) from discontinued
operations (including loss on disposal of $ 3, 083 for the year ended December 31, 2023) 25 (4, 123 346;42-) Net loss ( 70,
053) (66, 610 H927F94+) Less: Net income (loss) attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests and noncontrolling
tnterests-interests436 (779) 15140-Net loss attributable to stockholders $ (70, 489) $ (65, 831 3$4935934-) Net loss from
continuing operations per share, basic and diluted $ (3. 79) $ (3. 40) $2-95)-Net income ( loss ) from discontinued operations
per share, basic and diluted $ — $ (0. 22 3$2:-25-) Net loss attributable to stockholders per share, basic and diluted $ (3. 82) $
(3. 58 ¥$527F) Weighted- average shares outstanding, basic and diluted18, 470, 926 18, 391, 436 +7Year Ended December
31, 836-2024Common StockAdditionalPaid- InCapitalAccumulatedDeficitTreasury StockNon controlling InterestsTotal
Stockholders’ Equity (In thousands , 566-except share data) SharesAmountSharesAmountBalance at December 31,
202319, 093,186 $ 2 $ 475, 654 $ (257, 888) 800, 650 $ (5, 424) $ 2, 325 $ 214, 669 Issuance of restricted stock310, 076 —
—————— Share repurchases — — — — 291, 558 (853) — (853) Stock- based compensation expense, net — — 2,
712 — — ——2, 712 Net loss — — — (70, 489) — — 436 (70, 053) Capital distributions to noncontrolling interests —
————— (323) (323) Balance at December 31, 202419, 403,262 $ 2 $ 478, 366 $ (328, 377) 1, 092, 208 $ (6, 277) $ 2,
438 $ 146, 152 Year Ended December 31, 2023Redeemable Noncontrolling InterestsCommon StockAdditionalPaid-
nCapitalAecumulatedDefieitTreastury-inCapital A ccumulatedDeficitTreasury StockNon controlling InterestsTotal
Stockholders’ Equity (In thousands, except share data) SharesAmountSharesAmountBalance at December 31, 2022 § 85 18,
046,903 $2 $473,289 $(193,342) — $ —$ 8,942 § 288, 891 Exercise of stock options — 489, 436 — 1, 004 _,
004 Purchase accounting measurement period adjustments240 — — (1, 813) — — — (5, 490) (7, 303) Issuance of restricted
stock — 531,029 — — — — — — — Issuance of common stock — 25, 818 — 150 — — — — 150 Share repurchases — —
— ——2800, 650 (5, 424) — (5, 424) Cumulative- effect adjustment of ASC 326 adoption — — — — 1,285 — — — 1, 285
Stock- based compensation expense , net — — — 2, 885 — — — — 2 885 Netireome-Jos8)3——A65-83H———+FH2)
£66;-613)-Buyout of redeemable noncontrolling interests (55) —— — — — —— — Capital distributions to noncontrolling
interests (134) — — — — — — (345) (345) Equity related to buyout of redeemable noncontrolling interest (139) — — 139 —
— — — 139 Net income (loss) 3 — — — (65, 831) — — (782) (66, 613) Balance at December 31, 2023 § — 19, 093, 186 b 2
3> 475, 654 3> (257 888) 80() 650 $ (5 424) 3> 2 325 3> 214, 669 ¥es : -

202320220perating—---- 202420230peratmg activities: Net loss $ ( 70 053) $ (606, 610 9—$—€92—79—1—) Add back: Net (mcome)
loss from discontinued eperations4— operations (25) 4 , 123 46;-H2-Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in

operating activities: Stock- based eompensation2— compensatlon, net2, 712 2 , 885 9;-996-Bad debt expensel, 386 1, 841 45
839-Amortization of deferred revenue ( 1, 193) ( 91 334-) Depreciation and amortlzatlon expense21, 284 21, 586 &
Impairment of goodwill28 , 456-757 — Accretion expense306-expense236 —300 Change in fair value of interest rate
swaps2, 753 4, 816 obligation-to-issue-shares-ofeommen-stoek—535)>-Change in fair value of interestrate-swapsd;8+6+(5;
554)-Change-in-fair-vatge-of-warrant liabilities ( 17) (239 H5;:348-) Interest income related to SEMTH master lease agreement (

16, 823) ( 1 1, 486 y—Gatrenextinguishment-ofdebt—4;-527) Gain on disposal of assets ( 2, 504) (4, 724 3586-) Change
in operating right- of- use assets}20-- assets26 +34-120 Amortization of debt discount and deferred financing eests5-costs6 , 026

5, 863 £482-Changes in operating assets and liabilities: Accounts receivable, ret§5—- net 553-(3, 490) 85 Deferred rent assets (
1, 263) ( 828 345626-) Prepaid expenses and other current assets-assets3 , 707 (2, 390) (5-57-Other assetst26--- assets2 —
126 Accounts payable (133) (1, 784 H5696-) Accrued expenses and othel current Habilitiest3—- liabilities (15, 571) 13 , 624
5;278-Other long- term 'h'ﬂfbﬂ'lﬁeSS-h liabilities —(9) S Deferred revenuetrevenue2 , 506 1, 064 495-Net cash used in



continuing operating activities ( 41, 686) ( 31, 714 34%-H+) Net cash used in discontinued operating activities ( 125) ( 1, 947 ¥
H5-772) Net cash used in operating activities ( 41, 811) ( 33, 661 H63;-489-) Investing activities: Proceeds from sale of solar
energy systems6, 091 6, 297 2;289-Proceeds from investment related to SEMTH master lease agreement26-agreement25 , 614
20, 239 —Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired ( 132, 763) (43, 097 H32;-585-) Purchases of other property and
equipment ( 354) (499) —Net cash used in continuing investing activities ( 101, 412) ( 17, 060 336;296-) Net cash provided
by discontinued investing aetivities325--- activities — 325 4;290-Net cash used in investing activities ( 101, 412) ( 16, 7359
{29:-066-) Financing activities: Proceeds from issuance of ferg-non - termrecourse debt2t-debt239 , 842 21 ., 396 —Payment
of deferred financing costs ( 3, 374) (391) —Repayments of ferng-non - termrrecourse debt ( 155, 943) (32, 843 9362
Repayments under financing leases — (165 3238-) Proceeds from issuance of common steekd56---- stoc
from exercise of stock eptienst— options — 1 , 004 630-Share repurchases ( 853) ( 5, 424) —Capital distributions to
redeemable noncontrolling interests and noncontrolling interests ( 323) (479 +4-895-) Buyout of redeemable non- controlling
interest — (55 H8;283-) Net cash provided by (used in) continuing financing aettvities-activities79 , 349 (16, 807 H+19;-688-)
Net cash ased-n-provided by discontinued financing aetivittes-activities81 — (99)3-Net cash provided by (used in ) financing
aetivities-activities79 , 430 (16, 807 ¥4948F) Net change in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash: ( 63, 793) (67, 203
FHHH5-682-) Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of perted240--- period172 , 941 240 , 144 35+-826-Cash
and cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period $ 109, 148 $ 172, 941 $240,144-Supplemental disclosure of cash flow
information: Cash paid for interest $ 35, 060 $ 37, 482 $42,367-Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing and financing
information: Right- of- use assets obtained in exchange for lease liability $ — $ 933 $4;:-856-Settlement of operating lease
liability $ — $ 436 $-685-Settlement of finance lease liability $ 43-$—-Settlementofeontingenttability-through-issuanee-of
shares$-— § $86-43 F- 42Spruaee-9Spruce Power Holding Corporation Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Note 1.
Organization and Description of Business Spruce Power Holding Corporation and its subsidiaries (“ Spruce Power ” or the “
Company ”) is a leading owner and operator of distributed solar energy assets across the United States (the ““ U. S. ), offering
subscription- based services to approximately #5-85 , 000 home solar assets and customer contracts, making renewable energy
more accessible to everyone. The Conlpany is engaged in the ownershrp and marntenance of home solar energy systems for
homeowners in the U. S —Fh y & catty-at-ss aclitio eHers
The Company’ s primary customers are homeowners and 1ts ﬂ&e—@eﬁﬁa&ny—s—core solar service oﬁerlngs to these customers
generate revenues primarily through (i) the sale of electricity generated by its home solar energy systems to homeowners
pursuant to long- term Customer agreements-Agreements as defined below , which reqtires— require the homeowners
Gempa-ny—s—subseﬂbefs—to make recurring monthly payments, (ii) third party contracts to sell solar renewable energy credits (*
SRECs ”) generated by the Company’ s home solar energy systems for fixed-contracted prices , and (iii) the servicing of
third- party owned solar energy systems through these—- the agreementsfor-other-institational-Company’ s Spruce Pro
servicing platform, which is contracted to offer portfolio managed services to third party owners , as well as to the
Company’ s portfolio of home solar energy systems (the “ Portfolio ). These portfolio managed services include (a)
billing and collections / asset recovery, (b) account support services, (c) financial asset management, (d) homeowner
support and servicing technology, (e) asset operations, and (f) transaction and execution services related to SRECs . In
addition to the Company’ s core solar service offerings , the Company generates cash flows and earns interest income from am
vestment-throtgh-a-customer contracts related to the SEMTH master-Master lease-Lease agreement-, defined below . The
Company holds subsidiary fund companies, defined below as the Funds, that own and operate the Company’ s portfelios—-
portfolio of home solar energy systems, which are subject to solar lease agreements (“ SLAs ) and power purchase agreements
(“PPAs 7, together with the SLAs, “ Customer Agreements ) with residential customers who benefit from the production of
electricity generated by the Company’ s Portfolio, which setar-energy-systems—Thesolarenergy-systems-may qualify for
subsidies, renewable energy credits and other incentives as provided by various states and local agencies. These benefits have
generally been retained by the Company' s subsidiaries that own the systems, with the exception of the investment tax credit (“
ITCs ”) under Sectlon 48 of the Internal Revenue Code, as amended, (the “IRC ”) Wthh were generally passed through to the

3 a e : RS- Corporate Hrstory and Drscontlnued Operations
Hrstorrcally, as XL Fleet Corp (“ XL Fleet ”), the Company -had—prowded fleet electrification solutions for commercial
vehicles in North America, offering its systems for vehicle electrification (the ** Drivetrain ~ segment)-and-throtugh-its-energy
effieteney-and-infrastraetare-soluttons-business ) and offering and installing charging stations to enable customers to develop
the-charging infrastructure required for thetrelectrified vehicles (the “ XL Grid ” segntent-business ). In early the-first-quarter-of
2022 the Company -rn-rt-r&ted—performed a strategrc revrew of its overall business operatrons Wthh ineladed-assessingtts




effeﬁs—eﬁ—September 9, 2022 the Company acqulred 100 % of the memberihlp mtere%t% of Spruce Holdmg Company 1 LLC,
Spruce Holding Company 2 LLC, Spruce Holding Company 3 LLC and Spruce Manager LLC (collectively and together with
their subsidiaries, *“ Legacy Spruce Power ) (See Note 3. Business Combinations) , which —Fegaey-SpraeePower-was a-one of
the largest prlvately held owner and operator of home solar energy %yitemq in the U. S. at the time of the tranqactlon—vm-h

N ovember 2022 followmg the acqulsltlon of Legacy Spruce Power the Company changed its corporate name from “ XL
Fleet Corp ”to Spruce Power Holding Corporatlon ” Addmonally, the Company changed its ticker iymbol from “XL”
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commenced a review of its XL Grid bu%mei% to evaluate its strategic ﬁt with Legacy Spruce Power, and in the fourth quarter of
2022, the Company entered into a non- binding letter of intent for the sale of World Energy Efficiency Services, LLC (“ World
Energy ) for an immaterial amount. The divestiture of World Energy closed in January 2023 and the Company subsequently
ceased its XL Grid operations. Both the Drivetrain and XL Grid operations are presented as discontinued operations in the
consolidated financial statements . F- 10 In the first quarter of 2023, the Company completed the acquisition of all issued
and outstanding interests in SS Holdings 2017, LLC and its subsidiaries (“ SEMTH ”) from certain funds managed by
HPS Investment Partners, LLC, pursuant to a membership interest purchase and sale agreement as of that date (the
SEMTH Acquisition ). The SEMTH related asset includes a 20- year use rights to customer payment streams of
approximately 22, 500 customer contracts (the “ SEMTH Master Lease ). Subsequently on August 18, 2023, the
Company acquired approximately 2, 400 home solar assets and customer contracts, with an average remaining contract
life of approximately 11 years, from a publicly traded, regulated utility company (the “ Tredegar Acquisition ). In the
fourth quarter of 2024, the Company completed the acquisition of a residential solar portfolio consisting of
approximately 9, 800 home solar assets and customer contracts, with an average remaining contract life of over 11 years,
from a publicly traded energy services company (the “ NJR Acquisition ). With the completion of the NJR Acquisition,
the Company has, in the aggregate, 14 portfolios of rooftop solar Customer Agreements. In the aggregate, as of
December 31, 2024, the Company offered subscription- based services and owned the cash flows from approximately 85,
000 home solar assets and customer contracts . Basis of consolidated financial statement presentation The accompanying
consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States (“ U. S. GAAP ”) and include the accounts of its wholly owned subsidiaries and variable interest entities (“ VIEs ), for
which the Company was the primary beneficiary. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in
consolidation. Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the Company’ s presentation as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2023-2024 and such reclassifications had no effect on the Company’ s previously reported financial
position, results of operations, or cash flows. On March 28, 2023, the Company was notified by the New York Stock Exchange
(the “ NYSE ”) that it was not in compliance with certain listing requirements since the average closing price of its common
stock was less than $ 1. 00 over a consecutive 30 day trading period. Subsequently, on October 6, 2023, the Company effected a
1- for- 8 reverse stock split with respect to its issued and outstanding shares of common stock (the “ Reverse Stock Split ).
Excluding the par value and the number of authorized shares of the Company’ s common stock, all share, per share amounts,
and the values of the common stock outstanding and related effect on additional paid in capital included in this Form 10- K have
been retrospectively presented as if the Reverse Stock Split had been effective from the beginning of the earliest period
presented. F=—4-Use of estimates The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U. S. GAAP requires management
to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities as of the balance sheet date, as well as reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting
period. The Company’ s most significant estimates and judgments involve (i) Hrvrertoryreserves;--deferred income taxes, (
- ii ) warranty reserves, ( #iii ) valuation of stock- based compensation, (#iv ) valuation of warrant liability, ( #Vv ) the useful
lives of certain assets and liabilities, ( ##~ vi ) the allowance for current expected credit losses and-, (it vii ) the-valuation of
business combinations, including the fair values and useful lives of acquired assets and assumed liabilities, geedwil-and the fair
value of purchase consideration of asset acquisitions , and (viii) valuation of goodwill . Management bases its estimates on
historical experience and on various other assumptions believed to be reasonable, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ from those estimates, and such
differences could be material to the Company’ s financial statements. Variable interest entities The Company consolidates any
variable interest entity (“ VIE ) of which it is the primary beneficiary. The Company formed or acquired VIEs which are
partially funded by tax equity investors in order to facilitate the funding and monetization of certain attributes associated with
solar energy systems. The typical condition for a controlling financial interest ownership is holding a majority of the voting
interests of an entity; however, a controlling financial interest may also exist in entities, such as VIEs, through arrangements that
do not involve controlling voting interests. A variable interest holder is required to consolidate a VIE if that party has the power
to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the VIE' s economic performance and the obligation to absorb



losses of the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could
potentially be significant to the VIE. The Company does not consolidate a VIE in which it has a majority ownership interest
when the Company is not considered the primary beneficiary. The Company evaluates its relationships with the VIEs on an
ongoing basis to determine if it is the primary beneficiary. The As-ofDeeember3+2622the-Company had-ts- s initial
investment in Level Solar Fund IV LLC (*“ Level Solar Fund IV ) and similar investments in the Funds as defined below
(collectively, the *“ Prior Funds”’ )—whteh—were each determined to be a VIE upon investment. During 2023, the Company
purchased 100 % of the membership interests in Level Solar Fund IV {SeeNete-1+3-—Redeemable- NoneontrotingInterests-and
NoneentretingInterests)-and it ceased being a VIE upon purchase —As-and as of December 31, 2023 s-the-. The Company had
#s-> § initial investments in Volta Solar Owner 11, LLC and ORE F4 HoldCo, LLC (collectlvely, the “ Funds ") were
determined to be VIEs and remained as such as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. See Note 14. Redeemable
Noncontrolling Interests and Noncontrolling Interests . The Company considered the provisions within the contractual
arrangements that grant it power to manage and make decisions that affect the operation of the VIEs, including determining the
solar energy systems contributed to the VIEs, and the operation and maintenance of the solar energy systems. The Company
considers the rights granted to the other investors under the contractual arrangements to be more protective in nature rather than
substantive participating rights. As such, the Company was determined to be the primary beneficiary and the assets, liabilities
and activities of the Funds and Prior Funds were consolidated by the Company. The distribution rights and priorities for the
Funds and Prior Funds (before any ceased being a VIE) as set forth in their respective operating agreements differ from the
underlying percentage ownership interests of the members. As a result, the Company allocates income or loss to the
noncontrolling interest holders of the Funds and Prior Funds (before any ceased being a VIE) utilizing the hypothetical
liquidation of book value (“ HLBV ”’) method, in which income or loss is allocated based on the change in each member' s claim
on the net assets at the end of each reporting period, adjusted for any distributions or contributions made during such periods.
The HLBV method is commonly applied to investments where cash distribution percentages vary at different points in time and
are not directly linked to an equity member' s ownership percentage. =+5-The HLBV method is a balance sheet- focused
approach. Under this method, a calculation is prepared at each reporting date to determine the amount that each member would
receive if the entity were to liquidate all of its assets and distribute the resulting proceeds to its creditors and members based on
the contractually defined liquidation priorities. The difference between the calculated liquidation distribution amounts at the
beginning and the end of the reporting period, after adjusting for capital contributions and distributions, is used to derive each
member' s share of the income or loss for the period. Factors used in the HLBV calculation include U. S. GAAP income (loss),
taxable income (loss), capital contributions, ITCs, capital distributions and the stipulated targeted investor return specified in the
subsidiaries' operating agreements. Changes in these factors could have a significant impact on the amounts that investors would
receive upon a hypothetical liquidation. The Company classifies certain noncontrolling interests with redemption features that
are not solely within the Company”’ s control outside of permanent equity in the consolidated balance sheets. Redeemable
noncontrolling interests are reported using the greater of the carrying value at each reporting date as determined by the HLBV
method or the estimated redemption value at the end of each reporting period. Estimating the redemption value of the
redeemable noncontrolling interests requires the use of significant assumptions and estimates, such as projected future cash
flows. Subsequent to the purchase of 100 % of the membership interests in Level Solar Fund IV in 2023, the Company had no
redeemable noncontrolling interest as of December 31, 2023. F- 12 The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a
maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include cash held in
banks, money market accounts and U. S. Treasury securities. Cash equivalents are carried at cost, which approximates fair value
due to their short- term nature. The Company’ s cash and cash equivalents are placed with large high—eredit-quatity-financial
institutions and-ssters-, and at times exceed federally insured limits. To date, the Company has net experienced ne-any credit
fesses—- loss relating to its cash and cash equivalents. Concentration of credit risks and revenue Financial instruments which
potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash and cash equivalents. At times, sueh-the
Company may hold cash may-be-balances at a single bank in excess of the FDI&-Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
deposit insurance limit of $ 250, 000 . At December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, the Company had cash in excess of the $
256;-066-federatly—- federal deposit insared-- insurance limit. The Company believes it is not exposed to any significant credit
risk on cash and cash equivalents as most of the balances are kept-invested in treasury bills, which are government backed
securities. As of and for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, the Company had no customers that
represented at least 10 % of the Company’ s revenues or its accounts receivable balances. Restricted cash held at December 31,
2024 and 2023 ard20622-0f $ 36. 3 million and $ 3 1. 6 mihenand-$349-—=8-million, respectively, primarily consists of cash that
is subject to restriction due to provisions in the Company' s financing agreements and the operating agreements of the Funds-and
Prior-Funds. The carrying amount reported in the consolidated balance sheets for restricted cash approximates its fair value. The
following table provides a reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash reflected on the consolidated balance
sheets to the total amounts shown within the consolidated statements of cash flows for each year: As of December 31, (Amounts
in thousands) 20232622€ask-20242023Cash and cash cquivalents $ 72, 802 § 141, 354 $226,324Restricted eash3t-cash36 ,
346 31 , 587 49:-823-Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 109, 148 $ 172, 941 $240;444-F- +6-13 Accounts
receivable primarily represent amounts due from the Company’ s customers. Accounts receivable is recorded net of allowance
for expected credit losses in accordance with the current expected credit losses standard £~EECE);-defined-below-, which is
determined by the Company’ s assessment of the collectability of customer accounts based on the best available data at the time
of the assessment. Management reviews the allowance by considering factors such as historical experience, contractual term,
aging category and current economic conditions that may affect customers. The following table presents the changes in the
allowance for credit losses recorded withirragainst accounts receivable, net on the consolidated balance sheets: As of
December 31, (Amounts in thousands) 2023Balanee-20242023Balance at the beginning of the period $ 1, 693 $ 12, 164 Impact



of ASC 326 adoption — (1, 285) Write- off of uncollectible accounts (2, 322) (11, 447) Provision recognized upon valuation of
assets aeguiredd26---- acquired — 420 Provision for current expected credit losses1, 386 1, 841 Balance at the end of the period
$ 757 $ 1, 693 Derivative instruments and hedging activities The Company utilizes interest rate swaps to manage interest rate
risk on existing and planned future debt issuances. The fair value of all derivative instruments are recognized as assets or
liabilities at the balance sheet date on the consolidated balance sheets. The fair value of the interest rate swaps are calculated by
discounting the future net cash flows to the present value based on the terms and conditions of the agreements and the forward
interest rate curves. As these inputs are based on observable data and valuations of similar instruments, the interest rate
derivatives are primarily categorized as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. Prepaid expenses and other current assets include
prepaid insurance, prepaid rent, and supplies, which are expected to be recognized or realized within the next 12 months. F- 14
The Company accounts for its investment related to the SEMTH, as defined below, master lease agreement in accordance with
Accounting Standards Codification (“ ASC ) 325- 40, Investments — Other — Beneficial Interests in Securitized Financial
Assets. The Company recognizes accretable yield as interest income over the life of the related beneficial interest using the
effective yield method, which is reflected within interest income in the consolidated statements of operations in the amount of $
16. 8 million and $ 11. 5 million for the year-years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 , respectively . On a recurring basis,
the Company evaluates changes in the cash flows expected to be collected from the cash flows previously projected, and when
favorable or adverse changes are deemed other than temporary, the Company prospectively updates its expectation of cash
flows to be collected and recalculates the amount of accretable yield for the related beneficial interest. Favorable or adverse
changes deemed other than temporary are accounted for as a change in estimate in conformity with ASC 250,
Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, with the amount of periodic accretion adjusted over the remaining life of
the master lease agreement. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company revised its estimated cash flows
expected to be collected related to the SEMTH master lease agreement, and as a result, recognized additional accretable
yield of $ 1. 8 million within interest income in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company estimates
approximately $ 3. 0 million of additional interest income per year over the life of the related beneficial interest. Property
and equipment, net consists of solar energy systems and other property and equipment. ==—7-Solar energy systems, net Solar
energy systems, net consists of home solar energy systems which are subject to long- term Customer Agreements and asset
retirement costs (“ ARC 7). Solar energy systems are recorded at their fair value upon acquisition, while ARCs are capitalized
as part of the carrying amount of the solar energy systems and depreciated over the remaining useful life. Subsequently, any
impairment charges that may arise are recognized and the impairment loss reduces the carrying amount of the asset to its
recoverable amount. For all acquired systems, the Company calculates depreciation using the straight- line method over the
remaining useful life as of the acquisition date based on a 30- year useful life from the date the asset was placed in service.
When a solar energy system is sold or otherwise disposed of, a gain (or loss) is recognized for the amount of cash received in
excess of the net book value of the solar energy system (or vice versa), at which time the related solar energy system is removed
from the consolidated balance sheets. Other property and equipment, net Other property and equipment, net is stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation, or if acquired in a business combination, at fair value as of the date of acquisition. Depreciation is
calculated using the straight- line method, based upon the following estimated useful lives: Equipment5 yearsFurniture and
fixtures3 yearsComputer and related equipment2 yearsSoftware2 yearsVehicles5 yearsLeasehold improvementsLesser of useful
life of the asset or remaining life of the lease Leasehold improvements are capitalized, while replacements, maintenance and
repairs, which do not improve or extend the life of the respective asset, are expensed as incurred. When property and equipment
is retired or otherwise disposed of, the related cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts, and any gain
or loss on the disposition is recorded in the consolidated statements of operations as a component of other income, net. F- 15
The Company’ s intangible assets include solar renewable energy credit agreements, performance based incentive agreements,
and a trade name. The Company amortizes its intangible assets that have finite lives based on the pattern in which the economic
benefit of the asset is expected to be utilized. The useful life of the Company’ s intangible assets generally range between three
years and 30 years. The useful life of intangible assets are assessed and assigned based on the facts and circumstances specific to
the assets. The Company recognizes the amortization of (i) solar renewable energy credit agreements and performance based
incentive agreements as a reduction to revenue and (ii) the trade name as amortization expense within selling, general and
administrative expenses. The Company reviews long- lived assets, such as ineludingsetar-energy-systems;other-property and
equipment and intangible assets with definite lives , for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
an asset group’ s carrying amount may not be recoverable. The Company groups assets and liabilities at the lowest level for
which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and liabilities and evaluates the asset
group against the sum of the undiscounted future cash flows. If the undiscounted cash flows do not indicate the carrying amount
of the asset group is recoverable, an unpalrment charge is measured as the amount by which the Carrylng amount of the asset
group exceeds its falr Value d W :

were no long llved asset 1mpa1rment ehafge—charges durlng the yea-r—years ended December 3 2024 and 2023 The Company
determines if an arrangement is a lease, or contains a lease, at the inception of the arrangement and evaluates whether the lease
is an operating lease or a finance lease at the commencement date. The Company’ s assessment is based on: (i) whether the
contract involves the use of a distinct identified asset, (ii) whether the Company obtained the right to substantially all the
economic benefit from the use of the asset throughout the period, and (iii) whether the Company has the right to direct the use of
the asset. The Company recognizes lease right- of- use (“ ROU ”) assets and lease liabilities for operating and finance leases



with initial terms greater than 12 months. ROU assets represent the Company’ s right to use an asset for the lease term, while
lease liabilities represent the Company’ s obligation to make the related lease payments. The ROU assets for all leases are
recognized based on the present value of fixed lease payments over the lease term at the lease commencement date. The lease
liabilities of all leases are calculated as the present value of fixed payments not yet paid at the measurement date, however
subsequent to the measurement date, the finance lease liabilities are presented at amortized cost using the effective interest
method. The Company generally uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate for leases unless an interest rate is
implicitly stated in the leases. The Company”’ s incremental borrowing rate is determined using a portfolio approach based on
the rate of interest that the Company would have to pay to borrow an amount equal to the lease payments on a collateralized
basis over a similar term. The lease term for all of the Company’ s leases includes the noncancelable period of the lease, in
addition to any additional periods covered by either the Company’ s option to extend the lease, which the Company is
reasonably certain to exercise, or the option to extend the lease controlled by the lessor. All ROU assets are reviewed
periodically for impairment. Lease expense for operating leases consists of the lease payments plus any initial direct costs and is
recognized on a straight- line basis over the lease term. Lease expense for finance leases consists of the amortization of the asset
on a straight- line basis over the shorter of the lease term or its useful life and interest expense determined on an amortized cost
basis, with the lease payments allocated between a reduction of the lease liability and interest expense. Variable lease payments
that are not based on an index or a rate, such as common area maintenance fees, taxes and insurance, are expensed as incurred.
Asset retirement obligations F- 16 Asset retirement obligations (“ ARO ”) can arise from contractual or regulatory requirements
to perform certain asset retirement activities at the time the solar energy systems are to be disposed. The Company recognizes
ARO:s at the point an obligating event takes place. The liability is initially measured at fair value based on the present value of
estimated removal costs and subsequently adjusted for changes in the underlying assumptions and accretion expense. The
corresponding ARCs are considered retired when permanently taken out of service, such as, through a sale or disposal. The
Company may revise the ARO based on actual experiences, changes in certain customer- specific estimates and other cost
estimate changes. If there are changes in estimated future costs, those changes will be recorded as either a reduction or addition
in the carrying amount of the remaining unamortized ARC and the ARO will either increase or decrease in depreciation and
accretion expense amounts prospectively. Inherent in the calculation of the fair value of AROs are numerous assumptions and
judgments, including the ultimate settlement amounts, inflation factors, credit adjusted discount rates, and timing of settlement.
As-The following is a roll forward of the Company’ s ARO: Years Ended December 31, 2023-and2022-ARO0-was
(Amounts in thousands) 20242023Balance at the begmnlng of the perlod $ 3, 033 —G—nﬂ-l-l-teﬁ—a-nd-ﬂi O-mithen—
Additions267 2 , 733 y ; eeretiorrAccretion expenses
expense236 wefe-300 Balance at the end of the perlod $ 03 iﬁ-ﬁ-heﬂ-aﬁd— 536 $ 3 9—m1-1-1-teﬁ— 033 respeetively—F-—+9-The
Company accounts for assets acquired based on the consideration transferred by the Company, including direct and incremental
transaction costs incurred by the Company as a result of the acquisition. An asset acquisition’ s cost or the consideration
transferred by the Company is assumed to be equal to the fair value of the net assets acquired. If the consideration transferred is
cash, measurement is based on the amount of cash the Company paid to the seller, as well as transaction costs incurred by the
Company. Consideration given in the form of nonmonetary assets, liabilities incurred or equity interests issued is measured
based on either the cost to the Company or the fair value of the assets or net assets acquired, whichever is more clearly evident.
The cost of an asset acquisition is allocated to the net assets acquired based on their estimated relative fair values. The Company
engages third- party appraisal firms to assist in the fair value determination, however management is responsible for, and
ultimately determines the fair value. Goodwill is not recognized in an asset acquisition. The Company accounts for the
acquisition of a business using the acquisition method of accounting. Amounts paid to acquire a business are allocated to the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their fair values at the date of acquisition. The Company engages third- party
appraisal firms to assist in the fair value determination, which management uses to determine the fair value. The Company
determines the fair value of purchase price consideration, including contingent consideration, and acquired intangible assets
based on valuations received from the appraisal firm that used information and assumptions provided by Management. The
Company allocates any excess purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired to goodwill.
The results of operations of acquired businesses are included in the Company' s financial statements from the date of acquisition
forward. Acquisition- related costs are expensed in periods in which the costs are incurred. Impatrment-ofgoodwil-Goodwill
represents the excess of cost over the fair market value of net tangible and identifiable intangible assets of acquired businesses.
Goodwill is not amortized, however it is annually tested for impairment, or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of goodwill may be impaired. The Company has historically recorded goodwill in connection with its
business combinations. F- 17 The Company performs its annual goodwill impairment assessment on October 1 of each fiscal
year, or more frequently if events or circumstances arise which indicate that goodwill may be impaired. An assessment can be
performed by first completing a qualitative assessment of the Company’ s single reporting unit. The Company can also bypass
the qualitative assessment in any period and proceed directly to the quantitative impairment test and then resume the qualitative
assessment in any subsequent period. Qualitative indicators that may trigger the need for annual or interim quantitative
impairment testing include, among other things, deterioration in macroeconomic conditions, declining financial performance,
deterioration in the operational environment, or an expectation of selling or disposing of a portion of the reporting unit.
Additionally, a significant change in business climate, a loss of a significant customer, increased competition, a sustained
decrease in share price, or a decrease in estimated fair value below book value may trigger the need for interim impairment
testing of goodwill. If the Company believes that, as a result of its qualitative assessment, it is more likely than not that the fair
value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, the quantitative impairment test is required. The quantitative test
involves comparing the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the carrying amount of
the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is recorded as a reduction to goodwill with a corresponding charge




to earnings in the period the goodwill is determined to be impaired. The income tax effect associated with an impairment of tax-
deductible goodwill is also considered in the measurement of the goodwill impairment. Any goodwill impairment is limited to
the total amount of goodwill. F26-The Company evaluates the fair value of the Company”’ s reporting unit using the market and
income approach. Under the market approach, the Company uses multiples of earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortization (“ EBITDA ”) or revenues of the comparable guideline public companies by selecting a population of public
companies with similar operations and attributes. Using this guideline public company data, a range of multiples of enterprise
value to EBITDA or revenue is calculated. The income approach of computing fair value is based on the present value of the
expected future economic benefits generated by the asset or business, such as cash flows or profits which will then be compared

to 1ts book value Durmg {n—the—ﬁfst—quaﬁer—ef—ze%z—the—eempanﬂrbeheved-thefe——— the year ended December 31 were

the Company recorded a charge of $ 28 8 —6—m11110n to fully
impair its goodwrll fe}afed—teééIrF-}eet—Gofp—Wf]ﬂeh—ts—ref}eeted—wrthrn ﬂet—less—frena—d-tseenﬁﬂued—qaef&&ens—m—the consolidated
statements of operations rsy-. There was no goodwill
impairment charge during the year ended Decernber 31, 2023 See Note 12 Goodw1ll for further information on the
Company’ s determination relating to impairment of goodwill . Warranties Customers who purchased the Company' s
Drivetrain systems were provided limited- assurance- type warranties for equipment and work performed under the contracts.
The warranty period typically extends for three years following transfer of control of the equipment. The warranties solely relate
to correction of product defects during the warranty period, which is consistent with similar warranties offered by competitors.
Customers of XL Grid were provided limited- assurance- type warranties for a term of one year for installation work performed
under its contracts. The Company accrued the estimated cost of product warranties for unclaimed charges based on historical
experiences and expected results. Should product failure rates and material usage costs differ from these factors, estimated
revisions to the estimated warranty liability will be required. The Company periodically assesses the adequacy of its recorded
product warranty liabilities and adjusts the balances as required. Warranty expense is recorded as a component of discontinued
operations in the consolidated statements of operations. With the Company’ s exit from the Drivetrain business and the
subsequent sale of World Energy, the Company will not enter into any additional warranty obligations and expects the existing

warranty obligation to substantialty-run-expire in 2025. F - 18 e-fﬁever—t-he—subsequeﬂt—lé-—meﬂt-h-peﬂod—The following is a roll
forward of the Company’ s accrued Warranty 11ab111ty As of Decelnber 31, (Arnounts in thousands) %G%QGQQ-Ba}anee

ﬁﬁﬁment—e}tafge's—%—Bﬂanee-at—t-he—end-of the period $ 602 $ 1,125 Transfer of 1nventory to servicers — (498)
Accrual related to World Energy — (25) Warranty fulfillment charges (386) — Balance at the end of the period $ 216 $
602 The Company’ s warranty liability is included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance
sheets. Warrant liabilities F=24-As of December 31, 2023-2024 and-2022-, the Company had outstanding private warrants,
which are related to the December 2020 merger and organization of legacy XL Hybrids Inc. £JegaeyXE"3to become XL
Fleet €erp-. With the merger, the Company assumed private placement warrants to purchase 529, 167 shares of common stock,
with an exercise price of $ 92. 00 per share (the ““ Private Warrants ”’). The Private Warrants do not meet the criteria for equity
classification and must be recorded as liabilities. As the Private Warrants met the definition of a derivative, they were measured
at fair value at inception and at each reporting date with changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statements of
operations. The Private Warrants were valued using a Black- Scholes model, with significant inputs consisting of risk- free
interest rate, remaining term, expected volatility, exercise price, and the Company’ s stock price (See Note 11. Fair Value
Measurements). The Company amortizes its unfavorable solar renewable energy agreements that have finite lives based on the
pattern in which the economic benefit of the liability is relieved. The useful life of the Company’ s liabilities generally range
between three years and six years. The useful life of these liabilities are assessed and assigned based on the facts and
circumstances specific to the agreement. The Company recognizes the amortization of unfavorable solar renewable energy
agreements as revenues in the consolidated statements of operations. Fh
ofalhpendinglegalproeeedings—When it is probable that a loss has occurred and the loss amount can be reasonably estlmated
the Company records liabilities for loss contingencies. In certain cases, the Company may be covered by one or more corporate
insurance policies, resulting in insurance loss recoveries. When such recoveries are in excess of a loss recognized in the
Company’ s financial statements, the Company recognizes a gain contingency at the earlier of when the gain has been realized
or when it is realizable, however when the Company expects recovery of proceeds up to the amount of the loss recognized, a
receivable, which offsets the related loss contingency, is recognized when realization of the claim for recovery is determined to
be probable. F- 19 Fair value measurements The fair value of the Company’ s financial assets and liabilities reflects
Management’ s estimate of amounts that the Company would have received in connection with the sale of the assets or paid in
connection with the transfer of the liabilities in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. For
assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring and nonrecurring basis, a three- level hierarchy of measurements based
upon observable and unobservable inputs is used to arrive at fair value. Observable inputs are developed based on market data
obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect the Company’ s assumptions about valuation based on the
best information available in the circumstances. Depending on the inputs, the Company classifies each fair value measurement
as follows: * Level 1: Observable inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that are accessible at the measurement date. * Level 2: Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted




market prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted market prices in markets that are not active or other inputs
that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities. ¢
Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the
assets or liabilities. In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value
hierarchy. In such cases, the level in the fair value hierarchy must be determined based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement. An assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement
in its entirety requires judgment and consideration of factors specific to the asset or liability. F22-The Company’ s financial
instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, net, accounts payable, accrued expenses
and other current liabilities, forg-non - termrecourse debt, and interest rate swaps and-watrrant-tabtlities- The carrying value of
cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses and other current
liabilities eael-approximates fair value due to the short- term nature of those instruments. See Note 11. Fair Value
Measurements for additional information on assets and liabilities measured at fair value. The Company grants stock- based
awards to certain employees, directors and non- employee consultants. Awards issued under the Company’ s stock- based
compensation plans include stock options and restricted stock units. For transactions in which the Company obtains employee
services in exchange for an award of equity instruments, the cost of the services are measured based on the grant date fair value
of the award. The Company recognizes the cost over the period during which an employee is required to provide services in
exchange for the award, known as the requisite service period (usually the vesting period). Costs related to plans with graded
vesting are generally recognized using a straight- line method. Stock Options The Company uses the Black- Scholes option
pricing model to determine the fair value of stock- based awards and recognizes the compensation cost on a straight line basis
over the requisite service period of the awards for empteyee-employees , which is typically the four- year vesting period of the
award, and effective contract period specified in the award agreement for non- empleyee-employees . The fair value of common
stock is determined based on the closing price of the Company’ s common stock on the NYSE at each award grant date. F- 20
The determination of the fair value of stock- based payment awards utilizing the Black- Scholes model is affected by the stock
price and a number of assumptions, including expected volatility, expected life, risk- free interest rate and expected dividends.
The Company does not have a significant history of trading its common stock as it was not a public company until December 21,
2020, and as such expected volatility was estimated using historical volatilities of comparable public entities. The expected life
of the awards is estimated based on a simplified method, which uses the average of the vesting term and the original contractual
term of the award. The risk- free interest rate assumption is based on observed interest rates appropriate for the expected life of
the awards. The dividend yield assumption is based on history and expectation of paying no dividends. Forfeitures are
accounted for as they occur. Restricted Stock Units Restricted stock units generally vest over the requisite service periods
(vesting on a straight — line basis). The fair value of a restricted stock unit award is equal to the closing price of the Company’ s
common stock on the NYSE on the grant date. The Company accounts for the forfeiture of equity awards as they occur. The
Company’ s revenue is derived from its home solar energy portfolio and servicing platform , which primarily generates
revenue through the sale to homeowners of power generated by the home solar energy systems
by—eeﬁa—m—hemeewnefs—pursuant to long- term agreements. Pursuant to ASC 606 defined below, the Company has elected the “
right to invoice ™ practical expedient for PPA and servicing revenues , and revenues for the performance obligations related to
energy generation and servicing revenue are recognized as services are rendered based upon the underlying contractual
arrangements. The following table presents the detail of the Company’ s revenues as reflected within the consolidated
statements of F—23-operations for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022- Years Ended December 31,
(Amounts in thousands) 20232022PPA-20242023PPA rcevenues $ 38,391 $ 36, 360 $8;F56-SLA revenues28, 978 28, 462 +5
276-Solar renewable energy credit revenues?, 205 7, 219 +-576-Government neentives254— incentives425 245-254 Servicing
reventes767— revenues778 776-767 Intangibles amortization, unfavorable solar renewable energy agreements3, 097 3, 593 —
Other revenue3, 233 3, 204 57%-Total $ 82,107 $ 79, 859 $23-494-Customers purchase solar energy from the Company under
PPAs or SLAs, both defined above. Revenue is recognized from contracts with customers as performance obligations are
satisfied at a transaction price reflecting an amount of consideration based upon an estimated rate of return which is expressed as
the solar rate per kilowatt hour or a flat rate per month as defined in the customer contracts. « PPA revenues- Under ASC 606,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ ASC 606 ) issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“ FASB ™), PPA
revenue is recognized when generated based upon the amount of electricity delivered as determined by remote monitoring
equipment at solar rates specified under the PPAs. F-21 « SLA revenues- The Company has SLAs, which do not meet the
definition of a lease under ASC 842, Leases, and are accounted for as contracts with customers under ASC 606. Revenue is
recognized on a straight- line basis over the contract term as the obligation to provide continuous access to the solar energy
system is satisfied. The amount of revenue recognized may not equal customer cash payments due to the performance obligation
being satisfied ahead of cash receipt or evenly as continuous access to the solar energy system has been provided. The
differences between revenue recognition and cash payments received are reflected as deferred rent assets on the consolidated
balance sheets . Certain SLAs contain provisions to provide customers a performance guarantee that each solar energy
system will achieve certain specified minimum solar energy production output. If the solar energy system does not
produce the guaranteed production amount, the Company is obligated to pay a performance guarantee calculated as the
product of (a) the shortfall production amount and (b) guaranteed rate per kWh as defined in the SLA . The Company
enters into contracts with third parties to sell SRECs generated by the solar energy systems for fixed prices. Certain contracts
that meet the definition of a derivative may be exempted as normal purchase or normal sales transactions (“ NPNS ). NPNS are
contracts that provide for the purchase or sale of something other than a financial instrument or derivative instrument that will
be delivered in quantities expected to be used or sold over a reasonable period in the normal course of business. Certain SREC
contracts meet these requirements and are designated as NPNS contracts. Such SRECs are exempted from the derivative



accounting and reporting requirements, and the Company recognizes revenues in accordance with ASC 606. The Company
recognizes revenue for SRECs based on pricing predetermined within the respective contracts at a point in time when the
SREC:s are transferred. As SRECs can be sold separate from the actual electricity generated by the renewable- based generation
source, the Company accounts for the SRECs it generates from its solar energy systems as governmental incentives with-te
eosts-ineturred-to-obtatn-thenrand de-does not consider those SRECs output of the underlying solar energy systems. The
Company classifies these SRECs as inventory held until sold and delivered to third parties. As the Company did not incur costs
to obtain these governmental incentives, the inventory carrying value for the SRECs was $ 0 as of December 31, 2024 and 2023
and2022-. The Company participates in residential solar investment programs, which offer a performance- based incentive (*
PBI ”) for certain of its solar energy systems that are associated with the programs (““ eligible systems ). PBIs are accounted for
under ASC 606 and are earned based upon the actual electricity produced by the eligible systems. F24-The Company earns
operating and maintenance revenue from third- party solar fund customers at pre- determined rates for various operating and
maintenance and asset management services as specified in Maintenance Service Agreements (“ MSAs ”) and-Operating-Serviee
AgreementsOSAs ). The MSAs and-OSAs-contain multiple performance obligations, including routine maintenance,
nonroutine maintenance, renewable energy certificate management, inventory management, delinquent account collections and
customer account management . Other revenue relates to revenue generating activities that do not fall into the Company’ s
primary revenue categories discussed above, including uniform commercial code revenues, other fees charged to the
Company’ s customers pursuant to the Company’ s long- term Customer Agreements and servicing contracts, and other
miscellaneous revenue and income . Deferred revenue Deferred revenue consists of amounts for which the criteria for revenue
recognition have not yet been met and includes prepayments received for unfulfilled performance obligations that will be
recognized on a straight- line basis over the remaining term of the respective customer agreements. Deferred revenue, in the
aggregate, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-was $ 4. 0 million and $ 2. 7 million and-$-08—-5-miHien-, respectively.
During the year-years ended December 31,2024 and 2023, the Company recognized revenues of Jess-than-$ 0. 2 million and $
0. 1 million related to deferred revenue as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 , respectively . F- 22 Cost of revenues primarity—
solar energy systems depreciation consists of the deprecratron expense relatrng to the solar energy systems ;. Cost of
revenues- operations and maintenance primarily consists of costs of third parties used to service the Company’ s systems
and any cost associated with meter swaps. Income taxes The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability
method under which deferred tax liabilities and assets are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary
differences between financial statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities and net operating loss and tax
credit carryforwards. Deferred income taxes are provided for the temporary differences arising between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes, and net operating loss
carry- forwards and credits. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted rates in effect for the year in which
the differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect of changes in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is
recognized in the consolidated statements of operations in the period in which the enactment rate changes. The ultimate
recovery of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the amount and timing of future taxable income and other factors, such as the
taxing jurisdiction in which the asset is to be recovered. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reduced through the establishment
of a valuation allowance if, based on available evidence, it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be
realized. Uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return are accounted for using the more likely than not
threshold for financial statement recognition and measurement. The determination as to whether the tax benefit will more likely
than not be realized is based upon the technical merits of the tax position as well as consideration of the available facts and
circumstances. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2622-, there were no uncertain tax positions taken or
expected to be taken in the Company’ s tax returns. In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to regular audits
by U. S. federal and state and local tax authorities. With few exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to federal, state or
local tax examinations by tax authorities in its major jurisdictions for tax years prior to 2020. However, net operating loss
carryforwards remain subject to examination to the extent they are carried forward and impact a year that is open to examination
by tax authorities. The Company did not recognize any tax related interest or penalties during the periods presented in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements, however, would record any such interest and penalties as a component of the
provision for income taxes. There has historically been no federal or state provision for income taxes since the Company has
historically incurred net operating losses and maintains a full valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets. For the
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, the Company recognized no provision for income taxes , consistent with
its losses incurred and the valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets. As a result, the Company' s effective income tax
rate was 0 % for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2622-. F—25-Net income (loss) per share Basic net income
(loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of shares of common stock
outstanding during the period, without consideration for potentially dilutive securities. Diluted net income (loss) per share is
computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted- average number of shares of common stock and potentially dilutive
securities outstanding during the period determined using the treasury stock and if- converted methods. For purposes of the
diluted income (loss) per share calculation, stock options, restricted stock units, restricted stock unit awards and warrants are
considered to be potentially dilutive securities. Potentially dilutive securities are excluded from the calculation of diluted income
(loss) per share when their effect would be anti- dilutive. F- 23 Segment reporting is based on the management approach,
following the method that management organizes the Company’ s reportable segments for which separate financial information
is made available to, and evaluated regularly by, the Company’ s chief operating decision maker (* CODM ”) in allocating
resources and in assessmg performance The Company —s—G@DM—rs organized tts-ChiefExeentive-Offteer {~-CEO-In-the
Strth-errartero —the-Compar d cetrath and %L—Gﬂd—managed as a single operations— operating
were-diseontinted-operationswhichresulted-rthe havin yone-reportable segment , on a consolidated




basis, which engages in the sole business of providing solar energy and related services to its customers, and as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had one operating and reportable segment. See Note 22. Segment
Information for further information . Related parties A party is considered to be related to the Company if the party directly
or indirectly or through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with the Company.
Related parties also include principal owners of the Company, its management, the board of directors, members of the
immediate families of principal owners of the Company, its management, the board of directors and other parties with which the
Company may deal with if one party controls or can significantly influence the management or operating policies of the other to
an extent that one of the transacting parties might be prevented from fully pursuing its own separate interests. A party which can
significantly influence the management or operating policies of the transacting parties or that has an ownership interest in one of
the transacting parties and can significantly influence the other to an extent that one or more of the transacting parties might be
prevented from fully pursuing its own separate interests is also a related party. SEC Climate Disclosure Rule In March 2024,
the SEC issued final rules requiring public entities to disclose certain climate- related information in their registration
statements and annual reports. The rules will be effective for non- accelerated filers and smaller reporting companies
commencing with the fiscal year beginning on or after January 1, 2027. In April 2024, the SEC issued an administrative
stay of the implementation of these rules, pending judicial review. In February 2025, the SEC issued a request that the
U. S. Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit not schedule the case for oral argument in order to allow time for the SEC
to determine next steps in light of certain changes. The Company is evaluating the impact of the final rules on its
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. - 26-24 Recent Accounting Pronouncements Adopted In
Beeember-November 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (* ASU ) 2023- 07, Segment Reporting (Topic
280): Improvement to Reportable Segment Disclosures, (“ ASU 2023- 07 ), which requires enhanced disclosures for
reportable segments, primarily in relation to significant segment expenses, even in the event an entity has a single
reportable segment in accordance with Topic 280. ASU 2023- 07 was effective for the Company for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. The Company
adopted this ASU as of December 31, 2024 and has retrospectively applied its requirements to all prior periods based on
the significant segment expense categories identified and disclosed in its consolidated financial statements in the period of
adoption. See Note 22. Segment Information. Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted In November 2024,
the FASB issued ASU 2024- 03, Income Statement- Reporting Comprehensive Income- Expense Disaggregation
Disclosures (Subtopic 220- 40) (“ ASU 2024- 03 ), which requires enhanced detailed disclosures about the types of
expenses in commonly presented expense line items of entities. Subsequent to issuance of ASU 2024- 03, the FASB issued
ASU 2025- 01 of the same topic to clarify the effective date of ASU 2024- 03, stating that all public entities are required to
adopt the disclosure requirements in the first annual reporting period beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim
reporting periods within annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2027. The Company will adopt this
ASU as of December 31, 2027 and will prospectively apply its requirements to expense disclosures presented in the notes
to the consolidated financial statements in the period of adoption. In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023- 09,
Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, (“ ASU 2023- 09 ), which requires enhancements
regarding the transparency and decision usefulness of income tax disclosures. ASU 2023- 09 is effective for the-Cempany-on
public business entities for annual periods beginning after December 3415 | 26252024 . The Company will adopt this ASU
as of December 31, 2025 and will prospectively apply its requirements to income tax disclosures presented in the notes to the
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adeptien)$9;,-621-On September 9, 2022 (the “ Acquisition Date ”), the Company acquired Legacy Spruce Power for $ 32. 6
million, which consisted of cash payments of $ 61. 8 million less cash and restricted cash acquired of $ 29. 2 million.
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Management evaluated which entity should be considered the accounting acquirer in the transaction by giving consideration to
the form of consideration transferred, the composition of the equity holders, the composition of voting rights of the Board of
Directors, continuity of management structure, and size of the respective organizations. Based on the evaluation of the
applicable factors, Management noted that all factors, with the exception of the relative size of organization, were indicators that
the Company was the acquiring entity resulting in Management’ s conclusion that for accounting purposes, the Company
acquired Legacy Spruce Power. F=—27The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination. The Company allocated the
Legacy Spruce Power purchase price to tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their
estimated fair values as of the Acquisition Date. The excess of the purchase price over those fair values was recorded as
goodwill. The Company’ s evaluations of the facts and circumstances available as of the Acquisition Date, to assign fair values
to assets acquired and liabilities assumed , remained ongoing subsequent to the Acquisition Date. As the Company completed
further analysis of assets including solar systems, intangible assets, as well as noncontrolling interests and debt, additional
information on the assets acquired and liabilities assumed became available. Changes in information related to the value of net
assets acquired changed the amount of the purchase price initially assigned to goodwill, and as a result, the fair values set forth
below were subject to adjustments as additional information was obtained and valuations completed. These provisional
adjustments were recognized during the reporting period in which the adjustments were determined. The Company has-finalized
its purchase price allocation as of September 8, 2023. F- 25 Accounting for business combinations requires management to
make significant estimates and assumptions, especially at the Acquisition Date, including the Company’ s estimates of the fair
value of solar systems, production based incentives, solar renewable energy agreements, non- controlling interest, trade name
and debt, where applicable. The Company believes the assumptions and estimates are based on information obtained from the
management of the acquired companies and are inherently uncertain. Critical estimates in valuing solar systems under the
income approach include future expected cash flows and discount rate. Unanticipated events and circumstances may occur that
may affect the accuracy or validity of such assumptions, estimates or actual results. The following table summarizes the
purchase price allocation of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the acquisition of Legacy Spruce Power,
as adjusted, during the measurement period: (Amounts in thousands) Initial Purchase Price AllocationMeasurement Period
AdjustmentsUpdated Purchase Price AllocationTotal purchase consideration: Cash, net of cash acquired, and restricted cash $
32,585 % — $ 32, 585 Allocation of consideration to assets acquired and liabilities assumed: Accounts receivable, netl10, 995 —
10, 995 Prepaid expenses and other current assets6, 768 (2, 405) 4, 363 Solar energy systems406, 298 89, 268 495, 566 Other
property and equipment337 — 337 Intangible assets — 11, 980 11, 980 Interest rate swap assets26, 698 — 26, 698 Right- of-
use asset3, 279 (328) 2, 951 Other assets358 (102) 256 Goodwill158, 636 (129, 879) 28, 757 Accounts payable (2, 620) (22) (2,
642) Unfavorable solar renewable energy agreements — (10, 500) (10, 500) Accrued expenses (13, 061) (241) (13, 302) Lease
liability (3, 382) 42 (3, 340) Long- term debt (510, 002) 2, 772 (507, 230) Other liabilities (335) 292 (43) Redeemable
noncontrolling interests and noncontrolling interests (51, 384) 39, 123 (12, 261) Total assets acquired and liabilities assumed $
32,585 % —$ 32, 585 F—28-As reflected in the preceding table, as a result of third party valuation reports received in the first
quarter of 2023, the Company adjusted solar energy systems and intangible assets with corresponding changes to goodwill. In
the first quarter of 2023, due to a change in the provisional amounts assigned to intangible assets and solar energy systems, the
Company recognized $ 0. 4 million of revenue, $ 1. 9 million of depreciation expense and $ 0. 4 million of trade name
amortization, of which $ 0. 5 million of revenue, $ 0. 9 million of depreciation expense and $ 0. 3 million of trade name
amortization related to the previous year. During the first quarter of 2023, the Company adjusted the fair value of its
noncontrolling interest and its redeemable noncontrolling interest in the Company' s financials, which resulted in related
downward revision of $ 5. 5 million and upward revision of $ 0. 2 million, respectively. Additional paid in capital was also
downward revised by $ 1. 8 million, which included the fair value adjustment associated with the purchase of 100 % of the
membership interests in Ampere Solar Owner IV, LLC, ORE F5A HoldCo, LLC, ORE F6 HoldCo, LLC, RPV Fund 11 LLC
and RPV Fund 13 LLC, Sunserve Residential Solar I, LLC' s and Level Solar Fund III, LLC in 2022. F- 26 The gross
intangibles acquired are amortized over their respective estimated useful lives as follows: (Amounts in thousands) Asset
LiabilityEstimated Life (in years) Solar renewable energy agreements $ 340 $ 10, 500 3 to 6Performance based incentives
agreements3, 240 — 13Trade name8, 400 — 30Total intangibles acquired $ 11, 980 $ 10, 500 The weighted- average useful life
of the intangibles identified above is approximately 16 years, which approximates the period over which the Company expects
to gain the estimated economic benefits. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase consideration over the estimated fair
value of the net assets acquired. Goodwill is primarily attributable to the Company' s ability to leverage and use its existing
capital and access to capital markets along with Legacy Spruce Power' s established operations and M & A capabilities to grow
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Acquisitions SEMTH Master Lease Agreement In furtherance of its growth strategy, on March 23, 2023, the Company
completed the acquisition of all the issued and outstanding interests in SEMTH from certain funds, pursuant to a membership
interest purchase and sale agreement dated March 23, 2023 (the “ SEMTH Acquisition ). The SEMTH related asset includes
20- year use rights to customer payment streams of approximately 22, 500 home SLAs and PPAs (the “ SEMTH Master Lease
). The Company acquired SEMTH for approximately $ 23. 0 million of cash, net of cash received, and assumed $ 125. 0
million of outstanding senior indebtedness (See Note 8. Non- Recourse Debt) and interest rate swaps with Deutsche Bank AG,
New York Bank (See Note 9. Interest Rate Swaps) held by SEMTH and its subsidiaries at the close of the acquisition. The
Company concluded that SEMTH does not meet the definition of a business or VIE wariabletnterestentity-. The purchase of
SEMTH' s future revenue has been accounted for as an acquisition of financial assets. Under the acquisition method, the
purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their relative fair value. All fair value
measurements of assets acquired and liabilities assumed were based on significant estimates and assumptions, including Level 3
(unobservable) inputs, which require judgment. Estimates and assumptions include the projected timing and amount of future
cash flows, discount rates reflecting risk inherent in future cash flows and future utility prices. For the purposes of establishing
the fair value of the Company' s investment in the SEMTH Master Lease, its analysis considered cash flows beginning in March
2023 (the effective date of the transaction). The Company estimated the fair value of its investment in the SEMTH Master Lease
to be approximately $ 146. 9 million on the transaction date. On August 18, 2023, the Company acquired approximately 2, 400
home solar assets and contracts from a publicly traded, regulated utility company for $ 20. 9 million (the “ Tredegar Acquisition
). The home solar assets acquired have an average remaining contract life of approximately 11 years. The Tredegar Acquisition
was funded by term loans from the concurrent amendment of the Company’ s existing debt facility as of the acquisition date
(See Note 8. Non- Recourse Debt). F- 27 The Tredegar Acquisition has been accounted for as an acquisition of assets, wherein
the total consideration paid was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their relative fair value. The
Company’ s determination of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed was based on an independent third- party
valuation, which involved significant estimates and assumptions, including Level 3 (unobservable) inputs, using the income
method approach to value long- lived assets. The Company engages third- party appraisal firms to assist in the fair value
determination, however management is responsible for, and ultimately determines the fair value. The Company estimated the
fair value of the Tredegar Acquisition to be approximately $ 21. 2 million, inclusive of transaction costs of $ 0. 3 million, of
which § 19. 6 million was allocated to the solar energy systems. On November 22, 2024, the Company acquired
approximately 9, 800 solar energy systems from the subsidiary of a publicly traded, regulated utility company for $ 132.
5 million (the “ NJR Acquisition ) pursuant to an asset purchase agreement (the “ APA ”). The solar energy systems
acquired have an average remaining contract life of approximately 11 years. The NJR Acquisition was funded in part by
the proceeds from the concurrent issuance of the SPS Facility, as defined below (See Note 8. Non- Recourse Debt) and $
22. 7 million of the Company’ s cash balances. Under the APA, the Company may be obligated to acquire approximately
200 additional solar energy systems, subject to those systems having achieved operational milestones. Assuming those
milestones are achieved, the aggregate purchase consideration payable with respect to these additional solar energy
systems would be approximately $ S. 0 million pursuant to the APA, subject to adjustment thereof. Subsequently in 2025,
the Company has acquired 83 of these additional solar energy systems, in the aggregate, for approximately $ 1. 5 million
in cash. The Company is unable to anticipate the ultimate outcome of these additional solar energy systems that it may
be obligated to acquire. The NJR Acquisition has been accounted for as an acquisition of assets, wherein the total
consideration paid was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their relative fair value. The
Company’ s determination of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed was based on an independent third-
party valuation, which involved significant estimates and assumptions, including Level 3 (unobservable) inputs, using the
income method approach to value long- lived assets. The Company engages third- party appraisal firms to assist in the
fair value determination, however management is responsible for, and ultimately determines the fair value. The
Company estimated the fair value of the NJR Acquisition to be approximately $ 132. 5 million, inclusive of transaction
costs of $ 0. 3 million, all of which was allocated to the solar energy systems. I'- 36Spraee-28Spruce Power Holding
CorporationNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements Note 5. Property and Equipment, Net Property and equipment , net
consisted of the following as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-: As of December 31, (Amounts in thousands)
20232022Selar-20242023Solar cnergy systems $ 641, 245 $ 513, 526 $4045F54-Less: Accumulated depreciation ( 52, 817) (
29, 594 35;928-) Solar energy systems, net $ 588, 428 $ 483, 932 $395,826-Equipment $ — $ 157 $48-Furniture and
fixtares46-fixtures551 294-461 Computers and related equipment248-equipment324 222-218 SeftwatreS— Software 6— 8
Leaschold improvements59-improvements30 65-59 Gross other property and egtipment963-equipment905 635-903 Less:
Accumulated depreciation ( 319) (429 3H293-) Other property and equipment, net $ 586 $ 474 $342-Property and equipment,
net § 589, 014 § 484, 406 $396,368-Depreciation expense related to solar energy systems is included within cost of revenues
- solar energy systems depreciation within the consolidated statements of operations, and for the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023 and2022-was $ 23. 4 million and $ 23. 8 millienand-$-6—-5-million, respectively. Depreciation expense related
to other property and equipment is included within selling, general and administrative expenses #+within the consolidated
statements of operations, and for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2022-was $ 0. 4-2 million and $ 0. $4
million, respectively. Note 6. Intangible Assets, Net The following table presents the detail of intangible assets, net as recorded
in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023: As of December 31, (Amounts in thousands)

2023 Intangible-20242023Intangible assets: Solar renewable energy agreements $ 340 $ 340 Performance based incentives
agreements3, 240 3, 240 Trade nameS8 , 400 8 , 400 Gross intangible assets11,980 11 , 980 Less: Accumulated amortization ( 3,
023) ( 1, 784) Intangible assets, net $ 8,957 $ 10, 196 Amortization of intangible assets for the year ended December 31,



2024 was $ 1. 2 million, of which $ 0. 5 million and $ 0. 7 million were recorded within revenues and selling, general and
administrative expenses, respectively. Amortization of intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $ 1. 8
million, of which $ 0. 8 million and $ 1. 0 million were recorded within revenues and selling, general and administrative
expenses, respectively. F- 29 As of December 31, 2023-2024 , expected amortization of intangible assets for each of the five
succeeding fiscal years and thereafter is as follows: F=34-As of December 31, (Amounts in thousands) 26232624-20242025 § 1,
126 4832625+-639-2026 1, 69+2627950-2028853-122 2027978 2028878 2029805 Thereafter4, 786-048 Total $ +6-8 , $96-957
Note 7. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the
following as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022- As of December 31, (Amounts in thousands) 20232022Aeerted
20242023Accrued interest $ 8, 454 $ 8, 587 $-6;-586-Professional fees2, 998 2, 386 1749-Accrued contingencies (See Note +5
16 Commitments and Contingencies) 6, 859 21 ;366-2-, 300 Accrued compensation and related benefits3-benefits4 , 408 3 , 237
6;-526-Accrued expenses, etherd-other2 , 372-3-378 2 , 696-293 Accrued taxes, stock- based eeﬁapensa&eﬁ—’,'éa—compensatlonl
—, 138 752 Accrued operating and maintenancel seﬁ}en&eﬁfs—%-l—Befeﬁed-pttfehase—pﬂee—eeﬂstdef&&en—

—29-1—890 2, 079 Accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 28, 125 $ 40, 634 $245-569-F- 32-30 The following table
provides a summary of the Company’ s non- recourse debt as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2622- As of December 31,
(Amounts in thousands) Pae202326225VB-Due20242023SVB Credit Agreement, SP1 Facility (1) April 2026 $ 196, 240 $
214, 803 $232,786-Second SVB Credit Agreement, SP2 Facility (1) May 202785 202778 , 018 85 , 231 #6;344-KeyBank
Credit Agreement, SP3 Facility (1) November 262758202753 , 830 58 , 962 64;3+8+Sccond KeyBank Credit Agreement (1)
April 2030162, 691 162, 725 +65;-887-Deutsche Bank Credit Agreement, SP4 FaetityAugast2025125-FacilityAugust 2025 —
125 . 000 Barings GPSF Credit Agreement, SET FacilityApril 2042130, 000 — Banco Santander Credit Agreement, SP5
FacilityNovember 2027109, 842 — Less: Unamortized fair value adjustment (1) ( 21, 948) (27, 600 H33;443-) Less:
Unamortized deferred financing costs ( 3, 342) ( 341) —Total debt6+8-non- recourse debt705, 331 618 , 780 499755 ess:
Non- recourse debt, current ( 28, 310) (27, 914 H25;:344-) Non- recourse debt, non- current $ 677, 021 $ 590, 866 $-474;44+
(1) In connection with the acquisition of Legacy Spruce Power effective September 9, 2022, the Company assumed long- term
debt instruments valued at approximately $ 507. 2 million as of that date. In connection with accounting for the business
combination, the Company adjusted the carrying value of this long- term debt to its fair value as of the Acquisition Date. This
fair value adjustment resulted in a reduction of the carrying value of the debt by $ 35. 2 million. This adjustment to fair value is
being amortized to interest expense over the life of the related debt instruments using the effective interest method.
Amortization expense for the fair value adjustment and deferred financing costs for the years ended December 31, 2024 and
2023 and2022-was $ 6. 0 million and $ 5. 9 mitherand-$1-—8-million, respectively. The SVB Credit Agreement (the “ SP 1
Facility ), executed with Silicon Valley Bank (“ SVB ™), a division of First- Citizens Bank & Trust Company, includes a debt
service reserve letter of credit (the “ SP 1 LC ) with related amounts outstanding of $ 15. 6 million and $ 6. 1 million as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023 , respectively . Amounts outstanding under the SP 1 LC bear interest of 2. 25-38 % per annum
and unused amounts bear interest at 0. 50 % per annum. The term loans under the SP 1 Facility require quarterly principal
payments, paid a month in arrears, with the remaining balance due in a single payment in April 2026 and bear interest at the
Secured Overnight Financing Rate (the “ SOFR ”) plus the applicable margin. The applicable margin is 2. 25 % per annum for
the first three years, 2. 375 % per annum from the third anniversary through the sixth anniversary and 2. 5 % per annum starting
on the sixth anniversary. The effective interest rate on the SP 1 Facility was 7. 16 % and 7. 96 % as of December 31, 2024 and
2023 , respectively was7-96-%-. The obligations of the Company under the SP 1 Facility are secured by substantially all of the
assets and equity interest in certain of the Company ’ s subsidiaries . The SP 1 Facility requires the Company to be in
compliance with various covenants, including debt service coverage ratios and as of December 31, 2623-2024 , the Company
was in compliance with the required covenants under the SP 1 Facility. The Second SVB Credit Agreement (the “ SP 2 Facility
”) includes a debt service reserve letter of credit (the “ SP 2 LC ). Amounts outstanding under the SP 2 LC bear interest of 2. 30
% per annum and unused amounts bear interest at 0. 50 % per annum. The term loans under the SP 2 Facility require quarterly
principal payments, mature in April 2027 and bear interest at the SOFR plus the applicable margin. The applicable margin is 2.
30 % per annum for the first three years, 2. 425 % per annum from the third anniversary through the sixth anniversary and 2. 55
% per annum starting on the sixth anniversary. F- 33-31 On August 18, 2023, the Company entered into a second amendment to
the SP2 Facility with SVB, which provided the Company (i) incremental term loans with a principal amount of approximately $
21. 4 million, of which proceeds were primarily used to fund the Tredegar Acquisition (See Note 4. Acquisition) and (ii)
incremental letters of credit in the aggregate amount of approximately $ 2. 7 million (collectively, the “ SP2 Facility
Amendment ). Excluding the aforementioned amounts, all other terms of the original SP2 Facility remain unchanged. The SP2
Facility Amendment was treated as a debt modification under ASC 470- 50, Debt — Modifications and Extinguishments. The
Company also incurred retated-$ 0. 4 million of deferred financing costs, which is being amortized to interest expense over the
term of the loan. Related unamortized deferred financing costs were $ 0. 3-9 million as of December 31, 2023-2024 . Amounts
outstanding under the SP 2 LC, as amended, were $ 6. 0 million and $ 7. 0 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 ,
respectively . The effective interest rate on the SP 2 Facility was 7. 25 % and 8. 04 % as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 ,
respectively was-8-64-%-. The obligations of the Company under the SP 2 Facility are secured by substantially all of the assets
and equity interest in erte-certain of the Company’ s subsidiaries. The SP 2 Facility requires the Company to be in compliance
with various covenants, including debt service coverage ratios, and as of December 31, 2623-2024 , the Company was in
compliance with the required covenants under the SP 2 Facility. Key Bank Credit Agreement The Key Bank Credit Agreement
(the “ SP 3 Facility ), executed with KeyBank National Association, includes a debt service reserve letter of credit (the “ SP 3
LC ) with related amounts outstanding of $ 4. 1 million and $ 4. 1 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 , respectively .
Amounts outstanding under the SP 3 LC bear interest of 3. 00 % per annum. The term loans under the SP 3 Facility require
quarterly principal payments, mature in November 2027 and bear interest at the SOFR plus the applicable margin. The



applicable margin is 3. 00 % per annum for the first three years, 3. 125 % per annum from the third anniversary through the
fifth anniversary and 3. 25 % per annum starting on the fifth anniversary. The effective interest rate on the SP 3 Facility was 7.
86 % and 8. 66 % as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 , respectively was8—66-%-. The obligations of the Company under the
SP 3 Facility are secured by substantially all of the assets and equity interest in erie-certain of the Company’ s subsidiaries. The
SP 3 Facility requires the Company to be in compliance with various covenants, including debt service coverage ratios, and as
of December 31, 2823-2024 , the Company was in compliance with those required covenants under the SP 3 Facility. Second
Key Bank Credit Agreement The Second Key Bank Credit Agreement, executed with Key Bank National Association as the
administrative agent and certain third parties as the lenders, includes term loans which require quarterly prinetpal-interest
payments, mature in April 2030 and bear interest at 8. 25 % per annum. The effective interest rate on term loans under the
Second Key Bank Agreement was 8. 25 % as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 , respectively was8-—25%-. The obligations of
the Company under the Second Key Bank Agreement are secured by substantially all of the assets and equity interest in certain
of the Company’ s subsidiaries. The Second Key Bank Credit Agreement requires the Company to be in compliance with
various covenants, including debt service coverage ratios, and as of December 31, 2623-2024 , the Company was in compliance
with those required covenants under the Second Key Bank Credit Agreement. F- 32 As part of the acquisition of SEMTH (See
Note 4. Acquisition) in March 2023, the Company assumed debt with Deutsche Bank AG, New York Bank (“ Deutsche Bank ).
Prior to the SEMTH Acquisition, SET Borrower 2022, LLC (*“ SET Borrower ), a wholly owned subsidiary of SEMTH, entered
into a credit agreement effective June 10, 2022 (the “ Closing Date ) with Deutsche Bank as the facility agent, which consisted
of'a term loan of § 125. 0 million (the “ SP4 Facility ) and is collateralized by all of the assets and property of SET Borrower.
The term loan bears interest at the SOFR rate, plus the applicable margin. For the period from the Closing Date through the first
twelve months, the applicable margin is 2. 25 % per annum, 2. 50 % for the following six months, and 2. 75 % for the next six
months, and 3. 00 % through the maturity date. The effeetive-interestrate-onthe-SP4-Faeility-as-of Deeember31+,2623-was7
89-%—The-term loan requires-required quarterly payments, which began on August 17, 2022 , and shewleHf the outstanding
loan balance exeeed-exceeded the borrowing base on sueh-a calculation date, the remaining balance would become due in a
single payment in August 2025. Fhe-On June 26, 2024, the Company fully repaid the outstanding balance on the SP4
Facility of § 125. 0 million using proceeds from the SET Facility, as defined below. The repayment of the SP4 Facility was
treated as a debt extinguishment under ASC 470- 50, Debt — Modifications and Extinguishments. In connection with the
repayment of the SP4 Facility, the Company settled the related interest rate swap contracts (see Note 9. Interest Rate
Swaps for further discussion). On June 26, 2024, Spruce SET Borrower 2024, LLC (the “ SET Borrower ), a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a non- recourse Credit Agreement with Barings GPSF LLC, which
provided a fixed interest term loan in the aggregate principal amount of $ 130. 0 million (the “ SET Facility ). The
proceeds of the SET Facility were primarily used to repay the SP4 Facility discussed above. The SET Borrower incurred
approximately $ 2. 1 million of deferred financing costs related to the SET Facility, which are being amortized on a
straight- line basis over the anticipated debt servicing period. The SET Facility matures on April 17, 2042 and requires
quarterly interest payments at 6. 89 % per annum beginning August 2024. The effective interest rate on the Company
SET Facility as of December 31, 2024 was 6. 89 %. Effective December 26, 2027, the SET Facility requires additional
interest to be accrued on any outstanding aggregate principal or unpaid accrued interest. The SET Facility is
collateralized by all of the assets and property of the SET Borrower. The SET Facility requires the SET Borrower to be
in compliance with various affirmative-andnegattve-covenants , and the SET Borrower was in compliance with the required
covenants under the SET Facility as of December 31, 2623-2024 . On November 22 , 2024, Spruce Power 5 Borrower
2024, LLC (the “ SPS Borrower ), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company , entered into a non- recourse credit
agreement with Banco Santander, S. A., New York, which provided for a 3- year term loan facility in the aggregate
principal amount of approximately $ 109. 8 million (the “ SP5 Facility ”), of which proceeds were used to fund the NJR
Acquisition. The SPS Facility matures on November 22, 2027 and requires quarterly interest payments with the
remaining balance due in a single payment on November 22, 2027. Borrowings under the SPS Facility bear interest at a
variable rate equal to the SOFR as administered by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York plus a margin of 2. 15 %
from the original closing date through the end of the 24th month after the original closing date, and 2. 75 % from the
beginning of the 25th month after the original closing date until the date all principal and accrued and unpaid interest
has been paid in full. The effective interest rate on the SP5 Facility as of December 31, 2024 was 6. 48 %. The SP5
Facility is collateralized by all of the assets and property of the SPS Borrower. The SP5 Facility requires the SPS
Borrower to be in compliance with various covenants, and the SPS Borrower was in compliance with the required
covenants under the SP-SPS 4-Facility as of December 31, 2024 . F- 34-33 As of December 31, 2623-2024 , the principal
maturities of the Company’ s debt were as follows: As of December 31, (Amounts in thousands) 26232024-20242025 § 2728 ,
310 545-2625453;-566-262619+- 2026189 , 982-26271+16-989 2027219 , 533-631 2028 — 2029 — Thereaftert62—-
Thereafter292 , 725-691 Total $ 646-730 , 724-621 F- 34 The purpose of the Company’ s swap agreements is to convert the
floating interest rate on its credit agreements (discussed above) to a fixed rate. In connection with the acquisition of Legacy
Spruce Power, the Company assumed interest rate swaps from agreements Legacy Spluce Power executed w 1th fom financial
institutions. Fhe-parpese-As part of the SEMTH Acqulsltlon in 2023 Wap-ag A h atthg-thterestra
onthe Company assumed “s-de : g S < 0 d h
neotional-ameunt-efthe-interest rate swaps eevefs—related to the SP4 Faclllty, whlch were settled concurrently w1th the full
repayment of the SP4 Facility in June 2024 and resulted in a gain of approximately $ 3. 6 million within interest expense,
net during the year ended December 31, 2024. The Company also completed the early settlement of certain interest rate
swaps, which resulted in a gain of approximately $ 1. 6 million within interest expense, net during the year ended
December 31, 2024. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the notional amount of the interest rate swaps covered




approximately 91 % and 95 %-and-97-" of the balance of the Company’ s floating rate term loans, respectively. As of
December 31, 2823-2024 , the following interest rate swaps are outstanding (in thousands): # Notional AmountFixed
RateEffective PateRarkyFermination-DateMaturity DateTotal Fair Value Asset (Liability) 1 $42-11 , 459-339 0. 78 % 4-10 / 36
31 /26264+36-+26261+20221 /31 /2031 § 1, 23+242-094 211 , 455-339 0. 75 % 4-10 / 36-31 / 26204-36-+2626+20221 / 31 /
20311, 243312107 311 , 455-339 0. 73 % 4-10 / 36-31 / 26204-+36-+26261+20221 /31 / 20311, 273-116 44, 466-092 1. 57 % 10
/31 / 20494+36+26261+20221 / 31 / 2634+332-2031316 57, 161 1. 62 % 10/ 31 / 26494-+36-+20261+-20221 / 31 / 2634564
2031543 67,4161 1. 56 % 10 /31 / 26494+30+2626+20221 / 31 / 203+587-2031557 77, 161 1. 59 % 10 /31 / 26494+
36-+26261+20221 / 31 / 263+572-84+-2031550 835 , 464-514 2. 39 % 710/ 31 / 20241 26494-/36-+262616-/ 31 /20311, 944
041827 935 , 464514 2. 33 % +10 /31 / 20241 W&M%&%@%%—%WH—H&—F}W
202610-/ 31 /20311, +44-1H41-894 1020 , 464294 2. 36-34 % 710/ 31 / 20241 26494-+36-+202616-/ 31 / 20311, 9624228073
1135, 8376-514 2 . 69-36 % 6+10 / 31 / 2023++-20241 / +3-31 / 262746-20311, 864 1225, 569 0. 69 % 10 /31 /202407 /31/
20323, 646-343 +328-1325 , 837569 0. 73 % 64+10 /31 / 2623+-202407 / 31 +3-+2627+6-+29-/ 20323, 664296 +4+7-1416 ,
647414 2. 83 % 07 / 12 / 20225+44+4262764-202204 / 30 / 2632554-2032777 +544-1540 , 418-487 0. 40 % 07 / 12 / 26225-+14
+202746-202210 / 31 /20315, 557172 16 1)H9—1§4—3%96H47L292—2-8+}8—F292§H+177L29334— 631
998-4.24 % 08 / 18 / 2023-202301 —64+/ 31 / 2032 (457-188) 17 (2) 87, 874 3. 98 % 11 /22 /202405 /17 /2033 (54 ) $46-1-
399 -8-89—972 $ 24, 2—7—287 —949—F-—3§— (1) The ameuﬁfs-u amount feﬂeet—reﬂects Trespeetively;-the DeuntseheBankswap

M g 4 enal-swap related to the SP2 Facility Amendment
transacted Concurlently Wlth the Tredegar Acqulsmon to hedge the ﬂoatlng rate of the incremental term feans— loan (See Note
8. Non- Recourse Debt). (2) The amount reflects the swap related to the SPS Facility transacted concurrently with the
NJR Acquisition to hedge the floating rate of the term loan (See Note 8. Non- Recourse Debt). During the year ended
December 31, 2023-2024 , the aggregate impact ehange-in-the-fair-valie-of the Company’ s interest rate swaps in the
consolidated statements of operation was $ 8-15 . 9-2 million, of which $ 4-2 . & million related to unrealized losses as
refleeted-n-the-conseolidated-statements-of operattorrand $ +3-18 . 7-0 million related to realized gains and-, which is recognized
within interest expense, net in the consolidated statements of operation . F- 35 During the year ended December 31, 2622
2023 . the aggregate impact ehange-in-the-fair-valie-of the Company’ s interest rate swaps in the consolidated statements of
operatlon was $ —7—8 9 mllllon, of whlch $ 4. 8 mllllon related to unreallzed losses and $ 13 7 nnlhon sofwhieh $5-6

. e d-in A : arelated to realized

gains and, whlch 1S recogmzed Wlthln interest expense, net in the consohdated statements ot opelatlons See Note 11. Fair
Value Measurements for further information on the Company’ s determination of the fair value of its interest rate swaps. Note
10. Right- of- Use Assets and Lease Liabilities The Company’ s operating leases are-primarily relate to office space ywhtle
finaneeteases-are-eertairoffiec-equipment-. The Company’ s related Right—ef—Use(“-ROU Zyassets and lease liabilities are
comprised of the following as of each period end: As of December 31, (Amounts in thousands) 202326220perating—---
202420230perating lecases: ROU Right—ef—use-assets $ 4, 750 $ 5,933 -$£—6'86—Lease hablhty euﬁeﬁt—l—current892 1 166
F8+Lease liability, non- eutrentS-current4 , 848 5, 731 6 Hsea 5
euﬁeHS—I:ease—habﬂ-rt-y—ﬂeﬂ—emreﬂt—é-l—Other 1nfor1n"lt10n related to leases 1s presented below Years Ended December
31, (Amounts in thousands) 202326220tker-202420230ther information: Operating lease cost $ 1, 606 $ 1, 451 $297-Variable
lease eost5sH8——cost679 518 Sublease nreemeS42-- incomeS25 —542 Operating cash flows from operating ROU right—ef-
use-assetstassets2 , 285 1, 969 352-Initial recognition of operating ROU right—ef—use-assets933—-- assets — 933
Remeasurement of operating ROU right—ef—ase-assetst— assets — 1 , 280 —F-36-During the year ended December 31, 2023,
the Company (i) recognized $ 0. 9 million of operating ROU right—ef—use-assets and lease liabilities due to a new lease for the
relocation of its corporate office in September 2023, (i) remeasured its operating ROU sight—ef—use-assets due to changes in
the lease terms of certain underlying leases, resulting in an aggregate increase in the related ROU sight—ef—uase-assets and lease
liabilities of approximately $ 1. 3 million, and (iii) settled certain operating leases, which were either terminated or assumed by a
third party, in the amount of approximately $ 0. 4 million (presented in the consolidated statements of cash flows) and a related
net gain of less than § 0. 1 million included within €£gain Hess-on asset disposal in the consolidated statements of operations. In
addition, during the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company purchased the equipment related to its existing finance leases
for approximately $ 0. 1 million, thereby settling all outstanding finance lease liabilities as of December 31, 2023. The Company
also recognlzed a related loss of approximately $ 0. 1 million 1ncluded Wlthln (—gam )—}ess-on asset dlsposal in the consolidated

)

2022was-$-01-milller—As-of Deeember 31520232022 Weighted—-- 20242023We1ghted average remaining lease term —
operating leases (in months) 61. 68-568 . 349—8Weighted-3Weighted - average discount rate — operating leases7. 2 % 7. 2 =9-%

As of December 31, 2823-2024 , the annual minimum lease payments of the Company’ s operating lease liabilities were as
follows (—'rﬂ—t-heus&ndsﬁ— As of December 31, (Amounts in thousands) 20232624-20242025 S 1, 267 61+620251;269-20201, 266
20520271, 258257 20281, 397396 20291, 196 Fhereaftert-Thereafter593 ;768-Total future minimum lease payments,
undiseountedS-undiscounted6 , 5+4-914 [ess: Imputed interest (1, 647174 ) Present value of future minimum lease payments $
65, 740 897F-—37The Company uses various assumptions and methods in estimating the fair values of its financial
instruments. Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis The Private Warrants are-were valued using a
Black- Scholes model, pursuant to the inputs provided in the table below: Assumptions for Assets and Liabilities Measured at
Fair Value on a Recurring BasisInputDecember 31, 2023Deeember-2024December 3 1, 2022Risk2023Risk - free rated. 242-16
% +4 . H-24 % Remaining term in yearstyears0 . 983-981 . 98Expected volatiity82-volatility53 . 7 % 82 . 0 %-88-—-8-"%
Exercise price $ 92. 00 $ 92. 00 Fair value of common stock $ 2. 97 $ 4. 42 $26:48-The Company’ s interest rate swaps are not



traded on a market exchange and the fair values are determined using a valuation model based on a discounted cash flow
analysis. This analysis reflects the contractual terms of the interest rate swap agreements and uses observable market- based
inputs, including estimated future SOFR interest rates. The fair value of the Company' s interest rate swap is the net difference
in the discounted future fixed cash payments and the discounted expected variable cash receipts. The variable cash receipts are
based on the expectation of future interest rates and are observable inputs available to a market participant. The interest rate
swap valuation is classified as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The fair value of the Company’ s non- recourse debt as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023 was $ 723. 8 million and §$ 628. 2 million, respectively. F- 37 The following table sets forth the
Company’ s assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value on a recurring basis by level within the fair value hierarchy:
Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2024 (Amounts in thousands) Level ILevel I1Level IIITotalAsset: Interest
rate swaps $ — $ 24, 672 $ — $ 24, 672 Money market accounts72, 142 — — 72, 142 Total $ 72, 142 $ 24, 672 $ — $ 96,
814 Liabilities: Interest rate swaps $ — $ 385 $ — $ 385 Total $ — $ 385 $ — $ 385 Fair Value Measurements as of
December 31, 2023 (Amounts in thousands) Level [Level IILevel [1ITotalAsset: Interest rate swaps § — $ 27, 883 § — §$ 27,
883 Money market accounts21, 475 — — 21, 475 U. S. Treasury securities108, 964 — — 108, 964 Total $ 130, 439 $ 27, 883
$— 3> 158 322 lebllmes Bebt—$—$—62-8—1—7—7—$—$—62-8—1—7—7—l’11vdte Warrants ——17 17 Total $§ — 3> —62-8—1—7—7—3> 17 $

HHM%WThC follovxm;a is a roll forward of the Company’ s Level 3 hdblhty instruments:
Years Ended December 31 %92—3%92—2-Ba+&nee-20242023Balance at the begmmno of the-pertod-$407-$-8,895Fair-value

(—13—61—959)—Ba+&ﬂee—&t—t-l=re—eﬂd—of the penod ‘{> 17 ‘{> 407 Falr value adjustments - Prlvate Warrants (17) (239) Falr value
adjustments and settlements of liability, net — World Energy (1) — (151) Balance at the end of the period $ — $ 17 (1)
Related to discontinued operations. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company identified indicators that the
carrying amount of goodwill may be impaired due to a continuous decline in the Company’ s stock price and market
capitalization. The Company performed a quantitative test using a market approach and an income approach, which
both resulted in an impairment of goodwill. As such, the Company recorded a charge of $ 28. 8 million to fully impair the
Company’ s goodwill within the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2024. There was
no goodwill impairment charge during the year ended December 31, 2023. F- 38 Note +2-13 . Stock- Based Compensation
Expense Stock- based compensation expense for stock options and restricted stock units for the years ended December 31, 2024
and 2023 and2022-was $ 2. 7 million and $ 2. 9 million and-$F+6—0-mibken, respectively. As of December 31, 2623-2024 ,
there was $ 7. +-6 million of unrecognized compensation cost yrespeettvelysrelated to stock options and restricted stock units
which is expected to be recognized over the remaining vesting periods, with a weighted- average period of 2. 86 years. The
Company grants stock options to certain employees that will vest over a period of one to four years. A summary of stock option
award activity for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2822-was as follows: F=39-OptionsShares Weighted
AvemgeExermse PrlceWels_hted Avemge Remdmmw Contractual TermOutstdndmﬂ at December 31, %92—1—1—2—1—7—1—6—1—$—1—1—29

2022761 408 $11. 12 2 7(ernted — Exe1c1sed (489 436) 1. 94 Cdncelled or forfelted (78 816) 51 48 Outstandln}c dt
December 31,2023193, 156 $ 17. 89 5. 8Granted295, 229 3. 75 8Exereisable—--- Exercised — — Cancelled or forfeited —
— Outstanding at December 31, 2023+94-2024488 . 635-385 $ 9. 34 7. SExercisable at December 31, 2024192, 985 § 17. 56
5-86 4 . 8 The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-was $ 0. 3-1
million and $ 3-0 . 3 million, respectively. Cash received from options exercised for the years ended December 31, 2024 and
2023 and2022-was approximately $ 0. 0 million and $ 0. 9 million and-$-0—-6-mithen, respectively . During the year ended
December 31, 2024, the Company granted 295, 229 stock options to its President and Chief Executive Officer (the “ CEO
) upon his appointment to such positions effective April 12, 2024 . There were no stock options issaed-granted during the
year ended December 31, 2023. The fair value of stock options tssted-granted during the year ended December 31, 2622-2024
was measured with the following assumptions: 2022Expeeted-2024Expected volatiity78-volatility71 . +3 - 88-78 . 24 %
Expected term (in years) 10Risk 6—25Risk— free interest rateb-rate4 . 5 +4-3-% Expected dividend yield0. 0 % The Company
grants restricted stock units to certain employees that will generally vest over a period of four years. The fair value of restricted
stock unit awards is estimated by the fair value of the Company’ s common stock at the date of grant. Restricted stock units
activity during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-was as follows: F- 39 Number ofSharesWeighted
Avemge Grdnt D'lte Fair Value Per ShdreNon vested at December 31, %92—1—75%54%—48—48—&%&&—494—849—9—69%8&&

; e 6 ; 20221, 229, 089 § 10. 40 Granted693,
506 6. 36 Vested (531, ()29) 12. 55 (,ancelled or fortelted (289, 471) 10 10 Non- Vested at Decembe1 31,20231, 102,095 $ 7.
74 F-Granted2, 125, 297 3. 44 Vested (310, 076) 6. 65 Cancelled or forfeited (683, 500) S. 16 Non - 49—vested at December
31, 20242, 233, 816 $ 4. 60 During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company granted Restrieted-restricted Stoek
stock Award-Moedifteations-unit awards of 88, 636 shares of common stock to the CEO upon his appointment effective
April 12, 2024. In eenneetion-with-addition, upon the sale-separation of the prior President and Chief Executive Officer (“
Former CEO ”) from the Company effectlve Aprll 12, —s—Bﬂvetfam—bﬁsme%—Shyﬁ—whie&e}esed—HH&nu&fy%@%—mM
97, 994 the-Compan he-were-terminatedtnDeeembe
%92—2—and244267 qrently-eommeneed t i onisisted AHOT0 vestifg
ef—a-l-l—aw&rds—me}udiﬂgds’feekepﬁeﬁs—&ﬂd-restrlcted stock units sehed-u-}ed—awarded to the Former CEO were Ves-t—vested and




12023 -which-weuld-have-otherwise-been-forfeited , respectively . The vesting-date-Company recorded $ 0. S million of
expense related to t-hese» the 97, 994 vested awards was—aeee}era’eed—te-durlng the year ended December 31, 2622-2024 5

g Rents pen . Former 3-mithon-in2022-CEQO' s Ladder Restricted
Stock Unit Award In 9ﬂ—Sepfenaber—9—2922—tn—connectlon with the acquisition of Legacy Spruce Power and his appointment as
the Company' s President effective September 9, 2022 , the Company granted to its Former CEO a restricted stock unit award
(the “ Ladder RSUs ) of 208, 333 shares of common stock. The Ladder RSUs were to vest in 10 % increments on the dates the
Plan administrator certifies the applicable milestone stock prices have been achieved or exceeded, provided that the Former
CEO remains-remained employed on the date of certification and such achievement occurs within ten years of the date of the
grant. The Company used a Monte Carlo simulation valuation model to determine the fair value of the award as of the
Acquisition Date, which was ts-presently-accounted for as a liability until the separation of the Former CEO effective April
12,2024 . The following inputs were used in the simulation: grant date stock price of $ 9. 36 per share, annual volatility of 85. 0
%, risk- free interest rate of 3. 3 % and dividend yield of 0. 0 %. For each tranche, a fair value was calculated as well as a
derived service period which represents the median number of years it is expected to take for the Ladder RSUs to meet their
corresponding milestone stock price excluding the simulation paths that result in the Ladder RSUs not vesting within the 10-
year term of the agreement. Each tranche' s fair value wi-be-would have been amortized ratably over the respective derived
service period. The fair value and derived service period of each tranche was as follows: F- 40 Stock Price TrancheFair
ValueDerived Service Period (in years) $ 25. 84 § 8. 881. 7242. 968. 482. 7160. 008. 243. 3077. 127. 923. 7094. 167. 764.
11111.287.524. 42128. 327. 284. 64145. 447. 124. 78162. 486. 965. 00179. 606. 805. 10 The Company recognized no expense
related to the Ladder RSUs effor the year ended December 31, 2024, and recognized approximately $ 0. 5 million related to
the Ladder RSUs and-$-0—+-miltien-for the years— year ended December 31, 2023 and-. Upon separation of the Former CEO
from the Company effective April 12, 2622-2024 , the Ladder RSUs were terminated and the Company recorded a gain
of $ 0. 7 million during the year ended December 31,2024 . Note -1—3—14 Redeemable N oncontrolhng Intereqt and
Noncontrolhng Interests In Neven

2023 the Company a}se—purchased the remaining memberihlp interests in Level Solar Fund IV for approx1mate1y $ 0. 1 million,
thereby owning 100 % of the membership interests and eliminating its only remaining redeemable noncontrolling interest upon
the purchase. —4+The following table summarizes the Company’ s noncontrolling interests as of December 31, 2023-2024 :
Tax Equity EntityDate Class A Member AdmittedORE F4 Holdco, LLCAugust 2014Volta Solar Owner II, LLCAugust 2017
The tax equity entities were structured at inception so that the allocations of income and loss for tax purposes will flip at a
future date. The terms of the tax equity entities - operating agreements contain allocations of taxable income (loss), Section 48
(a) ITCs and cash distributions that vary over time and adjust between the members on an agreed date (referred to as the flip
date). The operating agreements specify either a date certain flip date or an internal rate of return (“ IRR ) flip date. The date
certain flip date is based on the passage of a fixed period of time as defined in the operating agreements for each entity. The IRR
flip date is the date on which the tax equity investor has achieved a contractual rate of return. From inception through the flip
date, the Class A members' allocation of taxable income (loss) and Section 48 (a) ITCs is generally 99 % and the Class B
members' allocation of taxable income (loss) and Section 48 (a) ITCs is generally 1 %. After the related flip date (or, if the tax
equity investor has a deficit capital account, typically after such deficit has been eliminated), the Class A members' allocation of
taxable income (loss) will typically decrease to 5 % (or, in some cases, a higher percentage if required by the tax equity
investor) and the Class B members' allocation of taxable income (loss) will increase by an inverse amount. F- 41 The historical
redeemable noncontrolling interests and noncontrolling interests are comprised of Class A units, which represent the tax equity
investors' interest in the tax equity entities. Both the Class A members and Class B members may have call options to allow
either member to redeem the other member' s interest in the tax equity entities upon the occurrence of certain contingent events,
such as bankruptcy, dissolution / liquidation and forced divestitures of the tax equity entities. Additionally, the Class B members
may have the option to purchase all Class A units, which is typically exercisable at any time during the periods specified under
their respective governing documents, and, in regards to the tax equity entities historically classified as redeemable
noncontrolling interests, they had the contingent obligation to purchase all Class A units if the Class A members exercise their
right to withdraw, which is typlcally exercmable at any tlme durlng the nine-three - month perlod commencmg upon the
apphcable ﬂlp date —The-earryngv y S

interests as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 Total assets on the con%ohdated balance sheets include $ 38-36 . 0 million as of

December 31, 2623-2024 and $ 4738 . 8-0 million as of December 31, 2822-2023 of assets held by the Company' s VIEs, which
can only be used to settle obligations of the VIEs. Total liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets include $ 0. 8 million as of
December 31, 2023-2024 and $ 0.8 mllhon as of December 31 %92%2023 of hablhtleq that are the obhgatlons of the Company

Drivetrain bu%lne%i and related corporate restructurlng actlonq the Company recognlzed severance —tn—t-he—aggregafe—
fes%rue’euﬂng—aﬁd—re&&ted—charge% of approxnnately $ 2—1—0 6—7 million durlng the year ended December 31, %92—2—whteh

which were paid in 2023. The severance charges and-aceelerated-vesting-ofequity-awatrds-arc 1ncluded in %elhng, general and
administrative expenses within the Company’ s consolidated statements of operations for the yearsended-Deeember3142023



eeﬁsehdated-statemen?s—ef—epeﬁrtteﬁs—fer—ﬂ%e—year ended December 31 %922—2023 —T—he— and the followmg table summarizes

the activity during the period yea-rs—eﬂded-BeeembeH—l—%@%}—aﬂd%@Q%for the Company' s restructuring liability: F42-¥ears—
Year Ended December 31, (Amounts in thousands) 202320622Balanee----- 2023Balance at the beginning of the period $ 3, 428

$—FEmployee termination charges719 4,435-Payments made during the period (4, 147) 456689 -Balance at the end of the
period $§ — The $—3—42-8—Speﬂsers%np—€eﬂafmﬁﬁeﬂt—}n—Febfuary—2924—ﬂ&e—Company recognlzed no agreed—te—a—speﬂsers-htp

The Company is perrodrcally involved in legal proceedmgs and clarms arising in the normal course of bu%mess 1nclud1ng
proceedings relating to intellectual property, employment and other matters. Management believes the outcome of these
proceedings , as outlined below, will not have a significant adverse effect on the Company’ s financial position, operating
results, or cash flows. Securities Class Action Proceedings On March 8, 2021, two putative securities class action complaints
were filed against the Company, and certain of its current and former officers and directors in the federal district court for the
Southern District of New York. Those cases were ultimately consolidated under C. A. No. 1: 21- c¢v- 2002, and a lead plaintiff
was appointed in June 2021. On July 20, 2021, an amended complaint was filed alleging that certain public statements made by
the defendants between October 2, F- 42 2020, and March 2, 2021, violated Sections 10 (b) and 20 (a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b- 5 promulgated thereunder. Following negotiations with a mediator, in September 2023, the
Company and the plaintiffs agreed on a settlement in principle in the aggregate amount of $ 19. 5 million (the “ Settlement
Amount ), and on December 6, 2023, the lead plaintiff and the defendants entered into a stipulation and agreement of
settlement requnmg the Company to pay the Settlement Amount to resolve the chis actron litigation and the related legll fees

0 Aprrl 30,2024, te—&meﬂg—eﬂ&eﬁ he New York Court

t-hfngs—eeﬁstéeﬁwhe&rer—te—appfeve—approved t-he—pfepesed-a final scttlement of the Class Action Litigation . The Company

expeets-the-Settlement Amount was te-be-offset by approximately $ 4. 5 million of related loss recoveries from the Company’ s

directors and officers liability i insurance pe-l-retes—pohcy with third parties, which the-ameuntis-inelided-inprepatd-expenses-and
A d eet-as was e-ﬁBeeembeH—l—pald out in February 2623-2024 . The C ompany

-I:tabi-l-rt—res)—aﬁd-pard the $ 15. 0 million net settlement amount to the iettlement claims admmritrator in February 2024. ¥43-On
September 20, 2021, and October 19, 2021, two class action complaints were filed in the Delaware Court of Chancery against
certain of the Company’ s current officers and directors, and the Company’ s sponsor of its special purpose acquisition company
merger, Pivotal Investment Holdings II LLC. These actions were consolidated as in re XL Fleet Corp. (Pivotal) Stockholder
Litigation, C. A. No. 2021- 0808, and an amended complaint was filed on January 31, 2022. Defendants filed a motion to
dismiss the amended complaint on May 13, 2022, and on July 11, 2022, plaintiffs filed a second amended complaint. The
second amended complaint alleges various breaches of fiduciary duty against the Company and / or its officers, several
allegedly misleading statements made in connection with the merger, and aiding and abetting breaches of fiduciary duty in
connection with the negotiation and approval of the December 21, 2020 merger and organization of XL Hybrids, Inc., a
Delaware corporation (“ Legacy XL ) to become XL Fleet Corp. On August 19, 2022, defendants moved to dismiss the
second amended complaint, which was granted in part and denied in part on June 9 2023 The partles then engaged in
discovery. On November 13, 2024, the Company filed a stipulation believ sserted 0 3 0
eomplaints-are-without-merit-and settlement agreement seeking court approval to settle thls matter in full for $ 4 75
million, which is vigereusty-defending-currently accrued for as of December 31, 2024 (See Note 7. Accrued Expenses and
the-Other tawsuitCurrent Liabilities) . Atthistime-On March 26 , 2025 the-Company-is-tnable-to-estimate-potential-Hosses-,
Hany;related-to-the Jawsuit-court approved the stipulation and settlement agreement . Shareholder Derivative Actions On
June 23, 2022, the Company received a shareholder derivative complaint filed in the U. S. District Court for the District of
Massachusetts, captioned Val Kay derivatively on behalf of nominal defendant XL Fleet Corp., against all current directors and
former officers and directors, C. A. No. 1: 22- cv- 10977. The action was filed by a shareholder purportedly on XL Fleet Corp.’
] behalr and raises clarms for contribution, as well as claims for breach of hducrary duty, waste of corpor"lte assets, unjmt

ﬂ&&eﬂ&eﬁeﬁefﬁs—e&pﬁefted-Tu001V Ledecky, et al C A 1:23- cv- 00322. These actron% were consohdated and captroned In
re Spruce Power Holdmg Corpor"ltron Shareholder Derivative thrgatron C. A. No. I: 23 cv- 00289. As—neted—abeye—t-he




Massaehusetts—In August 2023, an additional derivative action was filed in the U. S. District Court for the Southern District of
New York, captioned Boyce v. Ledecky, et al., C. A. No. 1: 23- cv- 8591 (collectively, the “ Derivative Matters ) . On Mareh
+H-December 8, 2023, the parties reached a settlement- in- principle to settle, the Derivative Matters. The court granted
preliminary approval of the settlement on May 1 , 2024, and final approval alt-defendants-filed-meotions—to-dismiss-the
eomptaint-in ts-entirety-full on August 8 , 2024 wh-teh—are—pend-rng—befere—t-he—eetn{— The settlement agreement-provides for
certain corporate governance enhancements and no monetary payments. On August 14, 2024, the court awarded
attorney fees of $ 1. 0 million, which were paid in September 2024. State Attorney Generals’ Investigations The
Company has been asked to provide information and documents in response to subpoenas and other requests for
information from certain state attorneys general offices regarding, among other things, its sales, marketing, billing, and
operations practices. Specifically, the Company has received subpoenas from the attorneys general for the states of
Connecticut, New Jersey, New York and Texas. The Company has been timely responding to the states’ information
requests and 0therw1se cooperatlng w1th these 1nvest1gat10ns and 1ntends to contlnue to do so until the-they are resolved.
v ; aims-ir-this aetion-time, the Company is unable
to estlmate potentlal losses, 1f any, related to t-he—these matters settlemerﬁ—&greement—ts—&ppreved—by—the—U—S—BtstﬂeFGetﬁ
vias oY g awstit-. [-44-43 Securities and
Exchange Comm1ss10n C1V1l Enforcement Acnon On January 6 2()22 the Company received a subpoena from the Division of
Enforcement of the SEC requesting, among other things, information and documents concerning the XL Fleet Corp. business
combination with Legacy XL, the Company’ s sales pipeline and revenue projections, California Air Resources Board
approvals, and other related matters. In June 2023, the SEC proposed an Offer of Settlement for the purpose of resolving the
proposed SEC action against the Company. Following negotiations with the SEC staff, in September 2023, the Company
reached a settlement with the SEC pursuant to which the Company did not admit or deny the SEC’ s allegations regarding the
above- referenced issues. In connection with the settlement, in October 2023, the Company (among other things) paid a civil
monetary penalty of $ 11. 0 million which, subject to the discretion of the SEC, will be made available to eligible legacy
shareholders through a Fair Fund, termed and administered by the SEC. US Bank On February 9, 2023, US Bank, through its
affiliate, Firstar Development, LLC (““ Firstar ), filed a motion for summary judgment in lieu of a complaint in New York
Supreme Court (the trial level in New York) alleging that the Company failed to fulfill its reimbursement obligations under a
2019 tax recapture guaranty agreement between the parties arising from the alleged recapture by the Internal Revenue Service
(“IRS ”) of tax credits taken by Firstar as an investor in the Company’ s subsidiary, Ampere Solar Owner I, LLC. On May 23,
2023, the Company reached a settlement agreement with Firstar, as the plaintiff, for $ 2. 3 million whereby the plaintiff
discharged all claims filed against the Company. BMZ USA, Inc. On February 11, 2022, BMZ USA Inc. (“ BMZ ), a battery
manufacturer, sued Fegaey-XL Hybrids for breach of contract, alleging that Fegaey-XL Hybrids failed to timely purchase the
full allotment of batteries required under a certain master supply agreement between the parties. In January 2024, BMZ obtained
a judgment for § 3. 9 million against XL Hybrids, Inc. In June 2024, BMZ sought to enforce the judgement against the
Company in Massachusetts Trial Court and that enforcement action was dismissed in March 2025. The Company
believes it is appealing-probable that BMZ will seek to enforce the judgement in another jurisdiction and rating-while
simultaneousty-pursuing-asettlement—The-Company-currently estimates the potential loss to be approximately § 1. 2 million,
which has been accrued for as of December 31, 2823-2024 (See Note 7. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities) and
2022-.1TC Recapture Provisions The IRS may d1sallow and recapture some,or all,of the ITCs due to improperly calculated basis
after a project was has-been—placed in service (<" Recapture Event 2" ).If a Recapture Event occurs, the-Company-Spruce
Power is obligated to pay the applicable Class A Member a recapture adjustment,which includes the amounts the Class A
Members are required to repay the IRS,including interest and penalties,as well as any third- party legal and accounting fees
incurred by the Class A Members in connection sw#tto the Recapture Event,as specified in the operating agreements.Such a
payment by the-Company-Spruce Power to the Class A Members s-are not to be considered a capital contribution to the fund
per the operating agreements,nor would it be considered a distribution to the Class A Members.With the exception of the tax
matter related to Ampere Solar Owner I ;EEEnoted above,a Recapture Event was not deemed to be probable by the
Company,therefore no related-accrual has been recorded as of December 31,2024 and 2023 . Plastic Omnium Plastic Omnium
is the assignee of the contractual rights of Actia Corp. under a certain battery purchase order between Eegaey-XL Hybrids and
Actia Corp. On March 17, 2023, Plastic Omnium sued Legacy XL and the Company for breach of contract, alleging that Legacy
XL ordered a total of 1, 000 batteries from Plastic Omnium, paid for 455 of those batteries, and then reneged on 545 of those
products. While Plastic Omnium admits it never actually delivered the remaining 545 products, it claims it purchased materials
to complete the order, and as a result, Legacy XL and the Company are liable for at least approximately $ 2. 5 million. The
Company reached a settlement beleves-the-aHegations-asserted-in this-aetiontack—substantial-merit-principle to settle the
matter for $ 1. 25 million , which was paid in December 2024. Parker- Hannifin On March 11, 2024, the Company filed a
lawsuit against Parker- Hannifin for a declaratory judgment, captioned F- 44 XL Hybrids, Inc. v. Parker- Hannifin
Corporation, No. 1: 24- cv- 10894- WGY (D. Mass, removed from Mass. State Court No. 2484- CV-00661). The case
related to a contract for the purchase of motors designed, produced and manufactured by Parker- Hannifin for XL
Hybrids, Inc. which was executed in July 2019. On April 5, 2024, Parker- Hannafin filed counterclaims, alleging that XL
Hybrids, Inc. and the Company were in breach of the contract. On November 1, 2024, the parties reached a settlement in
principle to settle the matter for $ 0. 5 million, which was accrued for as arestlt-of December 31 , is-vigerouslydefending
2024 and subsequently pald in J anuary 2025 (See Note s Accrued Expenses and t-he—Other Current Liabilities) tawsuit:
y y wstit-. Master SREC Purchase and Sale
Agreement The Company has forward sales agleements Wh1ch are related to a certain number of SRECs, to be generated from
the Company’ s solar energy systems located in Maryland, Massachusetts, Delaware, and New Jersey to be sold at fixed prices




over varying terms of up to 20 years. In the event the Company does not deliver such SRECs to the counterparty, the Company
could be forced to pay additional penalties and fees as stipulated within the contracts. F—45-Guarantees In connection with the
acquisition of RPV Holdco 1, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, guaranty agreements were established in May
2020 by and between Spruce Holding Company 1, LLC, Spruce Holding Company 2, LLC, and Spruce Holding Company 3,
LLC (“ Spruce Guarantors ) and the investor members in certain of the Funds-andRrter-Funds. The Spruce Guarantors entered
into guarantees in favor of the tax equity investors wherein they guaranteed the payment and performance of Solar Service
Experts, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, under the Spruce Power 2 Maintenance Services Agreement and the
Class B Member under the Limited Liability Company Agreement (“ LLCA ). These guaranties are subject to a maximum of
the aggregate amount of capital contributions made by the Class A Member under the LLCA. Indemnities and Guarantees
During the normal course of business, the Company has made certain indemnities and guarantees under which it may be
required to make payments in relation to certain transactions. The duration of the Company’ s indemnities and guarantees varies,
however the majority of these indemnities and guarantees are limited in duration. Historically, the Company has not been
obligated to make significant payments for such obligations, does not anticipate future payments, and as such, no reserve has
been established and no other liabilitics have been recorded for these indemnities and guarantees as of December 31, 2024
and 2023 and 2022. ITC Recapture Provisions The...... of December 31, 2023 and 2022 . Insurance Claims and Recoveries
related to Maui Fires In August 2023, a series of wildfires broke out in Hawaii, predominantly on the island of Maui, resulting in
real and personal property and natural resource damage, personal injuries and loss of life and widespread power outages. The
Company assessed ﬁfﬂﬁeﬂ&y—assesaﬂg—the 1mpact of these Wlldﬁres on its home solar systems and customer contracts in the

h s-enrrent-assessmentth F-wrote offa-ppfe*rmate}y—$ 0.1 mllhon durlng the year ended
December 31, 2023 Wthh is reﬂected Wlthln galn ﬂess)—on asset dlsposal -m—Wlthln the consolidated statements of operations.
Subsequently, No-mate § ed-to ; v
of Company received $ 0 2 mllhon related to the insurance recoveries durlng the year ended December 31, 2023-2024 —In
addrt—reﬂ— Whlch is also the—eeﬂapm'—has—net—reeerded-aﬁy-re}ated-reﬂected within gain -rnwra-nee—reeeveﬂes—as-ef—Beeember
3 et-this-even paet-on itsfinanetal-position;-asset disposal within the

onsohdated statements of eperat-r—ng—operatlons resu-}ts—efeash—ﬂews— Note +6-17 . Stockholders’ Equity As of December 31,
2024 and 2023 and2022-, the Company had 350, 000, 000 authorized shares of Cemmenr-common Steelestock . The holders of
Cemmenr-common Steelestock are entitled to vote on all matters and are entitled to the number of votes equal to the number of
shares of €Commen-common Steelstock held. Common stockholders are entitled to dividends when and if declared by the
Board of Directors. F- 46-45 The following shares of Commen-common Steel-stock are reserved-issued and outstanding for—-
or unvested futare-issuanee-as of December 31, 2023-2024 : Warrants-Warrants529 issted-and-outstanding529- 934+167
Restricted stock untts-units2 -rssued—aﬁd—eutstaﬂdmg-l— +62-233 , 694-816 Stock eptiens-options488 issued-and-outstandingt93-
156-385 FotalH-Total3 , §25-251 , 484368 On October 6, 2023, the Company effected the Reverse Stock Split. Prior to the
effective time of the Reverse Stock Split, the Company had 151, 441, 768 and 145, 595, 792 shares of common stock issued and
outstanding, respectively, and upon the Reverse Stock Split, the Company had approximately 18, 930, 196 and 18, 199, 449
shares of common stock issued and outstanding, respectively. The par value and the number of authorized shares of the common
stock were not adjusted in connection with the Reverse Stock Split. The value of the Company’ s common stock outstanding
and the related effect on additional paid in capital, all references to stock options, restricted stock units, private warrants, per
share data, and related information contained within these consolidated financial statements have been retrospectively adjusted
to reflect the effect of the Reverse Stock Split for all periods presented. Subsequent to the Reverse Stock Split, each stockholder’
s percentage ownership interest in the Company and proportional voting power remained unchanged. No fractional shares of the
Company’ s common stock were issued in connection with the Reverse Stock Split. In late October 2023, certain stockholders
entitled to fractional shares as a result of the Reverse Stock Split received aggregate cash payments of approximately $ 0. 01
million in lieu of receiving fractional shares. ©a-In May 95-2023, the Company' s Board of Directors autherized-approved a
share repurchase program {the~“Repurehase Pregranr=-for the repurchase of up to $ 50. 0 million of the Company' s
outstanding common stock through May 15, 2025 (the “ Repurchase Program ”) . The shares-may-be-Repurchase Program
authorizes the Company to effect repurehased-repurchases through fremtime-to-time-in-open market transactions et
privately negotiated transactions at-, Rule 10b5- 1 trading plans and / or Rule 10b- 18 trading plans, and the-other means.
The Company is not obligated ‘s-diseretion;subjeet-to market-eonditions-repurchase any specific number of shares or dollar
amount and may dlscontlnue et-heﬁ the faeters—me}ud-mg—regt&&teryheeﬂsrder&&ens—"Phe—Repurchase Program doesnot
d-at any time
wtt-heut—pﬂer—net-tee— The tlmlng, number and purchase prlce of share repurchases, 1f any, w1ll be determlned by the
Company’ s management in its discretion and will depend on a number of factors, including the market price of shares,
general market and economic conditions, and other alternatives available to the Company During the yearyears ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company repurchased 0. 3 million shares and 0. 8 million shares of common stock under
the Repurchase Program in open market transactions at a weighted- average price of $ 2. 93 and $ 6. 77 per share for an
aggregate purchase price of $ 0. 9 million and $ 5. 4 million, respectively, inclusive of transaction costs. As of December 31,
2023-2024 , $ 44-43 . 7-8 million remained available for future share repurchases under the Repurchase Program. F- 46 Note +7
18 . Net Loss Per Share The following is a reconciliation of the numerator and denominator used to calculate basic and diluted
earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 ;ard2622-: Years Ended December 31, (Amounts in
thousands, except share data) 202320622Numerator—--- 20242023Numerator : Net loss attributable to stockholders $ ( 70, 489)
$ (65, 831 ¥$93;931) Denominator: Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and diluted18, 470, 926 18, 391, 436 1%,
836;-560-Net loss attributable to stockholders per share, basic and diluted $ (3. 82) $ (3. 58) $5-2HF-—4FFor the years




presented, potentially dilutive outstanding securities, which include stock options, restricted stock units and warrants, have been
excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share as their effect would be anti- dilutive for each year presented. As
such, the weighted average number of common shares outstanding used to calculate both basic and diluted net loss per share are
the same for each year presented. Note +8-19 . Income Taxes Net deferred income tax assets consist of the following
components as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2622- As of December 31, (Amounts in thousands) 20232622Deferred—---
20242023Deferred tax assets (liabilities): Net operating loss carryforwards $ 142, 819 $ 114, 028 $76;296-Accrued
settlementsS-settlementsl , 870 5, 216 —Pass- through equity interestsg, 029 8, 830 —Fair market value adjustments ( 8, 746)
(12, 763) —Tax credit carryforwards1, 643 1, 643 Reserves3, 773 3, 429 3;352-Stock- based eempensationz-compensationl ,
962 2 , 350 25-843-Depreciation and amortization ( 69, 118) (55, 130 H495+89-) Interest expense earryforwardé
carryforward17 , 020 6 . 979 8;-697Right of use assets442--- assets270 +79-442 Other-Otherd85 (156) -452-Total deferred
tax assets, aet?4-net100, 007 74 , 868 69;353-Lcss valuation allowance ( 100, 007) ( 74, 868 3H69;353-) Net deferred tax assets
$ — $ — F-47 A reconciliation of the provision for income taxes with the amounts computed by applying the statutory Federal
income tax rate to income before provision for income taxes is as follows: Years Ended December 31, 262326225-20242023U
. S. federal statutory rate21. 0 % 21. 0 % State taxes, net of federal benefit6-benefit8 . 7 % 6 . 4 % 4-9-%-Change in fair value
of warrant abiity6-- liability — % 0 . 1 % +-6-Option and RSU expense — % 0 OptiorrandRSH-expensed-. 4 % 6-Goodwill
impairment (1 . 2-9) % — % Other ( 1. 9) % ( 8. 6 ¥%=5-) % True- up to prior years' retaraFreturn9 . 85 % 6-7 . 8 %
Change in valuation allowance ( 35. 4) % (9. 2 ¥%37F+) % Purchase accounting — % (17. 9) %+08—+% Effective tax rate
— % — % F—48-The Company utilizes an asset and liability approach for financial accounting and reporting for income taxes.
The provision for income taxes is based upon income or loss after adjustment for those permanent items that are not considered
in the determination of taxable income. Deferred income taxes represent the tax effects of differences between the financial
reporting and tax basis of the Company’ s assets and liabilities at the enacted tax rates in effect for the years in which the
differences are expected to reverse. The Company evaluates the recoverability of deferred tax assets and establishes a valuation
allowance when it is more likely than not that some portion or all the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Management
makes judgments as to the interpretation of the tax laws that might be challenged upon an audit and cause changes to previous
estimates of tax liability. In Management’ s opinion, adequate provisions for income taxes have been made. If actual taxable
income by tax jurisdiction varies from estimates, additional allowances or reversals of reserves may be necessary. Tax benefits
are recognized only for tax positions that are more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by tax authorities. The
amount recognized is measured as the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50 % likely to be realized upon settlement. A
liability for “ unrecognized tax benefits ” is recorded for any tax benefits claimed in the Company’ s tax returns that do not meet
these recognition and measurement standards. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, no liability for
unrecognized tax benefits was required to be reported. The Company has provided a full valuation allowance against its net
deferred tax assets since realization of any future benefit from deductible temporary differences and net operating loss cannot be
sufficiently assured. Management of the Company has evaluated the positive and negative evidence bearing upon the reliability
of'its deferred tax assets, which are comprised principally of net operating loss carryforwards and research and development
credits. Under the applicable accounting standards, Management has considered the Company’ s history of losses and concluded
that it is more likely than not that the Company will not recognize the benefits of federal and state deferred tax assets. During
the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and20622-, the Company increased its valuation allowance by $ 25. 1 million and
$5.5 mllhonaﬂd—$—34—4-m-1-1-hen— respectively. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , the Company had federal and state net
operating loss (“ NOL 7) carryforwards of $ 434-523. 3 million and $525.7 m11110n and-$395-9-mitlion respectlvely, and-of
which approximately $ 31. 3 million of the federal NOL carryforward will expire at various dates commencing on 2029 and
through 2037 and approximately $ 483-492 . 4-0 million were generated between the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2622
2024 and have an indefinite life. At December 31, 2023-2024 , the Company kas-had federal tax credits of approximately $ 1. 6
million. These federal tax credits are available to reduce future taxable income and expire at various dates commencing 2031
through 204 1. F- 48 Utilization of the NOLs and tax credit carryforwards may be subject to a substantial annual limitation under
Section 382 of the IRC due to ownership change limitations that have occurred previously or that could occur in the future.
These ownership changes may limit the amount of net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards that can be utilized annually
to offset future taxable income and tax, respectively. The Company has not determined whether an ownership change under
section 382 has occurred or whether such limitation exists. The Company files income tax returns in the U. S. federal
jurisdiction and various states. With few exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to U. S. federal, state and local income
tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2020. The Company follows a comprehensive model for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure in consolidated financial statements of uncertain tax positions that have been taken or
expected to be taken on a tax return. No liability related to uncertain tax positions is recorded in the consolidated financial
statements as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-. Note +9-20 . Defined Contribution Plan The Company has adopted a
401 (k) plan to provide all eligible employees a means to accumulate retirement savings on a tax- advantaged basis. The 401 (k)
plan requires participants to be at least 21 years old. In addition to the traditional 401 (k), eligible employees are given the
option of making an after- tax contribution to a Roth 401 (k) or a combination of both. Plan participants may make before- tax
elective contributions up to the maximum percentage of compensation and dollar amount allowed under the IRC. Participants
are allowed to contribute, subject to IRS limitations on total annual contributions from 1 % to 90 % of eligible earnings. The
plan provides for automatic enrollment at a 3 % deferral rate of an employee’ s eligible wages. The Company provides safe
harbor matching contributions equal to 100 % on the first 3 % of an employee’ s eligible earnings deferred and an additional 50
% on the next 2 % of an employee’ s eligible earnings deferred. Employee elective deferrals and safe harbor matching
contributions are 100 % vested at all times. F49-In connection with the acquisition of Legacy Spruce Power, the Company
adopted the Spruce Power 401 (k) plan , which contains features similar to those of the XL Fleet Corp. 401 (k) plan, except that



(1) Rartieipants-participants are allowed to contribute, subject to IRS limitations, on total annual contributions from 1 % to 80 %
of eligible earnings and (ii) the safe harbor non- elective contribution is equal to 3 % of employee’ s compensation. The
Company recognized expenses related to its 401 (k) plans of approximately $ 1. 0 =Fmillion and $ 0. 87 million for the years

ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2622-, respectively. Note 21. tr-the-fonrth-quarterof 2022 the-Company-diseontinued
Discontinued t-he—epefa-t—teﬂs—Operatlons ofits-Privetrainand-XE-Grid-eperations— he following table provides supplemental

details of the Company’ s discontinued operations contained within the consolidated statements of operations for the years
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-: Yecars Ended December 31, (Amounts in thousands) 20232022Net
20242023Net income ( loss ) from discontinued opemtlons Drlvetram $ 25 $ 4, 123) F- 49 XL Grid H&l—had no act1v1ty
during the year ended December 31 , 2024. A o

1233546 H2yF--56-The following table presents hndncml Iesults of XL Grid opemtlons for the year ended December 31
2023 : ¥ears— Year Ended December 31, (Amounts in thousands) 20232022Reventes—--- 2023Revenues $ 149 $42279
Operating expenses: Cost of revenues- inventery-operations and maintenancel48 other-direeteostst48-8;-577Selling, general,
and administrative expenses743 45-794-Gain on asset disposal (742) —Total operating expenses149 +3;37H-Net loss from
discontinued operations $ — $-3;-692)-The following table presents financial results of Drivetrain operations: Years Ended
December 31, (Amounts in thousands) 20232022Reventes—--- 20242023Revenues $ 69 $ 42 $2,-419-Operating expenses: Cost
of revenues- tnveﬂteﬁ'—operatlons and mamtenancelZS 106 (Galn) 0ﬂ&e%d-rreet—eesfs-}96—}4—931‘3—Eﬂgmeermg—rese&reh—aﬁ&

v g s-loss on asset dispesal4- disposal (81) 4 .
()7 935—Other (mcome) — (1 7) —Total operating expeﬂses4—expenses44 4 165 32;-833-Net income ( loss ) from

discontinued operations $ 25 $ (4, 123 3$36,444-) The following table plesents aggregate carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities of discontinued operations contained within the consolidated balance sheets: As of December 31, (Amounts in
thousands) 26232022Assets-20242023Assets from discontinued operations: Drivetrain § — § 32 -$—3—6949H:Gﬂd—7—3—7’-3
Total assets from discontinued operations $ — $ 32 $40;,-977 Liabilities from discontinued operations: Drivetrain $ 40 $ 170 $
5743 XE-Grid—3;-648-Total liabilities from discontinued operations $ 40 § 170 $9;394+-F- 5450 As of December 31, 2024
and 2023, the Company has one reportable segment, which sells electricity to homeowners and provides related services
to the homeowners, as well as to third party owners. The Company’ s CODM is its CEO who is focused on strategic
planning aimed at generating revenue and monetizing the Company’ s home solar energy systems and its ability to
provide top- tier related servicing solutions to its customers and third- parties. The CEO is provided on a quarterly basis
with the Company’ s consolidated segment expenses as presented within the consolidated statements of operations for the
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, which the CEO utilizes to assess the Company’ s performance and for making
decisions about resource allocation. The following table presents the Company’ s significant segment expenses for the
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023: Years Ended December 31, (Amounts in thousands) 20242023Revenues $ 82,
107 $ 79, 859 Cost of revenues- solar energy systems depreciation23, 377 23, 823 Cost of revenues- operations and
maintenancel6, 597 13, 990 Selling, general and administrative expenses58, 889 56, 122 Interest expense, net40, 232 41,
936 Litigation settlements, net7, 384 27, 465 Impairment of goodwill28, 757 — Other segment items (23, 076) (16, 867)
Net loss $ (70, 053) $ (66, 610) No segment asset information is presented in these consolidated financial statements since
the CEO does not review segment information at a different level or category other than that presented on the Company’
s consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. Note 2+-23 . Subsequent Events In January 2025, a series
of wildfires broke out in the Los Angeles area of California, resulting in real and personal property and natural resource
damage, personal injuries and loss of life. The Company is currently assessing the impact of these wildfires on its home
solar systems in the area; however, the Company has not been able to validate the extent of the related damages due to
limited access to the area. The Company does not expect this event to have a material impact on its financial position,
operating results or cash flows. Management has reviewed all events subsequent to December 31, 2623-2024 and prior to the
filing of these consolidated financial statements, and except as referenced within the notes to the consolidated financial
statements, the Company has determined there have been no events that have occurred that would require adjustments or
disclosures within the consolidated financial statements. F- 52-51 Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on
Accounting and Financial Dlsclosule Item 9A. Controls and Procedures Evaluation of Dlsclosule Controls and Procedules
The term « 4 he-en v 7 h ; h € h

efeur-disclosure controls and plocedures as—pfemﬂ-l-ga’fed-by—” is defined in Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 1 Sd 15 (e) 01‘ the Exchan;:e
Act , as “ controls and other procedures of an issuer that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed
by the issuer in the reports that it files or submits under the supervisten-Exchange Act are recorded, processed,
summarized and reported, with-within the partieipatierreftime periods specified in the SEC' s rules and forms. ” The
Company’ s disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that material information relating to the
Company and its consolidated subsidiaries is accumulated and communicated to its management, including eurits Chief
Executive Officer and its Chief Financial Officer , as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.
The Company’ s management, with the participation of its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer,
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of its disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2024 . Based
upon that evaluation, the Company’ s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’ s
disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of that date, due to the material weaknesses in internal control over
financial reporting described below. Notwithstanding The Company did not maintain an effective...... been prevented or
detected timely. However , after giving full consideration to these material weaknesses, and the additional analyses and other
procedures that were performed to ensure that the Company’ s consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report
on Form 10- K were prepared in accordance with GAAP, management has concluded that our consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods disclosed in




Reporting Mdndgement is responsible for estdbhshmg and mdmtdmmg ddequate internal control over financial reporting. As
defined in Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f) under the Exchange Act, internal control over financial reporting is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of the Company’ s financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U. S. GAAP. Beeause-ef-Due to its inherent limitations, the
Company’ s internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect all misstatements, including the possibility of
human error, the circumvention or overriding of controls, or fraud. Effective internal control over financial reporting can
provide only reasonable assurance with respect to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements. Projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
Condmons or that the degree of Compllame w 1th the pollCles or plOLGdUIGS may detenolate A—m&te&a-l—wea-}a&ess—ts—a—eeﬁfe-}

éefeeted—eﬁ—a—t-rmel-y—basts—l\/lamoement assessed the etfectl\ eness of the (ompany S mternal connol over hndncml Iepomng as
of December 31, 2623-2024 based on the criteria established by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (“ COSO )
Framework . A material weakness is a deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal control over financial
reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the financial statements would not
be prevented or detected on a timely basis. On November 22, 2024, the Company completed the NJR Acquisition. The
total assets and revenues of NJR represented 15 % and 3 %, respectively, of our consolidated financial statement
amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024. The Company’ s management has excluded NJR from its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, because it was not
practical for management to conduct an assessment of internal control over financial reporting in the period between the
date the acquisition was completed and the date of management’ s assessment . As a result of the material weaknesses in
internal control over financial reporting described abeve-below , Management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2623
2024 , the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting was ineffective. Material Weaknesses in Internal Control
over Financial Reporting As previously disclosed in Part II, Item 9A. “ Controls and Procedures ” in the Company’ s
Annual Report on Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 2023, and in Part I, Item 4. “ Controls and Procedures ”
in the Company’ s Quarterly Reports on Form 10- Q for the quarters ended March 31 2024 June 30 2024 and

September 30 2024 as of-}ﬁ&epeﬂéeﬂt—Reglsfefed—P&bhe—The

environment based on the criteria estdbhshed in the Commlttee of Sponsorlng Organlzatlons (“ COSO ”) Framework,and its
relevant components,which resulted in deficiencies that eenstituted— constitute material weaknesses,either individually or in the
aggregate. Control Environment The Company determined-thatit-failed to suppertastrong-enlture-ofinternal-eontrols-and
maintain a sufficient complement of qualified personnel to perform control activities. Fhis-The lack of sufficient appropriately
qualified personnel contributed to our the-Cempany—s-failure to:(i) design and implement certain risk- mitigating internal
controls;and (ii) consistently operate our the-Company>s-internal controls. The control environment material weakness
weaknesses contributed to material weaknesses within our system of internal control over financial reporting in the Control
Activities component of the COSO Framework.The Company did not maintain effective control activities based on the criteria



established in the COSO Framework and ~Fhe-Company-identified the following control deficiencies as-of Deeember31+2624
that constitute material weaknesses from the lack of effectively designed and implemented controls ,either individually or in
the aggregate:* review and approval of manual journal entries,including implementing appropriate segregation of duties
* complex transactions,inclusive of accounting for business combinations and the Company’ s investment related to the
SEMTH master lease agreement and the related interest income © revenue recognition,including the review of the contracts
upon inception and / or acquisition and 1lu auounlmu for revenue muwmuon under ASC 606,Rev enue from (onlmu\ \\1111
Customers. These deficiencies in i A media A
the-applieable-internal-eontrols—- control act1v1t1es contrlbuted to the potentlal for there to lmx e bccn ées*gﬂed—hﬁp-}efﬁeﬁfed:
material accounting errors in multiple financial statement account balances and disclosures that would not have eperated
been prevented for—- or detected a-sufftetentpertod-oftime-timely .However and-managementhaseconeluded;through
testing;thatthese-eontrols-Accounting FirmBeeause-Spriee-Power-is-a-for Business Combinations and the Company’ s

Investment related to the SEMTH Master Lease Agreement and the related Interest Income As previously disclosed, the
Company had not designed and maintained effective controls in connection with complex transactions, inclusive of
accounting for business combinations and the Company’ s investment related to the SEMTH Master Lease Agreement
and the related interest income. Throughout 2024, to remediate this material weakness, the Company designed and
implemented controls to address the identification, accounting, review and reporting of complex and / or non- aeeelerated
filer;the-routine transactions. The Company “has designed and implemented control activities, including controls related
to the review of inputs and assumptions, that apply to portfolio acquisitions and other complex transactions. The
Company completed the testing of the design and operating effectiveness of the new procedures and controls and, based
on the results of this testing, as of December 31, 2024, the Company concluded that the controls are adequately designed,
implemented and have operated effectively for a sufficient period of time to remediate the previously reported material
weakness described above. 2025 Remediation Plan The Company is committed to supporting a strong culture of internal
controls by designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls over financial reporting to maintain a strong
internal control environment. In connection with the unremediated material weaknesses in internal control discussed
above, management, with the oversight of the Audit Committee, has taken and continues to take comprehensive actions
to fully remediate the identified material weaknesses. The Company’ s independentregistered-publie-aceounting-firm-isnot
required-comprehensive remediation plan includes the following: « The Company developed and presented a training
program educating control owners concerning financial statement risk and principles of the Internal Control- Integrated
Framework issued by COSO (the “ COSO Framework ), and continues to express-invest in additional training
opportunities related to the COSO Framework; « The Company created an epinten-internal control department
specifically focused on oversight the-effeetiveness-of the Company - s internal control over financial reporting through the
establishment of structures, reporting lines, and appropriate authorities and responsibilities for professionals within the
Company; * The Company is designing and implementing controls related to billing and revenue recognition of its
revenue contracts, in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. This includes a combination
of manual and automated controls as the Company has increased and is continuing to increase the use of automated
controls to help mitigate the risk associated with manual intervention and human error. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, the Company made significant progress hiring qualified personnel with specialized skill sets to
further bolster the Company’ s ability to provide an appropriate level of oversight activities related to internal control
over financial reporting. These personnel have significantly contributed to the remediation efforts related to previously
disclosed material weakness in control activities. Management believes that the Company is making significant progress
toward achieving the effectiveness of its internal controls and disclosure controls and that, in many cases, the Company
is making significant progress regarding the testing and evaluation of the operating effectiveness of controls related to
the identified, unremediated material weaknesses. However, as the Company continues to evaluate and work to
remediate the control deficiencies that resulted in a material weakness related to revenue recognition, the Company may
determine that additional measures or time are required to address the issues fully, or that the Company will need to
modify or otherwise adjust the remedial actions described above. The actions that Management is taking are subject to
ongoing Management review, as well as Audit Committee oversight. Management will continue to assess the effectiveness
of the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting and take steps to remediate the known material weaknesses
expeditiously. Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting Other than the remediation of certain of the
material weaknesses discussed above, there have been no other changes in our internal control over financial reporting
during the quarter ended December 31, 2024 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting . [tem 9B. Other Information Rule 10b5- 1 Trading Arrangements During the
three months ended December 31, 2024, none of our directors or officers (as defined in Rule 16a- 1 (f) of the Exchange
Act) informed us of the adoption or termination of any Rule 10b5- 1 trading arrangement or any non- Rule 10b5- 1
trading arrangement (as such terms are defined in Item 408 of Regulation S- K of the Securities Act of 1933). Executive
Severance Plan On November S, 2024, the Compensation Committee of the Board approved the Executive Severance
Plan, effective August 6, 2024, and its application to Christopher Hayes, our Chief Executive Officer. The Compensation
Committee will consider applying the plan to other executives upon Mr. Hayes’ recommendation. A description of the
Executive Severance Plan is included in Item 11 of this Annual Report on Form 10- K. The description of the Executive
Severance Plan is qualified by reference to the full text of the Executive Severance Plan, which is filed as Exhibit 10. 25 to
this Annual Report on Form 10- K and is incorporated by reference herein. We currently plan to hold our 2025 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders (the “ 2025 Annual Meeting ) on June 24, 2025. The time and location of the 2025 Annual
meeting, and the matters to be considered, will be as set forth in our definitive proxy statement for the 2025 Annual




Meeting to be filed with the SEC. Because the expected date of the 2025 Annual Meeting is more than 30 days prior to
the anniversary of the Company’ s 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, we are informing stockholders of the due dates
for submissions of qualified stockholder proposals and stockholder director nominations. A stockholder proposal for
inclusion in our proxy statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting pursuant to Rule 14a- 8 under the Exchange Act must
have been received no later than February 24, 2025, which was the deadline disclosed in our 2024 proxy statement and
we consider a reasonable time before we will begin printing and mailing proxy materials. A stockholder proposal or
director nomination (including nominations pursuant to Rule 14a- 19 under the Exchange Act) outside of Rule 14a- 8
under the Exchange Act and pursuant to our Bylaws must have been received by the Company not later than April 10,
2025S. In addition to our Bylaws, a stockholder shall also comply with all applicable requirements of state law and of the
Exchange Act, and the rules and regulations thereunder.

Not applicable.
concerning our executive officers wittbeset-10 is included in Part I of this Annual Report on Form
10- K under the caption “ Information About Our Executive Officers. ” Our Board of Directors Our Board of Directors
(the “ Board ”) currently consists of seven members, classified into three classes (Classes A, B, and C) as follows: (i) John
P. Miller and Eric Tech are Class A directors, (ii) Kevin Griffin, Christopher Hayes, and Clara Nagy McBane are Class
B directors, and (iii) Jonathan J. Ledecky and Ja- chin Audrey Lee are Class C directors. Set irbelow is
information regarding each of the seetionsheaded-seven members of the Board of Directors of the Company (the “ Board
”) as of the date of this filing. A brief biography of each person who serves as a director follows the table.
NameAgePosition with the CompanyChristopher Hayes (1) 51Chief Executive Officer, President and Chair of the
BoardEric Tech61DirectorKevin Griffin48DirectorJonathan J. Ledecky66DirectorJohn P. Miller67DirectorJa- chin
Audrey Lee, Ph. D. 46DirectorClara Nagy McBane37Director (1) Christopher Hayes’ biography and qualifications are
discussed in Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10- K under “ Information About Our Executive Officers ”. Eric Tech
has served as a member of the Board since December 2021 and served as Chief Executive Officer of the Company from
December 1, 2021 until February 1, 2023. Mr. Tech brings nearly 35 years of automotive and mobility industry
experience to the Company. From 2006 through 2018, he held senior leadership positions of increasing responsibility at
Navistar International Corporation, a global manufacturer and marketer of medium- and heavy- duty vehicles and
parts, finishing his career there as Senior Vice President of Corporate Development. The Board believes that, as former
Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Tech is uniquely positioned to provide valuable insights on Company activities and
potential strategic priorities, and his prior experience enables him to bring extensive knowledge of and insights into
corporate development, strategy, and mergers and acquisitions. Kevin Griffin has served as a member of the Board since
April 2019. Mr. Griffin founded MGG Investment Group in 2014 and serves as the Managing Partner, Chief Executive
Officer, and Chief Investment Officer of the firm. In this capacity, Mr. Griffin is responsible for overseeing all strategic
vision of the firm, including leading the Investment Committee and the investment process from origination through
portfolio monitoring. Prior to launching MGG Investment Group, Mr. Griffin was a Managing Director with
Highbridge Principal Strategies (now HPS Partners), where he was a senior member of the Specialty Lending Platform
and a member of the Highbridge Credit Committee. In Addition, Mr. Griffin was part of Fortress Investment Group in
charge of originating and underwriting investment opportunities for the Drawbridge Special Opportunities Fund. His
experience also includes the Head of Private Investing for Octavian Funds, American Capital (one of the first publicly
traded BDCs), and at Houlihan Lokey Howard & Zukin’ s Investment Banking Division. Mr. Griffin also serves on the
board of directors of KLDiscovery, which was formerly a public company until 2024. The Board believes that Mr.
Griffin’ s extensive business, investment, and mergers and acquisitions background provides significant benefits to the
Board, including when analyzing and assessing acquisition opportunities. Jonathan J. Ledecky has served as a member
of the Board since our inception. From inception until December 2020, Mr. Ledecky served as Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company. Mr. Ledecky has been a co- owner of the National Hockey League’ s New York
Islanders franchise since October 2014. He also serves as an Alternate Governor on the Board of Governors of the NHL
and as President of NY Hockey Holdings LL.C. Mr. Ledecky has also served as chairman of Ironbound Partners Fund,
LLC, a private investment Managementmanagement fund, since March 1999. He has served as Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer of Yale Transaction Finders Inc. since March 2022. He served as President and Chief
Financial Officer and as a director of Newtown Lane Marketing, Incorporated from October 2015 until it consummated
its merger with Cyxtera Cybersecurity, Inc. (d /b / a AppGate), a cybersecurity company, in October 2021. He continued
to serve as a director of AppGate, Inc. until July 2024. He served as the President and Chief Operating Officer and as a
director of Northern Star Acquisition Corp. from September 2020 until it consummated an initial business combination
with Barkbox, Inc., an omnichannel brand serving dogs across the four key categories of play, food, health, and home, in
June 2021 (NYSE: BARK). He continued to serve as a director Bark, Inc. from such date until November 2022. From
November 2020 to December 2024, he served as the President, Chief Operating Officer, and a director of each of
Northern Star Investment Corp. II, Northern Star Investment Corp. II1, and Northern Star Investment Corp. IV, each a
blank check company that was unable to consummate an initial business combination and dissolved. From October 2020
until December 2023, he also served as chairman of the board of directors of Pivotal Investment Corporation III, a blank
check company that was unable to consummate an initial business combination and dissolved. From August 2018 to
December 2019, he served as chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Pivotal Acquisition Corp. (NYSE: PVT), a blank
check company that consummated an initial business combination with KL.Discovery Inc., a leading global provider of
eDiscovery, information governance, and data recovery solutions to corporations, law firms, insurance companies, and
individuals, in December 2019. Mr. Ledecky served as a director of KL.Discovery until June 2021. The Board believes



that Mr. Ledecky’ s lengthy history of acquisitions and his knowledge of emerging market opportunities provides a
dynamic voice to Board discussions and deliberations. John P. Miller has served as a member of the Board since March
2022. Mr. Miller has over 40 years of broad- based executive management experience in the transportation,
manufacturing, and distribution industries in both public and private equity companies. From 2017 to 2021, he served as
Chief Executive Officer of Power Solutions International (NASDAQ: PSIX), a leader in the design, engineering, and
manufacturing of a broad range of advanced, emission- certified engines and power systems. Prior to Power Solutions,
from 2008 to 2016, Mr. Miller served in operational and financial management positions of increasing responsibility at
Navistar International Corporation, a global manufacturer and marketer of medium- and heavy- duty vehicles and
parts, including as Senior Vice President of Operations and Corporate Finance. Mr. Miller has served on the board of
directors of Capstone Green Energy Holdings, Inc. (OTC: CGEH) since February 2024. The Board believes that Mr.
Miller brings extensive expertise in financial management and strategic planning, which is especially valuable to the
Board as continued exploration of short- and longer- term growth strategies occurs. Ja- chin Audrey Lee, Ph. D. has
served as a member of the Board since April 2024. Dr. Lee is a clean energy executive with 20 years of experience in the
private and public sectors. She is a strategic leader pioneering the next generation of energy solutions with expertise at
the intersection of technology, product, and market development. Since 2021, Dr. Lee has served as Senior Director of
Datacenter Energy Partnerships at Microsoft Corporation, where she leads a global strategic function that conducts
energy system analysis, identifies risk and opportunities to decarbonize and secure power capacity for datacenters,
develops the business case for energy technology solution integration, creates external partnership models, collaborates
across internal datacenter development functions, and develops playbooks for implementation and scaling. From 2017 to
2020, she served as Vice President of Energy Services at Sunrun Inc., a leading provider of residential solar systems,
where she helped steer the company’ s transition to a leading distributed, behind- the- meter solar, storage, and energy
services company. She serves on the board of directors of Redaptive, Inc., an Energy- as- a- Service provider that funds
and installs energy- saving and energy- generating equipment. Dr. Lee volunteered as Co- Chair and Co- Founder of
Clean Energy for Biden and currently serves on the Clean Energy for America Education Fund. Dr. Lee also serves on
the governing board of the Linux Foundation Energy, a non- profit that provides a community to build shared digital
investments to transform the energy sector. She previously served on the board of directors of ArcLight Clean Transition
Corp. NASDAQ: ACTC) until its merger with Proterra Inc. in June 2021. The Board believes that Dr. Lee’ s
substantial experience in the renewable energy industry and with critical power solutions allow her to bring extensive
knowledge and insights into the Company’ s business and growth strategies. Clara Nagy McBane has served as a
member of the Board since June 2024. Ms. McBane is the founder and Chief Executive Officer of Ventura Energy,
which was formed in 2021 and is a developer of behind- the- meter and community scale solar and energy storage
systems. Since 2024, Ms. McBane has also served as the Chief Executive Officer of Ventura Energy Partners. From 2019
until 2022, she served as Senior Vice President of Business Development, U. S. at Source Global, PBC, which provides
off- grid, renewable drinking water to communities, homes, corporate campuses, hotels, islands without infrastructure,
remote work sites, and other applications. Prior to working at Source Global, PBC, Ms. McBane served as Director of
Business Development at Advance Microgrid Solutions (which was sold to Fluence Energy, Inc.) from 2018 to 2019. Ms.
McBane has worked in the renewables industry for the last 14 years and is an expert in renewable energy finance and
operations. With a background in renewable energy development, infrastructure resilience, and complex technical sales,
Ms. McBane has a proven track record of building and scaling organizations. She has originated, developed, and
operated renewable energy assets globally, including solar, energy storage, and hydroelectric projects, which provides
her with a deep understanding of energy markets, regulatory landscapes, and sustainable infrastructure investments.
The Board believes that Ms. McBane brings a unique combination of entrepreneurial leadership, technical expertise, and
strategic business development experience to the Board, as well as extensive experience in the renewables industry.
There are no family relationships among any of the directors or executive officers of the Company. Pursuant to a
Cooperation Agreement, dated as of June 21, 2024 (the “ Cooperation Agreement ), between the Company and Clayton
Capital Appreciation Fund, L. P. and Clayton Partners LLC (collectively, ¢ Clayton ), the Board appointed Ms.
McBane as a director on June 21, 2024 to serve as a Class B director with a term expiring at the Company’ s 2025
Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “ 2025 Annual Meeting ) and to hold office until her successor has been duly
elected and qualified or until her earlier death, resignation, or removal. The Company also agreed to appoint Ms.
McBane to the Compensation Committee and Nominating 2-Committee. The Cooperation
Agreement includes various terms, conditions, provisions, including that “Delinquent-Seetiont6-(a)yReports> -
Proxy-Statement-Company shall consider nominating Ms. McBane for re- election to the 2624-2025 Annual Meeting in
good faith and in the same manner the Board considers the nomination of all incumbent directors. Under the
Cooperation Agreement, subject to certain exceptions, Clayton agreed to vote at each of the Company’ s meeting
meetings whieh-all of its beneficially owned shares of the Company’ s common stock in accordance with
the Board’ s recommendation with respect to all nominations and other proposals submitted to stockholders at such
annual meetings. In addition, the Cooperation Agreement provides for certain customary standstill provisions that
restrict Clayton from, among other things, engaging in any solicitation of proxies with respect to the voting securities of
the Company or acquiring any securities of the Company that would result in Clayton having beneficial ownership of
more than 14. 9 % of the Company’ s common stock. Unless otherwise mutually agreed to in writing by each party, the
Cooperation Agreement be-filed-remain in effect until the date that is the earlier of (i) the date Clayton receives
notice that the Company will not nominate Ms. McBane for re- election to the Board at the 2025 Annual Meeting, (ii)
immediately following the closing of the polls on the election of directors at the 2025 Annual Meeting, (iii) August 31,

2



2025 if the 2025 Annual Meeting has not been held by that date, and (iv) in the event that any party materially breaches
the Cooperation Agreement, the date that is 30 calendar days following written notice of such breach from the non-
breaching party, if such breach (if capable of being cured) has not been cured by such date, or, if impossible to cure
within +26-30 calendar days , such party has not taken substantive action to correct after-the-end-ofthefiseal-year-and-is

tneorporatedrthisteportby fefefe1=ree-such date . The-Company-has-adepted-acode-ofethies-Other than the Cooperation
Agreement, there are no arrangements for-- or understandings between any direetors— director or s-offteers-{ineluding-its
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Audll Committee are John P. Miller (C lmll Jonathan J. Ledecky,
and Clara Nagy McBane. John P. Mlller is an audit committee financial expert, under SEC rules as determined by the
Board. All members of the Audit Committee are independent under the New York Stock Exchange listing standards and
the heightened independence requirements applicable to audit committee members under SEC rules. All members of the
Audit Committee are also financially literate in accordance with the New York Stock Exchange listing standards. Code
of Ethics The Company has a Corporate Code of Conduct and Whistleblower Policy (the “ Code of Conduct ”) that
applies to all of our employees, including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting
officer or control or persons performing similar functions, and employees. The Code of Conduct is available on our
website at www. sprucepower. com under About > Investors > Governance > Documents & Charters. We intend to
provide any required disclosure of an amendment to or waiver from our Code of Conduct that applies to our principal
executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar
functions, on our website at www. sprucepower. com promptly following the amendment or waiver. We may elect to
disclose any such amendment or waiver in a report on Form 8- K filed with the SEC either in addition to or in lieu of the
website disclosure. Insider Trading Policy The Company has adopted insider trading policies and procedures governing
the purchase, sale, and / or other dispositions of the Company’ s securities by directors, officers and employees, and the
Company itself, that are reasonably designed to promote compliance with insider trading laws, rules and regulations,
and any listing standards applicable to the Company. The Company’ s Insider Trading Policy prohibits our employees,
including officers, and directors from pledging or engaging in hedging or similar transactions in the Company’ s
securities, including but not limited to, prepaid variable forwards, equity swaps, collars, exchange funds, puts, calls, and
short sales. The Company’ s Insider Trading Policy is attached to this Annual Report on Form 10- K as Exhibit 19. 1.
Delinquent Section 16 (a) Reports Section 16 (a) of the Exchange Act requires the Company’ s directors and executive
officers, and persons who own more than 10 % of a registered class of the Company’ s common stock, to file with the
SEC initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of the Company’ s common stock and other equity
securities. To the Company’ s knowledge, based solely on a review of the reports filed for the fiscal year and related
written representations, the Company believes that all of our executive officers and directors filed the required reports
on a timely basis under Section 16 (a), except for Kevin Griffin, Jonathan Ledecky, John Miller, Ja- chin Audrey Lee,
and Clara Nagy McBane, who each reported one transaction late on a Form 4; Eric Tech, who reported three
transactions late on one Form 4; Jonathan Norling and Sarah Weber Wells, who each reported one transaction late on a
Form 4; and Christian Fong, a former executive officer and director, who reported two transactions late on two Form 4s.
Item 11. Executive Compensation Executive Officer Compensationl This section explains our executive compensation
program for our named executive officers (“ NEOs ”) and the decisions made with respect to the compensation of our
NEOs in 2024. This section also describes the process of the Company’ s Compensation Committee (the “ Compensation
Committee ) and Board for making compensation decisions, as well as the rationale for specific decisions related to the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2024. Our NEOs for 2024 were: 1 The Company qualifies as a “ smaller reporting
company ” under the rules promulgated by the SEC, and have elected to comply with the disclosure requirements
applicable to smaller reporting companies. NamePositionChristopher HayesPresident and Chief Executive
OfficerChristian Fong (1) Former President and Chief Executive OfficerSarah Weber WellsChief Financial
OfficerJonathan M. NorlingChief Legal Officer (1) Mr. Fong was appointed as President on September 9, 2022 and
became Chief Executive Office on February 1, 2023. Effective April 12, 2024, Mr. Fong was replaced by Mr. Hayes as
President and Chief Executive Officer. Compensation Practices & Policies We believe the following practices and
policies within our program promote sound compensation governance and are in the best interests of our stockholders
and executives: What We DoWhat We Don' t Do * Maintain anti- hedging and anti- pledging policies * No tax gross ups
¢ Provide for" double- trigger" equity award vesting and severance benefits upon a change in control * No repricing or
exchange of underwater options without stockholder approval » Use an independent compensation consultant * No
option or stock appreciation rights granted below fair market value * No supplemental executive retirement plans What
Guides our Program Executive Compensation Philosophy and Objectives Our executive compensation philosophy is



driven by the following guiding principles that underpin the critical connections between performance, long- term value
creation, talent management, compensation governance, and our cultural values: » Competitively Positioned: Target
compensation should be competitive with that being offered to individuals in comparable roles at other companies with
which the Company competes for talent to ensure that we employ the best people to lead our success. * Performance-
Driven and Stockholder- Aligned: A meaningful portion of total compensation should be variable and linked to the
achievement of specific short- and long- term performance objectives and designed to drive stockholder value creation. ¢
Responsibly Governed: Decisions about compensation should be guided by appropriate governance standards and
rigorous processes that encourage prudent decision- making. Elements of Pay: Total Direct Compensation Our executive
compensation philosophy is supported by the following principal elements of pay: Pay ElementHow It' s
PaidPurposeBase SalaryCash (Fixed) Provides a competitive base salary rate relative to similar positions in the market
and enables the Company to attract and retain critical executive talent, rewards overall performance by our executive
officers and provides a degree of financial stability for each of our executive officers. Annual IncentivesCash (Variable)
Reward executives for delivering on annual strategic objectives that we believe contribute to the creation of stockholder
value and help us attract and retain critical executive talent. Long- Term IncentivesEquity (Variable) Help us attract
and retain executive talent, which we believe helps drive the creation of stockholder value. Executive Compensation
Decision- Making Process The Role of the Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee oversees the
executive compensation program for our NEOs. The Compensation Committee is comprised of independent, non-
employee members of the Board. The Compensation Committee works closely with its independent consultant and
management to examine the effectiveness of the Company’ s executive compensation program throughout the year.
Details of the Compensation Committee’ s authority and responsibilities are specified in its charter, which may be
accessed at our website at https: // investors. sprucepower. com / governance / documents- and- charters / default. aspx.
The Compensation Committee makes all final compensation and equity award decisions regarding our NEOs, except for
the CEO, whose compensation is determined by the independent members of the Board, based upon the
recommendation of the Compensation Committee. The Role of Management. Members of our management team attend
regular meetings where executive compensation, Company and individual performance, and competitive compensation
levels and practices are discussed and evaluated. However, they do not participate in discussions about their own pay.
Only Compensation Committee members vote on decisions regarding NEO compensation. The CEO reviews his
recommendations pertaining to other executives’ (non- NEQOs) pay with the Compensation Committee, providing
transparency and oversight. Decisions on non- NEO pay are made by the CEO. The CEO does not participate in the
deliberations of the Compensation Committee or Board regarding his own compensation. Independent members of the
Board make all final determinations regarding CEO compensation. The Role of the Independent Consultant. The
Compensation Committee engages an independent compensation consultant to provide expertise on competitive pay
practices, program design, and an objective assessment of any inherent risks of any programs. Pursuant to authority
granted to it under its charter, the Compensation Committee has Meridian Compensation Partners, LLC (* Meridian )
as its independent consultants. Meridian report directly to the Compensation Committee and did not provide any
additional services to management. The Compensation Committee has conducted an independence assessment of
Meridian in accordance with SEC rules. The Role of Peer Group Companies. The Compensation Committee strives to
set a competitive level of total compensation for each NEO as compared with executive officers in similar positions at
peer companies. For purposes of setting 2024 compensation levels, the Compensation Committee did not reference a
specific peer group or conduct formal benchmarking, but subjectively took into account publicly available data of
similarly sized and situated companies and industry specific survey data. This market data was not the sole determinant
in setting pay levels for the NEOs. Actual pay levels can be above or below the targeted levels depending on the
Compensation Committee’ s subjective evaluation of factors such as experience, individual or company performance,
tenure, employee potential, unique skills, criticality of the position to the Company, and other factors. In general, the
Compensation Committee desires to balance general internal and external equity and reserves the right to use discretion
to deviate when necessary to recruit employees and / or retain the right talent. 2024 Executive Compensation Program in
Detail Base salary represents annual fixed compensation and is a standard element of compensation necessary to attract
and retain executive leadership talent. Base salary also rewards overall performance and provides a degree of financial
stability for our NEOs. In making base salary decisions, the Compensation Committee considers the CEO’ s
recommendations, as well as each NEQ’ s position and level of responsibility within the Company. The Compensation
Committee (and the Board with respect to the CEO) takes into account factors such as competitive market data as well
as individual performance, experience, tenure, internal equity, and employee potential. The Compensation Committee
did not assign relative weighting to these factors when determining the base salary of any NEO, but the Compensation
Committee made subjective determinations that the amounts of base salary were appropriate considering all of these
factors collectively. The 2024 Short- Term Incentive Compensation Plan (“ STIC ”) provided our NEOs the opportunity
to earn a performance- based annual cash bonus. The STIC is administered by the Compensation Committee with input
from our Chief Executive Officer. Under the STIC, each NEQ’ s target annual bonus opportunity is expressed as a
percentage of the NEO’ s base salary and is established based on the NEO’ s level of responsibility and his or her ability
to impact overall results. These targets were established based on recommendations from our independent consultant.
Target award opportunities for 2024 were as follows: Name2024 Base SalaryBonus Target (% of Base Salary) Bonus at
Target ($) and-$ 650, 000 100 % $ 650, 000 Christian Fong (1) $ 650, 000 100 % $ 650, 000 Sarah
Weber Wells (2) $ 345, 000 S0 % $ 172, S00 Fedeeky-M . Norling (3) $ 315, 000 50 % $ 157, 500 (1) Mr. Fong
ceased serving as the Company’ s President and Chief Executive Officer as of April 12, 2024. As discussed below, upon



his separation, Mr. Fong was eligible for severance per the terms of his employment agreement, including 1. 5 times his
target bonus. (2) Ms. Wells’ base salary increased to $ 345, 000 effective as of November 24, 2024. (3) Mr. Norling’ s base
salary increased to $ 315, 000 effective as of February 4, 2024. The Compensation Committee selected organizational
performance measures for all NEOs and departmental performances for all NEOs other than the Chief Executive
Officer. Each NEO’ s target annual bonus opportunity was weighted among these measures, and each NEO’ s
performance was used to determine the NEO’ s eligibility for the annual bonus payment. Under the terms of the STIC,
cash payments may range from 0 % to 200 % of each NEO’ s target annual bonus opportunity. The Compensation
Committee has the discretion to increase or decrease an annual bonus award in light of considerations it deems relevant
and appropriate. Organizational Performance Measures. The selected organizational performance objectives for 2024
and their respective weightings are outlined below: Corporate Profitability3S % Operations & Servicing Excellence40 %
Reporting Accuracy & Timeliness25 % Total100 % The selected corporate profitability measures for 2024 and their
threshold, target, stretch, and maximum performance levels are outlined below: Corporate Performance
MeasureThresholdTargetStretchMaximumAdjusted Free Cash Flow (1) $ 2, 700, 000 $ 5, 400, 000 $ 10, 000, 000 $ 15,
000, 000 New Business Net Revenue $ 1, 600, 000 $ 3, 200, 000 $ S, 000, 000 $ 15, 000, 000 Systems / Contracts Owned74,
730 85, 000 90, 000 95, 000 (1) The Company defines Adjusted Free Cash Flow as Operating EBITDA less project
finance debt service, platform capital expenditures, and other non- cash items. Project finance debt service represents
principal and interest payments, including sweeps where applicable, on the Company’ s non- recourse, project finance
debt facilities. Other non- cash items represent miscellaneous non- cash income or expense associated with our various
operating portfolios of residential solar assets. We define Operating EBITDA as Adjusted EBITDA plus proceeds from
investment in master lease agreement, net, proceeds from buyouts / prepayments and interest earned on cash
investments. Proceeds from investment in lease agreement, net, represent cash flows from the Company’ s Spruce Power
4 Portfolio, which holds the 20- year use rights to customer payment streams of approximately 22, 500 solar lease and
power purchase agreements, net of servicing costs. Proceeds from buyouts / prepayments represent cash inflows from the
early buyout of customer solar contracts and cash inflows from the prepayment of customer solar contracts. Interest
earned on cash investments represent cash interest received on investments in money market funds / U. S. Treasury
securities. We defined EBITDA as our consolidated net income (loss) and adding back interest expense, net, income
taxes, and depreciation and amortization. Adjusted EBITDA excludes certain identified items that we do not consider to
be part of our ongoing business. The selected operations & servicing excellence objectives for 2024 involved (1) the PPA
lease portfolio’ s adjusted gross collections, (2) average customer care satisfaction ratings, and (3) the portfolio
technology build- out. The selected reporting accuracy & timeliness objectives for 2024 related to the Company’ s
internal and external reporting. Departmental Performance Measures. Departmental performance measures are
respective to each NEO’ s department (s) of responsibility in the Company. The average of the weighted scores of each
NEO’ s respective department (s) is used to measure the NEO’ s departmental performance. The selected departmental
performance objectives for 2024, respective to NEO Sarah Weber Wells, weightings are outlined below: Accounting40 %
Financial Planning & Analysis25 % Treasury25 % Internal Audit10 % Totall00 % The selected departmental
performance objectives for 2024, respective to NEO Jonathan Norling, weightings are outlined below: Legal80 % Asset
Disposition20 % Total100 % STIC Results. In determining bonus target achievement, the Compensation Committee
measured results against goals, and additionally considered other events that occurred during the fiscal year, for which
NEO leadership was critical, as well as each NEO’ s performance. The payouts under the STIC to our NEOs for 2024
performance were approved in February 2025 at the following levels: NameActual Bonus ValuePercentage of Target
BonusChristopher Hayes $ 650, 000 100 % Christian Fong $ — — % Sarah Weber Wells § 163, 358 95 % Jonathan M.
Norling $ 100, 000 63 % Long- Term Equity Incentives In 2024, the Compensation Committee determined that all long-
Hem— term equity incentives would be granted in the form of restricted stock units (“ RSUs ), with a four- year vesting
schedule of 25 % per year on the anniversary date of grant. The Compensation Committee believes that RSUs best align
the interests of award recipients with those of our stockholders based on recommendations from our independent
consultant. The long- term nature of the RSUs creates performance and retention incentives for recipients. The
Company continues to evolve as a business and recognizes that the structure of our equity program must evolve with the
transition of our business strategy. The Compensation Committee continues to evaluate its approach to long- term
equity incentive compensation and is committed to putting forth a program that aligns the interest of our executives and
stockholders each year. The 2024 awards for each NEO were as follows: NameOptionsOptions Grant Date Fair Value (1)
($) RSUsRSUs Grant Date Fair Value (2) ($) Christopher Hayes295, 229 $ 773, 500 88, 636 $ 296, 391 Christian Fong (3)
——278,340 $ 1, 007, 591 Sarah Weber Wells — — 119, 020 $ 430, 852 Jonathan M. Norling — — 119, 020 $ 430, 852
(1) Reflects the grant date fair value of such award computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. (2) Individual
award amounts reflect the grant date fair values of such awards computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. (3)
Of the 278, 340 RSUs that were awarded to Mr. Fong on April 1, 2024, 97, 994 vested on May 10, 2024, and the
remainder of the RSUs were cancelled given his separation from the Company on April 12, 2024. Other Benefits and
Perquisites Our NEOs are eligible to participate in our employee benefit plans, including medical, dental, vision, and life
insurance plans, in each case on the same basis as all of our other employees. The Company pays premiums for the life
insurance for all employees, including our NEOs. The Company generally does not provide perquisites or personal
benefits. 401 (k) Plan and Employee Stock Purchase Plan The Company maintains a 401 (k) plan that provides eligible
employees with an opportunity to save for retirement on a tax advantaged basis. Eligible employees are able to defer
eligible compensation up to certain Code limits, which are updated annually. The Company provides for safe harbor
matching contributions equal to 100 % on the first 3 % of an employee’ s eligible earnings deferred and an additional 50



% on the next 2 % of an employee’ s eligible earnings deferred. Employee elective deferrals and safe harbor matching
contributions are 100 % vested at all times. The 401 (k) plan is intended to be qualified under Section 401 (a) of the
Code, with the related trust intended to be tax exempt under Section 501 (a) of the Code. As a tax- qualified retirement
plan, contributions to the 401 (k) plan are deductible by us when made, and contributions and earnings on those
amounts are not generally taxable to the employees until withdrawn or distributed from the 401 (k) plan. Impact of Tax
and Accounting The Company regularly considers the various tax and accounting implications of our compensation
plans. When determining the amount of long- term incentives and equity grants to executives and employees, the
compensation costs associated with the grants are reviewed, as required by FASB ASC Topic 718. While considering tax
deductibility as only one of several considerations in determining compensation, the Audit Committee believes that the
tax deduction limitation should not compromise its ability to structure compensation programs that provide benefits to
the Company that outweigh the potential benefit of a tax deduction, and therefore, may approve compensation that is
not deductible for tax purposes. Policies and Practices Related to the Grant of Certain Equity Awards Our long- term
incentive compensation does not currently include regular stock option grants. In fiscal 2024, such compensation
consisted solely of RSUs. Outside of the annual grant cycle, we may make RSU or stock option awards in connection with
a new hire package, retention grant or severance package. Equity awards, including stock options, are not granted in
anticipation of the release of material non- public information, and the release of material non- public information is not
timed on the basis of option or other equity grant dates. Consistent with this practice, during fiscal 2024, we awarded
stock options to Mr. Hayes on the day he became our President and CEQ in the period beginning four business days
before our filing of a periodic report on Form 10- K. Pursuant to SEC Rules, we are providing the following information
relating to such stock options awarded to Mr. Hayes: NameGrant dateNumber of securities underlying the
awardExercise price of the award ($ / Sh) Grant date fair value of the award ($) Percentage change in the closing market
price of the securities underlying the award between the trading day ending immediately prior to the disclosure of
material nonpublic information and the trading day beginning immediately following the disclosure of material
nonpublic information (%) Christopher HayesApril 12, 2024295, 229 $ 3. 75 $ 773, 500 (3. 98) 2024 Summary
Compensation Table The following table sets forth information regarding the compensation to our NEOs for the years
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. Name and principal positionYearSalary ($) Bonus ($) (3) Stock Awards ($) (1)
Option Awards ($) (2) Nonequity incentive plan compensation ($) All Other Compensation ($) (4) Total ($) Christopher
HayesPresident and CEO (S) 2024450, 000 650, 000 296, 391 773, 500 — 26, 875 2, 196, 766 Christian Fong (7) 2024266,
355—1, 007,591 — — 808, 537 2, 082, 483 Former President and CEO (6) 2023650, 000 650, 000 — — — 17,900 1,
317, 900 Sarah Weber Wells2024315, 577 163, 358 430, 852 — — 11,539 921, 326 Chief Financial Officer and Head of
Sustainability202328S, 346 120, 000 403, 380 — 13, 579 822, 305 Jonathan M . Norling2024313, 269 100, 000 430, 852 —
— — 844, 121 Chief Legal Officer2023297, 462 150, 000 429, 110 — 6, 250 882, 822 (1) Amounts shown in this column
reflect the grant date fair value for restricted stock units granted during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2024 and
2023 to our NEOs, computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, based on the closing price of the Company’ s
stock on the date of grant. The amounts for 2023 now reflect the grant date fair value for restricted stock units granted
during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023. (2) Amounts shown in this column reflect the grant date fair value for
options granted during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 to our NEOs, calculated using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model based on assumptions set forth in Note 13 to the Company’ s financial statements in its
Annual Report on Form 10- K. (3) The amounts in this column reflect the amount earned under the STIC in 2023 and
2024. In each case, these amounts were paid in the year following the year in which the performance criteria were
achieved. For fiscal year 2023, amounts were previously reported for amounts the Company paid to the NEOs in 2023
for 2022 performance under the STIC. The amounts for 2023 now reflect the amount earned for 2023 performance
under the STIC to be consistent with reporting guidelines and for comparison purposes. (4) For fiscal year 2024, includes
(i) $ 26, 875 paid to Mr. Hayes in connection with his Board service prior to becoming the CEQO; (ii) $ 808, 537 paid to
Mr. Fong in connection with his separation from the Company in accordance with his employment agreement; and (iii)
an $ 11, 539 Company contribution to Ms. Wells’ 401 (k) plan. (5) Mr. Hayes was appointed as the Company’ s President
and CEO effective as of April 12, 2024. (6) Mr. Fong ceased serving as the Company’ s President and CEO effective as of
April 12, 2024. (7) On April 1, 2024, Mr. Fong was awarded 278, 340 RSUs. Of this amount, 97, 994 vested on May 10,
2024, and the remainder of the RSUs were cancelled given his separation from the Company on April 12, 2024.
Outstanding Equity Awards at 2024 Fiscal Year- End The following table shows certain information with respect to
unexercised options and unvested restricted stock units held by our NEOs as of December 31, 2024. Outstanding Equity
Awards at 2024 Fiscal Year- EndOption AwardsStock AwardsNameNumber of securities underlying unexercised
options (#) exercisableNumber of securities underlying unexercised options (#) unexercisableEquity incentive plan
awards: Number of securities underlying unexercised unearned options (#) Option exercise price ($) Option expiration
dateNumber of shares or units of stock that have not vested (#) Market value of shares or units of stock that have not
vested ($) (1) Equity incentive plan awards: Number of unearned shares, units or other rights that have not vested (#)
Equity incentive plan awards: Market or payout value of unearned shares, units or other rights that have not vested ($)

Christopher Hayes — — 295, 229 (2) 3. 75 April 12,2024 — — — — 1, 968 — — 54. 48 May 25, 2031 — — — — 446 —
— 113. 36 February 25, 2031 — — — — 35, 801 — — 2. 16 April 21,2030 — — — — 11, 934 — — 1. 92 May 3, 2028 —
———————— 88, 636 (3) $ 263, 249 — — Christian Fong — — ——————— Sarah Weber Wells — —
———185,960 (4) $ 552,301 — — Jonathan M. Norling — — — — — 198, 739 (5) $ 590, 255 — — (1) The amounts

in this column represent the aggregate fair market value of restricted stock unit awards as of December 31, 2024, based
on the closing price of the Company’ s common stock on December 31, 2024, which was $ 2. 97. (2) Scheduled to vest 25



% per year on April 12, 2025, April 12, 2026, April 12, 2027, and April 12, 2028. (3) Of these shares, 21, 159 shares vest
on each of April 14, 2025, April 12, 2026, April 12, 2027, and April 12, 2028. (4) Of these shares, 29, 755 shares vest on
each of April 1, 2025, April 1, 2026, April 1, 2027, and April 1, 2028; 15, 188 shares vest on each of April 3, 2025, April 3,
2026, and April 3, 2027; and 10, 689 shares vest on each of September 9, 2025 and September 9, 2026. (5) Of these
shares, 29, 755 shares vest on each of April 1, 2025, April 1, 2026, April 1, 2027, and April 1, 2028; 16, 156 shares vest on
each of April 3, 2025, April 3, 2026, and April 3, 2027; and 15, 625 shares vest on each of September 9, 2025 and
September 9, 2026. Employment Agreements and Severance Agreements In connection with Mr. Hayes’ appointment as
President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, Mr. Hayes and the Company entered into a CEO Offer Letter
(the “ Hayes Offer Letter ) on April 12, 2024, under which Mr. Hayes’ service to the Company as its President and
Chief Executive Officer commenced on April 12, 2024 and will continue until terminated by the Company or Mr. Hayes.
The Hayes Offer Letter provides for (a) an initial annual base salary of $ 650, 000 and (b) an annual cash bonus
opportunity with a target of 100 % of his base salary to be based on achieving annual performance metrics determined
by the Board or as may be payable by the Board in its discretion. Mr. Hayes was also awarded equity awards effective
on April 12, 2024 valued at 170 % of his initial base salary, with 70 % of such equity awards being in the form of stock
options to purchase shares of the Company’ s common stock and 30 % of such equity awards being in the form of RSUs.
These equity awards vest in equal annual installments over four years following April 12, 2024, subject to Mr. Hayes’
continued service on the applicable vesting date. Mr. Hayes is eligible to participate in the employee benefits offered by
the Company in accordance with the applicable terms of the benefit program, plan or arrangement. The Hayes Offer
Letter requires Mr. Hayes to comply with certain non- disclosure, non- competition and non- solicitation covenants. Mr.
Hayes is eligible for severance benefits and payments under the Executive Severance Plan discussed below. Until April
12,2024, Mr. Fong was employed by the Company under an Executive Employment Agreement originally entered into
on September 9, 2022 (the “ Fong Employment Agreement ”’). The Company employed Mr. Fong as the Company’ s
President and CEO until April 12, 2024, and in 2024, paid Mr. Fong an annual base salary of $ 650, 000. Pursuant to the
Fong Employment Agreement, Mr. Fong was eligible to receive an annual cash bons pursuant to the Company’ s bonus
plan offered to Company executives, with a target bonus equal to 100 % of his then- current base salary. The annual
performance bonus would be based on achieving annual performance metrics determined by the Compensation
Committee (or Board) in its sole discretion. The Fong Employment Agreement also provided that Mr. Fong would be
entitled, during his employment, to participate in and be covered the health and welfare benefit plans and programs
maintained by the Company for the benefit of its employees. On April 12, 2024, the Company and Mr. Fong entered into
an Executive Separation Agreement (the “ Fong Separation Agreement ). Pursuant to the Fong Separation Agreement,
Mr. Fong was eligible for severance per the terms of the Fong Employment Agreement, subject to Mr. Fong’ s execution
of a separation agreement and release of claims. Under the Fong Employment Agreement, Mr. Fong received the
following severance benefits: (a) continuing payments in an amount equal to the sum of eighteen months of his then-
current annual base salary of $ 650, 000 and 1. S times his target bonus, payable ratably over an eighteen month period
(less all customary and required taxes and employment related deductions), (b) acceleration of unvested equity grants
with time- based vesting that would have vested during the twelve month period following April 12, 2024, and (c) a lump
sum payment equal to COBRA premiums at active employee rates for eighteen months, which Mr. Fong is obligated to
repay to the Company to the extent he obtains subsequent medical coverage and has unused months of COBRA
coverage. Ms. Wells, who currently serves as Chief Financial Officer of the Company, is subject to an at- will
employment offer letter dated October 25, 2018. The offer letter contemplates an annual base salary and certain other
benefits, as subsequently amended effective June 13, 2024. For fiscal year 2024, Ms. Wells’ base salary was $ 315, 000
until November 11, 2024, when her salary was increased to $ 345, 000. In the event the Company terminates Ms. Wells’
employment without cause (not including any termination of employment due to death or disability), and provided that
such termination is a “ separation from service ” under Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended,
(the “ Code ”) then Ms. Wells is entitled to a lump sum separation payment equal to twelve months of her current base
salary and a prorated target bonus (if separation is after October 1st of the current year, full target bonus is paid), less
applicable withholdings, subject to her signing and not revoking a release of claims. If a change of control of the
Company occurs and (a) within a period of twenty- four months following the change of control, or (b) within a period of
ninety days preceding the change of control if the termination is related to the change of control, Ms. Wells’ employment
is terminated without cause, or she terminates her employment for good reason, then in addition to normal wages, Ms.
Wells shall receive: (a) payments in an amount equal to the sum of eighteen months of the then- current base salary and
a prorated target bonus (if the change of control is after October 1st of the current year, full target bonus is paid), with
the sum payable ratably over an eighteen month period, less all customary and required taxes and employment- related
deductions, in accordance with the Company’ s normal payroll practices (provided such payments shall be made at least
monthly), (b) full vesting of any and all equity awards outstanding as of the date of her termination, and (c) a COBRA
payment payable ratably over a twelve month period (and Ms. Wells shall have a duty to inform the Company of a
subsequent medical coverage to which she is entitled, with repayment to the Company of COBRA premiums for unused
months of coverage). “ Change of Control ” means the occurrence of any of the following events: (i) any “ Person ” (as
such term is used in Sections 13 (d) and 14 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) or group of Persons
(other than the Company or its affiliates) becomes the “ Beneficial Owner ” (as defined in Rule 13d- 3 under said Act),
directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing fifty percent (50 %) or more of the total voting power
represented by the Company’ s then outstanding voting securities (the “ Outstanding Company Voting Securities )
(excluding for this purpose any such voting securities held by the Company, or any affiliate, parent or subsidiary of the



Company, or by any employee benefit plan of the Company) pursuant to a transaction or a series of related transactions
(but excluding any bona fide financing event in which securities are acquired directly from the Company); (ii) the
consummation of a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other entity, other than a merger or consolidation
(a) that results in the Outstanding Company Voting Securities immediately prior thereto continuing to represent either
by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity) at least fifty percent (50 %)
of the combined voting power of the Outstanding Company Voting Securities (or such surviving entity or, if the
Company or the entity surviving such merger is then a subsidiary, the ultimate parent thereof) outstanding immediately
after such merger or consolidation, or (b) immediately following which the individuals who comprise the Board
immediately prior thereto constitute at least a majority of the board of directors (or other managing body) of the entity
surviving such merger or consolidation or, of the Company or the entity surviving such merger is then a subsidiary, the
ultimate parent thereof, or (iii) the sale or disposition by the Company or all or substantially all of the Company’ s
assets, other than (a) a sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’ s assets to an entity,
at least fifty percent (50 %) of the combined voting power of the voting securities of which are owned directly or
indirectly by stockholders of the Company following the completion of such transaction in substantially the same
proportions as their ownership of the Company immediately prior to such sale or (b) a sale or disposition of all or
substantially all of the Company’ s assets immediately following which the individuals who comprise the Board
immediately prior thereto constitute at least a majority of the board of directors (or other managing body) of the entity
to which such assets are sold or disposed or, if such entity is a subsidiary, the ultimate parent thereof; provided that, in
each case, a transaction will not be deemed a Change of Control unless the transaction qualifies as a change in control
event within the meaning of Code Section 409A. “ Cause ” means (i) Ms. Wells’ material breach of any agreement
between her and the Company, (ii) Ms. Wells’ continued failure to perform any material duty or responsibility specified
in the description of her duties set forth in any agreement between her and the Company, reasonably assigned to her by
the Company, or otherwise owed to the Company, (iii) Ms. Wells’ conviction of, or her plea of “ guilty ” or *“ no contest ”
to, a felony under the laws of the United States or any State or her conviction of, or your plea of “ guilty ” or “ no contest
” to, any other crime involving moral turpitude or fraud, (iv) Ms. Wells’ gross misconduct, commission of an act of
moral turpitude, embezzlement, gross negligence, willful malfeasance, or willful violation of any law, rule, regulation,
written agreement or final cease- and- desist order applicable to the Company or its business which causes or could be
expected to cause harm to the Company, (v) Ms. Wells’ failure to cooperate in good faith with a governmental or internal
investigation of the Company or its directors, officers or employees, if the Company has requested her cooperation, (vi)
Ms. Wells’ material failure to comply with the Company’ s written policies or rules, as they may be in effect from time to
time. “ Good Reason ” means (i) material reduction in duties or responsibilities, (ii) material reduction in pay levels or
programs, and (iii) relocation more than 50 miles from current working location. Mr. Norling has an Amended and
Restated At- Will Employment, Confidential Information, Invention Assignment, and Arbitration Agreement (the
Norling Employment Agreement ) that was effective as of March 15, 2019 and amended and restated as of January 1,
2022. Pursuant to the Norling Employment Agreement, if Mr. Norling is terminated by the Company without cause or by
Mr. Norling for good reason, Mr. Norling is entitled to a one- time lump sum “ Termination Payment ” equal to the sum
of (i) three months’ of his regular base pay and benefits, less applicable withholdings and deductions, (ii) any unpaid
bonus awarded to him prior to the employment termination (including without limitation any amounts awarded
pursuant to the Company’ s short term incentive compensation plan or long term compensation plan), (iii) any bonus to
which he would have been entitled under the Company’ s short term incentive compensation plan or other agreement
had Mr. Norling remained employed by the Company as of the date such bonus would have been awarded, pro- rated to
the termination date, and (iv) if the employment termination is by the Company without cause and the Company does
not provide Mr. Norling with at least 30 days’ advance notice of such employment termination, a one- time lump sum *
Notice Differential Payment, ” less applicable withholdings and deductions. The Notice Differential Payment is an
amount equal to the difference between (a) the base salary that Mr. Norling earns between the date the Company
provides notice of termination without cause and the last date of his employment, and (b) the base salary and benefits
that Mr. Norling would have received if the Company had given him 30 days’ advance notice of termination without
cause. If Mr. Norling’ s employment is terminated by the Company without cause in the event of his death or disability,
the Company shall pay Mr. Norling or his heirs an amount equal to one- half of the Termination Payment and one- half
of the Notice Differential Payment that would be owed to him. As a condition of receiving the Termination Payment, Mr.
Norling must sign a separation agreement, which shall include a release of all claims. “ Cause ” means Mr. Norling (i)
has committed an act involving fraud, dishonesty, disloyalty, or a conflict of interest against the Company, (ii) has been
convicted of or enters into a pleas of nolo contendere to any felony or a misdemeanor involving honesty, integrity, moral
turpitude, or unethical conduct, (iii) has engaged in misconduct that results or could have resulted in serious injury
(monetary or otherwise) to the Company or is detrimental to the Company’ s business reputation, or goodwill, (iv) in
carrying out Mr. Norling’ s assigned duties, has engaged in negligence that results in material injury, monetary or
otherwise, to the Company, (v) uses illegal drugs or becomes intoxicated by alcohol or drugs in a manner that adversely
affects his ability to perform his duties, (vi) fails to cooperate in any respect with any investigation or inquiry authorized
by the Company or conducted by a governmental authority related to the Company’ s business, (vii) fails to comply in
any respect with any written or oral direction of the Company that relates to the performance of his duties that he can
physically perform, (viii) has violated any of the Company’ s written policies or rules, or (ix) fails to perform or uphold
in any material respect any duty under the Norling Employment Agreement. “ Good Reason ” means (i) a material
diminution in Mr. Norling’ s base salary, (ii) a material diminution in Mr. Norling’ s authority, duties and



responsibilities, (iii) a material breach by the Company of any of its covenants or obligations, in each case to Mr. Norling
under the Norling Employment Agreement, or (iv) the relocation of the geographic location of Mr. Norlin’ s principal
place of employment by more than 50 miles from the location of his principal place of employment as of the effective date
of the Norling Employment Agreement. Effective August 6, 2024, the Company adopted an Executive Severance Plan,
which provides severance payments and benefits if employment with the Company terminates under certain
circumstances specified in the Plan. Participants include the CEO and other executives as recommended by the CEO and
approved by the Board or Compensation Committee. The Executive Severance Plan provides that if the Company
terminates a participant’ s employment without “ Cause ” or the participant resigns for “ Good Reason ” at any time
other than the 24- month period beginning on the date of a change in control or within a period of 90 days preceding the
change in control (the “ Change in Control Period ), the participant is entitled to: (1) 1. 5 times for the CEO or 1. 0
times for other executives (the “ Normal Multiplier ) the participant’ s then- current base salary plus the full amount of
the participant’ s then- current annual target bonus; (2) full vesting in any unvested equity awards with time- based
vesting held by the participant under the Company’ s then- current outstanding equity incentive plans that would have
vested during the period of months equal to the product of (a) the Normal Multiplier and (b) 12 (the “ Severance Period
”); and (3) continue participating in the Company’ s health benefits for the Severance Period, as follows: (a) such
continued benefits shall be subject to the participant’ s timely election of continuation coverage under COBRA, (b) the
Company will pay the Company contribution and the participant shall be required to pay the employee contribution
directly or as a reimbursement to the participant at the Company’ s sole discretion, (c) the participant’ s right to receive
such health benefits will terminate if and when the participant secures alternative health benefits from a new employer,
or if and when the participant otherwise becomes ineligible for future coverage under COBRA; and (4) the Company
shall be required to provide these health benefits only to the extent that the Company continues offering an employee
health benefits plan and to the extent that the Company is not required to provide and pay for such post- termination
coverage to other employees to avoid a violation of applicable nondiscrimination requirements. If a participant’ s
employment is determined without Cause or the participant resigns for Good Reason during the Change in Control
Period, the participant is entitled to: (1) 2. 0 times for the CEO or 1. 5 times for other executives (the “ CIC Multiplier )
the participant’ s then- current base salary plus the full amount of the participant’ s then- current annual target bonus;
(2) a pro- rata portion of the participant’ s annual target bonus for the calendar year in which such termination occurs
based on the period worked by the participant during such calendar year prior to termination; (3) continue participating
in the Company’ s health benefits for 18 months, as follows: (a) such continued benefits shall be subject to the
participant’ s timely election of continuation coverage under COBRA, (b) the Company will pay the Company
contribution directly or as a reimbursement to the participant at the Company’ s sole discretion, (c) the participant’ s
right to receive further health benefits shall termination if and when the participant secures alternative health benefits
from a new employer, or if and when the participant otherwise becomes ineligible for further coverage under COBRA,
and (d) the Company shall be required to provide these health benefits only to the extent that the Company continues
offering an employee health benefits plan and to the extent that the Company is not required to provide and pay for such
post- termination coverage to other employees to avoid a violation of applicable nondiscrimination requirements; (4)
professional outplacement services up to $ 25, 000; and (5) full vesting of any outstanding unvested equity awards held
by the participant under the Company’ s then- current outstanding equity incentive plans (with any equity awards with
performance conditions vesting based on target performance). If a participant’ s employment terminates as a result of
disability or death, the participant is eligible to receive: (1) a pro- rata portion of the participant’ s target bonus for the
calendar year in which such termination occurs based on the period worked by the participant during such calendar
year prior to termination; and (2) in the case of the participant’ s termination of employment as a result of disability, full
vesting in any and all equity awards with time- based vesting that would have vested during the 12- month period
following the termination date, and in the case of the participant’ s death, full vesting of all equity awards (with any
equity awards with performance conditions vesting based on target performance). In the case of disability, the
participant also remains eligible for vesting of any equity awards with performance conditions outstanding on the date of
such termination. In each case, to be eligible for severance payments or benefits under the Executive Severance Plan, the
participant or the participant’ s designated beneficiary or estate, as applicable, must execute and not revoke a valid
separation and general release, and the participant must comply with certain restrictive covenants, including
confidentiality, non- competition, and non- solicitation. A participant is entitled to the following upon termination of
employment whether or not the participant is eligible for severance payments or benefits under the Executive Severance
Plan: (1) the portion of the participant’ s base salary that has accrued prior to termination and not yet been paid; (2) the
portion of the participant’ s prior- year annual bonus that has been earned prior to termination and has not yet been
paid; (3) the amount of any expenses properly incurred by the participant on behalf of the Company in accordance with
Company policy prior to such termination and not yet reimbursed; and (4) the amount of the participant’ s vacation
time that has accrued prior to termination and has not yet been used. For purposes of the Executive Severance Plan, “
Cause ” means a participant’ s: (i) willful misconduct or gross negligence with respect to any material aspect of the
Company’ s business; (ii) refusal to follow the lawful directions of the Company employee to whom the participant
reports or, in the case of the CEO, the Board; (iii) breach of a fiduciary duty owed to the Company or its shareholders;
(iv) any act of fraud, embezzlement or other material dishonesty with respect to the Company; (v) conviction, plea of
nolo contendere, guilty plea, or confession to a crime based upon an act of fraud, embezzlement or dishonesty or to a
felony or crime of moral turpitude; (vi) habitual abuse of alcohol or any controlled substance or reporting to work under
the influence of alcohol or any controlled substance (other than a controlled substance that participant is properly



taking under a current prescription), (vii) misappropriation by the participant of any material assets or any business
opportunities of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates; (viii) a material failure to comply with the
Company’ s written policies or rules, as they may be in effect from time to time during participant’ s employment,
including policies and rules prohibiting discrimination or harassment; or (ix) a material breach of any restrictive
covenants agreement or any other written agreement between the Company or one of its subsidiaries and the
participant, provided that the participant will have 30 days after notice from the Company to cure a failure or breach
under (vi), (viii) and (ix), to the extent reasonably curable. For purposes of the Executive Severance Plan, “ Good Reason
” means the occurrence of any of the following events without the participant’ s consent: (i) a material reduction of the
participant’ s base salary or annual target bonus as in effect immediately prior to the reduction; (ii) a material reduction
in the participant’ s authority, duties or responsibilities (other than in connection with a change in control in which the
participant retains authority over the Company’ s business that is similar to the pre- change in control authority other
than such reductions as are typical when becoming a senior executive of an acquirer’ s subsidiary or that relate to
ceasing to be a senior executive of a publicly traded corporation), (iii) a change in the geographic location of the place
where the participant principally performs services for the Company by more than 50 miles from its existing location
(other than in connection with business travel); or (iv) in the case of the CEO, the Board’ s failure to re- nominate
Participant for a seat on the Board, provided that, within 30 days of the first occurrence of the event that the participant
believes constitutes Good Reason, the participant notifies the Company in writing of the event, the Company fails to
correct the act or omission within 30 days after receiving the participant’ s written notice and the participant actually
terminates their employment within 60 days after the date the Company receives the participant’ s notice. Director
Compensation No member of our Board who is also a member of management receives cash, equity or other non- equity
compensation for service on our Board. Our non- employee director compensation is designed to align compensation
with our business objectives and the creation of stockholder value, while enabling us to attract, retain, incentivize, and
reward directors who contribute to our long- term success. Non- Employee Director Compensation Annual Equity
Award. Each non- employee director receives a $ 150, 000 annual equity award comprised solely of RSUs. The chair of
our Board receives an additional $ 25, 000 annual equity award comprised solely of RSUs. The awards are granted on
the date of each annual meeting of stockholders at which the non- employee director is elected to our Board or continues
to serve as a director. Each grant vests in full on the first anniversary of the grant date. Initial Equity Award. Upon
initial election to our Board, each new non- employee director receives an initial equity award equal to 150 % of the
annual equity award comprised of RSUs. The initial equity award vests in equal installments on the first, second and
third anniversary of the date of the grant. Annual Cash Retainer. Each non- employee director receives an annual cash
retainer of § 50, 000 for his or her service on our Board, and the chair of our Board receives an additional $ 20, 000 cash
retainer. Each member of the Audit, Compensation, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees receives
an annual cash retainer of $ 10, 000, $ 7, 500, and $ 5, 000, respectively. In addition, the chair of each of the Audit,
Compensation, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees will receive an additional cash retainer of $ 20,
000, $ 15, 000, and $ 10, 000, respectively. The annual cash retainers, as applicable, are payable in quarterly installments,
in arrears, at the end of each calendar quarter for the duration of such non- employee director’ s service on our Board or
committee. 2024 Director Compensation NameFees earned or paid in cash ($) Stock awards ($) Total ($) (a) (b) (c) (d)
Eric TechS2, 047 150, 002 202, 049 Kevin Griffin76, 250 169, 999 246, 249 Jonathan J. Ledecky63, 750 150, 002 213, 752
John P. Miller120, 751 150, 002 270, 753 Ja- chin Audrey Lee, Ph. D44, 986 375, 001 419, 987 Clara Nagy McBane32,
967 375, 002 407, 969 (a) Mr. Hayes and Mr. Fong are not included in this table. Neither Mr. Hayes nor Mr. Fong were
separately compensated for their Board service for any period of time in which they were employed by the Company.
Mr. Hayes’ and Mr. Fong’ s executive compensation, including Mr. Hayes’ compensation for his Board service for the
period of time in which he was not employed by the Company, are included under “ Executive Compensation ” above. (b)
The amounts in Tﬂ-feﬂ‘ﬁaﬁeﬂ—feqt&fed—b’y—lhl\ column reﬂect Board fees earned Hem-will-be-set-forth-in-the-seetiorrheaded—

. 7 the2024-anntal-meeting-of stoekholders-whieh-wit
be—ﬁ-}edﬂwr&nﬂ—l%e—dzws—a-fteﬁ-he—eﬁd-o-ﬁtlk lmal year &ﬂd—rs—rneefpeﬁﬁed-ended December 31, 2024. (c) The amounts in this
report-column reflect the grant date fair value of grants of RSUs to each non- employee director on August 12, 2024,

calculated in accordance with ASC Topic 718, based on the closing price of the Company’ s common stock on the grant
date. As of December 31, 2024, Mr. Tech held 48, 232 unvested RSUs and 52, 738 vested options, Mr. Griffin held 54, 662
unvested RSUs and 2, 414 vested stock options, Mr. Ledecky held 48, 232 unvested RSUs and 2, 414 vested stock options,
Mr. Miller held 54, 281 unvested RSUs, Ms. Lee held 115, 396 unvested RSUs, and Ms. McBane held 118, 987 unvested
RSUs. (d) The amounts in this column reflect total compensation received by refererree-each non- employee director for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 . [tem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and
Related Shareholder-Stockholder Matters The following table sets forth, as of March 11, 2025, certain information required
with respect to (a) the beneficial ownership of our common stock held by (i) each of our directors, (ii) each of our named
executive officers, and (iii) all of our current directors and executive officers as a group, and (b) stockholders known to
us to beneficially own more than 5 % of our common stock. For purposes of this ftemrwitt-table, beneficial ownership has
been determined in accordance with the provisions of Rule 13d- 3 of the Exchange Act. In general, beneficial ownership
includes any shares of common stock as to which the individual has sole or shared voting or investment power. The
Company deemed shares of our common stock that may be set-acquired by an individual or group within 60 days of
March 11, 2025 pursuant to the exercise of options or warrants or the vesting of restricted stock units to be outstanding
forth-—- for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of such individual or group, but those shares are not
deemed outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person shown in the table.




Except as indicated in footnotes to this table, the Company believes that the stockholders named in this table have sole
voting and investment power with respect to all shares of our common stock shown to be beneficially owned by the-them
seettorrheaded-based on information provided to us by these stockholders. Percentage ownership is based on 18, 162, 029
shares of our common stock outstanding on March 11, 2025. Shares Beneficially OwnedName and Address
NumberPercentDirectors and Named Executive Officers (1) Christopher Hayes (2) 213, 4781. 2 % Christian Fong — *
Sarah Weber Wells (3) 70, 665 * Jonathan M. Norling (4) 75, 420 * Eric Tech (5) 161, 087 * Kevin Griffin (6) 754, 2154. 2
% Jonathan J. Ledecky (7) 642, 5863. S % John P. Miller (8) 80, 594 * Ja- chin Audrey Lee, Ph. D. (9) 24, 157 * Clara
Nagy McBane2, 000 * All directors and executive officers as a group (9 persons) 2, 024, 20211. 1 % * Represents
beneficial ownership of less than 1 % of the outstanding shares of our common stock. (1) The business address of the
stockholder is c / o Spruce Power Holding Corporation, 2000 S Colorado Blvd, Suite 2- 825, Denver, Colorado 80222 (2)
Consists of (a) 67, 363 shares held of record, (b) options to purchase 123, 956 shares of our common stock, and (c)
restricted stock units as to 22, 159 shares, which vest within 60 days of March 11, 2025. (3) Consists of (a) 25, 722 shares
held of record and (b) restricted stock units as to 44, 943 shares, which vest within 60 days of March 11, 2025. (4)
Consists of (a) 29, 509 shares held of record and (b) restricted stock units as to 45, 911 shares, which vest within 60 days
of March 11, 202S. (5) Consists of (a) 102, 099 shares held in trusts of which Mr. Tech is the co- trustee and has or shares
investment and voting power, (b) 3, 125 shares held by a daughter of Mr. Tech, (c) 3, 125 shares held by another
daughter of Mr. Tech, and (d) options to purchase 52, 738 shares of our common stock. (6) Consists of (a) options to
purchase 2, 414 shares of our common stock (b) 487 218 shares of our common stock managed by MGG Investment
Group, LP (“ MGG Seet O e ; v " 1), that allocates to various held
funds of which Mr. Grlfﬁn is lhc Prex—y—Sta-temeﬁt—Chlef Executlve Ofﬁcer and Chlef Investment Officer, and (c) 264, 583
shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants held by MGG, of which Mr. Griffin is the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Investment Officer. Notwithstanding his dispositive and voting control over such shares, Mr. Griffin
disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares of our common stock and warrants held by MGG, except to the extent of his
proportionate pecuniary interest therein. The business address of each of the foregoing is ¢ / 0 Graubard Miller, The
Chrysler Building, 405 Lexington Avenue, 11th Floor, New York, New York 10174. (7) Consists of (a) 47, 464 shares held
of record, (b) options to purchase 2, 414 shares of our common stock, and (c) 328, 125 shares and 264, 583 shares of
common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants held by Ironbound Partners Fund, LLC, an affiliate of Mr. Ledecky.
Notwithstanding his dispositive and voting control over such shares, Mr. Ledecky disclaims beneficial ownership of the
shares of our common stock and warrants held by Ironbound Partners Fund, LLC, except to the extent of his
proportionate pecuniary interest therein. The business address of Mr. Ledecky is ¢ / 0 Graubard Miller, The Chrysler
Building, 405 Lexington Avenue, 11th Floor, New York, New York 10174. (8) Consists of (a) 74, 545 shares held of
record and (b) restricted stock units as to 6, 049 shares, which vest within 60 days of March 11, 2025. (9) Consists of (a)
1, 769 shares held of record and (b) restricted stock units as to 22, 388 shares, which vest within 60 days of March 11,
2025 Equlty Compensatlon Plan Informatlon The followmg table summarlzes share 1nformat10n, as of December 31

D i nfo i ding-the 'ompam L s equity compensation pldll\ W-rl-l-and
arrangements, c0n51st1ng of the Spruce Power Holdlng Corp 2020 Equity Incentive Plan and XL Hybrids, Inc. 2010
Equity Incentive Plan. New awards may only be set-forth-made under the Spruce Power Holding Corp. 2020 Equity
Incentive Plan. The Spruce Power Holding Corp. 2020 Equity Incentive Plan is intended to encourage ownership of
shares by employees and directors of and certain consultants to the Company and its affiliates in order to attract and
retain such people, to induce the-them seetiorrheaded—Exeeutive-Offieer-to work for the benefit of the Company or of and
- an Direetor-Compensation-affiliate and to provide additional incentive for them to promote the success of the Company
or of an affiliate. The Spruce Power Holding Corp. 2020 Equity Incentive Plan provides for the granting of ISOs, non -
qualified options, stock grants and stock- based awards. Plan CategoryNumber of Securities To Be Issued Upon
Exercise Of Outstanding Options, Warrants, and Rights (1) (a) Weighted- Average Exercise Price Of Outstanding
Options, Warrants, and Rights (1) (b) Number of Securities Remaining Available For Future Issuance Under Equity
Compensation Plans (excluding securities reflected in column (a)) (c) Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders2, 722,201 $ 9. 34 6, 929, 980 (2) Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders — — — Total2,
722,201 $ — 6, 929, 980 (1) Consists of options with respect to 488, 385 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and
RSUs with respect to 2, 233, 816 shares unvested as of December 31, 2024. The weighted- average exercise price does not
take the RSUs into account. (2) Under the Spruce Power Holdlng Corp 2020 Equlty Incentlve Plan , on Information+n
the first Proxy-Sta Feet b days-- day after-the-end-of
the-each fiscal year and—rs—rneﬁrpef&ted—m—t-hts—repoft—of the Company untll the second day of fiscal year 2030, the number of
shares that may be issued from time to time pursuant to the Plan, shall be increased by referenee-an amount equal to the
lesser of (i) 5 % of the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock on such date and (ii) an amount determined by
the Board, unless it has delegated power to act on its behalf to the Compensation Committee, in which case the amount
shall be determined by the Compensation Committee. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the maximum number of shares
that may be issued as ISOs under the Plan shall be 260 000 000 [tem 13. C clldm Rele ulonxhlps and Relc ucd Tmn\ 1c110ns
and Director Independence +he 6 v etfo e 6 p
and-Related Person Transactions —Our Board adopted a written related person transactlons pohcy that sets forth pollcles
and procedures regarding the identification, review, consideration and oversight of related person transactions. For
purposes of this policy only, a related person transaction is a transaction, arrangement or relationship (or any series of
similar transactions, arrangements or relationships) in which the Company or any of its subsidiaries, are participants




involving and- an “Management-amount that exceeds $ 120, 000, in which any related person has a material interest.
Transactions involving compensation for services provided to us or any of our subsidiaries as an employee, consultant or
director will not be considered related person transactions under this policy. A related person is any executive officer,
director, nominee to become a director or a holder of more than 5 % of any class of our voting securities (including our
common stock), including any of their immediate family members and affiliates, including entities owned or controlled
by such persons. Under the related person transaction policy, the related person in question or, in the case of
transactions with a holder of more than 5 % of any class of our voting securities, an officer with knowledge of a proposed
transaction, will be required to present information regarding the proposed related person transaction to our Audit
Committee (or to another independent body of our Board) for review. To identify related person transactions in advance,
we expect to rely on information supplied by our executive officers, directors and certain significant stockholders. In
considering related person transactions, our Audit Committee is expected to take into account the relevant available
facts and circumstances, which may include, but are not limited to: * the risks, costs, and benefits to us; * the impact on a
director’ s independence in the event the related person is a director, immediate family member of a director or an entity
with which a director is affiliated;  the terms of the transaction;  the availability of other sources for comparable
services or products; and ¢ the terms available to or from, as the case may be, unrelated third parties. Our Audit
Committee will approve only those transactions that it determines are fair to us and in our best interests. We do not have
any related person transactions to report under relevant SEC rules and regulations. Director Independence New York
Stock Exchange listing standards require a majority of our directors and each member of our Audit Committee,
Compensation Committee, and Nominating and Corporate Governance —Sur-Committee to be independent. In addition,
our Corporate Governance Guidelines require a majority of our directors to be independent. The Board determined that
all of our -Btreeters—dlrectors are 1ndependent except Lr1=1—t-1=xe—Pwre)x—y—S’fa-term-:-nt— or Mr. Hayes, due to the—29%4—anﬂua-1-

fepeft—employment b\ fefefeﬁee-our Company, and Mr Tech due to hlS employment as the Company s Chief Executive
Officer from December 2021 until February 1, 2023. Specifically, the following directors are independent under New
York Stock Exchange listing standards: Mr. Griffin, Mr. Ledecky, Mr. Miller, Ms. Lee and Ms. McBane . [tem 14.
Principal Accountant Fees and Services Pre- Approval Policies and Procedures The Audit Committee has established a
policy to pre- approve all audit and permissible non- audit services provided by our independent registered public
accounting firm. Prior to engagement of an independent registered public accounting firm for the next year’ s audit,
management will submit an aggregate of services expected to be rendered during that year for each of four categories of
services to the Audit Committee for approval. 1. Audit services include audit work performed in the preparation of
financial statements, as well as work that generally only an independent registered public accounting firm can
reasonably be expected to provide, including comfort letters, statutory audits, and attest services and consultation
regarding financial accounting and / or reporting standards. 2. Audit- Related services are for assurance and related
services that are traditionally performed by an independent registered public accounting firm, including due diligence
related to mergers and acquisitions, standalone subsidiary audits, employee benefit plan audits, and special procedures
required to meet certain regulatory requirements. 3. Tax services include all services performed by an independent
registered public accounting firm’ s tax personnel except those services specifically related to the audit of the financial
statements, and include fees in the areas of tax compliance, tax planning, and tax advice. 4. Other Fees are those
associated with services not captured in the other categories, including subscriptions to research tools and registration
fees for seminars and / or conferences. Prior to engagement, the Audit Committee pre- approves these services by
category or service. The fees are budgeted, and the Audit Committee requires our independent registered public
accounting firm and management to report actual fees versus the budget periodically throughout the year by category of
service. During the year, circumstances may arise when it may become necessary to engage our independent registered
public accounting firm for additional services not contemplated in the original pre- approval. In those instances, the
Audit Committee requires specific pre- approval before engaging our independent registered public accounting firm.
The Audit Committee may delegate pre- approval authority to one or more of its members. The member to whom such
authority is delegated must report, for information purposes only, any pre- approval decisions to the Audit Committee at
its next scheduled meeting. Auditor Fees The following table presents the aggregate fees for professional services
rendered by Deloitte & Touche LLP for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023. All fees and
services described in the table below were pre- approved by the Audit Committee. 20242023 Audit Fees: (1) $ 3, 261, 056
$ 2,905, 000 Audit Related Fees: (2) 435, 000 485, 000 Tax Fees: (3) 108, 000 17, 894 All Other Fees: (4) 5, 551 5, 251
Total Aggregate Fees: $ 3, 809, 607 $ 3, 413, 145 (1) Audit Fees consisted of audit work performed in the preparation of
financial statements and work during the fiscal year to implement standards and controls under Sarbanes- Oxley
procedures. (2) Audit Related Fees were related to the Company’ s standalone subsidiary annual reports required by
lender agreements. (3) Tax Fees were related to tax consulting services. (4) All other fees were related to subscriptions to
research tools and registration fees for seminars and / or conferences. PART IV Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement

Schedules (a) Documents filed as part of this report ftemwitl-besetforth-intheseetion-headed—PropesaliNo- 2—
Ratifieation-1. The following financial statements of Seteetionr-Spruce Power Holding Corporation and Report of Deloitte

& Touche LLP, lndcpcndcnl Ru'l\lclc(l Public Accounting Firm -theProxy-Statement-for-the2024-annual-meeting-of

RegisteredPublie-Aeeounting Firms-, are included in this report: Page Repeﬁs— Report of lndcpcndcnl Ru'l\lclc(l Public



Accounting Firms for Deloitte & Touche LLP (PCAOB ID No. 34) and-MareumEERP-PREAOBIDNo—688)-F- 2Consolidated
Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023-2023F and2022F-- 6Censolidated-4Consolidated Statements of Operations

for the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023-2023F and-2622F-- 8Ceonselidated-6Consolidated Statement of Changes in
Stockholders” Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023-2023F and-2622F-- 9Censelidated-7Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023-2023F and2022F-- HNetes-8Notes to
Consolidated Financial StatementsF- 11 2. List of financial statement schedules: All schedules have been omitted beeause-since
they are not applicable, or the required information is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto. 3. List of Exhibits
required by Item 601 of Regulation S- K. See part (b) below. (b) Exhibits. Exhibit No. PeseripttonineladedFormFting
DescriptionIncludedFormExhibitFiling Date2. 1Membership Interest Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of September 9,
2022, by and between the Company, SF Solar Blocker 2 LLC, SF Solar Blocker 3 LLC, Spruce Holding Company 3 Holdco
LLC and HPS Investment Partners, LLCBy Reference8- K2. KSeptember-1September 15, 26223-20222 . 2 * Asset Purchase
Agreement by and between NJR Clean Energy Ventures II Corporation, as Seller, and Spruce Power 5, LLC, as Buyer,
dated as of November 22, 2024By Reference8- K2. 1November 26, 20243 . | Second Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation. By Reference8- K3. kBPeeember-1December 23, 20203. 2Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended and
Restated Certificate of IncorporationBy Reference8- K3. kOeteber-10ctober 6, 20233. 3Certificate of Amendment changing
name of Registrant to Spruce Power Holding COIpOI"lthIlBy ReferenceS K3 -I@Jevefnbeleovember 14, 20223 4Geft-1-ﬁeﬂte
of Amendment-to-the-Seeond-Amended-4Amended and eate ation ; ber-6
20233—"5Amended-and Restated Bylaws, as amended as of November 10, 2022By ReferenceS K3 KNeverﬂbePZNovember 14,
20224. 1Description of Registered SecuritiesHerewith Exhibit No. DescriptionIncludedFormExhibitFiling Date10
SeeuritiesBy Refereneeto-—KMareh 3+202H6-. | Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated August 18, 2023 among
Spruce Power 2, LLC, as Borrower, Silicon Valley Bank, a division of First- Citizens Bank & Trust Company as Administrative
Agent and the Issuing Bank, and the lenders from time to time party thereto. By Referencel0- Q10. @Nevember-1November
13, 2023-202310 ExhibitNo-—DeseriptionineladedFormEting Date10-. 2 + Supply Agreement, dated as of July 19, 2019, by and
between XL Hybrids, Inc. and Parker- Hannifin Corporation. By ReferenceS- 4 / A10. ANevember-1November 10, 202010.
3Form of Subscription Agreement. By Reference8- K10. KSeptember-1September 18, 202010. 4Registration Rights
Agreement. By ReferenceS- 410. 40etober-60ctober 2, 202010. 5 # 5Spraee-- Spruce Power Holding Corp. 2020 Equity
Incentive Plan. Herewith16-By Referencel0- K10 . SApril 9, 202410. 6 # 6Spraee—- Spruce Power Holding Corp. 2020 Equity
Incentive Plan Form of Stock Option Agreement. Herewith+6-By Referencel0- K10 . 6April 9, 202410. 7 # #Spruee-- Spruce
Power Holding Corp. 2020 Equity Incentive Plan Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement. Herewith10-By Referencel0- K10
. 7April 9, 202410. 8 # 8Ferm— Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Registrant and each officer and director. By
Reference8- K10. KPeeember-11December 23, 202010. 9Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated October 29, 2019,
among Kilowatt Systems, LLC, Volta MH Owner II, LLC, Greenday Finance I LLC and SpruceKismet, LLC, as Co-
Borrowers, Silicon Valley Bank, as Administrative Agent, ING Capital LLC and Silicon Valley Bank as Issuing Banks, and the
financial institutions from time to time party thereto as lenders, as conformed for each of Omnibus Amendment and Consent,
dated as of March 5, 2020, Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of May 29, 2020, and Omnibus Amendment and Consent,
dated March 18, 2021. By Reference8- K10. KSeptember-1September 15, 202210. 10Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement, dated July 12, 2022, among Spruce Power 2, LLC, as Borrower, Silicon Valley Bank, as Administrative Agent and
the Issuing Bank, and the lenders from time to time party thereto. By Reference8- K10. KSeptember-2September 15, 202210.
11Credit Agreement, dated November 13, 2020, among Spruce Power 3, LLC, as Borrower, KeyBank National Association, as
Administrative Agent and Issuing Bank, and the lenders from time to time party thereto. By Reference8- K10. kSeptember
3September 15, 202210. 120mnibus Amendment and Accession dated April 8, 2022, among KWS Solar Term Parent 1 LLC,
KWS Solar Term Parent 2 LLC and KWS Solar Term Parent 3 LLC, as Co- Borrowers, KeyBank National Association, as
Administrative Agent, and the lenders from time to time party thereto. By Reference8- K10. KSeptember-4September 15,
262210--- 2022 Exhibit No. DescriptionIncludedFormExhibitFiling Datel0 . 13Waiver and Second Amendment to Amended
and Restated Credit Agreement, dated July 12, 2022, among KWS Solar Term Parent 1 LLC, KWS Solar Term Parent 2 LLC,
KWS Solar Term Parent 3 LLC and Spruce Power 3 Holdco, LLC, as Co- Borrowers, KeyBank National Association, as
Administrative Agent, and the lenders from time to time party thereto. By Reference8- K10. KSeptember-SSeptember 15,
202210. 14 # H4Exeentive—- Executive Employment Agreement, dated April 12, 2024, by and between Spruce Power
Holding Corporation and Christopher HayesBy Referencel0- Q10. 2August 14, 202410. 15 # Executive Separation
Agreement, dated April 12, 2024, by and between Spruce Power Holding Corporation and Christian FongBy
Referencel0- Q10. 3August 14, 202410. 16 # Executive Employment Agreement, dated September 9, 2022, by and between
XL Fleet Corp. and Christian Fong. By Reference8- K10. KSeptember-6September 15, 202210. 17 # +5Restrieted-—- Restricted
Stock Award Grant under the Registrant’ s 2020 Equity Incentive Plan, dated September 9, 2022, to Christian Fong by XL Fleet
Corp. By Reference8- K10. KSeptember-7September 15, 202210. 18 # Amended +66+fer—- Offer Letter, dated June 13,
2024, by and between Spruce Power Holding Corporation and Sarah WellsBy Referencel0- Q10. 4August 14, 202410. 19
# Offer Letter, dated October 25, 2018, by and between Spruce Lending Inc. and Sarah Weber WellsBy Reference8- K10.
KMey-1May | 1, 2623-202310 ExhibitNe-. 20 # DeseriptionineladedFormFting Datet0—+7Enhaneed--- Enhanced Severance
Letter, dated April 27, 2022, between the Company and Sarah Weber WellsBy Reference8- K10. Kay-2May 11, 202310.
+80fferLetter-21 # Amended and Restated At- will Employment, Confidential Information Invention Assignment, and
Arbitration Agreement, dated January 1, 2022, by and between Solar Service Experts and Jonathan M. NorlingBy
Referencel0- Q10. 1August 14, 202410. 22Cooperation Agreement, dated June 21, 2024, by and among Spruce Power
Holding Corporation, Clayton Capital Appreciation Fund L P. and Clayton Partners LLCBy ReferenceS K10. lJune
24, 202410. 23Credit Agreement , dated as of June May e o ;




d e 20, 20222024 , betwween-among Spruce SET Borrower
2024, LLC, as Borrower, Barlngs GPSF LLC as F acnllty Agent for the financial institutions that may from time to time
become parties hereto as Lenders, Computershare Trust Company , National Association, as Collateral Agent and Staeey
€onstasBy-as Paying Agent and Lenders from time to time party theretoBy Reference8- kOetober28-K10. 1July 1, 2024
Exhibit No. DescriptionIncludedFormExhibitFiling Datel0. 24  Credit Agreement, dated as of November 22, 2024,
among Spruce Power 5 Borrower 2024, LLC, as Borrower, Banco Santander, S. A., New York Branch, as Facility
Agent, Computershare Trust Company, National Association, as Collateral Agent, as Paying Agent and as Securities
Intermediary and The Lenders from time to time party theretoBy Reference8- K10. 1November 26, 2022+6-202410 . 25 *
# 20Exeeutive-- Executive Scverance PelieyBy-PlanHerewith16. 1Letter from Deloitte & Touche LLP to the Securities
and Exchange Commission dated February 5, 2025By Refereneet6-Reference8 - QAwugust-9-K16. 1February S ,
20222+Substidiartes-202516. 2Letter from CohnReznick LLP to the Securities and Exchange Commission dated February
5,2025By Reference8- K16. 2February 5, 202519. 1Spruce Power Holding Corporation Insider Trading
PolicyHerewith21Subsidiaries of the RegistrantHerewith23. 1 #-CensentofMareumEEPindependentregistered-publie
aeeounting-firmHerewtth23-—2-" Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent registered public accounting firmHerewith31.

1 * Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a- 14 (a) and Rule 15d- 14 (a) of the Securities and Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. Herewith31. 2 * Certification of Principal
Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a- 14 (a) and Rule 15d- 14 (a) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. Herewith32. 1 * Certification of Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. Herewith32. 2 *
Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. Herewith97 * Spruce Power Holding Corporation Clawback PolicyHerewith101. INS * Inline
XBRL Instance DocumentHerewith101. SCH * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema DocumentHerewith101. CAL *
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase DocumentHerewith101. DEF * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension
Definition Linkbase DocumentHerewith101. LAB * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
DocumentHerewith101. PRE * XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase PeeumentHerewitht04€Cover-—-------
DocumentHerewith Exhibit No. DescriptionIncludedFormExhibitFiling Date104Cover Page Interactive Data File
(formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101). Herewith * Filed herewith * Schedule and exhibits to this exhibit
omitted pursuant to Regulation S- K Item 601 (b) (2). The Company agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted
schedule or exhibit to the SEC upon request. T Certain confidential portions of this exhibit were omitted by means of marking
such portions with asterisks because the identified confidential portions (i) are not material and (ii) would be competitively
harmful if publicly disclosed. # Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement. In accordance with Item
601 (b) (32) (i1) of Regulation S- K and SEC Release No. 34- 47986, the certifications furnished in Exhibits 32. 1 and 32. 2
hereto are deemed to accompany this Annual Report on Form 10- K and will not be deemed “ filed ” for purposes of Section 18
of the Exchange Act or deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Exchange Act or the Securities Act of
1933 except to the extent that the registrant specifically incorporates it by reference. Item 16. Form 10- K Summary Net
apphieable-SIGNATURES traecordanee-with-Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities
Exchange Act 0of 1934 , the registrant has duly caused this AnnaalRepertreport enForm—+0-K-to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. SPRUCE POWER HOLDING CORPORATIONDate: Aprit-8-March 31 , 2624B¥
2025By : / s / ChristianFongName-Christopher HayesName : ChristianFongTFitle-Christopher HayesTitle : Chicf Executive
Officer (Principal Executive Officer) SPRUCE POWER HOLDING CORPORATIONDate: Apri-8-March 31 , 2624B¥y
2025By : / s/ Sarah Weber WellsName: Sarah Weber WellsTitle: Chief Financial Officer and Head of Sustainability (Principal
Financial Officer andPrincipal Accounting Officer) Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Exchange
Act, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
PersonCapacityDate / s / ChristtanFongChief- Christopher HayesChief Exccutive Officer and BireeterApritS-DirectorMarch
31, 2624christtanFong-2025Christopher Hayes (Principal Executive Officer) /s / Sarah Weber WellsChief Financial
OffieerAprit-8-Officer and Head of SustalnablhtyMarch 31 %9%4S&fa-h—2025Sarah Weber We]]s (PIIHClpdl Financial Officer
and Principal Accounting Officer) +s H 5 . ; s
Kevin Gﬂff-’rﬂ-Btreefeﬁ*prﬂ-GrlfﬁnDlrectorMarch -8—31 %9%4Kewn—2025Kevm Griffin/s/J onathdn J. -I:edeekyBrreefehA:pﬂ}
LedeckyDirectorMarch 8-31 , %9%4:}eﬁat-h&n—2025J0nathan J. Ledecky /s / John P. MillerDireetorAprit
MillerDirectorMarch 8-31 , %9%4:}ehﬁ—2025John P. Miller / s / Eric FeehBDireetorAprit- TechDirectorMarch 31, 2025Eric
Tech /s / Ja- chin Audrey LeeDirectorMarch 31, 2025Ja- chin Audrey Lee /s / Clara Nagy McBaneDirectorMarch 31,
2025Clara Nagy McBane Exhibit 4. 1 DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 As of the filing date of the Annual Report on Form 10- K (the “
Form 10- K ”) of which this exhibit is part, Spruce Power Holding Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“ Company, ” «
we, ” “ us, ” or “ our ”), has one class of securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (the “ Exchange Act ”): our common stock, $ 0. 0001 par value per share (“ Common Stock ). The following
summary of the material terms of our securities is not intended to be a complete summary of the rights and preferences
of such securities, and is in all respects subject to, qualified in its entirety by reference to, the applicable provisions of the
Delaware General Corporation Law (the “ DGCL ”), our Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
effective December 21, 2020, as amended by the Certificate of Amendment effective November 10, 2023 and the
Certificate of Amendment effective October 6. 2023 (our “ Certificate of Incorporation ) and our Amended and
Restated Bylaws, amended as of November 10, 2022 (our “ Bylaws ). Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws are
included as exhibits to the Form 10- K and may be amended by a document filed with one of our periodic reports filed




with the U. S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“ SEC ”) subsequent to the date of the Form 10- K. On December
21, 2020 (the “ Closing Date ), Pivotal Investment Corporation II, a special purpose acquisition company incorporated
on March 20, 2019 (“ Pivotal ), consummated a business combination pursuant to that certain Agreement and Plan of
Reorganization, dated as of September 17, 2020 (the “ Merger Agreement ), by and among Pivotal, PIC II Merger Sub
Corp., a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Pivotal (“ Merger Sub ), and XL Hybrids, Inc., a
Delaware corporation (“ Legacy XL ). Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, a business combination between
Pivotal and Legacy XL was effected through the merger of Merger Sub with and into Legacy XL, with Legacy XL
surviving as the surviving company and as a wholly- owned subsidiary of Pivotal (the “ Merger ” and, collectively with
the other transactions described in the Merger Agreement, the “ Business Combination ). On the Closing Date, and in
connection with the closing of the Business Combination (the “ Closing ), Pivotal Investment Corporation II changed its
name to XL Fleet Corp. In November 2022, following the acquisition of Spruce Holding Company 1 LL.C, Spruce
Holding Company 2 LL.C, Spruce Holding Company 3 LLC, and Spruce Manager LLC, we changed our corporate
name from “ XL Fleet Corp. ” to “ Spruce Power Holding Corporation. ” Authorized and Outstanding Stock Our
Certificate of Incorporation authorizes the issuance of 351, 000, 000 shares of capital stock, comprised of 350, 000, 000
shares of Common Stock, par value $ 0. 0001 per share, and 1, 000, 000 shares of preferred stock, par value $ 0. 0001
share (“ Preferred Stock ). As of March 24, 2025, there were approximately 18, 078, 238 shares of Common Stock and
no shares of Preferred Stock outstanding. The outstanding shares of Common Stock are duly authorized, fully paid and
non- assessable. Voting Rights Except as otherwise required by law, our Certificate of Incorporation or as otherwise
provided in any certificate of designation for any series of Preferred Stock, the holders of Common Stock possess all
voting power for the election of the directors of our board of directors (our “ Board ) and all other matters requiring
stockholder action. Holders of Common Stock are entitled to one vote per share on matters to be voted on by
stockholders. Holders of Common Stock are not entitled to cumulative voting rights in the election of directors. In
general, if a quorum exists, a majority of votes cast with respect to a matter is sufficient to authorize action, unless a
greater vote is required by law or our Certificate of Incorporation, except that directors are elected by plurality. Under
our Certificate of Incorporation, in addition to the vote of the holders of any class or series of stock of the Company
required by law or our Certificate of Incorporation, the affirmative vote of the holders of shares of 1309300722v1 voting
stock representing at least seventy- five percent (75 %) of the voting power of all of the then outstanding shares of the
capital stock of the Company entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class, shall
be required to amend, alter or repeal, or adopt any provision inconsistent with, Articles Sixth, Seventh, Eighth, Ninth
and Tenth of our Certificate of Incorporation, which articles generally govern the appointment and removal of directors,
the amendment of our Bylaws, limitation of liability and indemnification, forum selection, and amendments to our
Certificate of Incorporation, respectively. Subject to the rights of the holders of shares of any series of Preferred Stock
then outstanding, any director, or our entire Board, may be removed from office at any time only for cause and only by
the affirmative vote of the holders of at least seventy- five percent (75 %) of the voting power of all of the then-
outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company entitled to vote at an election of directors, voting together as a single
class. Subject to the rights of any holders of any shares of Preferred Stock which may from time to time come into
existence and be outstanding, holders of Common Stock are entitled to the payment of dividends when and as declared
by our Board in accordance with applicable law and to receive other distributions from us. No Preemptive Rights;
Redemption and Assessment Holders of Common Stock have no conversion, preemptive or other subscription rights,
and there are no sinking fund or redemption provisions applicable to the Common Stock. Liquidation Subject to the
rights of any holders of any shares of Preferred Stock which may from time to time come into existence and be
outstanding, in the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, whether voluntary or
involuntary, the funds and assets of the Company that may be legally distributed to the Company’ s stockholders shall be
distributed among the holders of the then outstanding shares of Common Stock pro rata in accordance with the number
of shares of Common Stock held by each such holder. Directors and Classes of Directors Under our Certificate of
Incorporation, our Board is divided into three classes, each of which generally serve for a term of three years with only
one class of directors being elected each year. Our Certificate of Incorporation authorizes our Board, without
stockholder approval, to issue shares of Preferred Stock, in one or more series, and to fix for each such series such voting
powers, full or limited, or no voting powers, and such designations, preferences, and relative participating, optional or
other special rights and such qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, including without limitation, dividend
rights, conversion rights, redemption privileges, liquidation preferences and ranking, subject to applicable law. If we
issue Preferred Stock, such Preferred Stock would have priority over our Common Stock with respect to dividends and
other distributions, including the distribution of assets upon liquidation. As of March 24, 2025, we had 529, 167 private
warrants outstanding related to the December 2020 merger and organization of Legacy XL to become XL Fleet Corp.
Each outstanding warrant enables the holder to purchase one share of Common Stock at a price of $ 11. 50 per share,
subject to adjustment as discussed below. The warrants will expire at 5: 00 p. m., New York City time, five 2309300722v1
years after the consummation of the Business Combination or earlier upon redemption or liquidation. We may call the
warrants for redemption (excluding the private placement warrants), in whole and not in part, at a price of $ 0. 01 per
warrant e at any time while the warrants are exercisable; ® upon not less than 30 days’ prior written notice of
redemption to each warrant holder; e if, and only if, the reported last sale price of Common Stock equals or exceeds $
18. 00 per share, for any 20 trading days within any 30- day trading period ending on the third business day prior to the
notice of redemption to warrant holders; and e if, and only if, there is a current registration statement in effect with
respect to the shares of common stock underlying such warrants commencing five business days prior to the 30- day



trading period and continuing each day thereafter until the date of redemption. The right to exercise will be forfeited
unless the warrants are exercised prior to the date specified in the notice of redemption. On and after the redemption
date, a record holder of a warrant will have no further rights except to receive the redemption price for such holder’ s
warrant upon surrender of such warrant. If we call the warrants for redemption as described above, our management
will have the option to require all holders that wish to exercise warrants to do so on a *“ cashless basis. ” In such event,
each holder would pay the exercise price by surrendering the warrants for that number of shares of Common Stock
equal to the quotient obtained by dividing (x) the product of the number of shares of our Common Stock underlying the
warrants, multiplied by the difference between the exercise price of the warrants and the “ fair market value ” (defined
below) by (y) the fair market value. In this case, the “ fair market value ” shall mean the average reported last sale price
of the shares of our Common Stock for the 10 trading days ending on the third trading day prior to the date on which the
notice of redemption is sent to the holders of warrants. Whether we will exercise our option to require all holders to
exercise their warrants on a “ cashless basis ” will depend on a variety of factors including the price of shares of our
Common Stock at the time the warrants are called for redemption, our cash needs at such time and concerns regarding
dilutive stock issuances. The exercise price and number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the
warrants may be adjusted in certain circumstances including in the event of a share dividend, extraordinary dividend or
our recapitalization, reorganization, merger or consolidation. However, the warrants will not be adjusted for issuances
of shares of Common Stock at a price below the respective exercise prices of the warrants. After the issuance of shares of
Common Stock upon exercise of the warrants, each holder will be entitled to one vote for each share of Common Stock
held of record on all matters to be voted on by stockholders. Warrant holders may elect to be subject to a restriction on
the exercise of their warrants such that an electing warrant holder would not be able to exercise their warrants to the
extent that, after giving effect to such exercise, such holder would beneficially own in excess of 4. 9 % or 9. § % (as
specified by the holder) of the shares of our Common Stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to such exercise.
If the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock is increased by a share dividend payable in shares of Common
Stock , 2024ErieTFeelkEX-or by a split - up of shares of Common Stock or other similar event, then, on the effective date
of such share dividend, split- up or similar event, the number of shares of Common Stock issuable on exercise of each
warrant will be increased in proportion to such increase in the outstanding Common Stock. A rights offering to holders
of Common Stock entitling holders to purchase shares of Common Stock at a price less than the fair market value will be
deemed a stock dividend of a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the product of (i) the 3309300722v1 number of
shares of Common Stock actually sold in such rights offering (or issuable under any other equity securities sold in such
rights offering that are convertible into or exercisable for Common Stock) and (ii) one (1) minus the quotient of (x) the
price per share of Common Stock paid in such rights offering divided by (y) the fair market value. For these purposes (i)
if the rights offering is for securities convertible into or exercisable for Common Stock, in determining the price payable
for Common Stock, there will be taken into account any consideration received for such rights, as well as any additional
amount payable upon exercise or conversion and (ii) fair market value means the volume weighted average price of
Common Stock as reported during the ten ( 10 ) trading day period ending on the trading day prior to the first date on
which the shares of Common Stock trade on the applicable exchange or in the applicable market, regular way, without
the right to receive such rights . 5-In addition, if we, at any time while the warrants are outstanding and unexpired, pay a
dividend or make a distribution in cash, securities or other assets to the holders of Common Stock on account of such
Common Stock (or other securities into which the warrants are convertible), other than (a) as described above, or (b)
certain ordinary cash dividends, which are dividends of $ 0. 50 or less in any fiscal year (subject to adjustments), then the
warrant exercise price will be decreased, effective immediately after the effective date of such event, by the amount of
cash and / or the fair market value of any securities or other assets paid on each share of Common Stock in respect of
such event. If the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock is decreased by a consolidation, combination, reverse
stock split or reclassification of Common Stock or other similar event, then, on the effective date of such consolidation,
combination, reverse stock split, reclassification or similar event, the number of shares of Common Stock issuable on
exercise of each warrant will be decreased in proportion to such decrease in outstanding shares of Common Stock. We
will not be required to make adjustments to the exercise price for any other events including the issuance of additional
shares of Common Stock other than dividends paid in Common Stock as described above. Whenever the number of
shares of Common Stock purchasable upon the exercise of the warrants is adjusted, as described above, the warrant
exercise price will be adjusted by multiplying the warrant exercise price immediately prior to such adjustment by a
fraction (x) the numerator of which will be the number of shares of Common Stock purchasable upon the exercise of the
warrants immediately prior to such adjustment and (y) the denominator of which will be the number of shares of
Common Stock so purchasable immediately thereafter. In the case of any reclassification or reorganization of the
outstanding Common Stock (other than those described above or that solely affects the par value of such Common
Stock), or in the case of any merger or consolidation of us with or into another corporation (other than a consolidation or
merger in which we are the continuing corporation and that does not result in any reclassification or reorganization of
our outstanding Common Stock), or in the case of any sale or conveyance to another corporation or entity of the assets or
other property of ours as an entirety or substantially as an entirety in connection with which we is dissolved, the holders
of the warrants will thereafter have the right to purchase and receive, upon the basis and upon the terms and conditions
specified in the warrants and in lieu of the Common Stock immediately theretofore purchasable and receivable upon the
exercise of the rights represented thereby, the kind and amount of Common Stock or other securities or property
(including cash) receivable upon such reclassification, reorganization, merger or consolidation, or upon a dissolution
following any such sale or transfer, that the holder of the warrants would have received if such holder had exercised



their warrants immediately prior to such event. If less than 70 % of the consideration receivable by the holders of
Common Stock in such a transaction is payable in the form of Common Stock in the successor entity that is listed for
trading on a national securities exchange or is quoted in an established over- the- counter market, or is to be so listed for
trading or quoted immediately following such event, and if the registered holder of the warrant properly exercises the
warrant within thirty days following public disclosure of such transaction, the warrant exercise price will be reduced as
specified in the warrant agreement based on the Black- Scholes value (as defined in the warrant agreement) of the
warrant. The purpose of such exercise price reduction is to provide additional value to holders of the warrants when an
extraordinary transaction occurs during the exercise period of the warrants pursuant to which the holders of the
warrants otherwise do not receive the full potential value of the warrants in order to determine and realize the option
value component of the warrant. This formula is to compensate the warrant holder for the loss of the option value
portion of the warrant due to the requirement that the warrant holder exercise the warrant within 30 days of the event.
The Black- Scholes model is an accepted pricing model for estimating fair market value where no 4309300722v1 quoted
market price for an instrument is available. No fractional shares of Common Stock will be issued upon exercise of the
warrants. If, upon exercise of the warrants, a holder would be entitled to receive a fractional interest in a share of
Common Stock, we will, upon exercise, follow the requirements of the DGCL. Lock- Up Restrictions Certain of our
stockholders are subject to certain restrictions on transfer until the termination of applicable lock- up periods. Certain
Anti- Takeover Provisions Staggered Board and Directors Our Certificate of Incorporation provides that our Board be
classified into three classes of directors of approximately equal size. Additionally, directors may be removed only for
cause and only by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least seventy- five percent (75 %) of the voting power of all of
the then- outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company entitled to vote at an election of directors, voting together
as a single class. These provisions may have certain anti- takeover effects. Special Meeting of Stockholders Our
Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws provide that special meetings of stockholders may be called only by a majority
vote of our Board. Advance Notice Requirements for Stockholder Proposals and Director Nominations Our Bylaws
provide that stockholders of record seeking to bring business before an annual meeting of stockholders, or to nominate
candidates for election as directors at our annual meeting of stockholders, must provide timely notice of their intent in
writing. To be timely, a stockholder’ s notice must be received by our secretary at our principal executive offices not less
than 90 days nor more than 120 days prior to the one- year anniversary date of the preceding year’ s annual meeting of
stockholders; provided, however, that if the date of the annual meeting is more than 30 days before or more than 60 days
after such anniversary date, notice by the stockholder to be timely must be so received not later than 90th day prior to
such annual meeting or, if later, the tenth day following the day on which public disclosure of the date of such annual
meeting was first made. In no event shall any adjournment or postponement of an annual meeting or the announcement
thereof commence a new time period for the giving of timely notice. Pursuant to Rule 14a- 8 of the Exchange Act,
proposals seeking inclusion in our annual proxy statement must comply with the notice periods contained therein. Our
Bylaws also specify certain requirements as to the form and content of a stockholders’ meeting. These provisions may
preclude our stockholders from bringing matters before the annual meeting of stockholders or from making nominations
for directors at our annual meeting of stockholders. Authorized but Unissued Shares Our authorized but unissued
Common Stock and Preferred Stock are available for future issuances, subject to applicable law, without stockholder
approval and could be utilized for a variety of corporate purposes, including future offerings to raise additional capital,
acquisitions and employee benefit plans. The existence of authorized but unissued and unreserved Common Stock and
Preferred Stock could render more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain control of us by means of a proxy
contest, tender offer, merger or otherwise. Stockholder Action by Written Consent 5309300722v1 Our Certificate of
Incorporation provides that any action required or permitted to be a taken by stockholders must be effected at an
annual or special meeting, and may not be taken by written consent (subject to the rights of any Preferred Stock then
outstanding). Exclusive Forum Selection Our Certificate of Incorporation requires that unless we consent in writing to
the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or, in the event that the Chancery
Court does not have jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware or other state courts of the State of
Delaware) shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or
proceeding brought on behalf of us, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or
former director, officer, employee or agent of us to us or our stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim against us
arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or our Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws (as either may be amended
from time to time), (iv) any action or proceeding to interpret, apply, enforce or determine the validity of our Certificate
of Incorporation or Bylaws (including any right, obligation, or remedy thereunder) or (v) any action asserting a claim
against us governed by the internal affairs doctrine. The enforceability of similar choice of forum provisions in other
companies’ organizational documents has been challenged in legal proceedings, and it is possible that, in connection with
claims arising under federal securities laws, a court could find the choice of forum provisions contained in our
Certificate of Incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable. If that were the case, it would allow stockholders to
bring claims for breach of these provisions in any appropriate forum. Although we believe this provision benefits us by
providing increased consistency in the application of Delaware law in the types of lawsuits to which it applies, this
provision may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against our directors and officers. This exclusive forum provision
will not apply to suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction.
Unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States of
America shall, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, be the sole and exclusive forum for the resolution of any



complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. Amendments to the
Company’ s Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law We have not
opted out of Section 203 of the DGCL under our Certificate of Incorporation. As a result, pursuant to Section 203 of the
DGCL, we are prohibited from engaging in any business combination with any stockholder for a period of three years
following the time that such stockholder (the “ interested stockholder ) came to own at least 15 % of the Company’ s
outstanding voting stock, except if: ® our Board approved the business combination or transaction which resulted in the
stockholder becoming an interested stockholder prior to consummation of such business combination or transaction; e
upon consummation of the transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the
interested stockholder owned at least 85 % of the voting stock of the Company outstanding at the time the transaction
commenced; or e at or subsequent to such time the business combination is approved by our Board and authorized at an
annual or special meeting of stockholders by the affirmative vote of at least 66 2 / 3 % of the outstanding voting stock
which is not owned by the interested stockholder. Generally, a “ business combination ” includes any merger,
consolidation, asset or stock sale or certain other transactions resulting in a financial benefit to the interested
stockholder. Subject to certain exceptions, an “ interested 6309300722v1 stockholder ” is a person who, together with
that person’ s affiliates and associates, owns, or within the previous three years owned, 15 % or more of our outstanding
voting stock. Under certain circumstances, declining to opt out of Section 203 of the DGCL will make it more difficult for
a person who would be an “ interested stockholder > to effect various business combinations with us for a three- year
period. This may encourage companies interested in acquiring us to negotiate in advance with our Board because the
stockholder approval requirement would be avoided if our Board approves the acquisition which results in the
stockholder becoming an interested stockholder. This may also make it more difficult to accomplish transactions which
stockholders may otherwise deem to be in their best interests or reduce the price that some investors might be willing to
pay in the future for our Common Stock. Limitation on Liability and Indemnification of Directors and Officers Our
Certificate of Incorporation limits our directors’ liability to the fullest extent permitted under the DGCL. The DGCL
provides that directors of a corporation will not be personally liable for monetary damages for breach of their fiduciary
duties as directors, except for liability: e for any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal
benefit; e for any act or omission not in good faith or that involves intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;
o for any unlawful payment of dividends or redemption of shares; or e for any breach of a director’ s duty of loyalty to
the corporation or its stockholders. If the DGCL is amended to authorize corporate action further eliminating or
limiting the personal liability of directors, then the liability of our directors will be eliminated or limited to the fullest
extent permitted by the DGCL, as so amended. The DGCL, our Certificate of Incorporation and our Bylaws provide
that, in certain circumstances and subject to certain limitations, we will indemnify our current and former directors and
officers and may indemnify other employees and other agents, to the fullest extent permitted by law. Any indemnified
person is also entitled, subject to certain limitations, to advancement, direct payment, or reimbursement of reasonable
expenses (including attorneys’ fees and disbursements) in advance of the final disposition of the proceeding. In addition,
we have entered into separate indemnification agreements with each of our directors and officers. These agreements,
among other things, require us to indemnify our directors and officers for certain expenses, including attorneys’ fees,
judgments, fines and settlement amounts incurred by a director or officer in any action or proceeding arising out of their
services as one of our directors or officers or any other company or enterprise to which the person provides services at
our request. We currently maintain a directors’ and officers’ insurance policy pursuant to which our directors and
officers are insured against liability for actions taken in their capacities as directors and officers. Insofar as
indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, may be permitted to directors,
officers, or control persons, in the opinion of the SEC, such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and is therefore unenforceable. Transfer Agent and Registrar 7309300722v1 The
transfer agent and registrar for our Common Stock is Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company. Listing of
Securities Our Common Stock is listed on the NYSE under the symbol “ SPRU . 8309300722v1 SPRUCE POWER
HOLDING CORPORATION EXECUTIVE SEVERANCE €ORP2620-EQUITY-INCENTIVE-PLAN Exhibit+6—5-PLAN
DOCUMENT AND SUMMARY PLAN DESCRIPTION Effectlve as of August 6 2024 BEF—I—N—I—HGN—S—Estabhshment
of Plan . W h FS;-6 athis-Spruce Power
Holdanerp—}G%G—equ-ty—I-neeﬁtwe-Corporatlon (the « Company ”) hereby estabhshes an unfunded severance benefits
plan (this “ Plan ;) that is intended to be a welfare benefit plan within the meaning of Section 3 (1) of ERISA. This Plan
is in effect for Participants who experience certain terminations of employment occurring after the Effective Date and
before the termination of th1s Plan. This Plan supersedes any and all (1) severance plans and separatlon pollcles applylng

tttee—in effect before wh-leh—ease—the—term—Aémrms-trateere&ns—the

the-Board-of Direetors-of the-Company—Cause-means;w 11h ILSDLH to any termlnatlon that would, under the terms of this
Plan, constitute a termination by the Company without Cause or by Participant {for Good Reason, or as a result of
Participant’ s death or Disability, and (ii ) the provisions of any agreements between any Participant and the Company
that provide for severance payments and benefits. 2. Purpose. The purpose of this Plan is to establish the conditions
under which Participants will receive the severance payments and benefits described herein if their employment with the
Company (or its successor in a Change in Control (as defined below)) terminates under the circumstances specified



herein. The severance payments and benefits paid under this Plan are not intended to be a reward for prior service with
the Company. 3. Definitions. For purposes of this Plan: (a) “ Base Salary ” shall mean, for any Participant, such
Participant’ s base salary as in effect immediately before a Participant’ s termination of employment (or immediately
prior to the effective date of a Change in Control, if greater) and exclusive of any bonuses or other forms of
compensation. (b) “ Board ” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company. (c) “ Cause ” shall mean Participant’ s
(i) willful misconduct or gross negligence with respect to any material aspect of the Company’ s business; (ii) refusal to
follow the lawful directions of the Company employee to whom the Participant reports or, in the case of the Chief
Executive Officer, the Board; (iii) breach of a fiduciary duty owed to the Company or its shareholders; (iv) any act of
fraud, embezzlement or other material dishonesty with respect to the Company 3 (v) conviction, plea of nolo contendere,
guilty plea, or confession to a crime based upon an act of fraud, embezzlement or dishonesty or to a felony or crime of
moral turpitude; (vi) habitual abuse of alcohol or any controlled substance or reporting to work under the influence of
alcohol or any controlled substance (other than a controlled substance that Participant is properly taking under a
current prescription), (vii) misappropriation by Participant of any material assets or any business opportunities of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliate-affiliates -; ( b-viii ) insuberdination;substantial-malfeasanee-a material
failure to comply with the Company’ s written policies or rules nen—feasanee-of-duty-, (e)-unauthorized-disetostare-of
eonfidentia-nformationas they may be in effect from time to time during Participant’ s employment , including policies
and rules prohibiting discrimination or harassment; or ( ¢-ix ) a materlal bledLh by—a—P&merpant—of any pfoﬁs&e-n—e-f
restrictive covenants agreement or any other written employm t

sﬂrmr}a-mgreement betw een t1e Company or one of its sub51d1ar1es and Part1c1pant ﬁnd-t-he—Geﬁrp&ny—er—&ny—Afﬁ-ha{e— and—(e}
condte ; ate: pIO\lded —hewever—t-h&t—an—y—pfeﬁsten—rn—&n

days after notlce from the Company to cure a failure or a breach under (vi), (viii) and (ix), to the extent reasonably
curable . (d) “ Change efin Control ” shall means-- mean the occurrence of any of the following events: 1. Ownership. Any *
Person ” (as such term is used in Sections 13 (d) and 14 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “
Exchange Act ”) ) becomes the ““ Beneficial Owner ” (as defined in Rule 13d- 3 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly,
of securities of the Company representing 50 % or more of the total voting power represented by the Company’ s then
outstanding voting securities (excluding for this purpose any such voting securities held by the Company or #s-Affiates-any
parent or subsidiary of the Company under Section 424 of the Code, or by any employee benefit plan of the Company)
pursuant to a transaction or a series of related transactions which the Board efBireeters-does not approve; or 2. Merger / Sale of
Assets. (A) A merger or consolidation of the Company whether or not approved by the Board efBireetoers-, other than a merger
or consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to
represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity or the parent of
such entity) more than 50 % of the total voting power represented by the voting securities of the Company or such surviving
entity or parent of such corporation, as the case may be, outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation; or (B) the
sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’ s assets in a transaction requiring shareholder
approval; or 3. Change in Board Composition. A change in the composition of the Board efBireetors-, as a result of which fewer
than a majority of the directors are Incumbent Directors. “ Incumbent Directors  shall mean directors who either (A) are
directors of the Company as of the date this Plan was initially adopted, or (B) are elected, or nominated for election, to the
Board efBireeters-with the affirmative votes of at least a majority of the Incumbent Directors at the time of such election or
nomination (but shall not include an individual whose election or nomination is in connection with an actual or threatened proxy
contest relating to the election of directors to the Company) 3 4 . provided, that if any payment or benefit payable hereunder
upon or following a Change efin Control would be required to comply with the limitations of Section 409A (a) (2) (A) (v) of
the Code in order to avoid an additional tax under Section 409A of the Code, such payment or benefit shall be made only if such
Change efin Control constitutes a change in ownership or control of the Company, or a change in ownership of the Company’ s
assets in accordance with Section 409A of the Code. (e) “ Change in Control Period ” means: (i) the twenty- four (24)
month period beginning on the date of a Change in Control or within a period of ninety (90) days preceding the Change
in Control if the termination is related to the Change in Control. (f) “ COBRA ” shall mean the Consolidated Omnibus
Budget Reconclllatlon Act (g) “C ode [~ shallfne&ns—~ mean the Ynited-States-Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended

§ e (h) “ Geﬂﬂﬁt&eeﬁe&ns—t-he—eemmt&ee-eﬂ-he—]}o&fd-ef

Qeﬂﬁon—Stoeleﬂ&e&ns—sh&fes—eHhe—( ompany ” shall —s—Glass—A—eeﬂafneﬂ—s’fee-}eGemp&nyme&ns« mean Spruce Power
Holding CerpsaDelawatre-eorporatiorrCorporation —Consultant-means-or, following a Change in Control, any natural-person
wwho-successor thereto. (i) “ Disability ”. shall mean that Participant is an-adviser-unable to perform the essential
functions of their position, with or without a reasonable accommodation, orfor eensultant-whe-provides-bonafideserviees

to-a period of 120 calendar days within any rolling 12- month period (whether or not consecutive) or is eligible for
beneﬁts under a long- term dlsablhty plan sponsored by the C ompdny HS—A-fﬁ'l'l&teS- pfoﬁéed—t-ha-t—s*deh—seﬁtees—afe—net—rn










as delummed by he Company Geﬂ‘rn‘rﬁfee—rn—rts—se}e—d-tsefet-teﬁ
( J) « Effective Date ” shall mean August [ 6 |, 2024. (k) «
Ellglble Employee ”? shall mean the Chlef Executlve Ofﬁcer, Sarah Weber Wells and Jonathan M N orling, and other




A&mfms%fater—by—fm-yheembm&ﬁeﬂ—compensatmn committee 0[ @—éb)—fe)—&ﬂd—éda—&beve-eféﬂ—a-t—&re—dﬂefeﬁefreﬁhe
Administrator; by-payment-ofsueh-other—- the Board

Notwithstanding-the-foregoing;the-Administrator-

(l) “ ERISA ? shall meanaeeept—eﬂ-}yhstteh—payfneﬂt—efrexefetse-e-ﬁafrl—se—as
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efder—as—deﬁﬂed—by—the—eeée—ef—'Pﬁ-}&I—e-ﬂ he Em 10\ ee RLllleanl lmmm Security AueH-he—fu}es—fhefettﬁdeP&ﬂd-the
Parttetpant-with-the-appreval-of 1974 fheﬁd-mtms&a-tef may-transfer-as amended. (m) “ Good Reason ” shall mean the
occurrence Option-forno-eonstderationto-or-for-the-benefit-of any of the following events without Participant” s fmmediate
-F&mrl-y—consent ( 1) tne-l-&d-mg—vv‘rﬂ%etﬁ—hﬂ&rt&ﬁeﬁ—te—d material reduction trastfor-the-benefit-of the-Participant’ s Base Salary
mm y dHiab y - or enie-or-more-members-of Target Bonus as in effect
1mmedlately prior to the reductlon, (11) a material reductlon in Participant’ s authority Immediate-Famtly)-, subjeet-duties
or responsibilities (other than in connection with a Change in Control in which Part1c1pant retains authority over the
Company’ s business that is similar to the pre- Change in Control authority other than such timits-reductions as the
Administrator-may-establish;-are typical when becoming a senior executive of and-- an acquirer’ s subsidiary or that relate
to ceasing to be a senior executive of a publicly traded corporation), (iii) a change in the geographic location of the place
where Participant principally performs services for the Company by more than fifty (50) miles from its existing location
(the-other transferee-shal-remain-subjeetto-alt-than in connection with business travel); or (iv) in the case of terms-and
eonditions-appheable-to-the Optionprior-Chief Executive Officer, the Board’ s failure to suehtransfer-and-each-sueh
transferee-shall-so-acknowledgere- nominate Participant for a seat on the Board, provided that, within 30 days of the first
occurrence of the event that Participant believes constitutes Good Reason, Participant notifies the Company in writing as
aeonditiotrpreeedentof the event, the Company fails to correct the act or omission within 30 days after receiving
Participant’ s written notice and Participant actually terminates the-their effeetiveness-ofsueh-transfer-employment
within 60 days after the date the Company receives Participant’ s notice . The-term-(n) ** Participant Immediate Famity-"
shall mean the Eligible Employees employed by the Company from time to time. (0) “ Plan Administrator ” shall have the
meaning set forth in Sectlon 15 hereof (p) « Target Bonus ? shall mean for any Partlclpant such Pamupam s annual
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resigns fer—t-he—Pcutlupanl s employment -Smwefs)—mafy'—qﬁ&h-fy— or Good Reason at any tlme t-he—other favorable-tax
ffeafmeﬁt—pfe&‘tded—te—he-}defs—e-ﬁepﬁeﬂs—&rat—than meet—durlng a Change in Control Perlod subject to 1hc st&néafés
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he-Participant shall be ulllllul to

receive an amount equal sueh—n-&m-ber—e-ﬁshares—e-ﬁ%mmeﬂ—sweleeqtuvaleﬁt—m lhc ﬂunaber—product of RSYs-(the “ Normal
Severance ”): (i) the Normal Multiplier, as determined under Exhibit A; and (ii) set-forth-inthe Restrieted-StoekUnit

Award-GrantNotiee-provided-that-the Participant is-providingserviee-te-’ s then- current Base Salary plus the full amount of
the Participant’ s then- current Target Bonus. The Normal Severance shall be payable in the form of salary continuation
in accordance with the Company e%&n—kfﬁ-hate— s regular payroll schedule over the Severance Period, commenclng on
such vesting-datc determined —Sueh FAHO 6
wthm—[—ﬁveﬂ-daw—e-ﬁ&re—&mahe&ble*esﬁﬁg—date—aﬂdﬂn dumddncc with Sectlon 7. The “ Severance Perlod ” will equal the
period of months equal to the product of (A) Participant’ s Normal Multiplier and (B) 12. (b) Full vesting in any unvested
equity awards with time- based vesting held by Participant under the Company’ s then- current outstanding equity
incentive plan (s) that would have vested during the Severance Period. (c) Participant shall be entitled to continue
participating in the Company’ s health benefits for the Severance Period (the “ Severance Benefits ), as follows: (i) such
continued benefits shall be subject to Participant’ s timely election of continuation coverage under COBRA;; (ii) the
Company will pay the Company contribution and Participant shall be required to pay the employee contribution directly
or as a reimbursement to Participant at the Company’ s sole discretion, (iii) Participant’ s right to receive further
Severance Benefits shall terminate if and when Participant secures alternative health benefits from a new employer, of
which Participant shall promptly notify the Company, or if and when Participant otherwise becomes ineligible for
further coverage under COBRA; and (iv) the Company shall be required to provide the Severance Benefits only to the
extent that the Company continues offering an employee health benefits plan and to extent that the Company is not
required to provide and pay for such post- termination coverage to other employees to avoid a violation of applicable
nondlscrlmmatlon requlrements (d) The payments and beneﬁts descrlbed in this Section 4 shall Agreement-and-the-Plan-
~ o-bec providing-servieesfor-in lieu of any reasonby
other beneﬁts or payments under any severance or s1mllar plan, pohcy or arrangement of the Company . 5. Severance or
in the-Restrieted-Stoek UnitAward-Grant Notiee;
Connectlon with a Change in Control If durmg fhen» the as—e-ﬁChange in Control Period, thc Company terminates date
emrwhieh-the-Participant’ s employment without Cause or serviee-terminates-Participant resigns Participant’ s employment
with Good Reason ., altunvested-RSUs-subject to the provisions of Section 7 and 8, Participant shall immediately-be
forfeited-eligible to receive the Company-following payments and this-Agreement-benefits (collectively, the ¢ CIC Severance
Package ”): (a) Participant shall terminate-and-be entitled to receive an amount equal to the product of ne-furtherforee-or
effeet-(the “ CIC Severance ”): (A) the CIC Multiplier, as determined under Exhibit A; and (B) the sum of Participant’ s
then- current Base Salary plus the full amount of the Participant’ s then- current Target Bonus . 3—Prehibitionrs-The CIC
Severance shall be payable in a single lump sum, on Fransfer-and-Sale-such date in determined accordance with Section 7 .
TFhisAward-( ineluding-anyaddittonal RSUsreeetved-b) A pro- rata portion of Participant’ s Target Bonus for the calendar
year in which such termination occurs based on the period worked by the-Participant as-a-restlt-ofstoek-dividends;stoek
sp}&s—e%&nye&re%ﬁml&r—traﬁsaeﬁeﬁ—affee&ng—durmg such calendar year prior to termination. (¢) Participant shall be
entitled to continue participating in the Company’ s seeurities-witheutreeeiptofeonsideration-health benefits for eighteen
(18 ) months (sha-l-l—net—be—transfer&ble—by—l he -P&merpant—et-herw‘rse—t-haﬂ—“ CIC Severance Beneﬁts ”), as follows 1) such

contlnued beneﬁts by

subject to -rsstted—elurmg—the—l’amupam S -l-rfet-rme—eﬂ-l-y—te-tlmely electlon of contlnuatlon coverage under COBRA (n) the
Company will pay the company contribution directly or as a reimbursement to Participant at fer-in-the event-ofiegal

-x-neapaett-y—eﬁneempeteﬁee—Company s sole discretion and Participant shall be required to pay the employee
ontrlbutlon, (111) Par uupanl s rlght to receive further CIC if and when Partlclpant guard-ra—n—eierepfeseﬂt&ﬁve)—"l:h-is
A o o b5 e stherwise becomes ineligible

9—&nd-shall—net—be—5tﬂajeet—te-exeeﬁ&en—&&aehmeﬂt—erfor further coverage under COBRA simtlar-proeess—Any-attempted
tr&nsfeie aesrgnfneﬁt—pledge—hype&ree&ﬁeﬁ—erwhlchever occurs ﬁrst and (1v) 6%1&61“—— the Company d'tspesﬂ'teﬁ-e-f—t-h-ts

pfeeess—upeﬂ—thisﬂ%w&rd— mll be ﬂu-l-l-requlred to prov1de the CIC Severance Benefits only to the extent that the Company
continues offering and-- an employee health benefits plan and to extent that the Company is not required to provide and
pay for such post- termination coverage to other employees to void-avoid —4—Adjustments-a violation of applicable

nondlscrlmmatlon requlrements The ¢ CIC Severance Perlod ” Plan-eontainsprovistons-eovering-the-treatment-of RSUs




-Partrenpant—\\ 111 equal ﬂet—be—ab-le—te—traﬂsfer—eﬁel-l-&ny—e-ﬁlhc s-hares—perlod of months equal Gemmeﬁ—Steelﬁssued—lo th

hls-efherGemmeﬂ—Steel&meludmg—dﬁe—te—&re—Panmpanl S a-fﬁ-l-rat—ren—with—&re—éempany—CIC Multiplier and (B) 12 . (d) The
Company will provide Participant with professional outplacement services; provided, however, that the cost of such
outplacement services shall not be-obligated-to-eitherisste-exceed $ 25, 000. (e) Any outstanding unvested equity awards

held by Participant under the Company’ s the-then Common-Stock-orpermit-theresate-of- current outstanding equity
incentive plan (s) will become fully vested (w1th any equ1ty awards w1th performance condltlons Vestmg based on target

sha-l-l—be—t-he—PmUupanl ] employment becomes effectlve, prov1dedfespeﬂsrbﬁﬁy—\’&thetﬁ—hmr&ng—t-he—feregemg— however,
the-Parttetpant-agrees-that if under-applieabletaw-such awards are not assumed by the Partteipant-acquiring or successor
entity in the Change in Control, all such awards will ewe-taxes-at-each-vesting-fully vest as of the datc en-theportionof the
Award—theﬁ— the yested—t-he—@emp&ny—Change in Control ) The payments and benefits described in this Section 5 shall be

en of the-am f any tax-er-other ameuntsreqtired-to-be-withheld-by
benefits or payments under any severance or similar plan, pohcy or arrangement of the Company , and by-applieabletaw
orregulation—-Any-taxes-orotheramounts-dae-shall be in lieu of any benefits set forth in Section 4. If the termination
without Cause or termination for Good Reason precedes the Change in Control, no enhanced severance will be paid ;at
the—ﬂetmﬂ—e-ﬂtl‘re—z*émtmstrateeor extra Vestmg w1ll occur unless and untll such time as -fel-lews—fa)—threug—h—reduemg—l he

sieis hares 6 phieable-vesting-date-in Control

closes, but the equlty awards, if an-any ameuﬂt—equa-l—te- that would Vest w1ll remain unforfelted until the earliest statatory
mintmanrof the closing of the Change in Control, the cancellation of the Change in Control, or ninety (90) days after
employment ends (to determine if a Change in Control will occur). 6. Termination of Employment as a Result of
Disability or Death. If Participant’ s tetal-tax-and-employment terminates as a result of Participant’ s Disability or death,
subject to other—- the withholding-obligations-due-provisions of Section 7 and payable-8, Participant shall be eligible to
receive (the “ Death or Disability Package ) (i) a pro- rata portion of Participant’ s Target Bonus for the calendar year
in which such termination occurs based on the period worked by the-Company—Fractional-shares-withnoetParticipant
during such calendar year prlor to termmatlon, with such payment to be fetamed—te-sa-t-tsfy—&&y—pemen—e%ﬂae—made in one

thePartietpant-as soon as pr. auuablc followmg the cessatlon of employment and (11) in the case of Partlclpant’

termination of employment as a result of Disability, full vesting in any and all equity awards with time- based vesting
that would have vested during the 12- month period following the termination date, and in the case of Participant’ s
death, full vesting of all equity awards (with any equity awards with performance conditions vesting based on target
performance) . In addition, in the case of the Disability of Participant, Participant shall remain eligible for vesting of any
equity awards with performance conditions outstanding on the date of such termination and any such award will be
earned, vested or paid as applicable on the certification date based on actual performance as determined by the Board or
a committee of the Board in the normal course on a prorated basis based on the period worked by Participant during the
performance period prior to termination. The payments and benefits described in this Section 6 shall be in lieu of any
other benefits or payments under any severance or similar plan, policy or arrangement of the Company, and shall be in
lieu of any benefits set forth in Section 4 or 5. 7. Release. A Participant’ s rights to the Severance Package, the CIC
Severance Package, or the Death or Disability Package, as applicable, is conditioned upon Participant or Participant’ s
designated beneficiary or estate as applicable, executing and not revoking a valid separation and general release
agreement in a form provided by the Company (the “ Release ), and provided such release becomes effective and
irrevocable within 60 days following termination or such shorter time period set forth therein, releasing the Company,
its subsidiaries, other affiliates and shareholders from any and all liability. Any payments or benefits due for the period
after termination and before the Release becomes effective shall be paid with the first payment after the Release becomes



effective. Notwithstanding any other provision herein, if the period during which Participant has discretion to execute or
revoke the Release straddles two calendar years, the Company shall make payments conditioned on the Release no
earlier than January 1st of the second calendar year, regardless of which year the Release becomes effective. 8.
Restrictive Covenants. A Participant’ s rights to the Severance Package, the CIC Severance Package, or the Death or
Disability Package, as applicable, is conditioned on Participant’ s compliance with Participant’ s obligations under, as
applicable: (a) Participant’ s Employee Covenants Agreement; and (b) any other applicable confidentiality, invention,
work product, non- disparagement, non- competition, non- solicitation, non- interference, and / or other restrictive
covenant obligations contained in any written agreement between the Participant and the Company. In the event that
Participant fails to comply with any of these obligations, the Participant’ s right to receive any additional payments or
benefits shall cease immediately and Participant shall promptly refund any such sa-}e-ts—ﬁet—strfﬁereﬁt—te-pay—payments or
benefits prevmusly pald by the Company The C ompdn\ ] rlghts with

ebl-’rg&t—teﬂs—undu this Section & shall be full recourse. The satt P

Company providesnotiee-ofamralternate-proeedure-shall have the rlght t0 offset Partlclpant’ s obhgatlons undu 1h1s Section 5
-8 against any amounts otherwise owed to Participant from the Company or its diseretion-affiliates . The-Company-9.
Accrued Obligations. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, a Participant shall not-deliverbe
entitled to all Accrued Obligations as of his or her termination of employment, regardless of whether he or she is eligible
for severance payments or benefits under this Plan. “ Accrued Obligations ” shall mean, for any shares-of Commen-Stoek
te—the—Pamupanl trnt-ﬂ—rt—rs—s&ﬁsﬁed— (1) the portlon of such Part1c1pant’ s Base Salary that has accrued prior to aH—requﬁeé

Pamupanl S unplm mun efeeﬁsu-l-t-mg—eeﬂtfaet—rf—wuh the Company and has not yet been pald (n) the portlon of such
Participant’ s prior- year annual bonus that has been earned prior to any —As-termination of such Participant’ s
employment with the Awardis-Company and has not part-yet been paid; (iii) the amount of nermal-erexpected
eempeﬂs&&eﬂ—feeptﬂiaeses—e-ﬁea-}et&&ﬁﬂg—am sevefanee—resrgﬂa&en—feduﬂd&ney—eﬁd-expenses properly 1ncurred by such
Participant on behalf of servieepayn
Fhe-future-vatue-of the Company in accordance sha

B-ThePartieipant(Hantherizesthe-C ompdm pollcy prlor an
information-and-data-as-the-Company-or-any such A’Eﬁ-ha-te—termlnatlon and not yet reimbursed; and (iv) the amount of such

Participant’ s vacation time that has accrued prior to any such termination that has not yet been used. A Participant’ s
entitlement to any other compensation or benefit under any plan of Company shall be governed by reqtestinorderto
faetlitate-the-grant-of the-Award-and determined in accordance with the administration-terms of the-such plans, except as
otherwise specified in this Plan . 10. Non- Duplication of Benefits. Nothing in this Plan will entitle any Participant to
receive duplicate benefits in connection with any voluntary or involuntary termination of employment. A Participant’ s
right to receive any payments under this Plan will be expressly conditioned upon such Participant not receiving
severance payments or benefits under any other agreement, program or arrangement. 11. Death Following
Commencement of Benefits. If a Participant dies after the date Participant commences receiving benefits and payments
under the Severance Package or the CIC Severance Package, as applicable, or following Participant’ s termination as a
result of Disability, but before all such payments or benefits have been paid or provided, payments will be made to any
beneficiary designated by Participant prior to or in connection with such Participant’ s termination or, if no such
beneficiary has been designated, to Participant’ s estate. 12. Withholding. The Company may withhold from any
payment or benefit under this Plan: (a) any federal, state, or local income or payroll taxes required by law to be withheld
with respect to such payment ; and-( i-b ) autherizes-such sum as the Company and-eaeh-Affiliate-may reasonably estimate
is necessary to stere-cover any taxes for which the Company may be liable and transmit-which may be assessed with
regard to such informationinreleetronte-form-for-payment; and (c) such the-other purpeses-—set-forth-amounts as
appropriately may be withheld under the Company’ s payroll policies and procedures from time to time in effect. 13.
Section 409A. It is expected that the payments and benefits provided under this Plan will be exempt from Agreement—0-
Notiees—Anynotieesrequired-orpermitted-by-the terms-application of Section 409A of the Code, and the guidance issued
thereunder (“ Section 409A ). this-This Agreement-orthe-Plan shall be interpreted consistent with this intent to the




maximum extent permitted and generally, with the provisions of Section 409A. A termination of employment shall not be
deemed to have occurred for purposes of any provision of this Plan providing for the payment of any amounts or benefits
upon or following a termination of employment (which amounts or benefits constitute nonqualified deferred
compensation within the meaning of Section 409A) unless such termination is also a “ separation from service ” within
the meaning of Section 409A and, for purposes of any such provision of this Plan, references to a “ termination, ” *
termination of employment ” or like terms shall mean “ separation from service . Neither Participant nor the Company
shall have the right to accelerate or defer the delivery of any payment or benefit except to the extent specifically
permitted or required by Section 409A. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent the severance payments or benefits
under this Plan are subject to Section 409A, the following rules shall apply with respect to distribution of the payments
and benefits, if any, to be provided to Participants under this Plan: (a) Each installment of the payments and benefits
provided under this Plan will be treated as a separate “ payment ” for purposes of Section 409A. Whenever a payment
under this Plan specifies a payment period with reference to a number of days (e. g., “ payment shall be made within 10
days following the date of termination ”), the actual date of payment within the specified period shall be in the Company’
s sole discretion. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan to the contrary, in no event shall any payment under
this Plan that constitutes “ non- qualified deferred compensation ” for purposes of Section 409A be subject to transfer,
offset, counterclaim or recoupment by any other amount unless otherwise permitted by Section 409A. (b)
Notwithstanding any other payment provision herein to the contrary, if the Company or appropriately- related affiliates
is publicly- traded and a Participant is deemed on the date of termination to be a “ specified employee ” within the
meaning of that term under Code Section 409A (a) (2) (B) with respect to such entity, then each of the following shall
apply: (i) With regard to any payment that is considered “ non- qualified deferred compensation ” under Section 409A
payable on account of a “ separation from service, ” such payment shall be made on the date which is the earlier of (A)
the day following the expiration of the six month period measured from the date of such “ separation from service ” of
Participant, and (B) the date of Participant’ s death (the “ Delay Period ) to the extent required under Section 409A.
Upon the expiration of the Delay Period, all payments delayed pursuant to this provision (whether otherwise payable in a
single sum or in installments in the absence of such delay) shall be paid to or for Participant in a lump sum, and all
remaining payments due under this Plan shall be paid or provided for in accordance with the normal payment dates
specified herein; and (ii) To the extent that any benefits to be provided during the Delay Period are considered “ non-
qualified deferred compensation ” under Section 409A payable on account of a “ separation from service, ” and such
benefits are not otherwise exempt from Section 409A, Participant shall pay the cost of such benefits during the Delay
Period, and the Company shall reimburse Participant, to the extent that such costs would otherwise have been paid by
the Company or to the extent that such benefits would otherwise have been provided by the Company at no cost to
Participant, the Company’ s share of the cost of such benefits upon expiration of the Delay Period. Any remaining
benefits shall be reimbursed or provided by the Company in accordance with the procedures specified in this Plan. (c)
The Company makes no representations or warranties and shall have no liability to any Participant or any other person,
other than with respect to payments made by the Company in violation of the provisions of this Plan, if any provisions of
or payments under this Plan are determined to constitute deferred compensation subject to Section 409A of the Code but
not to satisfy the conditions of that section. 14. Modified 280G Cutback. (a) To the extent that any payment, benefit or
distribution of any type to or for a Participant’ s benefit by the Company or any of its affiliates, whether paid or payable,
provided or to be provided, or distributed or distributable pursuant to the terms of this Plan or otherwise (including,
without limitation, any accelerated vesting of stock options or other equity- based awards) (collectively, the “ Total
Payments ) would be subject to the excise tax imposed under Section 4999 of the Code, then the Total Payments shall be
reduced (but not below zero) so that the maximum amount of the Total Payments (after reduction) shall be one dollar ($
1. 00) less than the amount which would cause the Total Payments to be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999
of the Code, but only if the Total Payments so reduced result in Participant receiving a net after tax amount that exceeds
the net after tax amount Participant would receive if the Total Payments were not reduced and were instead subject to
the excise tax imposed on excess parachute payments by Section 4999 of the Code. Unless Participant shall have

prior written notice to the Company to effectuate a reduction in the Total Payments if such a reduction is required, any
such notice consistent with the requirements of Section 409A to avoid the imputation of any tax, penalty or interest
thereunder, the Company shall reduce or eliminate the Total Payments by reeognized-eourter-first reducing or eliminating
any cash severance benefits (with the payments to be made furthest in the future being reduced first), then by reducing
or eliminating any accelerated vesting of stock options or similar awards, then by reducing or eliminating any
accelerated vesting of restricted stock or similar awards, then by reducing or eliminating any other remaining Total
Payments. The preceding provisions of this Section shall take precedence over the provisions of any other plan,
arrangement or agreement governing Participant’ s rights and entitlements to any benefits or compensation. (b) If the
Total Payments to a Participant are reduced in accordance with Section 14 (a), as a result of the uncertainty in the
application of Section 4999 of the Code at the time of the initial reduction under Section 14 (a), it is possible that Total
Payments to a Participant which will not have been made by the Company should have been made (“ Underpayment )
or that Total Payments to a Participant which were made should not have been made (“ Overpayment ”). If an
Underpayment has occurred, the amount of any such Underpayment shall be promptly paid by the Company to or for
the benefit of such Participant. In the event of an Overpayment, then Participant shall promptly repay to the Company
the amount of any such Overpayment together with interest on such amount (at the same rate as is applied to determine
the present value of payments under Section 280G of the Code or any successor thereto), from the date the reimbursable
payment was received by such Participant to the date the same is repaid to the Company. 15. Plan Administration. (a)



Plan Administrator. The Plan Administrator shall be the Board or a committee thereof designated by the Board (the «
Committee ”); provided, however, that the Board or such Committee (as constituted prior to the closing of a Change in
Control) may in its sole discretion appoint a new Plan Administrator to administer this Plan following a Change in
Control, which such Plan Administrator shall not be removed or modified following a Change in Control other than at
its own initiative. If such Plan Administrator designated by the Board or Committee prior to a Change in Control ceases
to serve as Plan Administrator at any point after a Change in Control but prior to the later to occur of the first (1st)
anniversary of the Change in Control or the final payment of benefits under this Plan to any Participant, then until the
later to occur of the first (1st) anniversary of the Change in Control or the final payment of benefits under this Plan to
any Participant, any such successor Plan Administrator appointed by the Board or the Committee shall be a qualified
independent third party, such as a retired judge selected by the head of the American Arbitration Association in
Manhattan, an independent compensation consultant or a law firm. The Plan Administrator shall also serve as the
Named Fiduciary of this Plan under ERISA. The Plan Administrator shall be the “ administrator ” within the meaning
of Section 3 (16) of ERISA and shall have all the responsibilities and duties contained therein. Notwithstanding any
provision of this Plan to the contrary, any employee (s) appointed to serve as Plan Administrator (whether individually
or as members of a committee) shall serve as such only for so long as he or she is an employee of the Company and shall
be deemed to resign his or her position effective as of his or her termination of employment (whether voluntary or
involuntary). The Plan Administrator can be contacted at the following address: Spruce Power Holding Corporation
2000 S. Colorado Blvd., Suite 2- 825 Denver, CO 80222 Attention: Executive Severance Plan Administrator (b)
Decisions, Powers and Duties. The general administration of this Plan and the responsibility for carrying out its
provisions shall be vested in the Plan Administrator. The Plan Administrator shall have such powers and authority as
are necessary to discharge such duties and responsibilities which also include, but are not limited to, interpretation and
construction of this Plan, the determination of all questions of fact, including, without limit, eligibility, participation and
benefits, the resolution of any ambiguities and all other related or incidental matters, and such duties and powers of the
plan administration which are not assumed from time to time by any other appropriate entity, individual or institution.
The Plan Administrator may determine from time to time, in its discretion, whether an employee of the Company who is
not an Eligible Employee shall become a Participant in this Plan, provided the Plan Administrator delivers written
notice to such employee that the employee will be a Participant in the Plan. The Plan Administrator may adopt rules and
regulations of uniform applicability in its interpretation and implementation of this Plan. The Plan Administrator may
delegate any of its duties hereunder to such person or persons from time to time as it may designate. (c) The Plan
Administrator shall discharge its duties and responsibilities and exercise its powers and authority in its sole discretion
and in accordance with the terms of the controlling legal documents and applicable law, and its actions and decisions
that are not arbitrary and capricious shall be binding on any employee, and employee’ s spouse or other dependent or
beneficiary and any other interested parties whether or not in being or under a disability. The Plan Administrator is
empowered, on behalf of this Plan, to engage accountants, legal counsel and such other personnel as it deems necessary
or advisable to assist it in the performance of its duties under this Plan. The functions of any such persons engaged by the
Plan Administrator shall be limited to the specified serviee-services and duties ;faesimile;registered-or-for eertified-mait
which they are engaged , retarnreeeiptrequested-and such persons shall have no other duties , addressed-obligations or
responsibilities under this Plan. Such persons shall exercise no discretionary authority or discretionary control
respecting the management of this Plan. (d) The Company shall promptly reimburse the Plan Administrator or the
Committee for any expenses incurred in good faith in the course of carrying out its obligations under this Plan,
including, but not limited to, attorney’ s fees, claims, fines, judgments, taxes, causes of action or liability and amounts
paid in settlement, actually and reasonably incurred by such Committee or Plan Administrator, unless such expense,
claim, fine, judgment, taxes, cause of action, liability or amount arose from his or her negligence, fraud or willful breach
of his or her fiduciary responsibilities under ERISA. 16. Claims, Inquiries and Appeals. (a) Applications for Benefits and
Inquiries. Any application for benefits under or inquiries about this Plan or inquiries about present or future rights
under this Plan must be submitted to the Plan Administrator in writing, Attndf+te-(b) Denial of Claims. In
Partieipantat-event that any application for benefits is denied in whole or in part, the address-Plan Administrator must
notify the applicant, in writing, of the denial of the application, and of the applicant’ s right to review the denial. The
written notice of denial will be in a manner designed to be understood by the applicant, and will include specific
reasons for the denial, specific references to this Plan provision upon which the denial is based, a description of any
information or material that the Plan Administrator needs to complete the review and an explanation of this Plan’ s
review procedure. This written notice will be given to the applicant within 15 days after the Plan Administrator receives
the application, unless special circumstances require an extension of time, in which case, the Plan Administrator has up
to an additional 15 days for processing the application. If an extension of time for processing is required, written notice
of the extension will be furnished to the applicant before the end of the initial 15- day period. This notice of extension will
describe the special circumstances necessitating the additional time and the date by which the Plan Administrator is to
render his or her decision application. If written notice of denial of the application for benefits is not furnished
within the specified time, the application shall be deemed to be denied. The applicant will then be permitted to appeal the
denial in accordance with the review procedure described below. (c) Request for a Review. Any person (or that person’ s
authorized representative) for whom an application for benefits is denied, in whole or in part, may appeal the denial by
submitting a request for a review to the Plan Administrator within 30 days after the application is denied (or deemed
denied). The Plan Administrator will give the applicant (or his or her representative) an opportunity to review pertinent
documents in preparing a request for a review and submit written comments, documents, records and other information



relating to the claim. A request for a review shall be in writing and shall be addressed to: A request for review must set
forth all of the grounds on which it is based, all facts in support of the request and any other matters that the applicant
feels are pertinent. The Plan Administrator may require the applicant to submit additional facts, documents or other
material as he or she may find necessary or appropriate in making his or her review. (d) Decision on Review. The Plan
Administrator will act on each request for review within 15 days after receipt of the request, unless special
circumstances require an extension of time (not to exceed an additional 15 days), for processing the request for a review.
If an extension for review is required, written notice of the extension will be furnished to the applicant within the initial
15- day period. The Plan Administrator will give prompt, written notice of his or her decision to the applicant. In the
event that the Plan Administrator confirms the denial of the application for benefits in whole or in part, the notice will
outline, in a manner calculated to be understood by the applicant, the specific Plan provisions upon which the decision is
based. (e) Rules and Procedures. The Plan Administrator may establish rules and procedures, consistent with this Plan
and with ERISA, as necessary and appropriate in carrying out his or her responsibilities in reviewing benefit claims.
The Plan Administrator may require an applicant who wishes to submit additional information in connection with an
appeal from the denial (or deemed denial) of benefits to do so at the applicant’ s own expense. (f) Exhaustion of
Remedies. No legal action for benefits under this Plan may be brought until the claimant (i) has submitted a written
application for benefits in accordance with the procedures described by Section 16 (a) above, (ii) has been notified by the
Plan Administrator that the application is denied (or the application is deemed denied due to the Plan Administrator’ s
failure to act on it within the established time period), (iii) has filed a written request for a review of the application in
accordance with the appeal procedure described in Section 16 (c) above and (iv) has been notified in writing that the
Plan Administrator has denied the appeal (or the appeal is deemed to be denied due to the Plan Administrator’ s failure
to take any action on the claim within the time prescribed by Section 16 (d) above). 17. Indemnification. To the extent
permitted by law, the Plan Administrator and all employees, officers, directors, agents and representatives of the
Company shall be indemnified by the Company and held harmless against any claims and all associated expenses of
defending against such claims, resulting from any action or conduct relating to the administration of this Plan, whether
as a member of the Committee or otherwise, except to the extent that such claims arise from gross negligence, willful
neglect, or willful misconduct. The Company shall advance all expenses for which a party is indemnified under this
Section to such indemnified party or shall arrange for direct payment of any such expenses by the Company. 18. Plan
Not an Employment Contract. This Plan is not a contract between the Company and any employee, nor is it a condition
of employment of any employee. Nothing contained in this Plan gives, or is intended to give, any employee the right to be
retained in the service of the Company, or to interfere with the right of the Company to discharge or terminate the
employment of any employee at any time and for any reason. No employee shall have the right or claim to benefits
beyond those expressly provided in this Plan, if any. All rights and claims are limited as set forth in this Plan. 19.
Severability. In case any one or more of the provisions of this Plan (or part thereof) shall be held to be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect the other provisions hereof,
and this Plan shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions (or part thereof) never had been
contained herein. 20. Non Assignability. No right or interest of any Participant in this Plan shall be assignable or
transferable in whole or in part either directly or by operation of law or otherwise, including, but not limited to,
execution, levy, garnishment, attachment, pledge or bankruptcy. 21. Integration With Other Pay or Benefits
Requirements. The severance payments and benefits provided for in this Plan are the maximum benefits that the
Company will pay to Participants on a termination of employment, except to the extent otherwise required by applicable
law. To the extent that any federal, state or local law, including, without limitation, so called “ plant closing > laws,
requires the Company to give advance notice or make a payment of any kind to an employee because of that employee’ s
involuntary termination due to a layoff, reduction in force, plant or facility closing, sale of business, or similar event, the
benefits provided under this Plan or the other arrangement shall either be reduced or eliminated to avoid any
duplication of payment. The Company intends for the benefits provided under this Plan to partially or fully satisfy any
and all statutory obligations that may arise out of an employee’ s involuntary termination for the foregoing reasons and
the Company shall so construe and implement the terms of this Plan. 22. Amendment or Termination. The Board may
amend, modify, or terminate this Plan at any time in its sole discretion; provided, however, that: (a) any such
amendment, modification or termination made prior to a Change in Control that adversely affects the rights of any
Participant shall be approved by the Company’ s Board; (b) no such amendment, modification or termination may
adversely affect the rights of a Participant then receiving payments or benefits under this Plan without the consent of
such person; and (c) no such amendment, modification or termination made after a Change in Control shall be effective
until after the later to occur of the first (1st) anniversary of the Change in Control or the final payment of benefits under
this Plan to any Participant. The Board intends to review this Plan at least annually. 23. Source of Benefit. The Company
will pay benefits under the Plan from its general assets to the extent available. The benefits are not funded through a
trust fund or insurance contracts. No employee shall have any right to, or interest in, any assets of the Company upon
termination of employment or otherwise. 24. Statement of ERISA Rights. Participants are entitled to certain rights and
protections under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ ERISA ”). ERISA provides that
Participants are entitled to the following rights: (a) Receive Information About the Plan and Benefits. A Participant may
examine, without charge, at the Plan Administrator’ s office all documents governing the Plan and, if applicable, a copy
of the latest annual report (Form 5500) filed with the U. S. Department of Labor and available at the Public Disclosure
Room of the Employee Benefits Security Administration. A Participant may also obtain copies of these documents upon
written request to the Plan Administrator. There may be a reasonable charge for the cost of copying. A Participant is



also entitled to receive a summary of the Plan’ s annual financial report. The Plan Administrator is required by law to
furnish each Participant with a copy of this summary annual report. (b) Prudent Actions by Plan Fiduciaries. In
addition to creating rights for Plan participants, ERISA imposes duties upon the people who are responsible for the
operation of the Plan. The people who operate the Plan, called “ fiduciaries, ” have a duty to do so prudently and in the
interest of the Plan’ s Participants and their beneficiaries. No one, including the Company, may fire a Participant or
otherwise discriminate against a Participant in any way to prevent the Participant from obtaining a welfare benefit or
exercising the Participant’ s rights under ERISA. (¢) Enforce Participant Rights. If a Participant’ s claim for a welfare
benefit is denied or ignored, in whole or in part, the Participant has the right to know the reason and to obtain copies of
documents relating to the decision without charge, and to appeal any denial, all within certain timeframes as set forth in
this Plan. Under ERISA, there are steps a Participant can take to enforce the above rights. For instance, if a Participant
requests a copy of Plan documents, or the latest annual report from the Plan and the Participant does not receive them
within 30 days, the Participant may file suit in a federal court. In such a case, the court may require the Plan
Administrator to provide the materials to the Participant and pay the Participant up to $ 110 per day until the
Participant receives the materials, unless the materials were not sent because of reasons beyond the control of the Plan
Administrator. If the Participant has a claim for benefits that is denied or ignored, in whole or in part, the Participant
may file suit in federal or state court, provided the Participant has exhausted the Plan’ s administrative remedies (i. e.,
claims procedures). If it should happen that the Plan fiduciaries misuse the Plan’ s money, or if a Participant is
discriminated against for asserting the Participant’ s rights under this Plan or under ERISA, the Participant may seek
assistance from the U. S. Department of Labor or may file suit in federal court. The court will decide who should pay
court costs and legal fees. If a Participant is successful, the court may order the person that the Participant sued to pay
these costs and fees. If a Participant loses, the court may order the Participant to pay these costs and fees if it finds the
Participant’ s claim is frivolous. (d) Assistance With Questions. If a Participant has any questions about the Plan, the
Participant should contact the Plan Administrator. If a Participant has questions about this statement or about the
Participant’ s rights under ERISA, the Participant should contact the nearest office of the Employee Benefits Security
Administration, U. S. Department of Labor, listed in your telephone directory or the Division of Participant Assistance
and Communications, Employee Benefits Security Administration, U. S. Department of Labor, 200 Constitution Avenue,
N. W., Washington, D. C. 20210. The Participant may obtain publications about the Participant’ s rights and
responsibilities under ERISA by calling the publications hotline of the Employee Benefits Security Administration. A
Participant may also access the Employee Benefits Security Administration’ s website at www. dol. gov / ebsa. 25. Type
of Plan. This Plan is a severance pay Plan. 26. Plan Sponsor. The sponsor of this Plan is Spruce Power Holding
Corporation (referred to in this Plan as the “ Company ). The Plan sponsor’ s address is: 27. Agent for Legal Process. A
Participant or beneficiary may serve legal process on the Plan Administrator, ¢ / o: With a copy to: Attention: Chief
Legal Officer 28. Identification Number. The Plan’ s number for purposes of discussion with a federal government
agency is 501. 29. Summary Plan Description. This Plan constitutes both the governing document and the summary plan
description for the Plan. 30. Governing Law. This Plan and the rights of all persons under this Plan shall be construed in
accordance with and under applicable provisions of ERISA, and the regulations thereunder, and the laws of the State of
Delaware (without regard to conflict of law provisions) to the extent not preempted by federal law. EXHIBIT A
MULTIPLIERS ParticipantNormal MultiplierCIC Multiplier Chief Executive Officerl. 52. 0Sarah Weber Wells and
Jonathan M. Norlingl. 01. S 518512728yv. 2 INSIDER TRADING POLICY (Effective December 21, 2020, revised
February 25, 2025) 1. The Need for an Insider Trading Policy 2 II. What is Material Non- Public Information? 2 III. The
Consequences of Insider Trading 4 I'V. Our Policy 5 General Prohibition on Trading 5 Transactions by Family
Members, Others in Your Household and Entities You Control S Other Companies’ Non- public Information 6 Personal
or Independent Reasons Are Not Exceptions 6 Policy Administrator 6 When Information Becomes Public 6 Prohibited
Trading Periods 7 Exceptions for Certain Transactions 8 Pre- Clearance of All Acquisitions, Sales and Other Transfers
by Certain Company Personnel .. 00 000 .. 10 V. Individual
Responsibility 11 VI. Additional Prohlblted Transactlons 12 VII Post- Termmatlon Transactlons 12 VIII. Company
Assistance 13 Spruce Power Holding Corp. (the “ Company ”) has adopted the following policy regarding trading by
Company personnel in the Company’ s securities (the “ Insider Trading Policy, ” or this “ Policy ). This Policy applies
to all Company personnel, including directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Company and its subsidiaries.
This Policy also applies to certain family members, other members of a person’ s household and entities controlled by
Company personnel, as described in Section I'V below. This Policy will apply to all who are subject to it, without the need
to formally acknowledge this Policy. This Policy is a material term and condition of the employment of each Company
employee. I. The Need for an Insider Trading Policy This Policy has been developed: * to educate all Company personnel
as to the federal securities laws and the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “ SEC ) on insider
trading in public company securities; * to set forth requirements that apply to Company personnel and other persons
covered by this Policy who seek to trade in the Company’ s securities; * to protect the Company and its personnel from
legal liability; and * to preserve the reputation of the Company and its personnel for integrity and ethical conduct.
Because the Company is a public company, transactions in the Company’ s securities are subject to the federal securities
laws and regulations adopted by the SEC. These laws and regulations make it illegal for an individual to buy or sell
securities of the Company while aware of material non- public information. The SEC takes insider trading very seriously
and devotes significant resources to uncovering the activity and to prosecuting offenders. Liability may extend not only
to the individuals who trade while in possession of material non- public information but also to their “ tippers, ” people
who leak material non- public information to individuals who then trade based on that information. The Company and “



controlling persons ” of the Company may also be liable for violations by Company employees. II. What is Material Non-
Public Information? Definition. Material non- public information is any information (positive or negative) that: ¢ is not
generally known to the public, and ¢ which, if publicly known, would likely affect either the market price of the
Company’ s securities or a person’ s decision to buy, sell or hold the Company’ s securities. Examples. Common
examples of information that will frequently be regarded as material include, but are not limited to: * quarterly or
annual earnings results; * projections of future financial results, or other earnings guidance; ¢ changes to previously
announced earnings guidance, or the decision to suspend earnings guidance; * earnings or losses; * news of a pending or
proposed merger, acquisition or tender offer; « news of a pending or proposed acquisition or disposition of a significant
asset; * news of a pending or proposed joint venture; * a Company restructuring; e significant related party transactions;
* financing transactions; * changes in dividend policies, the declaration of a stock split or the offering of additional
securities; * establishment of a stock repurchase program; ¢ changes in pricing or cost structure of Company products or
services; » major marketing changes; * changes in management; * changes in auditors or notification that the auditor’ s
reports may no longer be relied upon; * significant new products, processes or services; * significant regulatory
developments; * pending or threatened significant litigation or regulatory investigation, or the resolution of such
litigation or investigation; * impending bankruptcy or financial liquidity problems; ¢ internal financial information
which departs from what the market expects; * the gain or loss of a significant customer or supplier, major contract,
license, registration or collaboration; ° the entry, amendment or termination of a material contract; ¢ a significant
cybersecurity incident, such as a data breach, or any other significant disruption in the Company’ s operations or loss,
potential loss, breach or unauthorized access of its property or assets, including through its information technology
infrastructure; * the imposition of an event- specific restriction on trading in the Company’ s securities or the extension
or termination of such restriction; or ¢ other items that require the filing of a Current Report on Form 8- K with the
SEC. Twenty- Twenty Hindsight. In determining whether information is material, the SEC and other regulators will
view the information after- the- fact with the benefit of hindsight. As a result, in determining whether any information is
material, we will and you should carefully consider whether regulators and others might view the information as being
material in hindsight, with the benefit of all relevant information that later becomes available. For example, if there is a
significant change in the Company’ s stock price following the release of certain information, that information will likely
be determined to have been material when viewed with the benefit of hindsight. In addition to addressing the relevant
statutes and regulations in this area, we are adopting this Policy to avoid even the appearance of improper conduct on
the part of anyone employed by or associated with the Company and certain related persons, not just members of senior
management. III. The Consequences of Insider Trading The consequences of insider trading violations can be severe:
For individuals who trade while in possession of material non- public information (or tip information to others): * a civil
penalty of up to three times the profit gained or loss avoided; * a criminal fine (no matter how small the profit) of up to $
5 million; and e a jail term of up to 20 years. These penalties can apply even if the individual is not a member of the
Board of Directors or an officer of the Company. Moreover, if an employee violates this Policy, he or she may also be
subject to Company- imposed sanctions, including termination for cause. For a Company (as well as possibly any
supervisory person) that fails to take appropriate steps to prevent illegal trading: ¢ a civil penalty of the greater of $ 1
million or three times the profit gained or loss avoided as a result of the employee’ s violation; and ¢ a criminal penalty of
up to $ 25 million. Any of the above consequences, including an SEC investigation that does not result in prosecution, can
tarnish the Company’ s or an individual’ s reputation and irreparably damage a career. IV. Our Policy General
Prohibition on Trading. Company personnel and Related Persons (as defined below in this Section IV) may not, directly
or indirectly through family members or other persons or entities (1) buy or sell securities of the Company while in
possession of material non- public information, subject to the specific exceptions noted below in this Section IV under the
caption “ Exceptions for Certain Transactions ” or (2) engage in any other action to take advantage of, or pass on to
others, that information. It is also the policy of the Company that the Company will not engage in transactions in the
Company’ s securities while aware of material nonpublic information relating to the Company or the Company’ s
securities. Transactions by Family Members, Others in Your Household and Entities You Control. The restrictions in
this Policy also apply to (1) family members who reside with you (including a spouse, a child, a child away at college,
stepchildren, grandchildren, parents, stepparents, grandparents, siblings and in- laws), (2) others living in your
household (whether or not related to you), (3) family members who do not live in your household but whose transactions
in the Company’ s securities are directed by you or are subject to your influence or control (e. g., parents or children
who consult with you before they trade in the Company’ s securities) and (4) any entities that you influence or control,
including any corporations, limited liability companies, partnerships or trusts (each person or entity identified in clauses
(1) — (4), a “ Related Person ). SEC regulations specifically provide that any material non- public information about the
Company communicated to any spouse, parent, child or sibling is considered to have been communicated under a duty of
trust or confidence; and that any trading in the Company’ s securities by such family members while they are aware of
such information may, therefore, violate insider trading laws and regulations. Company personnel are responsible for
the compliance of all Related Persons with this Policy. This means that, to the extent such Related Persons of Company
personnel intend to trade in the Company’ s securities, the Related Persons need to comply with the black- out periods
and all other restrictions in this Policy. Furthermore, you should not participate in any investment club (i. e., groups of
people who pool their money to make investments) that may invest in the Company’ s securities. Other Companies’ Non-
public Information. This Policy also applies with equal force to material non- public information learned in the course of
working for the Company or its subsidiaries relating to a company (1) with which the Company or its subsidiaries does
business, such as the Company’ s customers and suppliers, or (2) that is involved in a potential transaction or business



relationship with the Company or its subsidiaries. Specifically, no Company personnel who, in the course of working for
the Company or its subsidiaries, learns of material non- public information about a company (1) with which the
Company or its subsidiaries does business, such as customers and suppliers, or (2) that is involved in a potential
transaction or business relationship with the Company or its subsidiaries, may trade in that other company’ s securities
until the information becomes public or is no longer material. Personal or Independent Reasons Are Not Exceptions.
Transactions in the Company’ s securities that may be necessary or justifiable for independent reasons (such as the need
to raise money for an emergency expenditure) are not excepted from this Policy and may constitute illegal insider
trading. Even the appearance of an improper transaction must be avoided to preserve our reputation for adhering to the
highest standards of conduct. Policy Administrator. This Policy shall be administered by the “ Policy Administrator, ”
who shall initially be the Company’ s General Counsel, and if such person is not available, then the Chief Financial
Officer, shall serve as the alternate Policy Administrator. The Policy Administrator may, however, change from time to
time. All determinations and interpretations by the Policy Administrator shall be final and not subject to further review.
When Information Becomes Public. This Policy applies to material nonpublic information about the Company, which
means that trading is generally permitted once the information becomes known to the public, such as through inclusion
in reports filed with the SEC or press releases issued by the Company, or by publication in a widely- available
newspaper or website (unless some other Company policy or legal obligation restricts trading at that time). Because the
Company’ s shareholders and the investing public should be afforded time to receive and absorb information, as a
general rule you should not engage in any transactions until the beginning of the second business day after material
information has been released. Thus, if an announcement is made before the market opens on a Monday, Wednesday
generally would be the first day on which you may trade. If an announcement is made before the market opens on a
Friday, Tuesday generally would be the first day on which you may trade. However, if the information released is
complex, such as a major financing or other significant transaction, it may be necessary to allow additional time for the
information to be absorbed by the investing public. In such circumstances, you will be notified by the Policy
Administrator regarding a suitable waiting period before trading. In addition, we have established specified black- out
periods, as described below. Prohibited Trading Periods. While it is never permissible to trade based on material non-
public information, we are implementing the following procedures to help prevent inadvertent violations of this Policy
and avoid even the appearance of an improper transaction (which could result, for example, where Company personnel
engage in a trade while unaware of a pending major development). (1) Company Wide Black- Out Periods Applicable to
All Company Personnel. All Company personnel and Related Persons are prohibited from trading in any of the
Company’ s securities during the following periods: * from the time each such individual becomes aware of the material
information (the black- out start times often vary), until the beginning of the second business day after the day the
Company has made a public announcement of material information, including earnings releases, unless the information
released is complex, in which case it may be necessary to extend this period and the Policy Administrator will notify you
of any such extension of the black- out period; and * during other specified periods when significant developments or
announcements are anticipated, as notified by the Policy Administrator. You will be notified by e- mail when you may
not trade in the Company’ s securities during periods when significant developments or announcements are anticipated,
in which event you will also be notified when trading restrictions are lifted. Of course, even during periods when trading
is permitted, no one, including persons or entities who do not fall within the definition of Related Persons, should trade in
the Company’ s securities if he or she possesses material non- public information. (2) Additional Black- Out Periods
Applicable to the Board of Directors, Senior Management, Financial Team Members and Designated Employees. In
addition to being subject to the trading procedures applicable to all Company personnel (above), members of the
Company’ s Board of Directors, Senior Management, Financial Team Members, Designated Employees (each as defined
below) and Related Persons of such individuals are also prohibited from trading in any of the Company’ s securities
during the following periods: * the period from 15 days prior to the close of each fiscal quarter until the beginning of the
second business day after the release of the Company’ s financial results for each quarter and, in the case of the fourth
quarter, financial results for the year end; and ¢ any other periods as determined by the Company. The following
members of management constitute the “ Senior Management ” of the Company: all Executive (Section 16) Officers, as
listed on Exhibit A hereto, which list shall be amended from time to time to reflect the then- current group of such
individuals. The following individuals constitute the “ Financial Team Members ” of the Company: all members of the
Company’ s financial team, as listed on Exhibit B The following individuals constitute other “ Designated Employees ”
of the Company: certain additional members of Company personnel, as listed on Exhibit C hereto, which list shall be
amended from time to time to reflect the then- current group of such individuals. The Policy Administrator may, from
time to time, amend the list of and / or designate other employees as Senior Management, Financial Team Members or
Designated Employees, in which case the Policy Administrator shall notify the affected individuals. Exceptions for
Certain Transactions. (1) Gifts. Bona fide gifts are not transactions that are subject to this Policy, unless the person
making the gift (the donor) has reason to believe that the recipient of the gift intends to sell the Company’ s securities
while the donor is in possession of material non- public information, or the donor is subject to the trading restrictions
under “ Additional Black- Out Periods Applicable to the Board of Directors, Senior Management, Financial Team
Members and Designated Employees ” and “ Pre- Clearance of All Acquisitions, Sales and Other Transfers by Certain
Company Personnel. ” (2) Mutual Funds. Transactions in mutual funds that are invested in the Company’ s securities
are not transactions subject to this Policy. (3) Transactions Involving Company Equity Plans. Except as otherwise noted
below, this Policy does not apply to the following transactions: * Stock Option Exercises. This Policy does not apply to the
exercise of an employee stock option acquired pursuant to the Company’ s equity plans, or to the exercise of a tax



withholding right pursuant to which a person has elected to have the Company withhold shares subject to an option to
satisfy tax withholding requirements. This Policy does apply, however, to any sale of stock as part of a broker- assisted
cashless exercise of an option, or any other market sale of stock for the purpose of generating the cash needed to pay the
exercise price and / or taxes upon the exercise of an option. * Restricted Stock Awards and Restricted Stock Unit Avware
Awards GrantNetiee-. This Policy does not apply to the vesting of restricted stock or restricted stock units, or the exercise
of a tax withholding right pursuant to which a person elects to have the Company withhold shares of stock to satisfy tax
withholding requirements upon the vesting of any restricted stock or restricted stock unit (called “ net settling ”). This
Policy does apply, however, to any market sale of restricted stock or restricted stock units. « Employee Stock Purchase
Plan. This Policy does not apply to purchases of the Company’ s securities under the Company’ s employee stock
purchase plan, if one is adopted, resulting from periodic contributions of money to the plan pursuant to the election
made by a person at the time of enrollment in the plan. This Policy does apply, however, to a person’ s election to
participate in the plan orfor to-any enrollment period, and subsequent sales or other transfers of such securities. * Other
Transactions with the Company. Any other purchase address-oraddresses-of the Company’ s securities from the Company
or sales of the Company’ s securities to the Company are not subject to this Policy. (4) Rule 10b5- 1 Trading Plans.
Notwithstanding the restrictions and prohibitions on trading in the Company’ s securities set forth in this Policy, persons
subject to this Policy are permitted to effect transactions in the Company’ s securities pursuant to approved trading
plans established under Rule 10bS- 1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“ Trading Plans ), which
notiee-may include transactions during the prohibited periods discussed above. Rule 10bS- 1 requires that these
transactions be made pursuant to a plan that was established while the person was not in possession of material non-
public information, and the SEC requires that these plans not be entered into during any applicable Company- imposed
black- out period. In order to comply with this Policy, the Company must pre- approve any such Trading Plan prior to
its effectiveness. After a Trading Plan is approved, you must wait for a cooling- off period before the first trade is made
under the Trading Plan, the length of which will be determined by the Policy Administrator, but will not be shorter than
any applicable cooling- off period prescribed by SEC rules. Once the Trading Plan is adopted, you must not exercise any
influence over the amount of securities to be traded, the price at which they are to be traded or the dates of the trades.
The Trading Plan must either specify the amount, pricing and timing of transactions in advance or delegate discretion on
these matters to an independent third party. Any modification of a Trading Plan is the equivalent of entering into a new
Trading Plan and cancelling the old Trading Plan. Company personnel seeking to establish, modify or cancel a Trading
Plan should contact the Policy Administrator. Pre- Clearance of All Acquisitions, Sales and Other Transfers by Certain
Company Personnel. In order to ensure compliance with this Policy and with any Section 16 reporting requirements, all
transactions in the Company’ s securities (including acquisitions, sales, gifts and other transfers, whether or not for
value), as well the execution of Trading Plans, by members of the Company’ s Board of Directors, Senior Management,
Financial Team Members, Designated Employees and Related Persons, must be pre- cleared by the Policy
Administrator. If you are a member of one of the groups listed above and you contemplate a transaction in the
Company’ s securities, you must contact the Policy Administrator or other designated individual prior to executing the
transaction. The Policy Administrator will use his or her reasonable best efforts to provide approval or disapproval
within two business days. The Policy Administrator is under no obligation to approve a transaction submitted for pre-
clearance, and may determine not to permit the transaction. You must wait until receiving pre- clearance to execute the
transaction. Neither the Company nor the Policy Administrator shall be liable for any delays that may occur due to the
pre- clearance process. If the transaction is pre- cleared by the Policy Administrator, it must be executed by the end of
the second business day after receipt of pre- clearance. Notwithstanding receipt of pre- clearance of a transaction, if you
become aware of material non- public information about the Company after receiving the pre- clearance but prior to the
execution of the transaction, you may not execute the transaction. The responsibility for determining whether you are in
possession of material non- public information rests with you, as discussed below in Section V. If you do not receive pre-
clearance, you should refrain from initiating any transaction in the Company’ s securities and should not inform any
other person of the restriction. If you are a Section 16 reporting person, promptly following execution of the transaction,
but in no event later than the end of the first business day after the execution of the transaction, you must notify the
Policy Administrator and provide details regarding the transaction sufficient to complete the required Section 16 filing.
Employees of the Company who are not Directors, members of Senior Management, Financial Team Members or
Designated Employees may, but are not required to, pre- clear transactions in the Company’ s securities in the same
manner has-— as previousty-been-given-set forth above . Any-sueh-Such employees are not required to notify the Policy
Administrator following execution of the transaction. Please netiee—- note shal-be-deemed-that pre- clearance does not
provide Company personnel with immunity from investigation or suit, as it is the responsibility of the individual to
comply with the federal securities regulatlons V Ind1v1dual Resp0n51b111ty Persons subject to this Policy have ethical and
legal obligations been-gi eetp ress-day v detveryby-the-sen der-to malntam a
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fhe—Paﬁie'rpaﬂt— s securltles whlle in possessmn of materlal non- publlc information. Each individual is respon51ble for
making sure that he or she complies with this Policy, and that any Related Person, whose transactions are subject to this
Policy, also complies with this Policy. In all cases, the responsibility for determining whether an individual is in
possession of material non- public information rests with that individual, and any action on the part of the Company, the



Pohcy Admmlstrator or any other employee or Dlrector pursuant to th1s Pohcy (or otherw1se) does not in any way
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Consents—The-terms-and-provistons-of-this Agreement-Policy or applicable securities laws, as described in Section III above.
Tipping Information to Others. Company personnel must not disclose nonpublic information about the Company to
others outside the Company who do not have an obligation to maintain the confidentiality of such information. If the
outsider trades on such information, penalties for insider trading may apply in these situations whether or not you
derive any monetary benefit from the other person’ s trading activities. Material non- public information is often
inadvertently disclosed or overheard in casual, social conversations. Please take care to avoid such disclosures.
Prevention of Insider Trading by Others. If you become aware of a potential insider trading violation, you must
immediately advise our Policy Administrator and / or report the matter using the Company’ s anonymous whistleblower
reporting procedures. You should also take steps, where appropriate, to prevent persons under your supervision and / or
control from using material non- public information for trading purposes. Company- imposed sanctions, including
termination for cause, could result if an employee fails to comply with this Policy. Confidentiality. Serious problems
could be caused for the Company by the unauthorized disclosure of internal information about the Company, whether or
not for the purpose of facilitating improper trading in the Company’ s securities. Company personnel should not discuss
internal Company matters or developments (whether or not you think such information is material) with anyone outside
of the Company (including, but not limited to, family, friends, business associates, investors and expert consulting firms),
except as required in the performance of regular corporate duties. This prohibition applies specifically (but not
exclusively) to inquiries about the Company that may be medified-made by the financial press, investment analysts or
amended-others in the financial community and also includes posting material non- public information on any social
media outlets such as Facebook provided-in-the Plan—Exeeptasprovided-inthePlan-, Twitter, etc. It is important that all
such communications on behalf of the termis-Company be made only through and-- an provistens-authorized officer under
carefully controlled circumstances. Unless you are expressly authorized to the contrary, if you receive any inquiries of
this Agreement-nature, you should decline comment and refer the inquirer to Investor Relations (investors @
sprucepower. com). There should be no communication about Company business with outside entities, without the
involvement of Investor Relations. VI. Additional Prohibited Transactions Because we believe it is generally improper
and inappropriate for Company personnel to engage in short- term or speculative transactions involving the Company’ s
securities, it is our policy that Company personnel and Related Persons not engage in any of the following activities: ¢
trading in the Company’ s securities on a short- term basis. Any Company personnel or Related Persons who purchase
the Company’ s securities in the open market may be-watved;-or-eonsentnot sell any of the Company’ s securities of the
same class during the six months following the purchase (for-- or vice versa); ¢ purchasing financial instruments
(including prepaid variable forward contracts, equity swaps, puts, calls, straddles, collars and exchange funds) that are
designed to hedge or offset any decrease in the market value of the Company s equlty securltles and entermg into t-he
other transactlons depe oft-gra by de - y d eh

stel-wa b a-Wa \\ilhfes-peet—te-the
same economic effect mcludmg short sales, . transactmg in put optlons, call optlons or other derlvatlve securities, on an
exchange or in any other terms-organized market; * borrowing or other arrangements involving non- recourse pledges of
securities, including securities held in a margin account as collateral erfor provisioris-a margin loan or securities pledged
(or hypothecated) as collateral for a loan; and e selling a security future that establishes a position that increases in value
as the value of the underlying equity security decreases. VII. Post- Termination Transactions This Policy will no longer
apply after termination of service to the Company. However, if an individual is in possession of material non- public
information when his or her service terminates, that individual may not trade in the Company’ s securities until that
information has become public or is no longer material, and it would be prudent for the individual, if he or she is subject
to a black- out period upon termination of service, to refrain from trading until those restrictions no longer apply to
Company personnel VIIIL. Company Ass1stance Any person who has any questlons about specific transactions or this

i g h v only-in general may obtain
addltlonal guldance from 1lu speerﬁe—mst&nee—aﬂd-Pohcy Admlnlstrator Remember, however, the ultimate responsnblhty
for adhering to thep : —16-




fl"—heﬂ%w&rd—e-ﬁR—SUs—eﬂéeﬁeed—by—t his Pollcy and av01d1ng 1mpr0per transactlons rests w1th you In thls regard please

fefﬂa—defeﬁaliéas—ﬂ%&t—tefm—is—used- use your best Judgment when cons1der1ng a transactlon in

fhe—ﬁﬂal—regt&aﬁeﬂs—&ne}
other—- the guidanee-issued-underSeetion409A-Company’ s securities. As of February 25, 2025 Exhibit A 1. Chris Hayes,
Chief Executive Officer 2. Jon Norling, Chief Legal Officer 3. Sarah Wells, Chief Financial Officer & Head of

Sustainability All members of the €ede-Company’ s financial team , including the following individuals and any
replacement, should the individuals below depart the Company: 1. Angelica Perez, VP of Accounting 2. Jenn Saxby,
Assistant Controller 3. Carla Olivier, Accounting Manager 4. Ryan Santana, Sr Analyst, Accounting 5. Emily Franklin,
Sr Accountant 6. Angela Williams, Sr Accountant 7. Angelica Hurrington, Sr Accountant 8. Carina Falcon, Sr
Accountant 9. Cynthia Alvarez, Accounting Manager 10. Van Lorick, VP of Finance 11. Gabriel Costillo, FP & A
Manager 12. David Gaitan, Analyst, Financial Operations 13. Chi- Chi Johansen, Senior Director, SEC Reporting 14.
Shiv Hirani, Sr. SEC Reporting Analyst 1. Joe Pettit, VP Corporate Development 2. Derick Smith, COO, Spruce
Servicing 3. Kevin Minton, VP, Asset Operations & Business Development 4. Sophia Washington, SVP, IT & Enterprise
Appllcatlons 5 Lee Forrest, Dlrector, TlLdSLll y 6 Regu%&ﬁeﬁ—Seeﬁeﬂ—l— Daniel Garcia 409A—b)(4-1))-, VP and-shatt-be
i - D - sreemen Human Resources 7 fhe—P&merp&ﬂt—éﬁ—autheﬂzes

fhtsﬁgfeemeﬁt— Darlan McLlnden, Executlve Ass1stant



